ISSN 2149-7893 • EISSN 2536-507X



Official journal of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association

CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

VOLUME 5 • ISSUE 3 • SEPTEMBER 2020



Original Articles

LGBT+ Individuals' Health Nur Elçin Boyacıoğlu, Hüsniye Dinç, Neslihan Keser Özcan, Ardıl Bayram Şahin

Palliative Care and Home Health Care Services Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı, Tarkan Özdemir, Fatih Göksel, Çiğdem Özdilekcan

Vagal Activity in Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome Ayhan Coşgun, Alper Güneş

The Effect of Shortwave Diathermy on the Quality of Life Seide Karasel, Sema Öncel, İpek Sönmez

Identical Cases with Teeth or Implants Muhammed Mutahhar Ulusoy, Hakan Arinc, Asiye Nehir Ozden

Granulomatous Mastitis and Empirical Treatment Çiğdem Özdilekcan, Filiz Duyar Ağca, Tarkan Özdemir, Sultan Çiğdem Irkkan, Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı

Arrhythmias in Anemia Mehmet Uğurlu, Münevver Tuğba Temel

Factors Affecting Exercise Barriers in Older Individuals Meral Sertel, Ayşe Abit Kocaman, Sabiha Bezgin, Tezel Yıldırım Şahan, Saniye Aydoğan Arslan, Cevher Savcun Demirci, M.

Overweight and Obesity Prevalence Şükran Arıkan, Yetkin Utku Kamuk, Serkan Revan

Ayhan Oral, Birol Önal, Kübra Uğurlu, Özge Vergili

The effect of Gabapentin on Tendon Healing Seyran Kılınç, Hatice Reyhan Eğilmez, Özhan Pazarcı, Muhammed Yasir Altunışık

Web of science

MPV and BMD in Fibromyalgia Betül Sargın, Gülcan Gürer

Comparison of Alendronate and Stronium Ranelate Özlen Emekçi Özay, Ali Cenk Özay, Berrin Acar

Reviews

Using Lasers in Endodontic Retreatment Mohamad Abduljalil, Burcu Gunal Abduljalil

White Spot Lesions İsmail Serhat Sadıkoğlu

COVID-19 Anesthesia Ayşe Hande Arpacı, Berrin Işık

Case Report

Lymphoepihelioma-like Carcinoma of the Skin Hanife Özkayalar, İbrahim Orgun Deren, Gamze Mocan

Letter to the Editor

Multiple Phytobezoars Işıl Başara Akın, Canan Altay, Tufan Egeli, İnan Yılmaz, Funda Barlık Obuz



cyprusjmedsci.com



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Editor

Sonuç Büyük Department of Pathology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4498-5019

Associate Editors

Düriye Deren Oygar Department of Nephrology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Erol Dülger Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Mete İnançlı Private Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-7965-7835

Ozan Emiroğlu Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ömer Taşargöl Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1408-5503 Serap Soytaç İnançlı Private Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases and Internal Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-1271-4591

Ahmet Özant Private Clinic of Orthodontics, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ali Özant Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Aysa Ayalı Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8817-4202

Cenk Conkbayır Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000 0002 6594 1915

Eşref Çelik

Department of Medical and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gökçe Savtekin Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gülten Sucu Dağ

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University Faculty of Health Science, Famagusta, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4887-2214

İzgen Karakaya Department of Restorative Dentistry, Near East University, Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4448-556X

Cemal Gürkan Director of the Turkish Cypriot DNA Laboratory, Famagusta, Cyprus



Publisher İbrahim KARA Publication Director Ali ŞAHİN

Editorial Development Gizem KAYAN TEKAÜT

Deputy Publication Director Gökhan ÇİMEN

Finance and Administration Zeynep YAKIŞIRER ÜREN Betül ÇİMEN Publication Coordinators Irem SOYSAL Arzu YILDIRIM Deniz KAYA Bahar ALBAYRAK

Emre KARA Project Coordinators Sinem Fehime KOZ Doğan ORUÇ

Graphics Department Ünal ÖZER

Unal OZER Deniz Elif DURAN Beyzanur KARABULUT

Contact

Address: Büyükdere Cad. No: 105/9 34394 Mecidiyeköy, Şişli-İstanbul Phone: +90 212 217 17 00 Fax: +90 212 217 22 92 E-mail: info@avesyayincilik.com Publication Type Local periodical Printed Date September 2020

Printed at

Share Ajans, Şehit Fevait Ali Sok. Dük. No: 4 C, Sönmezler Apt, Göçmenköy, Nicosia, Cyprus



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Kalbim Arslan

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Nail Bulakbaşı

Department of Radiology, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7528-8107

Necdet Özçay

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Özay Önöral

Department of Protetic Medical Therapy, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-5264-9376

National Advisory Board

Amber Eker Department of Neurology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ayşe Gökyiğit Department of Pharmaceutical Services of the Ministry of Health, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ayşe Ülgen Department of Biostatistics and Genetics, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

Beste Kamiloğlu Department of Orthodontics, Near East University School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

Bülent Haydar Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus Pınar Tunçbilek Özmanevra Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus

ORCID ID: 0000-000I-6968-3442

Ramadan Özmanevra

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-0515-4001

Remzi Gardiyanoğlu

Department of Childrens and Health Disease, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Umut Mousa

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8078-9376

Zeynep Taşarqöl

Department of Gynocology and Obstetrics, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ender Volkan Cyprus International University School of Pharmacy, Nicosia, Cyprus

Erdem Beyoğlu Barış Mental and Neurological Disorders State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Fatma Deniz Department of Dermatology, Girne Akçiçek State Hospital, Girne, Cyprus

Filiz Besim Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gamze Mocan Kuzey Department of Pathology and Cytology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus Gülsen Bozkurt Private Clinic of Hematology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gülten Sucu Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Hanife Erçal Ezgi Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Besim Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

İdris Deniz Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

İsmet Başar Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kenan Arifoğlu Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kerem Teralı Department of Medical Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mehmet İnan Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

Meltem Nalça Department of Radiation Oncology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mümtaz Güran Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University School Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus Murat Uncu Department of Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mustafa Kalfaoğlu Department of General Surgery, Magusa State Hospital, Famagusta, Cyprus

Nahide Gökçora Department of Nucleer Medicine, East Mediterranian University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

Nerin N. Bahçeciler Department of Pediatrics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sevda Lafcı Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sezgin Handan Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Sibel Tozaki Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus Songül Acar Vaizoğlu Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Süha Akpınar Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tarık İzbul Department of General Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tevfik Eker Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

Tijen Ataçağ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Turgay Akalın Private Clinic of Neurology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ülvan Özad Department of Biomedical Engineering and Nanotechnology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

International Advisory Board

Abdülkadir Tepeler Department of Urology, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

A.C. Joao Lima Department of Radiology, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA Aliye Özenoğlu Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun Health School, Samsun, Turkey

Alp Usubütün Department of Pathology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey Alper Sertçelik Department of Cardiology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

Altan Atakan Özcan Department of Ophthalmology, Çukorova University School of Medicine Balcalı Hospital, Adana, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Ayla Ünsal Department of Nursing, Ahi Evran University School of Health, Kırşehir, Turkey

Ayşe Nihal Demircan Department of Ophthalmology, Çukurova University School of Medicine, Adana, Turkey

Aytekin Besim Private Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey

Barış Doğu Yıldız Department of General Surgery, Ankara Numune Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Bengi Semerci Department of Psychiatry, Institute of Bengi Semerci, İstanbul, Turkey

Berksan Reșorlu Department of Urology, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University School of Medicine, Çanakkale, Turkey

Bilge Üzmezoğlu Department of Occupational Diseases, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Çağrı Buke Department of Enfectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Celal Karlıkaya Department of Chest Diseases, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Cem Terzi Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey Coşkun Yorulmaz Department of Forensic Medicine, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Dilek Kılıç Department of Enfectious Diseases, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Turkey

Dilek Yavuz Department of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology Section, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Research and Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Elif Arı Bakır Department of Nephrology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Egemen İdiman Department of Neurology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Emrah Alper Clinic of Gastroenterology, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

Emre Canda Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Erol Baysal Dubai Genetic and Thalassemia Center, Dubai Health Authority, Dubai, UAE

Erol Gökel

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Fatih Aslan

Clinic of Gastroenterology, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

Fatih Köse

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

Fazıl Tuncay Aki Department of Urology, Head of Transplantation Unite, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Fevzi Balkan

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Medicana International İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Funda Tuğcu Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

Gölge Acaroğlu Private Clinic of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Turkey

Gökhan Nergizoğlu Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Hür Hassoy Department of Public Health, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Hakan Altay Department of Cardiology, Başkent University İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hüseyin Bakkaloğlu Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Hüseyin Mertsoylu Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

İlhami Kuru Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Kemal Bakır Department of Pathology, Gaziantep University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

Kürşad Türksen Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

Lale Tokgözoğlu Department of Cardiology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Levent Sennaroğlu Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Mazhar Tokgözoğlu Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Mehmet Kaynar Department of Urology, Selçuk University School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey Melih Atahan Güven Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mohammed Al-Barbarawi Department of Neurosurgery, Sydney University School of Medicine Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney, Australia

Mustafa Camgöz Department of Life Sciences, Imperial Collage School of Natural Sciences, London, United Kingdom

Mustafa Sertaç Yazıcı Department of Urology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Müfit Akyüz Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük University School of Medicine, Karabük, Turkey

Müslime Akbaba Department of Ophthalmology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Necati Gökmen Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Neval Duman Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Nihat Yavuz Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Nilgün Kapucuoğlu Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Noriyuki Tomiyama Department of Radiology, Osaka University Graduate School Of Medicine, Osaka, Japan

Nuri Özgirgin Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bayındır Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Orçun Şahin Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Osman Hatipoğlu Department of Chest Diseases, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Osman Nuri Dilek Department of General Surgery, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

Oytun Erbaş Department of Experimental Medicine, The Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK-Martek) of Turkey, IL, USA

Özgür Deren Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Ozgür Demir Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Özgür Özyılkan Department of Oncology, Başkent University Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

Peyman Yalçın Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Ralph Tufano Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

Rahmi Kılıç Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Turkey

Salih Marangoz Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Selçuk İnanlı Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Marmara University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Semih Küçükgüçlü Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Serap Öztürkcan Department of Dermatology, Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Manisa, Turkey

Serkan Durdu Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Cebeci Kardiac Center, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Serkan Sertel Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Heidelberg Neuenheimer Feld, Heidelberg, Germany Serpil Altındoğan Department of Oral Maxillofascial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

Server Serdaroğlu Department of Dermatology, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Teslime Atlı Department of Geriatrics, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Tolga Karcı Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir Şifa University İzmir, Turkey

Vedat Göral Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul Medipol University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Vural Fidan Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskisehir, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Aims and Scope

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci) is the scientific, peer reviewed, open access international publication organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. The journal is published three times a year, in April, August, and December. As of 2020, the journal has become a quarterly publication, publishing in March, June, September, and December. The journal's publication language is English.

The aim of the journal is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case report and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in in all fields of medicine.

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAK-BIM TR Index, EBSCO, and Gale.

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process. All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. Advertisement images are published only upon the Editor-in-Chief's approval.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, editors, editorial board, and/or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

All published content is available online, free of charge at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. Printed copies of the journal are distributed to the members of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, free of charge.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is an open access publication, and the journal's publication model is based on Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) declaration. Authors retain the copyright of their published work in the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. The journal's content is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

 ∞ OPEN OPENS

Publisher: AVES Address: Büyükdere Cad. 105/9 34394 Mecidiyeköy, Şişli, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 217 17 00 Fax: +90 212 217 22 92 Web page: avesyayincilik.com E-mail: info@avesyayincilik.com

Material Disclaimer

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in The Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board and the publisher; the editors, the editorial board and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Instruction to Authors

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci) is the scientific, peer-reviewed, open access international publication organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. The journal is published quarterly in March, June, September, and December. The journal's publication language is English.

The aim of the journal is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case report and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in in all fields of medicine.

Editorial And Publication Process

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most important criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization.

Peer Review Process

Manuscripts submitted to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences will go through a double-blind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.

Ethical Procedures

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 2013, www.wma.net) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official

document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the Materials and Methods section of the manuscript. It is the authors' responsibility to protect the patients' anonymity carefully.

For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed releases of the patient or their legal representative should be enclosed, and the publication approval must be provided in the Materials and Methods section.

Plagiarism

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is extremely sensitive about plagiarism. All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck) at any point during the peer-review and/or production process. Even if you are the author of the phrases or sentences, the text should not have unacceptable similarity with the previously published data.

When you are discussing others' (or your own) previous work, please make sure that you cite the material correctly in every instance.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act following COPE guidelines.

Preprint

Authors must provide the journal with the pre-print server deposition of their article accompanying its DOI during initial submission.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences does not consider preprint publications as prior publication. In other words, authors are allowed to present and discuss their findings on a non-commercial preprint server before submission to the journal.

If the article is published in Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences, it is the responsibility of the authors to update the archived preprint and link it to the published version of the article.

Authorship

Each person listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE - www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship is based on the following four criteria:

- I. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in en-

suring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. Also, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged in the title page of the manuscript.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship form (available for download www.cyprusimedsci.com) during the initial submission process to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

Declaration Of Interest

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires and encourages

the authors and the individuals involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors. The journal's Editorial Board resolves cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers within the scope of COPE and ICMJE quidelines.

The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve claims that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

Copyright And License

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires each submission to be accompanied by a Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship form (available for download www.cyprusjmedsci. com). When using previously published content, including figures, tables, or any other material in both print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s). By signing this form, authors retain the copyright of their work and agree that the article, if accepted for publication by the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences will be licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

Disclaimer

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility regarding the published content rests with the authors.

Manuscript Preparation

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with IC-MJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2019 - http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations. pdf). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA quidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, **ARRIVE** guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at www. cyprusjmedsci.com. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium and submissions by anyone other than one of the authors will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

- Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship Form, and
- ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors) during the initial submission. These forms are available for download at www. cyprusjmedsci.com.

Preparation of the Manuscript

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,
- Name(s), affiliations, highest academic degree(s), and OR-CID IDs of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number), and email address of the corresponding author,

 Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: An abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor. The abstract of Original Articles should be structured with subheadings (Background/Aims, Material and Methods, Results and Conclusion). Please check Table I below for word count specifications.

Keywords: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of five keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/ MBrowser.html).

Main Points: All submissions except letters to the editor should be accompanied by 3 to 5 "main points" which should emphasize the most noteworthy results of the study and underline the principle message that is addressed to the reader. This section should be structured as itemized to give a general overview of the article. Since "Main Points" targeting the experts and specialists of the field, each item should be written as plain and straightforward as possible.

Manuscript Types

Original Articles: This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. Acceptance of original papers will be



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

based upon the originality and importance of the investigation. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Material and Methods, Results, and Discussion subheadings. An original article can be signed by maximum 6 authors unless it is a multi-center study or that it required extensive labour. Please check Table I for the limitations for Original Articles.

Clinical Trials

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences adopts the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy, which requires that clinical trials must be registered in a publicly accessible registry that is a primary register of the WHO International Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) or in ClinicalTrials.gov.

Instructions for the clinical trials are listed below.

- Clinical trial registry is only required for the prospective research projects that study the relationship between a health-related intervention and an outcome by assigning people.
- To have their manuscript evaluated in the journal, author should register their research to a public registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment.
- Based on most up to date IC-MJE recommendations, Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences accepts public registries that in-

clude minimum acceptable 24item trial registration dataset.

- Authors are required to state a data sharing plan for the clinical trial registration. Please see details under "Data Sharing" section.
- For further details, please check ICMJE Clinical Trial Policy at http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/clinical-trial-registration.html

Data Sharing

As of I January 2019, a data sharing statement is required for the registration of clinical trials. Authors are required to provide a data sharing statement for the articles that reports the results of a clinical trial. The data sharing statement should indicate the items below according to the IC-MJE data sharing policy:

- Whether individual deidentified participant data will be shared
- What data in particular will be shared
- Whether additional, related documents will be available
- When the data will be available and for how long
- By what access criteria will be shared

Authors are recommended to check the ICMJE data sharing examples at http://www.icmje. org/recommendations/browse/ publishing-and-editorial-issues/ clinical-trial-registration.html

While submitting a clinical trial to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences;

- Authors are required to make registration to a publicly accessible registry according to ICMJE recommendations and the instructions above.
- The name of the registry and the registration number should be provided in the Title Page during the initial submission.
- Data sharing statement should also be stated in the Title Page even the authors do not plan to share it.

Clinical trial and data sharing policy of the journal will be valid for the articles submitted from I February 2020.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Type of manuscript	Word limit	Abstract word limit	Reference limit	Table limit	Figure limit
Oninin al Antiala	1000	250	25		5 or total of 10
Original Article	4000	(Structured)	35	6	images
Dovious Article	5000	250	FO		10 or total of 15
Review Afficie	5000	250	50	6	images
Case Depart	1200	200	IE		4 or total of 8 im-
Case Report	1200	200	15	No tables	ages
Letter to the Editor	400	No abstract	5	No tables	No media



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Invited brief editorial comments on selected articles are published in The Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. Editorials should not be longer than 1000 words excluding references. Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.

Review Articles: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should quide future studies. The subheadings of the review articles should be planned by the authors. However, each review article should include an "Introduction" and a "Conclusion" section. Please check Table I for the limitations for Review Articles.

Case Reports: There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The text should include Introduction, Case Presentation, and Discussion with an unstructured abstract. Please check Table I for the limitations for Case Reports.

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables. Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text). Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should not be a repetition of the data presented within the main text but should be supporting the main text.

Figures and Figure Legends

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as

separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figures too should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be blinded. The minimum resolution of each submitted figure should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions: 100 × 100 mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

References

Both in-text citations and the references must be prepared according to the Vancouver style.

While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/MEDLINE/PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples.

Journal Article: Yazıcı A. The efficacy of endoscopic ventilation tube insertion in pediatric populations. Cyprus J Med Sci 2019; 4(2): 73-6.

Book Section: Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308. **Books with a Single Author**: Sweetman SC. Martindale the complete drug reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92.

Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ET-DRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki öğrencilerin beslenme durumları, fiziksel aktiviteleri ve beden kitle indeksleri kan lipidleri arasındaki ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974.

Epub Ahead of Print Articles: Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].

Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): I(I): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc. gov/ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

Revisions

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format. Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Contents

Original Articles

- 189 LGBT+ Individuals' Sexual and Mental Health: A Comparison with Hetereosexual Group Nur Elçin Boyacıoğlu, Hüsniye Dinç, Neslihan Keser Özcan, Ardıl Bayram Şahin
- 196 Configuration of Palliative Care Clinics and Integration with Home Health Care Services: Current Practice in Turkey

Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı, Tarkan Özdemir, Fatih Göksel, Çiğdem Özdilekcan

- 200 Is Autonomic Function Impaired in Patients with Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome? Ayhan Coșgun, Alper Güneș
- 205 The Effect of Exercise and Shortwave Diathermy Treatment on the Quality of Life of Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain Seide Karasel, Sema Öncel, İpek Sönmez
 - 211 Load Distribution in Tooth and Implant–Abutment Identical Cases Muhammed Mutahhar Ulusoy, Hakan Arinc, Asiye Nehir Ozden
- 217 Close to Half of the Granulomatous Mastitis may be Tuberculosis Mastitis Çiğdem Özdilekcan, Filiz Duyar Ağca, Tarkan Özdemir, Sultan Çiğdem Irkkan, Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı
- 22| Evaluation of the Electrocardiographic Parameters of Anemic Children Before and After Anemia Correction Mehmet Uğurlu, Münevver Tuğba Temel
- 226 Examination of the Relationship Between Exercise Barriers and Physical Activity, Sleep, and Fatigue in Older Individuals Meral Sertel, Ayşe Abit Kocaman, Sabiha Bezgin, Tezel Yıldırım Şahan, Saniye Aydoğan Arslan, Cevher Savcun Demirci, M. Ayhan Oral, Birol Önal, Kübra Uğurlu, Özge Vergili
- 234 The Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among Students between the Ages of 6 and 15 years in Konya Şükran Arıkan, Yetkin Utku Kamuk, Serkan Revan
- 239 Evaluation of the Effect of Gabapentin on Tendon Healing in an Experimental Rat Model Seyran Kılınç, Hatice Reyhan Eğilmez, Özhan Pazarcı, Muhammed Yasir Altunışık
- 245 Association of Mean Platelet Volume with Bone Mineral Density in Fibromyalgia Betül Sargın, Gülcan Gürer
- 249 Bone Mineral Density and Lipid Metabolism After Alendronate and Strontium Ranelate Treatment Özlen Emekçi Özay, Ali Cenk Özay, Berrin Acar



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Reviews

- 254 Lasers for Removing Obturation Materials and Medicaments from the Root Canal: A Review Mohamad Abduljalil, Burcu Gunal Abduljalil
- 260 White Spot Lesions: Recent Detection and Treatment Methods İsmail Serhat Sadıkoğlu
- 267 Anesthesia Management in Patients with Covid-19 Ayşe Hande Arpacı, Berrin Işık

Case Report

273 Lymphoepihelioma-like Carcinoma of the Skin in the Mediterranean Hanife Özkayalar, İbrahim Orgun Deren, Gamze Mocan

Letter to the Editor

276 Rare Cause of Small Bowel Obstruction: Multiple Phytobezoars Işıl Başara Akın, Canan Altay, Tufan Egeli, İnan Yılmaz, Funda Barlık Obuz

LGBT+ Individuals' Sexual and Mental Health: A Comparison with Hetereosexual Group

Nur Elçin Boyacıoğlu^ı 💿, Hüsniye Dinç^ı 💿, Neslihan Keser Özcan^ı 💿, Ardıl Bayram Şahin² 💿

¹Faculty of Health Science, Istanbul University School of Medicine Cerrahpasa, Istanbul, Turkey ²Istanbul University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

ORCID IDs of the authors: N.E.B. 0000-000I-8138-7347, H.D. 0000-0002-846I-643X, N.K.Ö. 0000-0003-13II-6646, A.B.Ş. 0000-0003-45I5-7530.

Cite this article as: Boyacıoğlu NE, Dinç H, Özcan NK, Şahin AB. LGBT+ Individuals' Sexual and Mental Health: A Comparison with Hetereosexual Group. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(1): 189-95.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Although lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT+) individuals experience many sexual and mental health problems, these problems are neglected by health professionals. We designed this study to determine the sexual and mental health problems of LGBT+ individuals by conducting a comparison with heterosexual individuals.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This cross-sectional, descriptive, and comparative study design was conducted between August 2015 and October 2015; it involved 210 LGBT+ subjects and 226 heterosexual subjects. Data were collected using online surveys, including an information form (35 questions) and the Turkish adaptation of a standard General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12 questions). The GSQ-12 is a screening device for identifying minor psychiatric disorders in the general population. Descriptive statistics, independent sample t-test, and Spearman and Pearson's correlation test were used for data analyses.

RESULTS

Compared to the control group subjects, more LGBT+ subjects indulged in sexual activities for money and/or drugs; in addition, the prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), experiences of abuse, and sexual problems was higher in LGBT+ subjects. There was no difference between the groups in terms of mental health status.

CONCLUSION

While there was a difference in the sexual health parameters between the groups, there was no difference in their mental health status.

Keywords: LGBT, mental health, sexual health

INTRODUCTION

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, transsexual, queer, questioning, intersex, inter-gender, asexual, ally and beyond (LGBT+) is a term that encompasses all groups and identities defined as "sexual minorities" (I). For the most part of history, even in the definitions given by the scientific community, homosexuality was defined using negative terms, such as sexual identity disorder, illness, and perversion. The removal of homosexuality from the classification as a disease was performed in steps. In 1952, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) of the American Psychiatric Association described homosexuality as a sociopathic personality disorder, while in the DSM-II (1968), it was classified as a sexual deviation. With the effect of dissenting views rising in the 1970s, the homosexuality category left its place to the sexual orientation disorder in 1973 in the DSM-II and this category, in turn, left its place to the category of ego dystonic homosexuality category in 1980 in the DSM-III. Finally, in the DSM-III-R (1987), homosexuality was no longer defined as a mental disorder. However, there are still traces of such negative references in clinical practice (2, 3).

The historical process in the definition of transsexuality is similar to that of homosexuality. Initially, the definition of transsexuality was included in the DSM-III and evaluated in the DSM-IV in the category of sexual identity disorders. Finally,

Presented in: I. LGBTİ Ruh Sağlığı Sempozyumu, Bilgi Üniversitesi, Santral İstanbul.

Corresponding Author: Hüsniye Dinç E-mail: husniyedinc@hotmail.com Received: 18.02.2019 Accepted: 23.06.2019 Available Online Date: 07.04.2020



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

the word "disorder" was removed and redefined as "gender dysphoria" and separated from the paraphilias and sexual dysfunctions category. In time, psychiatry continues to make changes related to the definition of "sexual orientation" and "gender identity", still causing the individual to be stigmatized. In Turkey, in the diagnosis and identification of diseases, mental health specialists consider the DSM criteria (2, 3).

In the literature, the term LGBT is used instead of the term homosexuality. The reason for this is that the term homosexuality only brings sexuality to mind and disease diagnosis is perceived as categorization. Moreover, the term homosexuality was abandoned because it only included gay and lesbian individuals. Thus, the term "LGBT" was then used in Western societies (I).

Although not classified as having a disorder, LGBT+ individuals in Turkey are the target of prejudice and discrimination in many societies; they are ostracized and stigmatized by these societies. This situation causes sexual and psychological health problems in the LGBT+ individuals (4-6).

In our country, LGBT+ individuals had experiences similar to those worldwide. LGBT+ individuals started to form small groups outside the public dominion to come together with individuals going through the same experiences so that they could share problems and seek solutions. However, the process of organizing (or creating) a society in Turkey started only I20 years previously for LGBT+ individuals. They took the first step by becoming visible through the establishment of two associations in the metropolises of Turkey, Istanbul, and Ankara. Thereafter, LGBT+ associations were established in many other cities. Today, there are nine non-governmental organizations in Turkey established by LGBT+ individuals (6).

In most studies performed on LGBT+ individuals, the basis of the problems was stated to be discrimination, lack of social support, health inequalities, and minority stress arising from the fact that this group is neglected by health professionals (7-II).

The results of studies examining the sexual and mental health of LGBT+ individuals are varied. Some studies state that having a different sexual identity affects an individual's sexual and mental life negatively; while some state that the sexual and mental health of the group is no different from those of their heterosexual counterparts (9).

Few studies have assessed the needs and priorities of LGBT+ individuals, especially those regarding the provision of their health-related service needs. These research data are very important since they represent a study in Turkey that evaluated

Main Points:

- These results give data on LGBT individuals' sexual health in Turkey.
- These results give data on LGBT individuals' mental health in Turkey.
- This data enables to compare sexual and mental health outcomes for LGBT individuals and heterosexual individuals.

both the sexual and mental health and provides the opportunity to compare these data to those of heterosexual individuals. We believe that our results can bridge the knowledge gap on the subject, present a clear picture of the existing situation, and help establish regulations on the issue.

This study aimed to determine the sexual and mental health problems of LGBT+ individuals by conducting a comparison with heterosexual individuals.

The following research questions were addressed by this study:

- I. Is the adult LGBT+ population of Turkey more likely to experience sexual problems than the non-LGBT+ adult population?
- 2. Is the adult LGBT+ population of Turkey more likely to experience mental health problems than the non-LGBT+ adult population?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Design

This cross-sectional, descriptive, and comparative study design was conducted from August 2015 to October 2015.

Participants

The sample included 210 LGBT+ and 226 heterosexual individuals. We did not use any sample calculation method to determine the sample because there are few associations operating in Turkey and only three of these associations share our work with its members. The average number of members of these associations is 600 (Istanbul LGBTI Solidarity Association: 50 members, Lambda Istanbul: 250 members and KaoS GL: 250 members).

As per the inclusion criteria, individuals aged >18 years who belonged to the LGBT+ community in Turkey, were able to understand questions about sexual and mental health, and could report her/his opinions were included. Those adults in personal and occupational mail groups in Turkey who did not identify themselves as LGBT+, were able to understand questions about sexual and mental health, and could report her/his opinions were included as controls.

Instruments

Data were collected using online self-reported questionnaires consisting of an information form (35 questions) and the Turkish version of the General Health Questionnaire-I2 (GHQ-I2) (I2 questions). In the first part of the questionnaire, detailed information regarding the study aim and contact information of the researchers were provided.

Information Form

For both the LGBT+ and the control group, six questions regarding the socio-demographic information, three questions evaluating their habits (smoking, alcohol, substance), twenty questions regarding sexuality (sexual orientation, gender identity, masturbation, age of first sexual experience) and sexual health (sexually transmitted diseases [STD], condom use, sexual health problems, and help seeking behavior), and six questions regarding abuse (physical, emotional, economical, and sexual abuse, childhood physical and sexual abuse) were asked.

The General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-I2)

GSA was used as a first-step screening test in social studies to determine the mental state of individuals without any psychiatric or physical problems. The scale was also preferred in this study because of its short and comprehensible use in social studies. The Turkish validity and reliability study of the GHQ-I2 was performed in 1996 by Kilic (12). It contained 12 questions in four fields, including depression, anxiety, obsessively observed behavior, and hypochondriasis. Each GHQ-12 item was formulated as a statement about symptoms experienced during "the last weeks" (rather than "recently" as in the original questionnaire), with four response options, six of which were positively phrased and six of which were negatively phrased. Each item was answered by choosing from among 4 choices, ranging from "less than usual (0 point)", "no more than usual (0 point)", "rather more than usual (I point)", and "much more than usual (I point)". We mainly used a bimodal scoring method, whereby "less than usual" and "no more than usual" were both worth zero points and "rather more than usual" and "much more than usual" were worth one I point each. Accordingly, the lowest possible score was 0, while the highest possible score was I2.

TABLE I. Socio-demographic characteristics and habits of the sub-LGBT Control group group (226) Chi-(210) n (%) n (%) Square Ρ **Marital Status** Married 69 (30.5) 13 (6.2) 46.70 0.001 Single 191 (91) 148 (65.5) Single (divorced, widowed) 6(2.9) 7(3.1) Education 2(0.9) Primary 1(0.5) 31.87 0.001 Secondary – high school 75 (35.8) 31 (13.7) 134 (63.8) 193 (85.4) University Status of employment 27.29 0.001 Regular 75 (35.7) 137 (60.6) Irregular 85 (40.5) 59 (26.I) Unemployed/student 50 (23.8) 30 (13.3) Smoking (during last month) Regular use 125 (59.5) 96 (42,5) 19.69 0.001 Sometimes 29 (13.8) 30 (13.3) Not use 56 (26.7) 100 (44.2) Drug use (during one year) Not use 149 (71) 197 (87.2) 17.57 0.001 Use 51 (29) 29 (22.8) Alcohol use 35 (16.7) 24 (10.6) 14.58 0.002 Regular use Sometimes 155 (73.8) 152 (67.3) Not use 20 (9.5) 50 (22.1)

Those who scored <2 points were classified as having negative psychological health status, those who scored 2–3 points were classified as having mid-level psychological health status, and those scored >4 points were classified as having a highly positive psychological health status. The Cronbach alpha coefficient of the scale in the current study was 0.75.

Procedure

The questionnaire was prepared for the study that was planned as an online survey, and the announcement was made on the Web pages of a few associations where LGBT+ individuals were members as well as via in mail groups belonging to LGBT+ groups. For heterosexual individuals, the aim of the study was explained and announcements were made in certain personal and occupational mail groups to achieve participation through the snowball method.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 20.0 (SPSS Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA). In addition to descriptive statistics (mean, percentage, frequency), independent sample t-test and chi-square were used to compare the groups. Statistical significance was determined at $p \le 0.05$.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical permission was obtained from the ethics board of the Medipol University before the study was initiated (Protocol Number: 10840098-604.01.01-E.1884). The study was carried out in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki Declaration, and approval was obtained at the beginning of the survey to enroll participants using the digital approach. Participants who were willing to participate in the study completed the questionnaires after providing consent.

RESULTS

Socio-Demographic and Other Characteristics

The average age of the LGBT+ individuals was 24.31 (SD=6.44), and the average age of the control group was 27.51 (SD=6.24). There was a significant difference in the age of the two groups (t= 6.47, p<0.001).

Among the LGBT+ individuals, 38.1% (n=80) stated their sexual orientation as bisexual, 59% (n=124) as homosexual, and 2.9% (n=6) as heterosexual; all the controls reported being heterosexual.

Among the LGBT+ individuals, 41% (n=80) stated their gender identity as male, 35.2% (n=74) as female, 6.7% (n=14) as trans male, and 3.3% (n=7) as trans female. Total 5.7% (n=12) stated that they did not feel a part of any gender, and 8.1% (n=17) did not respond to this question.

LGBT+ individuals were found to marry less, receive less education, work with less regularity (more unemployment); they used more tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drugs than heterosexual subjects (Table I).

Characteristics Regarding Sexuality and Sexual Health

LGBT+ individuals were found to masturbate more, have more STDs, enter more sexual relations for money/drugs, and experience more sexual problems than the controls. In the matter of taking professional help for sexual problems, no statistical differences were found between the groups (Table 2).

Total 10.4% of the LGBT+ individuals (n=22) and 19% (n=45) of the control group never had sexual relations. Among the LGBT+

TABLE 2. Sexuality and sexual health-related characteristics					
	LGBT group (210) n (%)	Control group (226) n (%)	Chi- Square	Ρ	
Masturbation					
Yes	192 (91.4)	169 (74.8)	66.73	0.001	
No	18 (8.6)	57 (25.2)			
Ideas on masturbation					
Positive	151 (71.9)	167 (73.9)	1.61	0.445	
Negative	16 (7.6)	22 (9.7)			
Neutral	43 (20.5)	37 (16.4)			
Use of condom					
Yes	68 (37.5)	73 (40.8)	10.42	0.015	
No	55 (29.3)	68 (37.5)			
Sometimes	61 (33.2)	40 (21.7)			
Sexually transmitted disease	es				
Yes	45 (24.4)	16 (8.6)	33.12	0.001	
No	143 (75.6)	165 (91.4)			
Sex for money or drug					
Yes	18 (8.6)	3 (1.3)	300.7	0.001	
No	192 (91.4)	223 (98.7)			
Problem of sexual life					
Yes	95 (50.5)	53 (29.4)	25.09	0.001	
No	93 (49.5)	127 (80.6)			
Professional support for sex	ual problem:	5			
Yes	5 (26.6)	5 (27.7)	5.02	0.081	
No	183 (73.4)	175 (72.3)			

TABLE 3. Sexual problems

	LGBT group (I88) n (%)	Control group (181) n (%)
Had no sexual dysfunction	89 (47.3)	126 (69.5)
Loss of libido	32 (17)	22 (12.1)
Difficulty in arousal	10 (5.3)	I (0.6)
Vaginismus	I (0.59	I (0.6)
Pain during intercourse	2 (I.I)	3 (1.7)
Difficulty in orgasm	10 (5.3)	8 (4.4)
Difficulty keeping an erection	9 (4.8)	5 (2.8)
Premature/difficulty ejaculation	10 (5.3)	II (6.I)
Avoiding due to the anal intercourse	II (5.9)	0 (0)
Avoiding due to the STI	4 (2.2)	0 (0)
Other	10 (5.3)	4 (2.2)
STI: Sexually transmitted infections		

individuals who previously had sexual relationships, 9% (n=19) had experienced gonorrhea, 8.1% (n=17) had genital warts, 1.4% (n=3) were HIV positive, and 1% (n=2) had hepatitis. Among heterosexual individuals, 4% (n=9) had genital warts, and 0.4% (n=1) experienced gonorrhea. Some of those who experienced STDs but did not define the type stated that they did not want to name the disease or did not know the name of the disease. The sexual problems encountered are listed in (Table 3); the most widely experienced problem in both the groups was that of interest and desire. The average age at the time of first sexual experience in the LGBT+ individuals was I6.3I years (SD=3.50) and that in the controls was I9.63 (SD=3.76). LGBT+ individuals had their first sexual experience earlier (t=8.54, p<0.001).

Abuse Experience and General Health Status

The LGBT+ group was exposed to more physical and sexual abuse during childhood and to more physical and emotional

TABLE 4. Distribution of abuse and health aspects					
	LGBT group (210) n (%)	Control group (226) n (%)	Chi- Square	р	
Physical Violence					
Yes (partner)	31 (14.8)	20 (8.8)	19.37	0.001	
Yes (except partner)	63 (30)	36 (15.9)			
No	116 (55.2)	170 (75.2)			
Psychological Violence					
Yes (partner)	41 (19.5)	34 (15)	57.06	0.001	
Yes (except partner)	II2 (53.3)	52 (23)			
No	57 (27.2)	140 (62)			
Economical Violence					
Yes (partner)	12 (5.7)	13 (5.8)	2.36	0.306	
Yes (except partner)	37 (17.6)	28 (12.4)			
No	161 (76.7)	185 (81.8)			
Forced sex					
Yes (partner)	18 (8.5)	8 (3.5)	17.04	0.001	
Yes (except partner)	22 (10.5)	6 (2.7)			
No	170 (81)	212 (93.8)			
Physical Abuse in childhoo	d				
Yes (family)	40 (19)	22 (9.7)	16.72	0.001	
Yes (except family)	40 (19)	24 (10.6)			
No	130 (62)	180 (79.7)			
Sexual Abuse in childhood	I				
Yes (family)	9 (4.3)	2 (0.9)	30.55	0.001	
Yes (except family)	57 (27.1)	21 (9.3)			
No	144 (68.6)	203 (89.8)			
General Health Status					
Low	90 (42.9)	103 (45.6)	2.80	0.246	
Mid	39 (18.6)	52 (23)			
High	81 (38.5)	71 (31.4)			
LGBT: lesbian, gay, bisexua	al, and transge	nder			

abuse as adults; they were also forced more into sexual relationships than the controls. Although LGBT group had higher (negative psychological health) GSQ scores, there was no statistically significant difference between the groups (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Discussion of the Socio-Demographic and Other Characteristics

Fewer LGBT+ individuals got married; they received less education, worked less regularly (more unemployment), and used more tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drugs than the controls. These differences in the demographic data were evaluated as results of the social problems experienced by LGBT+ individuals, such as stigmatization and discrimination.

In the present study, the use of tobacco and alcohol was more prevalent in LGBT individuals. The prevalence of smoking among LGBT+ individuals varies between 26.47% and 61% (13, 14), that of alcohol use varies between 65% and 84% (15, 16), and that of illicit drug use varies between 9.7% and 53.3% (17, 18). The reported rates vary in a very large range. The same wide perspective applies to the habits of heterosexual individuals. It is very difficult to make comparisons regarding the use of alcohol, tobacco, and drugs. Many factors, such as the age group, race, employment status, income level, and region of residence affect the alcohol, tobacco, and drug use; the multitude of influencing factors make the comparison challenging (13-15, 19, 20). However, the generally reported alcohol, tobacco, and drug use rates for LGBT+ individuals are higher than those for the population as a whole. This situation is believed to be a negative coping method used to deal with problems arising because of sexual orientation or gender identity differences.

Discussion of Characteristics Regarding Sexuality and Sexual Health

There is no direct relationship between STDs and sexual orientation-gender identity. Sexually transmitted infections may infect anyone, and the clinical symptoms do not vary as per the sexual orientation. Suggestions for avoiding STDs do not differ for LGBT+ individuals, and the determining factor in infection is the cause rather than the person. Risks are high for anyone who engages in unprotected sex (21). LGBT+ individuals experience more STDs, enter more sexual relations for money/drugs, and use condoms more frequently. These differences may be attributable to the inclusion of LGBT+ sex workers in our sample. These individuals are more aware about condom use after experiencing an STD. Studies show that the rate of HIV positivity is higher among LGBT+ individuals (18, 22-24). However, in these studies, risk factors, such as young age, homelessness, frequent changing of sexual partners, and predilection for risky behavior were more stressed than the factor of belonging to the LGBT+ community.

The prevalence of sexual dysfunction among LGBT+ groups was 42.5%–79% (7, 8, 25-27). When the high rates of childhood sexual abuse and STDs among LGBT+ individuals are considered, these rates are not surprising (8, 9). In a recent systematical review, studies examining sexual health problems in LGBT+ individuals were stated to be lacking and the existing studies are criticized for not including heterosexual control groups (9). Thus, the existing studies should be carefully interpreted.

Problems endemic to LGBT+ individuals who are exposed to discrimination in every field of life are unknown or are examined sufficiently by health care workers. Sexual problems are among the most important problems health issues that they experience. In the present study, the most widely experienced problem in both the groups was that of sexual interest and desire. This result is similar to that reported in the literature (8, 25-27).

Discussion of the Findings Regarding Abuse Experience and General Health Status

The finding that the LGBT+ group underwent more abuse of every kind in every phase of their lives (childhood, adulthood, marriage, work life, social life etc.) compared to the control group is consistent with several previous reports. For example, in a national study conducted by Andersen and Blosnich (28) in the USA, where the greatest numbers of studies on the subject have been conducted, LGBT+ individuals were found to be exposed to 60% more childhood abuse (physical, sexual, emotional) compared to heterosexual subjects. Similarly, in a study where the peer bullying experienced by heterosexual and LGBT+ individuals during childhood in Australia were compared, LGBT+ individuals were found to be exposed to more peer bullying (29).

A systematical review by Rothman et al. (30) in the USA that examined 75 studies found that lesbian and bisexual women were sexually attacked more often during adulthood and during their entire lifetime than heterosexual individuals (30). In another study on I243 LGB individuals in the USA, sexual minorities were reportedly exposed to more abuse during both, childhood and adulthood (31). In addition, most studies that have investigated the abuse of LGBT individuals in the literature focus on spousal violence, with high reported abuse rates (32-35). In a study on LGBT+ individuals in Turkey, they were exposed to violence because of their sexual orientation; 23% were exposed to physical violence, 87% to social violence, and 50% to violence from people they did not know (36). According to another study conducted in Turkey, the rate of people exposed to familial violence because of their sexual orientation and/or gender identity was 6.6%, while the rate of those who received death threats from their families was 3.2% (4).

Both national and international data point to the seriousness of the issue. However, regardless of group, care should be given to comparing data on violence. Some studies focus on certain types of violence encountered by LGBT individuals (34, 35), while some only evaluate a certain group of LGBT+ individuals (such as only gay or lesbian people) (31-33). Some studies have focused on spouse violence, while others have evaluated social violence (29) or made evaluations pertaining to different time periods (lifelong, previous 5 years, and previous I year).

In this study, 45.6% LGBT individuals had poor general health status. However, no meaningful difference was found on comparison to the heterosexual group. In a study by Yalcinoglu and Onal (3) in Turkey on 210 homosexual/bisexual males, this rate was higher than that in our study (65.3%). Most studies on LGBT+ individuals have focused on the relationship between discrimination and negative health outcomes. Two different systematical reviews performed in this context have shown that discrimination is related to low mental health status (37, 38). In many studies performed on LGBT+ individuals, the rates of many mental problems, such as depression and suicide (39-41); nicotine, alcohol, and substance use (40, 41); sexual activity under the influence of alcohol or substances (42); anxiety disorders (40); schizophrenia/psychotic disorders (40); eating disorders (43); and PTSD (44, 45) were higher than those in heterosexual individuals.

Although there is much evidence showing that LGBT+ individuals have worse health status than heterosexual individuals, the present results do not support this statement. Most of the people who participated in the study were related to LGBT+ associations and may have created a selection bias. LGBT+ individuals who faced negative attitudes from the society, such as discrimination and exclusion, have come together to raise their own awareness, become organized, and seek their rights. This may have led to better maintenance of their social and psychological health as compared to that of those who remained outside this process.

LGBT+ individuals who are at a distinct disadvantage compared to heterosexuals had lower marriage rates, received less education, worked less regularly (higher unemployment rate), and used more tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drugs than heterosexual individuals. With regard to sexual health, LGBT+ individuals experienced more STDs, entered more sexual relations for money/drugs, encountered more sexual problems, and had higher exposure to more abuse during childhood and adulthood; however, their health status was not inferior to that of heterosexual individuals despite the above-mentioned negative aspects. Many previous studies have reported poorer health status of LGBT individuals, and the contradictory results of our study are believed to be attributed to the fact that our sample comprised LGBT+ individuals who were receiving support from civil society organizations formed to defend their rights.

Clinical Implication

This study may raise awareness on the questioning of the widespread heterosexist approach that accepts heterosexuality as the only acceptable, healthy, and right sexual orientation, with LGBT+ groups being one of the disadvantaged groups with regard to health. It can also remove barriers to healthcare professionals in offering sexual and mental health care without prejudice and objective service to LGBT individuals.

Study Limitations

The current study presents some limitations; therefore, the results should be interpreted cautiously. A Web-based survey was used for sample selection; consequently, only volunteers with internet access were able to participate. Sexual orientation minority status was based on self-identified sexual orientation only.

The sexual function disorders of the participants were determined via self-reporting; this may have resulted in over reporting. The mental health of the participants was determined through a valid and reliable scale; however, no evaluation was performed by a clinician.

In the study, the LGBT+ community individuals were evaluated as a group. Each letter in the abbreviation represents a different population; therefore, care should be taken while interpreting the study results. A significant difference between the groups in terms of age is another limitation of the study. **Ethics Committee Approval** Ethical permission was obtained from Medipol University The Ethics Board before the study began (Protocol Number: 10840098-604.01.01-E.1884).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept – N.E.B., H.D., N.K.Ö., A.B.Ş.; Design – N.B.E., N.K.Ö., H.D., A.B.Ş.; Supervision – N.E.B., H.D., N.K.Ö., A.B.Ş.; Resource-None; Materials - None; Data Collection and/or Processing – A.B.Ş., N.E.B., H.D., N.K.Ö.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – N.K.Ö., N.E.B., H.D., A.B.Ş.; Literature Search – H.D., N.E.B., N.K.Ö., A.B.Ş.; Writing – N.E.B., HD, N.K.Ö, A.B.Ş.; Critical Reviews – N.E.B., HD, N.K.Ö, A.B.Ş.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank all the participants for helping with recruitment for the study.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Kaos GL. What illness, what crime, what sin! LGBT Rights are Human Rights. 2011 Available from: URL: http://www.kaosgldernegi.org/ resim/kutuphane/dl/lgbt_haklari_insan_haklaridir_saglik.pdf
- Guner U, Kalkan P, Oz Y, Ozsoy EC, Soyle F. Monitoring report: Discrimination based on sexual orientation or sex identity in Turkey. Istanbul: Istanbul Bilgi University Publications; 2011.
- Yalcınoglu N, Onal AE. The internalized homophobia level of the homosexual and bisexual men and its effect on the health. Turkish J of Public Health 2014; 12(2): 100-12. [CrossRef]
- LGBTI Rights in Turkey Study. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) Individuals of Social and Economic Problems Research Summary Results in Turkey. Istanbul: Bilgi University Publications; 2014.
- 5. Senel B. Reflections of sexual orientation discrimination in everyday life. Master's Thesis, 2014.
- Alp A. The participation of disadvantages groups' careers in Turkey: LGBTI individuals in Istanbul. Mugla Sitki Kocaman University Department of Sociology, Institute of Social Sciences, Thesis. 2015.
- Shindel AW, Vittinghoff E, Breyer BN. Erectile dysfunction and premature ejaculation in men who have sex with men. J Sex Med 2012; 9(2): 576–84. [CrossRef]
- Ivankovic ' I, Ševic ' S, Štulhofer A. Distressing sexual difficulties in heterosexual and non-heterosexual Croatian men: Assessing the role of minority stress. J Sex Res 2015; 52(6): 647–58. [CrossRef]
- Štulhofer A, Šević S, Doyle DM. Comparing the prevalence and correlates of sexual health disturbances among heterosexual and nonheterosexual men: An overview of studies. Sex Med Rev 2014; 2(3-4): 102-11. [CrossRef]
- Kaptan S. Homosexuals and mental health. Sexual education treatment and research association of information file. Homosexuality. Istanbul: Senk Offset Printing; 2013.p.44-47.
- II. Bostwick WB, Boyd CJ, Hughes TL, West BT, McCabe SE. Discrimination and mental health among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. Am J Orthopsychiatry 2014; 84(1): 35-45. [CrossRef]
- Kılıc C. General health Inventory: A validity and reliability study. Turk Psikiyatri Derg 1996; 7: 3-11.
- Pelster ADK, Fisher CM, Irwin JA, Coleman JD, McCarthy MA. Tobacco use and its relationship to social determinants of health in LGBT populations of a Midwestern State. LGBT Health 2015; 2: 71-6. [CrossRef]

- Tamí-Maury I, Lin MT, Lapham HL, Hong JH, Cage C, Shete S, et al. A pilot study to assess tobacco use among sexual minorities in Houston, Texas. Am J Addic 2015; 24(5): 391-95. [CrossRef]
- Kelly J, Davis C, Schlesinger C. Substance use by same sex attracted young people: Prevalence, perceptions and homophobia. Drug Alcohol Rev 2014; 34(4): 358-65. [CrossRef]
- Jones S. Drinking patterns and outcomes of alcohol use by LGBT students at a minority-serving university. In 43rd Biennial Convention Book, Las Vegas;2015.
- Duncan DT, Hatzenbuehler ML, Johnson RM. Neighborhood-level LGBT hate crimes and current illicit drug use among sexual minority youth. Drug Alcohol Depend 2014; 135: 65-70. [CrossRef]
- Kurka T, Soni S, Richardson D. High rates of recreational drug use in men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Infec 2015; 91(6): 394. [CrossRef]
- Fallin A, Goodin A, Lee YO, Bennett K. Smoking characteristics among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults. Prev Med 2015; 74:123-30. [CrossRef]
- Babineau K, Clancy L, Keogan S. Smoking among people living with HIV and AIDS in Ireland: Prevalence among sub-groups. Eur Respir J. 2015; 46(suppl 59): PA5130. [CrossRef]
- Basar K, Kaptan S. Myths related to sexual orientation. sexual education treatment and research association for information files, Homosexuality. Istanbul: Senk Offset Printing; 2013. pp.33-7.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). HIV among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men. 2013. Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ hiv/pdf/risk_HIV_among_AA_ Gay_other.pdf
- Nyamathi A, Reback CJ, Shoptaw S, Salem BE, Zhang S, Yadav K. Impact of tailored interventions to reduce drug use and sexual risk behaviors among homeless gay and bisexual men. Am J Mens Health 2015; II(2): 208-20. [CrossRef]
- Brito MO, Hodge D, Donastorg Y, Khosla S, Lerebours L, Pope Z. Risk behaviours and prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and HIV in a group of Dominican gay men, other men who have sex with men and transgender women. BMJ Open 2015; 5(4): I-6. [CrossRef]
- Lau JTF, Kim JH, Tsui HY. Prevalence and sociocultural predictors of sexual dysfunction among Chinese men who have sex with men in Hong Kong. J Sex Med 2008; 5: 2766–79. [CrossRef]
- Mao L, Newman CE, Kidd MR, Saltman DC, Rogers GD, Kippax SC. Self-reported sexual difficulties and their associa- tion with depression and other factors among gay men attending high HIV-caseload general practices in Australia. J Sex Med 2009; 6(5): I378–85. [CrossRef]
- Hirshfield S, Chiasson MA, Wagmiller RLJ, Remien RH, Humberstone M, Scheinmann R, et al. Sexual dysfunction in an Internet sample of U.S. men who have sex with men. J Sex Med 2010; 7(9): 3104-14. [CrossRef]
- Andersen JP, Blosnich J. Disparities in adverse childhood experiences among sexual minority and heterosexual adults: results from a multi-state probability-based sample. PLoS One 2013; 8(1): I-7. [CrossRef]
- Zou C, Andersen JP. Comparing the rates of early childhood victimization across sexual orientations: Heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and mostly heterosexual. PLoS One 2015; 10(10): I-15. [CrossRef]

- Rothman EF, Exner D, Baughman AL. The prevalence of sexual assault against people who identify as gay, lesbian, or bisexual in the United States: A systematic review. Trauma Violence Abuse 2011; 12(2): 55-66. [CrossRef]
- Lehavot K, Molina Y, Simoni JM. Childhood trauma, adult sexual assault, and adult gender expression among lesbian and bisexual women. Sex Roles 2012; 67(5-6): 272-84. [CrossRef]
- Stephenson R, Rentsch C, Salazar LF, Sullivan PS. Dyadic characteristics and intimate partner violence among men who have sex with men. West J Emerg Med 2011; 12(3): 324-32.
- Pantalone DW, Schneider KL, Valentine SE, Simoni JM. Investigating partner abuse among HIV-positive men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2012; 16(4): 1031-1043. [CrossRef]
- Walters ML, Chen J, Breiding MJ. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 findings on victimization by sexual orientation. Atlanta, GA. Available from: URL: http://www. cdc.gov/violenceprevention/nisvs/ specialreports.html
- 35. Mimiaga MJ, Biello KB, Robertson AM, Oldenburg CE, Rosenberger JG, O'Cleirigh C, et al. High prevalence of multiple syndemic conditions associated with sexual risk behavior and HIV infection among a large sample of Spanish-and Portuguese-speaking men who have sex with men in Latin America. Arch Sex Behav 2015; 44(7): 1869-78. [CrossRef]
- Lambda. Neithter wrong nor alone. Homosexual And bisexual individuals' problems. Istanbul: Berdan Publications; 2006.
- Paradies Y. A systematic review of empirical research on self-reported racism and health. Int J Epidemiol 2006; 35(4): 888-901. [CrossRef]
- Williams D, Mohammed S. Discrimination and racial disparities in health: Evidence and needed research. J Behav Med 2009; 32(1): 20-47. [CrossRef]
- Marshal MP, Dietz LJ, Friedman MS, Stall R, Smith HA, McGinley J, et al. Suicidality and depression disparities between sexual minority and heterosexual youth: A meta-analytic review. J Adoles Health 2011; 49(2): II5-I23. [CrossRef]
- Bolton SL, Sareen J. Sexual orientation and its relation to mental disorders and suicide attempts: Findings from a nationally representative sample. Can J Psychiatry 2011; 56(1): 35-43. [CrossRef]
- Burns MN, Ryan DT, Garofalo R, Newcomb ME, Mustanski B. Mental health disorders in young urban sexual minority men. J Adoles Health 2015; 56(1): 52-8. [CrossRef]
- 42. Herrick A, Marshal MP, Smith H, Stall R. Sex while intoxicated: A meta- analysis comparing heterosexual and SMY. J Adoles Health 2011; 48(3): 306-9. [CrossRef]
- Austin SB, Ziyadeh NJ, Corliss HL, Rosario M, Wypij D, Haines J, et al. Sexual orientation disparities in purging and binge eating from early to late adolescence. J Adoles Health 2009; 45(3): 238-45. [CrossRef]
- Mustanski BS, Garofalo R, Emerson EM. Mental health disorders, psychological distress, and suicidality in a diverse sample of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youths. Am J Public Health 2010; 100(12): 2426-32. [CrossRef]
- Roberts AL, Rosario M, Corliss HL, Koenen KC, Austin SB. Elevated risk of posttraumatic stress in sexual minority youths: mediation by childhood abuse and gender nonconformity. Am J Public Health 2012; 102(8): 1587-93. [CrossRef]

Original Article

Configuration of Palliative Care Clinics and Integration with Home Health Care Services: Current Practice in Turkey

Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı^ı 🗅, Tarkan Özdemir² 🕩, Fatih Göksel³ 🕩, Çiğdem Özdilekcan² 🕩

¹Department of Pulmonology, Sincan Dr. Nafiz Körez State Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

²Department of Pulmonology, University of Health Sciences Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

³Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Health Sciences Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.H.T. 0000-0003-I503-7343; T.Ö. 0000-0002-9344-7586; F.G. 0000-0003-3164-0767; C.Ö. 0000-0001-5335-0571.

Cite this article as: Türkkanı MH, Özdemir T, Göksel F, Özdilekcan Ç. Configuration of Palliative Care Clinics and Integration with Home Health Care Services: Current Practice in Turkey. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 196-9.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The establishment of palliative care clinics (PCCs) and the integration between PCCs and home health care are important for both patient comfort and disease-related cost reduction. We aimed to analyze PCC distribution and structure of state hospitals along with human resources, and to evaluate the integration of PCCs with home health care services in Turkey.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Data of PCCs started between January 2015 and February 2017 were analyzed in this study with the help of data obtained from the Turkish Ministry of Health.

RESULTS

PCCs are available in 28.9% of state hospitals active in Turkey. Of the total 2957 staff working in PCCs, 77.6% are health care professionals, with 99% being doctors. Home health care service (HHCS) units are available in 76.3% of hospitals with PCCs. Service was offered to 48,953 patients in PCCs, 5.7% of whom were transferred to HHCS in an integrational manner.

CONCLUSION

Integration between PCCs and HHCS remains at an inadequate level. We believe that the benefits of integration should be observed by patients, relatives, and health personnel, thereby increasing awareness and accelerating integration. In addition, we believe that hospital information management systems can be used for this purpose and software programs can be developed to accelerate integration between these 2 units.

Keywords: Coordination, home health care, health professionals, integration, palliative care

INTRODUCTION

Palliative care is the comprehensive and integrated care of patients and their families who are facing problems related to life-threatening diseases. It used to be a care philosophy of approach organized and structured at a high level with multidisciplinary health care providers (I). In palliative care units, symptom control is targetted rather than treating the primary disease to enhance the patient's quality of life. In addition to the symptom control of the primary disease, the physical, social, psychological, and moral requirements of the patients are focused

The need for palliative care has increased worldwide owing to prolonged life expectancies and an increasing aging population, as well as an increase in the frequency of noninfectious diseases and cancer. Approximately 40 million people need palliative care annually (2). According to estimations, worldwide, 377 of 100,000 individuals older than the age of 15 years and 63 100,000 individuals younger than 15 years will need palliative care at the end of their life (1). However, only 14% of the people worldwide in need of palliative care are able to obtain it (2).

Corresponding Author: Tarkan Özdemir E-mail: tabiptarkan@hotmail.com



196

•

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

In 2011, it was stated that advanced integration of palliative care services with the primary services was available in only 20 (8.5%) out of 234 countries. Only limited and insolated palliative care services are available in 75 countries (31.6%), and no palliative care services are available in 98 countries (42%) (3). In 2011, 136 (58%) out of 234 countries implemented palliative care services in I or more hospitals (1). To integrate evidence-based, cost effective, and equitable palliative care services to health services at every level, palliative care policies to support extensive consolidation of health systems have to be developed, empowered, and applied (4).

At the beginning of the 1990s, it was noticed that there was a need for a palliative care program in Turkey, but it could not go beyond providing pain management to cancer patients. A 5-year national cancer control program, including palliative care, was declared in 2009, and palliative care was acknowledged as medical discipline through the "Palya Turk" project in 2010 (5). The legislation for the opening of palliative care clinics (PCCs) in Turkey was issued in 2014. PCC bed capacity was planned to be half of the bed capacity of the intensive care unit available in the same hospital, with such planning limited to the state hospitals (6). Palliative care and home health care services (HHCS) became integrated services, and the cooperation of these 2 disciplines was essential. After completing treatment of the patients in PCCs, their follow-up period is managed at home by HHCS units for their medical, psychological, and social needs to provide the maximum possibility of achievement of better quality of life. Legislative studies have been made for this goal and HHCSs, which began in 2011 has was integrated with PCC in 2015 (6).

The aims of the current study were to analyze PCC distribution and locations within the structure of state hospitals in Turkey, along with human resources, and to evaluate the integration of PCCs with HHCSs.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Data of PCCs between January 2015 and February 2017 were analyzed in this study. Written consent of the T.R. Ministry of Health was provided to acquire and use data for this study. Therefore, ethics committee approval was not required. The

Main Points:

- PCCs are available in 28.9% of the hospitals in Turkey, and 76.3% of the hospitals with a PCC has an HHCS unit. There are 2429 beds in PCCs, 63.3% of which are qualitative.
- Integration between PCCs and HHCS remains at an inadequate level.
- The benefits of integration should be observed by patients, relatives, and health personnel, thereby increasing awareness and accelerating integration.
- Hospital information management systems can be used for the purpose of integration and software programs can be developed to accelerate integration between PCCs and HHCS units. Future studies are also needed in order to analyze the effect of integration between PCCs and HHCSs on morbidity and mortality.

appropriate forms have been officially submitted to all hospitals linked to the Ministry that have registered PCCs within their structure. The roles of the hospitals having PCCs, the number of beds in these clinics, the number of qualitative beds, the number of health care professionals, and the integration of the PCC with HHCSs were questioned using the prepared form. Forms were completed by the appropriate individuals in charge. The database from the Ministry and all acquired data were compared to determine correctitude of the information. After evaluation, any inconsistencies were eliminated.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS software (version 24.0; IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) was used for descriptive statistical analysis of the data.

Definitions

Role of the Hospital and Classification

The role of the state hospitals and their classification are defined with a circular (7). According to this classification:

(I) Group A-I General Hospitals: Treatment institutions with general beds that are authorized to provide training in a minimum of 5 medical specialities completed training personnel are grouped accordingly, and where third level treatment and rehabilitation service are given, training and research activities are conducted, and specialists are trained and fellowships are given.

(2) Group A-II General Hospitals: General hospitals that do not have active training and research in the provinces, with a health center or the province linked to those centers.

(3) Group B General Hospitals: General hospitals thoseare located in the provinces, other than the A-I and A-II hospitals, which are located or in the improved districts.

(4) Group C General Hospitals: Hospitals that are active in the improved districts or the districts linked to the centers improved within the content of health region planning regarding health services offered, with specialists providing care in the 4 main specialities (internal diseases, general surgery, gynecology and obstetrics, and pediatrics). In addition, specialists are available at least in 2 other specialities and with at least a first step intensive care unit and first level emergency service.

(5) Group D General Hospitals: Hospitals having at least I specialist, including a primary care physician (family doctor) and active in the districts linked to the improved districts and those having at least 25 patient beds.

(6) Group E General Hospitals: Hospitals having fewer than 25 patient beds and those where diagnosis and treatment services are offered along with health services at the first step given in the same structure.

Qualitative Bed

Defines the bed where a bath and toilet are located inside the room, and a television, telephone, dining table, and companion sofa bed are provided.

RESULTS

According to our study, among all government hospitals (8) 27% of PCCs are located in Group B hospitals, 24% in Group C hospitals, 21% in Group A-II hospitals, and 19% in Group A-I hospitals. PCCs are not available in Group E hospitals. PCCs are available in 28.9% of state hospitals active countrywide (Table I). There are 2429 patient beds in PCCs countrywide, and 63.3% of the beds in PCCs are qualitative (Table 2). There are 2957 total staff working in PCCs, 77.6% of whom are health care professionals. Of these, 9.9% are doctors (Table 3). HHCS units are available in 76.3% (n=152) of the hospitals with PCCs (Table 4). This service is offered to 48,953 patients in PCCs, and 5.7% (n=2837) of these patients are transferred to HHCSs (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

PCCs are available in 28.9% of the hospitals in Turkey, and 76.3% of the hospitals with a PCC has an HHCS unit. There are 2429 beds in PCCs, 63.3% of which are qualitative. This constitutes 1.8% of all public beds A total of 5.7% of patients are transferred to HHCSs from PCCs. There are 0.61 nurses per palliative care bed and 1.14 doctors per PCC.

TABLE I. Distribution of State Hospitals and Palliative Care Clinics in2017 According to the Role of the Hospitals

Hospital Role	Hospital (*), n	Palliative Care Clinic, n (%)	Rate of Availability of Palliative Care Clinic Within the Structure, %
Al	86	38 (19%)	44.2%
A2	107	41 (21%)	38.3%
В	123	54 (27%)	43.9%
С	163	48 (24%)	29.4%
D	123	18 (9%)	14.6%
E	86	0	0
Total	688	199	28.9%
*: (8)			

TABLE 2. Bed and Qualitative Bed Situation in Palliative Care Clinics					
	Number of Recently Activated PCCs, n	Number of beds in PCCs, n	Number of Qualitative Beds and Rate, n (%)		
2015	98	1.294	757 (58.5%)		
2016	79	865	559 (64.6%)		
2017 (January- February)	22	270	222 (82.2%)		
Total	199	2.429	1.538 (63.3%)		

In our study, the number of beds in PCCs was increased by I.87, whereas the number of qualitative beds was increased by 2.03. Although PCCs are generally available in Group A-I, A-II, and B hospitals located in the province centers, they are rapidly expanding to Group C and D hospitals located in districts as well. Policies of the Ministry are considered to be effective in light of such rapid expansion and increases. The number of beds recommended for hospice and palliative care in Europe is 80 to 100 per I,000,000 population (9, I0).

According to our data, 30.4 beds are currently serving each 1,000,000 population countrywide, which is far below the recommendation. PCCs are available in 28.9% of the state hospitals, a rate that has to be increased. In addition, we believe that the target may come closer together if private and university hospitals were included in the planning. A total of 2957 personnel currently work in PCCs countrywide, of whom 77.6% are health personnel. Of these, 9.9% are doctors and 65% are nurses. The recommendation according to international standards is I nurse per bed (9, 10). Currently in Turkey, our study found the number of nurses per bed is 0.6l, which is quite low.

The integration of palliative care with home care and having transfers made in harmony will assure that patients receive the proper health and care service easily (I, II). Such integration and harmony would also provide support to the health economy through the economical use of resources (6). According to our study, 76.3% of PCCs countrywide are integrated with HHCs. However, the rate of patients transferred to HHCs is very low at 5.7%. Factors causing this situation must be examined first and the integration setup should be reevaluated. PCCs receive most of their patients from intensive care clinics. Along with an increase in the number of beds in PCCs, the tendency for increase for beds in intensive care units, especially in state hospitals, is expected to drop. However, this expectation was not reflected as of 2017 (Figure I). It is believed that an increase in the number of intensive care beds continues, as the palliative care field had just started in 2015 and needs in this field are very high. Studies conducted in this field are necessary, as PCCs will affect occupation rates and the number of admission dates of intensive care beds.

Implementation of palliative care services have an important role, especially in the management of end-of-life patients. As HHCs run by state hospitals attached to the Ministry of Health cover the entire population free of charge, this is an important development in the field of social medicine. Implementations aligned with health policies are rapidly extended countrywide. Although both units are localized in the same hospital, integration between PCCs and HHCSs remains at an inadequate level.

TABLE 3. Number of the Health Care Professionals working	a in Palliative Care	Clinics in Turkey, February	2017

Healthcare Professionals						
Medical Doctor	Nurse	Psychologist	Social Worker	Physiotherapist	Dietician	Total
228	I,492	149	127	150	150	2,296
		Oth	ner Personnel			
Spiritual Care Staff	Clinical Support		Other			
67	91		503			661

TABLE 4. Integration of Palliative Care Clinics with Home Health Care Services					
	Recently Activated PCCs, n	Hospitals with PCC and HHCS Units, n (%)			
2015	98	75 (76.5%)			
2016	79	58 (73.4%)			
2017 (January-February)) 22	19 (86.3%)			
Total	199	152 (76.3%)			
HHCS, home health care services; PCC, palliative care clinics.					

 TABLE 5. Rate of the Patients Transferred to Home Health Care Services from Palliative Care Clinics in Turkey

	Number of Patients (n)	Number and Rate of Patients Transferred to HHCS Units, n (%)
2015	8,815	452 (5.1%)
2016	31,958	1,952 (5.9%)
2017 (January-February) 8,180	433 (5.2%)
Total	48,953	2,837 (5.7%)
HHCS, home health care s	ervices	



FIGURE I. Increase Tendency of the Number of Intensive Care Beds and Palliative Care Beds

We believe that benefits of such integration would be observed by the patients, their relatives, and health care professionals, increasing awareness and accelerating integration in long-term implementations. If short-term positive feedback is expected concerning the satisfactory quantitative interaction between PCCs and HHCSs, some applications are provided and should be developed. These applications must be independent of demand of patients and reference of health care professionals. We believe hospital information management systems can be used for this purpose and that software programs can be developed to help accelerate the integration between these two units. We also believe that there is a need for future studies analyzing the effect of integration between PCCs and HHCSs on morbidity and mortality.

Ethics Committee Approval: Written consent of the T.R. Ministry of Health was provided to acquire and use data for this study, therefore local ethics committee approval was not recieved. Written consent was obtained from the Ministry of Health by official correspondence (number 326933113–622.03)

Informed Consent: Written consent was obtained from the Ministry of Health by official correspondence.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - M.H.T., T.Ö., F.G., Ç.Ö.; Design - M.H.T., T.Ö., F.G., Ç.Ö.; Supervision - T.Ö., F.G.; Resource - F.G.; Materials - T.Ö.; Data Collection and/or Processing - F.G.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - T.Ö., F.G.; Literature Search - M.H.T., Ç.Ö.; Writing - M.H.T., Ç.Ö.; Critical Reviews - M.H.T., T.Ö., F.G., Ç.Ö.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank all the health care workers who dedicate in the settings of palliative care units all through the country.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Global Atlas of Palliative Care at the End of Life. Worldwide Palliative Care Alliance (WPCA) and World Health Organization. January 2014.
- http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care
- Lynch T, Connor S, Clark D. Mapping levels of palliative care development: a global update. J Pain Symptom Manage 2013; 45(6): 1094-106. [Crossref]
- Sixty-Seventh World Health Assembly. Strengthening of palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course. Agenda item 15.5, WHA67.19- 24 May 2014.
- Ozgul N, Koc O, Gultekin M, Goksel F, Kerman S, Tanyeri P, et al. Opioids for Cancer Pain: Availability, Accessibility, and Regulatory Barriers in Turkey and Pallia-Turk Project. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2011; 33(Suppl I): S29-S32. [Crossref]
- 6. T.R. Ministry of Health Directive for Palliative Care Services Principles and Procedures.
- 7. Circular of T.R. Ministry of Health No. 2010/50 for Regional Health Planning.
- State Hospitals Statistics Report 2017, T.R. Ministry of Health -General Directorate of State Hospitals, Ankara, 2018.
- Payne S, Radbruch L. White Paper on standards and norms for hospice and palliative care in Europe: Part I. European Journal of Palliative Care 2009; 16(6): 278-89.
- Radbruch L, Payne S. White Paper on standards and norms for hospice and palliative care in Europe: part 2. European Journal of Palliative Care 2010; 17(1): 22-33.
- II. Planning and implementing palliative care services: a guide for program managers. World Health Organization 2016.

Original Article

Is Autonomic Function Impaired in Patients with Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome?

Ayhan Coşgun^ı , Alper Güneş²

¹Department of Cardiology, Sincan State Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Ophthalmology, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: A.C. 0000-000I-5I47-I6IX; A.G. 0000-000I-92I3-8805.

Cite this article as: Coşgun A, Güneş A. Is Autonomic Function Impaired in Patients with Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome? Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 200-4.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Pseudoexfoliative syndrome is an aging disease that progresses primarily with the accumulation of fibrillary materials in the eye and in some organs other than the eye, particularly in the heart. Accumulation of this substance in the heart is closely related to morbidity and mortality. This study aimed to evaluate the heart rate recovery index (HRR-I), which is a predictor of autonomic dysfunction.

MATERIAL and METHODS

A total of 253 patients diagnosed with PEX in the ophthalmology outpatient clinic between March 2018 and May 2019 were included in the study. The control group consisted of 238 participants who were diagnosed as non-PEX and had no disease. After routine physical and blood examinations, both groups underwent routine electrocardiograms, transthoracic echocardiograms, and treadmill exercise test (TET). Heart rates of the study and control groups were recorded at the beginning, peak exercise, first, second, and third recovery levels of TET. Heart rate recovery index (HRR-I) values of the first, second, and third minutes were subtracted from the peak level HR values and compared.

RESULTS

In the study group, first-minute HRR-I value (20.93 ± 5.93 ms vs. 32.11 ± 5.43 ms, t=21.74 and p<0.01), second-minute HRR-I value (38.83 ± 6.99 ms vs. 51.65 ± 7.12 ms, t=20.12 and p<0.01), and third-minute HRR-I value (62.76 ± 9.56 ms vs. 77.21 ± 12.22 ms, t=14.64 and p<0.01) were found to be lower than in the other group.

CONCLUSION

There were significantly lower HRR-I values at every recovery stage of the TET. These findings revealed that the autonomic balance is impaired in patients with PEX and that the risk of sudden cardiac death increases.

Keywords: Risk, death, sudden, cardiac, exfoliation syndrome

INTRODUCTION

The pseudoexfoliative syndrome (PEX) can manifest itself by the accumulation of extracellular fibrillary material in many organs such as the eye and heart. PEX can be easily identified by biomicroscopic examination. White-gray deposition on the pupil edge and in front of the lens is sufficient for diagnosis (I). The substance accumulating in the heart is a risk factor for heart disease and sudden cardiac death. Cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction, arterial hypertension, abdominal aortic aneurysm, heart failure, and coronary artery disease have been shown to be associated with PEX (2). Decreased cardiovascular functions are responsible for most of the mortality and morbidity in PEX patients (3). The incidence of PEX in patients with coronary artery disease and the incidence of atherosclerotic heart disease in patients with PEX have been shown to be higher than in the general population (4). Besides, atherosclerotic heart disease in PEX patients (5).

Although HRR-I is a marker that directly reveals the autonomic nervous system functions and is also a reliable predictor of cardiovascular (CV) mortality and morbidity, it is not routinely evaluated in daily clinical practice. HRR-I has been closely associated with morbidity and mortality in CV diseases (6, 7). The autonomic nervous system is one of the most important control mechanisms governing CV functions; therefore, a deterioration in the autonomic nervous system may lead

 (\mathbf{i})

to increased CV morbidity and mortality (8, 9). HRR-I is a very important predictor of the effects of vagal activity on the heart, and directly demonstrates the vagal activity (10, II). In the treadmill exercise test (TET), HRR-I indicates the rate of decrease from the peak level in the heart rate of the cooling phase. HRR-I values can be obtained by extracting the cooling phase heart rates from the HR at the peak level of the TET (12).

The decrease in parasympathetic system activity and an increase in sympathetic system activity are associated with direct ventricular arrhythmias regardless of the disease or even in healthy individuals. As known, sympathetic activity increases and parasympathetic activity decreases during the exercise. Therefore, most arrhythmias and sudden cardiac deaths can occur immediately after severe exercise (13). PEX is directly proportional to age (14). SCD occurs at a higher rate than the subgroup over the age of 35 years, and this occurs after severe exercises (15). Although there was no underlying CV disease in PEX patients, there was a higher incidence of arrhythmias than in the general population. This may indicate that vagal activity may be reduced and sympathetic activity may be increased relatively (16).

Our study aimed to compare the effect of stress testing on HRR-I values in PEX patients and to compare this predictor in the exercise test with a similar control group matched for age and sex.

MATERIALS and METHODS

Study Design

Patients were diagnosed with PEX by biomicroscopy, and by the presence of a white-gray extracellular fibrillary material on the pupil edge or in the anterior capsule and were included as the study group. The control group consisted of patients diagnosed as non-PEX in the ophthalmology outpatient clinic.

Study Population

A total of 253 patients with PEX (199 males, 78.65% and 54 females, 21.35%) were included in the study. The mean age of the study group was 67.37±12.63 years. There was no statistically significant difference between the sex ratio and mean age of the study and control groups. The control group consisted of two hundred eighty-eight (186 males, 78.15% and 42 females, 21.85%) patients who were diagnosed as non-PEX by biomicroscopy in the ophthalmology outpatients clinic. The control group had a

Main Points:

- Pseudoexfoliative syndrome is a disease of old age as it is known.
- With the increasing age, it is expected that autonomic functions deteriorate against the vagal system.
- Advances against the vagal system and in favor of the sympathetic system mean increased cardiovascular mortality.
- Heart rate recovery index is a predictor of parasympathetic activity.
- By using this predictor, high-risk pseudoexfoliative syndrome patients will be selected with a very easy and inexpensive method.

mean age of 66.38±II.93 years. Exclusion criteria included having atherosclerotic heart disease and those receiving treatment for any reason; having hypertension or diabetes mellitus; deterioration of the liver, kidney, or thyroid functions in routine blood tests;s having electrolyte disturbances; previously diagnosed with chronic pulmonary obstructive disease and having bronchodilator medication; having anemia; having a systemic disease that affect the CV system; having hypertension and antihypertensive medication; having a history of coronary artery disease, having a body mass index (BMI) over 30 kg/m², having a positive effort test, which indicates significant atherosclerotic heart illness; smoking; having a diagnosis of atrial fibrillation or having AF rhythm in superficial electrocardiograms; and patients with orthopedic disorders who were unable to perform TET.

Treadmill Exercise Test

In both groups, after the physical examination, routine blood tests, and routine transthoracic echocardiograms (TTE) and electrocardiograms (ECG) were performed, the TET was performed according to the Bruce Protocol (I7). The speed of ECG recordings was at 25 mm/sec and the amplitude of th ECG recordings was at 10 mm/mV. The ECG recordings were taken as basal, peak exercise level, and recovery phases of the TET. HRR-I values were obtained by extracting the HR values of the recovery phases from the peak HR value.

Ethical Approval

All the procedures performed in this study involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Turkey Research Committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. Written permission was obtained from Sincan State Hospital Management Committee (26.08. 2019/22568850-929). Before the study, written informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS software (Version 20; IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) 20.0 was used for the collection and analysis of the data. Measurements were expressed as mean ± standard deviation. Analyzes were performed using the t-test. To compare the values of the two different groups, and to compare the different values of the same group, T-Test Calculator for Independent Two Means and T-Test Calculator for Depended Means were used, respectively. The Z test calculator was used to compare the two population proportions. For correlation involving two values of the same group, the Pearson Correlation Coefficient Calculator was used. For all tests with p<0.05, the differences were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

There were no differences in both groups in terms of socio-demographic findings and baseline clinical findings (Table I)

Considering the BHR, there was no difference in both groups. In the study group, HRs of all the recovery phases were significantly higher than in the control group. Considering the HRR-I values, there were statistically significant differences between the study and control groups (Table 2). This finding suggests that the autonomic function was impaired much more in the study group than in the control group.

TABLE I. Socio-democ	raphic characteristics	and basal	clinical find
inas of the Study and	Control Groups		

Variables	Study Group	Control Group	T or Z-value	Р
Age, years	6I.72±4.23	6l.86±3.24	0.41	0.68
Male, %	71.46	71.62	0.02	0.96
Female, %	28.54	28.38	0.02	0.96
BMI, kg/m²	26.46±2.69	26.94±2.44	1.63	0.10
Basal SBP, mm Hg	l22.34±l2.74	l2l.94±l2.53	0.35	0.72
Basal DBP, mm Hg	77.47±8.52	76.38±7.84	1.47	0.14
Basal HR, beat/mn	77.83±6.32	77.32±5.35	0.96	0.33
LV Mass, gram	175.68±32.47	177.61±29.73	-0.68	0.49
Total Cholesterol, mg/dL	168.42±41.57	171.43±38.54	-0.83	0.40
LDL, mg/dL	102.58±22.48	105.82±19.62	-1.69	0.09
Triglycerides, mg/dL	l65.38±23.68	167.16±21.84	-0.86	0.38
Hemoglobin, gr/dL	14.63±2.21	14.34±2.52	I.35	0.17
Calcium, mg/dL	9.41±1.01	9.33±0.94	0.90	0.36
Sodium, mEq/L	141.73±2.64	141.93±1.99	-0.94	0.34
Potassium, mEq/L	4.02±0.58	4.l2±0.73	-1.68	0.09
Magnesium, mg/dL	1.94±0.26	l.95±0.33	0.37	0.70

Abbr: BMI; Body Mass Index, SBP; Systolic Blood Pressure, DBP; Diastolic Blood Pressure, HR; Heart Rate, LV; Left Ventricle

TABLE 2. The comparison of TET values of the study and control groups					
Variables	Study Group	Control Group	T-value	р	
BHR, b/mn	77.83±4.23	77.32±5.35	1.17	0.24	
PHR, b/mn	154.25±6.39	158.88±6.11	8.19	<0.01	
First-minute recovery HR, b/mn	133.32±6.31	126.77±6.83	11.04	<0.01	
Second-minute recovery HR, b/mn	115.37±7.13	107.22±4.98	14.59	<0.01	
Third-minute recovery HR, b/mn	91.48±7.42	76.68±9.37	19.46	<0.01	
HRR-I in the first minute, b/mn	20.93+/-5.91	32.11+/-5.43	-21.78	<0.01	
HRR-I in the second minute, b/mn	38.88+/-6.99	51.65+/-7.12	-20.05	<0.01	
HRR-I in the third minute, b/mn	62.76+/-7.42	77.21+/-9.22	-19.18	<0.01	
Abbr: BHR; Basal Heart Rate, PHR; Peak Heart Rate, HR; Heart Rate, HRR-I; Heart Rate Recovery Index					

In the study group, the third-minute HR was significantly higher than the basal HR. Besides, in the control group, the third-minute recovery HR was similar to the basal HR. (Table 3). This also suggests that the autonomic functions were impaired much more in the study group than in the control group.

Considering both age and HR, there was a weak, but statistically significant positive correlation in both groups. There were also moderate positive correlations between HRR-I values at each recovery stage of the effort test in both groups (Table 4).

TABLE 3. The comparison of recovery HR values of the study and control groups			
Study Group (n=253)			
Variable I	Variable 2	р	
Basal HR	First-minute HR	<0.01	
Basal HR	Second-minute HR	<0.01	
Basal HR	Third-minute HR	<0.01	
Control Group (n=238)			
Basal HR	First-minute HR	<0.01	
Basal HR	Second-minute HR	<0.01	
Basal HR	Third-minute HR	0.36	
Abbr: HR; Heart Rate			

TABLE 4. The correlations of the study and control groups					
Variable I	Variable 2	Correlation	F-value	р	
The Study O	Group				
Age	HR	Weak Positive	0.22	<0.01	
Age	HRR-I in Ist minute	Moderate Positive	0.72	<0.01	
Age	HRR-I in 2nd minute	Moderate Positive	0.69	<0.01	
Age	HRR-I in 3rd minute	Moderate Positive	0.66	<0.01	
The Control Group					
Age	HRR-I in Ist minute	Moderate Positive	0.67	<0.01	
Age	HRR-I in 2nd minute	Moderate Positive	0.57	<0.01	
Age	HRR-I in 3rd minute	Moderate Positive	0.51	<0.01	
Age	HR	Weak Positive	0.28	<0.01	
Abbr: HR; Heart Rate, HRR-I; Heart Rate Recovery Index					

DISCUSSION

This study had found three interesting findings. The first of these findings was that the third-minute HR value was significantly higher than the basal HR of the study group. In addition, in the control group, there was a similarity between the basal HR and the third-minute recovery HR. The second finding was that there was a statistically significant difference in terms of all the HRR-I values of the recovery phases between both groups. Besides, there were moderate positive correlations between the HRR-I values and the ages of both groups in each recovery stage.

The results of our study showed that the vagal system is less functional in PEX patients than in the non-PEX patients. The delay in HRR-I is directly associated with the decreased vagal activity, and the reduced vagal activity is also characterized by the increased risk of SCD (18).

SCD generally results in patients with structural heart disease. In particular, it occurs immediately after heavy exercises (19). It is known that sympathetic activity increases with an exercise test; the vagal activity is at the recovery phase after the exercise test. It has been documented that an elevated sympathetic response or a reduced vagal response immediately precedes the onset of atrial and ventricular arrhythmias as well as sudden cardiac death (20). Furthermore, delayed HRR was found to be one of the indirect predictors of decreased vagal activity (21). In our study, we found that there was much more delayed HRR in the study group compared to non-PEX patients.

Many researchers have focused on the association between PEX and CV diseases, searching for underlying events. The first of these was homocysteine. Higher levels of homocysteine were found in patients with PEX than in non-PEX patients (22, 23). In addition, vitamin Bl2, vitamin B6, and folic acid levels were also found to be decreased (24). Although many researchers argued that there were relationships between PEX and other CV diseases, in a recent study, researchers found that only the prevalence of arrhythmias was found to be higher in PEX patients than in non-PEX patients (25).

The underlying mechanisms of arrhythmias in PEX patients have been investigated, and the most commonly considered one was the decreased vagal activity (26). Many indirect methods have been developed to investigate this. One of these is the carotid artery baroreceptor reflex. Compared with non-PEX patients, carotid artery baroreceptor reflex was found to be decreased in PEX patients (27). Some investigators have also found reduced cardio-vagal regulation in PEX patients (28). Most studies on decreased vagal autonomic activity have focused on heart rate recovery. Regardless of the underlying disease, there was a relationship between reduced HRR-I and increased mortality (29).

HRR-I shows the degree of heart rate decrease after exercise (30). At the first-minute recovery phase of the TET, the vagal system plays an important role in decreasing the HR. In addition, at the second and the third-minute recovery phases of the TET, the reducing of the sympathetic system affects the decreasing HR (31). HRR-I is an independent predictor for all-cause death, regardless of coronary artery disease, left ventricular failure, and low exercise capacity (32). A faster reduction in the first minute is closely associated with a lower risk of mortality (33). It was found that there were relationships between low HRR-I and elevated fasting blood glucose level, elevated triglyceride/ HDL ratio, duration of diabetes mellitus, the severity of the endothelial dysfunction, and the history of recent myocardial infarction (MI) (34). The ratio of SCD due to MI is 2 times increased in patients with HRR-I<25 beats/minute in the first minute than in those with HRR-I≥25 beats/minute in the first minute (35).

In conclusion, HRR-I, which has been studied in such a detailed and long-term manner and is an important predictor of all event-related deaths, has never been investigated in PEX patients. We thought that this might be due to the balance disorders in the neurohumoral equilibrium in PEX patients. In our study, HRR-I was found to be lower in the study group than in the control group at each stage, and as a result, it was found that autonomic nervous system balance decreased vagal activity and directly increased sympathetic activity in PEX patients compared to the control group. Therefore, it indicates an increased risk of sudden cardiac death in PEX patients that is higher than in non-PEX patients of the same age and sex.

In our study, the sample size was small. Furthermore, we could not perform 24 hours-Holter monitoring to investigate the ventricular arrhythmias in both groups. In addition, long-term studies should be made to observe the effect of medical therapy on the HRR-I and ventricular arrhythmias induced by the exercise test in patients with PEX. More comprehensive and long-term follow-up studies should be performed to obtain healthier data in PEX patients.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Sincan Dr nafiz Korez State Hospital Management (22568850-929/26.08.2019).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - A.C.; Design - A.G.; Supervision - A.C.; Resource - A.C., A.G.; Materials - A.C., A.G.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.G.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - A.C.; Literature Search - A.C.; Writing - A.C., A.G.; Critical Reviews - A.C.

Acknowledgements: We thank to Mustafa Hamidullah Turkkani for statistics.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Wang W, He M, Zhou M, Xiulan Z. Ocular Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome and Vascular Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLo S One 2014; 9(3): e92767. [Crossref]
- Gonen KA, Gonen T, Gumus B. Reply: Pseudoexfoliation syndrome and cardiovascular disease: studies must control for all cardiovascular risk factors. Eye 2013; 27(II): 1329. [Crossref]
- Mitchell P, Wang JJ, Smith W. Association of pseudoexfoliation syndrome with increased vascular risk. Am J Ophthalmol 1997; 124(5): 685-7. [Crossref]
- Citirik M, Acaroglu G, Batman C, Yildiran L, Zilelioglu O. A possible link between the pseudoexfoliation syndrome and coronary artery disease. Eye (Lond) 2007; 21(1): II-5. [Crossref]
- Andrikopoulos GK, Mela EK, Georgakopoulos CD, Papadopoulos GE, Damelou AN, Alexopoulos DK, et al. Pseudoexfoliation syndrome prevalence in Greek patients with cataract and its association to glaucoma and coronary artery disease. Eye (Lond) 2009; 23(2): 442-7. [Crossref]
- Vivekananthan DP, Blackstone EH, Pothier CE, Lauer MS. Heart rate recovery after exercise is a predictor of mortality, independent of the angiographic severity of the coronary disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(5): 83I-8. [Crossref]
- Morshedi-Meibodi A, Larson MG, Levy D, O'Donnell CJ, Vasan RS. Heart rate recovery after treadmill exercise testing and risk of cardiovascular disease events (The Framingham Heart Study). Am J Cardiol 2002; 90(8): 848-52. [Crossref]
- Cole CR, Blackstone EH, Pashkow FJ, Snader CE, Lauer MS. Heartrate recovery immediately after exercise as a predictor of mortality. N Engl J Med 1999; 341(18): 1351-7. [Crossref]
- Lauer MS, Okin PM, Larson MG, Evans JC, Levy D. Impaired heart rate response to graded exercise. Prognostic implications of chronotropic incompetence in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 1996; 93(8): I520-6. [Crossref]
- Shetler K, Marcus R, Froelicher VF, Vora S, Kalisetti D, Prakash M, et al. Heart rate recovery: validation and methodologic issues. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 38(7): 1980-7. [Crossref]
- II. Okutucu S, Karakulak UN, Aytemir K, Oto A. Heart rate recovery: a practical clinical indicator of abnormal cardiac autonomic function. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2011; 9(11): 1417-30. [Crossref]
- Ardıç I, Kaya MG, Yarlıoglues M, Doğdu O, Büyükoğlan H, Kalay N, et al. Impaired heart rate recovery index in patients with sarcoidosis. Chest 2011; 139(1): 60-8. [Crossref]

- San Antonio R, Guasch E, Tolosana JM, Lluís M. Determining the best approach to reduce the impact of exercise-induced atrial fibrillation: prevention, screening, or symptom-based treatment? Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2018; 17(1): 19-29. [Crossref]
- Kling F, Colin J. Potential association of pseudoexfoliation syndrome (PEX) with age-related macular degeneration (ARMD). J Fr Ophthalmol 2001; 24(1): 7-12.
- Sumeet S. Chugh, Joseph B. Weiss. Sudden Cardiac Death in the Older Athlete. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65(5): 493-502. [Crossref]
- Brajkovic J, Surac IK, Ercegovic A, Miletić-Jurić A, Sušić N, Burić Z. Ocular Pseudoexfoliation syndrome and internal systemic diseases. Acta Clin Croat 2007; 46(suppl I): 57-61.
- Bruce RA. Exercise testing of patients with coronary heart disease. Principles and normal standards for evaluation. Ann Clin Res 1971; 3(6): 323-32.
- Jae SY, Bunsawat K, Kunutsor SK, Eun Sun Yoon, Hyun Jeong Kim, Mira Kang, et al. Relation of Exercise Heart Rate Recovery to Predict Cardiometabolic Syndrome in Men. Am J Cardiol 2018: 123(4): 582-7. [Crossref]
- Campuzano O, Sanchez-Molero O, Fernandez A, Mademont-Soler I, Coll M, Perez-Serra A, et al. Sudden Arrhythmic Death During Exercise: A Post-Mortem Genetic Analysis. Sports Med 2017; 47(10): 2101-15. [Crossref]
- Zhou S, Jung BC, Tan AY, Vinh QT, Ghassan G, Seong-WH, et al. Spontaneous stellate ganglion nerve activity and ventricular arrhythmia in a canine model of sudden death. Heart Rhythm 2008; 5(1): I31 -9. [Crossref]
- Nederend I, Schutte NM, Bartels M, Arend DJ Ten Harkel, Eco JC de Geus. Heritability of heart rate recovery and vagal rebound after exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 2016; II6(II-12): 2167-76. [Crossref]
- Bleich S, Roedl J, Von Ahsen N, Ursula S-S, Udo R, Georg B, et al. Elevated homocysteine levels in aqueous humor of patients with pseudoexfoliation glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2004; I38(I): I62-4. [Crossref]
- Roedl JB, Bleich S, Reulbach U, Robert R, Johannes K, Friedrich EK, et al. Homocysteine in tear fluid of patients with pseudoexfoliation glaucoma. J Glaucoma 2007; 16(2): 234-9. [Crossref]
- Roedl JB, Bleich S, Reulbach U, Rejdak R, Naumann GOH, Kruse FE, et al. Vitamin deficiency and hyperhomocysteinemia in pseudoexfoliation glaucoma. J Neural Transm 2007; 114(5): 571-5. [Crossref]

- Ercegoviæ A, Brajkoviæ J, Suraæ IK, Marijana BH. Prevalence, distribution, and types of corneal astigmatism in cataract surgery patients in Sibenik Country. Acta Clin Croat 2012; 51(2): 275-8.
- 26. Hollo G, Lakatos P, Farkas K. Cold pressor test and plasma endothelin-I concentration in primary open-angle and capsular glaucoma. J Glaucoma 1998; 7(2): 105-10. [Crossref]
- Visontai Z, Merisch B, Kollai M, Gábor H. Increase in carotid artery stiffness and decrease of baroreflex sensitivity in exfoliation syndrome and glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol 2006; 90(5): 563-7. [Crossref]
- Visontai Z, Horváth T, Kollai M, Gábor H. Decreased cardiovagal regulation in exfoliation syndrome. J Glaucoma 2008; 17(2): 133-8.
 [Crossref]
- Peçanha T, Silva-Júnior ND, Forjaz CL. Heart rate recovery: autonomic determinants, methods of assessment and association with mortality and cardiovascular diseases. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 2014; 34(5): 327-39. [Crossref]
- Lauer M, Froelicher ES, Williams M, Kligfield P, American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology SoECR, Prevention. Exercise testing in asymptomatic adults: a statement for professionals from the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology, Subcommittee on Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention. Circulation 2005; II2(5): 77I-6. [Crossref]
- Sears CE, Choate JK, Paterson DJ. Inhibition of nitric oxide synthase slows heart rate recovery from cholinergic activation. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1998; 84(5): 1596-603. [Crossref]
- Vivekananthan DP, Blackstone EH, Pothier CE, Lauer MS. Heart rate recovery after exercise is a predictor of mortality, independent of the angiographic severity of the coronary disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(5): 83I-8. [Crossref]
- Morshedi-Meibodi A, Larson MG, Levy D, O'Donnell CJ, Vasan RS. Heart rate recovery after treadmill exercise testing and risk of cardiovascular disease events (The Framingham Heart Study) Am J Cardiol 2002; 90(8): 848-52. [Crossref]
- Panzer C, Lauer MS, Brieke A, Blackstone E, Hoogwerf B. Association of fasting plasma glucose with heart rate recovery in healthy adults: a population-based study. Diabetes 2002; 5I(3): 803-7. [Crossref]
- Jouven X, Empana JP, Schwartz PJ, Desnos M, Courbon D, Ducimetiere P. Heart-rate profile during exercise as a predictor of sudden death. N Engl J Med 2005; 352(19): 1951-8. [Crossref]

Original Article

The Effect of Exercise and Shortwave Diathermy Treatment on the Quality of Life of Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain

Seide Karasel^ı 💿, Sema Öncel² 💿, İpek Sönmez³ 💿

¹Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Famagusta State Hospital, Famagusta, Cyprus ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Dokuz Eylül University Hospital, İzmir, Turkey ³Department of Pschiatry, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.K. 0000-0002-7294-6677; S.Ö. 0000-0002-5083-0518; İ.S.0000-0001-8037-5897.

Cite this article as: Karasal S, Öncel S, Sönmez İ. The Effect of Exercise and Shortwave Diathermy Treatment on the Quality of Life of Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 205-10.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

This study aimed to determine the effects of back school therapy, a home exercise program, and shortwave diathermy treatment on the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain.

MATERIAL and METHODS

In this interventional study, we evaluated 90 patients who were admitted to our clinic from 2006 to 2007 and had been followed-up for their low back pain complaints that had been present for at least 6 months. These patients were randomized into 3 groups after being subjected to back school therapy and home exercise programs. Placebo shortwave, continuous shortwave diathermy, and pulsed shortwave diathermy treatments were applied to these three groups, respectively. The Short form 36 (SF-36) was used to evaluate the quality of life of the study groups.

RESULTS

In this study, statistically significant recovery was achieved in all the three groups in terms of physical function, role limitations due to physical problems, and bodily pain criteria. Those who received the diathermy therapy had higher mean scores in terms of all the three criteria mentioned above.

CONCLUSION

Significant improvements were achieved within the study groups in terms of all the above-mentioned criteria, except for "role limitations due to emotional problems", as measured by SF-36. However, we could not find any significant difference between the groups in terms of the quality of life.

Keywords: Chronic low back pain, short form health survey, shortwave diathermy

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Disease studies report that chronic low back pain (CBP) is ranked first among the causes of years lived with disability and sixth among the causes of disability-adjusted years of life (I). The National Institutes of Health Research Task Force defined chronic low back pain as "a back pain problem that has persisted for at least 3 months and has resulted in pain on at least half of the days in the past 6 months" (2). Chronic low back pain is distinguished from acute back pain with regard to the duration and underlying conditions or injuries (3). Lower back pain is a cause of significant disability and severe restriction of routine daily activities. Data from studies demonstrate that more than 84% of all adults experience low back pain in their lives (4-6). CBP, which is evidently a common disorder, is also associated with physical disability and a reduced quality of life (7).

In chronic low back pain patients, numerous interventional physical modalities have been used in addition to physical treatments. Shortwave diathermy is one of such modalities (4). Shortwave diathermy has been used since I928 for the treatment of low back pain, since high frequency waves (I0–I00 MHz) cause heat increase in deep tissues (8). Shortwave therapy has been shown to reduce pain and muscle spasm, increase pain threshold, trigger vasodilation, enhance the elasticity of connective tissues, and additionally, it increases joint mobility when applied before exercise therapy (9, I0).

Corresponding Author: Seide Karasel E-mail: seidekarasel@hotmail.com



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Various studies have demonstrated that exercise and back school programs are effective in patients with CBP, and these methods positively contribute to the quality of life and also to the emotional state of patients (II-I3). In a randomized controlled study, the effect of back school therapy on the quality of life was assessed using the SF-36 survey, and an improvement was reported in all the criteria (I3). However, we found only a few studies in the literature that investigated the effects of combined treatment with exercise programs and shortwave diathermy on patients with CBP (I4).

Therefore, this study aimed to determine the effects of back school therapy, home exercise program, and shortwave diathermy treatment on the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Study Group

In this interventional study, we evaluated 90 patients who were admitted to our clinic from 2006 to 2007 and had undergone X-ray and MR imaging for their low back pain complaints that had been present for at least 6 months.

Patients aged between 40 and 65 years, suffering from low back pain, which was limited to the lumbar, sacral, or lumbosacral regions, for more than 6 months were included in the study.

Patients with any type of neurological deficit, any type of lumbar or thoracic hernia, cardiovascular disease that would prevent exercise; those who had radicular pain, severe osteoporosis, or osteomalacia; patients with uncontrolled diabetes and hypertension; those with infectious diseases, inflammatory diseases, and a history of malignancy; pregnant patients; and those who had any condition that would prevent the use of the short-term diathermy therapy were excluded from the study. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Dokuz Eylül University, Faculty of Medicine (09/II/2006/247). Patients were informed about the study and a written consent was also obtained.

Treatment

Age, gender, BMI, occupation, and the duration of the low back pain of all the patients were recorded. Patients were randomized to three groups after being subjected to back school therapy and home exercise programs. In the first group (n=30), a placebo shortwave therapy was used while the device was switched off. In the second group (n=30), a continuous shortwave diathermy treatment (Curapuls 419) was applied for 20 minutes every day for 15 days (27.12 MHz frequency and II.06 m wavelength, 200 W). In the third group (n=30), a pulsed shortwave diathermy treatment (Curapuls 419) was performed for 20 minutes every day for 15 days (27.12 MHz frequency, II.06 m wavelength, 200 W, 0.3 msec pause). Randomization and evaluation of the treatment practices were performed by a researcher blinded to the study

Main Points:

• Continous or pulsed short wave diathermy treatment is effective on the quality of life if patients with chronic low back pain.

protocol. In the study period, no additional treatment modalities were suggested to the patients.

Short-wave diathermy treatment was applied in the outpatient treatment unit of our clinic 5 days a week for a total of 3 weeks (I5 sessions). The exercise programs of the all patients were demonstrated and performed under the physician's supervision on the first day. From thereon after, all the patients continued their exercise program at home. The patients were advised to perform the exercises in sets of I0, for the three different times in a day. The patients were given an exercise diary and were asked to note the days when they performed the exercises. Patients were re-evaluated at the end of the 3-week treatment period and were asked to attend a final follow-up 3 months later. Therefore, patients were evaluated three times: before the treatment, at the end of treatment, and 3 months after the treatment.

Measurements

Short form-36 (SF-36) was used to evaluate the quality of life of the patients in the study groups. SF-36 is a questionnaire consisting of questions about general health, physical function, physical role, emotional role, social function, pain, vitality, and mental health that will contribute to the final score, and an additional question regarding the health status, which is not scored. Each question contributes to only one subscale. Possible scores for each subscale range from 0–100. A higher score indicates a higher quality of life (15).

Statistical Analysis

Power analysis was performed using the PASS II Home software. The size effect was calculated as 0.414 according to the results of previous studies. Power was adjusted to 0.90 with a type I error of 0.05. The result showed that at least 27 patients will be required in each group.

All the patients' data were imported into SPSS v2l. Test for normality was done using Shapiro Wilk test. Comparison between the groups was done with one-way Analysis of Variances (ANOVA) or the Kruskal–Wallis test regarding normality for continuous variables and Chi Square test for categorical variables. Evaluation of repeated measurements was done with the two-way repeated measurements ANOVA for normally distributed variables. For non-normally distributed variables, time-bound changes within the groups were evaluated with the Friedman's test, while the differences between repeated measurements in each of the groups were compared with the Kruskal–Wallis test. For pairwise comparison, the Bonferroni correction method was used. A p value <0.05 were accepted as statistically significant results.

RESULTS

A total of 90 patients (I7 males and 73 females) were included into this study, and the mean age was 5I.36±6.07 years. These patients were divided into three groups according to the diathermy treatment (placebo, continuous, pulsed; group I, group 2, group 3; respectively). There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of age, body mass index (BMI), educational status, working status, symptom duration, MRI diagnosis, paracetamol intake, and number of days of exercise. There were significantly more males in group 3 than in the other groups (p=0.044) (Table I).

TABLE I. Summary of Patients' Characteristics Regarding Treatment Groups					
	Group I	Group 2	Group 3	р	
Ν	30	30	30	N.A	
Age	51.47±6.50	51.63±6.26	50.97±5.59	0.908	
Gender (Male)	3 (10.00%)°	4 (I3.33%)ª	I0 (33.33%)♭	0.044	
BMI	25.35±3.82	25.42±3.66	25.07±3.26	0.924	
Education Status					
Primary	8 (26.67%)	6 (20.00%)	9 (30.00%)	0.794	
Secondary	6 (20.00%)	9 (30.00%)	6 (20.00%)		
High school	10 (33.33%)	12 (40.00%)	9 (30.00%)		
University	6 (20.00%)	3 (10.00%)	6 (20.00%)		
Working Position					
Standing	10 (33.33%)	10 (33.33%)	5 (16.67%)	0.257	
Housewife	16 (53.33%)	15 (50.00%)	15 (50.00%)		
Sitting	4 (13.33%)	5 (16.67%)	10 (33.33%)		
Symptom Duration (years)	5 (0.5 - 20)	3.5 (I - I7)	2.25 (0.5 - 30)	0.185	
MRI Diagnosis					
Bulging	5 (16.67%)	9 (30.00%)	6 (20.00%)	0.615	
Protrusion	9 (30.00%)	9 (30.00%)	14 (46.67%)		
Extrusion	3 (10.00%)	2 (6.67%)	2 (6.67%)		
Spinal Stenosis	I (3.33%)	2 (6.67%)	0 (0.00%)		
Degeneration	12 (40.00%)	8 (26.67%)	8 (26.67%)		
Paracetamol Intake	0 (0 - 23)	0 (0 - 30)	0 (0 - 9)	0.294	
Exercise (Day)	89.5 (10 - 90)	75 (2 - 90)	70 (12 - 90)	0.976	
Data given as mean + standard deviation or median (minimum - maximum)					

Data given as mean ± standard deviation or median (minimum - maximum) for continuous variables regarding normality and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables

Same letters denote lack of significant difference between groups

Regarding the physical function scores, third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group I (p=0.036). There was no significant difference between before and after treatment (p=0.429) and also after treatment and 3rd month scores (p=0.217) for Group I. After treatment and 3rd month scores were significantly higher than the initial scores for Group 2 (p<0.001), while there was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.9799). There was no significant difference between the measurements for Group 3 (p=0.067). In addition, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of an increase in physical function scores (p=0.334) (Table 2) (Figure I).

Regarding the role limitations due to physical problems scores, third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group I (p<0.001). On the other hand, there was no significant difference between before and after treatment scores (p=0.526) as well as after treatment and 3^{rd} month scores (p=0.060) for Group I. In Group 2, third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p=0.004), while there were no significant differences when before and after treatment scores (p=0.364) and after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999) were compared. For group 3, third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p=0.999) were scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p=0.999) were compared.







FIGURE 2. Isometric extension strength

(p=0.006), while there was no significant difference between before and after treatment scores (p=0.320) and after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999). There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of an increase in role limitations due to physical problems scores (p=0.183) (Table 2).

Regarding the bodily pain scores, third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group I (p=0.015), while there were no significant differences between before and after treatment scores (p=0.184) and after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999) for Group I. In Group 2, after treatment and third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p<0.001). There was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999). When Group 3 was evaluated, after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999). When Group 3 (p<0.001). There was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.364). There was also no significant difference between the groups in terms of an increase in bodily pain scores (p=0.126) (Table 2).

Regarding the general health scores, there was no significant difference between the measurements for Group I (p=0.198). On the other hand, after treatment and third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group 2

TABLE 2. SF-36 Scores Regarding Treatment Groups and Comparison Results					
		Group I (n=30)	Group 2 (n=30)	Group 3 (n=30)	p (Between Groups)
Physical Function	Before	53.61±25.66°	51.83±23.43°	57.5±26.06	0.334
	After	60.19±24.29 ^{ab}	70.17±18.5 ^b	67.09±22.04	
	3rd Month	65.96±25.13 ^b	70.17±24.62 ^b	68.67±21.57	
p (Within Groups)		0.036	<0.001	0.067	
Role Limitations Due to Physical Problems	Before	0 (0-100)ª	25 (0-I00)°	0 (0-I00)ª	0.183
	After	12.5 (0-100)ab	50 (0-100) ^{ab}	29.17 (0-100)¤b	
	3rd Month	50 (0-100) ^b	75 (0-100) ⁶	50 (0-100) ^b	
p (Within Groups)		<0.001	0.004	0.006	
Bodily Pain	Before	4I (I2-I00)°	4I (I0-72)ª	4I (I2-74)°	0.126
	After	5I (22-84)ªb	62 (0-84) ^b	56.5 (22-I00) ^b	
	3rd Month	5I.5 (22-I00) ^b	57 (10-100) ^b	52 (10-100) [⊳]	
p (Within Groups)		0.015	<0.001	<0.001	
General Health	Before	50.43±19.08	51.37±17.43°	47.I±I2.I	0.788
	After	54.07±18.95	60.23±20.09b	52.1±19.87	
	3rd Month	56.67±17.82	59.67±19.21b	52.67±20.07	
p (Within Groups)		0.198	0.011	0.283	
Vitality	Before	43.00±18.83°	45.33±18.10°	41.83±17.64	0.827
	After	53.33±15.44 ^b	54.00±18.26 ^b	50.00±20.3	
	3rd Month	52.17±17.94 ^b	50.00±21.58 ^{ab}	50.50±21.15	
p (Within Groups)		0.010	0.041	0.059	
Social Function	Before	62.5 (0-100)	62.5 (0-100)	50 (I2.5-I00)°	0.334
	After	68.75 (12.5-100)	62.5 (25-100)	62.5 (25-I00) [⊳]	
	3rd Month	62.5 (25-100)	62.5 (12.5-100)	62.5 (25-I00) [⊳]	
p (Within Groups)		0.166	0.051	0.004	
Role Limitations Due to Emotional Problems	Before	0 (0-100)	66.67 (0-100)	0 (0-100)	0.146
	After	50 (0-100)	66.67 (0-100)	33.33 (0-100)	
	3rd Month	66.67 (0-100)	66.67 (0-100)	33.33 (0-100)	
p (Within Groups)		0.136	0.957	0.373	
Mental Health	Before	57.87±16.93	59.07±19.07	51.60±20.05°	0.361
	After	60.80±15.35	63.07±19.39	61.47±20.19 ^b	
	3rd Month	60.53±17.32	58.00±17.85	58.40±18.33ªb	
p (Within Groups)		0.999	0.263	0.010	
Data given as mean±standard deviation or medi	an (minimum - ma	ximum) regarding norma	lity		

Same letters denote lack of significant difference between repeated measurements.

(p=0.011); however, there was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999). In Group 3, there were no significant differences between measurements for Group 3 (p=0.283). In addition, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of the amount of increase in general health scores (p=0.788) (Table 2).

Regarding the vitality scores, after treatment and third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group I (p=0.010). There was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999) for this group. In Group 2, after treatment scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p=0.04I), while there was no significant difference between before treatment and third month scores (p=0.184). There was no significant difference between the measurements for Group 3 (p=0.059). In addition, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of the changes in vitality scores (p=0.827) (Table 2), (Figure 2).

Regarding the social function scores, there was no significant difference between measurements for Group I (p=0.166) and Group 2 (p=0.051). After treatment and third month scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores for Group 3 (p=0.004). On the other hand, there was no significant difference between after treatment and third month scores (p=0.999). In addition, there was no significant difference between the
groups in terms of the changes in social function scores (p=0.334) (Table 2).

Regarding the emotional role functioning, no significant differences were found in the comparisons within Group I (p=0.136), Group 2 (p=0.957), and Group 3 (p=0.373), and also in the comparison between the groups (p=0.146).

Regarding the mental health scores, there was no significant difference between the measurements for Group I (p=0.999) and Group 2 (p=0.263). For Group 3, after treatment scores were significantly higher than before treatment scores (p=0.010), while there was no significant difference between before treatment and 3rd month scores (p=0.186). Third month scores were lower than after treatment scores, but this difference was not found to be statistically significant for Group 3 (p=896). In addition, there was no significant differences between the groups in terms of changes in mental health scores (p=0.361) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

In our study, a statistically significant recovery was achieved in all the three groups in terms of the physical function, role limitations due to physical problems, and bodily pain criteria. All the three groups received back school therapy and home exercise programs, while the first group did not receive the diathermy treatment (placebo). There were significant improvements in all the groups; however, comparisons revealed that there were no significant differences between the groups. Even so, the second and third groups (those that received the diathermy therapy) had higher mean scores in several subscale scores. When within group improvements were evaluated, we found that general health scores were significantly increased in only group 2 (continuous shortwave therapy). There was no significant difference in the vitality criteria in group 3, but there was a significant increase in these criteria in the other groups. On the other hand, there was a significant difference in the social function and mental health scores only in group 3, and no difference was found in the other groups. There was no significant difference in the scores concerning role limitations due to emotional problems in any of the groups.

In a study that evaluated the effects of an exercise program on CBP, improvements in the physical function of the patients were found (16), similar to the findings of our study. However, improvements in role limitations due to physical problems were found in our study whereas, improvements were instead observed in role limitations due to emotional problem in their study (16). Although the authors stated that their study had a significant selection bias that rendered the comparison of the groups quite unfeasible, their findings still showed important benefits with exercise therapy. Furthermore, in a randomized controlled study that evaluated the effect of exercise therapy on the quality of life with the SF-36 questionnaire, significant improvement was shown in all the scores (13). The sample sizes can be a factor that contributes to the differences between the various studies on this topic, but performing exercise therapy under the supervision of a physician or at home (without supervision) may also be a parameter affecting the results. In our study, the exercise programs were demonstrated and performed under a physician's supervision only once. Thereafter, patients were asked to continue their exercise program at home. Although we asked

them to keep an exercise diary and to record the time when the exercise was performed, we cannot be absolutely sure that all the exercises were performed in accordance with the demonstration.

In the present study, it was found that there was no difference in terms of the quality of life results in the recipients of the continuous or pulsed shortwave diathermy treatment. In addition, we could not detect a significantly positive effect of the diathermy treatment on the quality of life of patients when compared with placebo. However, in the general health, social function, and mental health scores, no significant change was found in the placebo group, whereas a significant increase was observed in the groups receiving continuous/pulsed diathermy treatment. Several studies have put forth substantial evidence that exercise training can improve the functional ability and quality of life of patients with low back pain (13, 17, 18). However, there were very few studies that assessed the effect of continuous and pulsed shortwave diathermy on patients with CBP (19, 20). Diathermy treatments are mostly used in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis (21). In one of these studies, it was reported that shortwave diathermy treatment had no significant effect on the quality of life in knee osteoarthritis (22). Further clinical studies are needed to evaluate the effect of continuous/pulsed shortwave diathermy on the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain.

The total sample size in the current study can be considered as adequate for an interventional research; however, the fact that the patients were divided into 3 different groups decreased the sample sizes for each group. This may be seen as a limitation, and future studies may benefit from increasing the patient numbers or dividing the patients into two groups. Another limitation in our study is that there was a higher proportion of females than males (approximately 80%). Furthermore, approximately half of these females were housewives, which may have been a source of bias. In another study similar to ours, it was reported that the whole study group consisted of women, most of them being housewives, and that this situation may be seen as a handicap because housewives are physically less active, resulting in a bias in terms of the perception of the quality of life among the patients (I3). This limitation can be overcome by performing long term studies with larger sample sizes. Finally, pain measurements before and after the interventions and at a follow-up visit would have provided a chance to assess the quality of life results with regard to pain levels; however, pain measurements had not been performed in most of the patients and was therefore lacking from the study, which is also a limitation. An important strength of our study is the fact that, to the best of our knowledge, it is the first study to evaluate the effect of shortwave diathermy treatment on the quality of life of patients with CBP.

In conclusion, the SF-36 questionnaire to evaluate patients with CBP, and all scores –except for role limitation due to emotional problem scores– were significantly increased in each group in our study. However, we could not find any significant difference between the 3 groups in terms of the quality of life. In addition, regarding the general health, social function, and mental health scores, there was no significant change in the placebo group, but significant increases were found in the groups receiving

continuous or pulsed diathermy treatment. Further clinical studies with larger sample sizes are needed to evaluate the effect of continuous/pulsed short-wave diathermy on the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Dokuz Eylül University, Faculty of Medicine (09/II/2006/247).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - S.K.; Design - S.K.; Supervision - S.O.; Resource - S.K., S.O.; Materials - S.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - S.K.; Literature Search - S.K., S.O, I.S.; Writing - S.K, I.S.; Critical Reviews - S.K.

Acknowledgements: Thank for all department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Dokuz Eylül University, İzmir.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Vos T, Barber RM, Bell B, Bertozzi-Villa A, Biryukov S, Bolliger I, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. The Lancet 2015; 386(9995): 743-800. [Crossref]
- Deyo RA, Dworkin SF, Amtmann D, Andersson G, Borenstein D, Carragee E, et al. Focus article: report of the NIH task force on research standards for chronic low back pain. Eur Spine J 2014; 23(10): 2028-45.
 [Crossref]
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, et al. Noninvasive treatments for low back pain. 2016.
- Chou R, Atlas S. Subacute and chronic low back pain: Nonsurgical interventional treatment. UpToDate, Waltham, MA Accessed 2016; 8(8): 18.
- Kuijer W, Brouwer S, Preuper HS, Groothoff JW, Geertzen JH, Dijkstra PU. Work status and chronic low back pain: exploring the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Disabil Rehabil 2006; 28(6): 379-88. [Crossref]
- Wand BM, O'Connell NE. Chronic non-specific low back pain-subgroups or a single mechanism? BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2008; 9(I): II. [Crossref]
- Volinn E. The epidemiology of low back pain in the rest of the world: a review of surveys in low-and middle-income countries. Spine 1997; 22(15): 1747-54. [Crossref]

- Hagen KB, Jamtvedt G, Hilde G, Winnem MF. The updated Cochrane review of bed rest for low back pain and sciatica. Spine 2005; 30(5): 542-6. [Crossref]
- 9. Low J. Shortwave diathermy, microwave, ultrasound, and interferential therapy. Pain Management in Physical Therapy. 1988.
- Shields N, Gormley J, O'Hare N. Short-wave diathermy: current clinical and safety practices. Physiother Res Int 2002; 7(4): 191-202. [Crossref]
- II. McKillop AB, Carroll LJ, Jones CA, Battié MC. The relation of social support and depression in patients with chronic low back pain. Disabil Rehabil 2017; 39(15): 1482-8. [Crossref]
- Natour J, Cazotti LdA, Ribeiro LH, Baptista AS, Jones A. Pilates improves pain, function and quality of life in patients with chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil 2015; 29(1): 59-68.
 [Crossref]
- Tavafian SS, Jamshidi A, Mohammad K, Montazeri A. Low back pain education and short term quality of life: a randomized trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2007; 8(1): 21. [Crossref]
- 14. Chou R, Huffman LH. Nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med 2007; 147(7): 492-504. [Crossref]
- Framework IC. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). Med Care 1992; 30(6): 473-83. [Crossref]
- Claiborne N, Vandenburgh H, Krause TM, Leung P. Measuring quality of life changes in individuals with chronic low back conditions: a back education program evaluation. Eval Program Plann 2002; 25(1): 61-70. [Crossref]
- Shaughnessy M, Caulfield B. A pilot study to investigate the effect of lumbar stabilisation exercise training on functional ability and quality of life in patients with chronic low back pain. Int J Rehabil Res 2004; 27(4): 297-301. [Crossref]
- Van Tulder MW, Koes BW, Bouter LM. Conservative treatment of acute and chronic nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials of the most common interventions. Spine 1997; 22(18): 2128-56. [Crossref]
- Ahmed MS, Shakoor MA, Khan AA. Evaluation of the effects of shortwave diathermy in patients with chronic low back pain. Bangladesh Med Res Counc Bull 2009; 35(1): 18-20. [Crossref]
- Gibson T, Harkness J, Blagrave P, Grahame R, Woo P, Hills R. Controlled comparison of short-wave diathermy treatment with osteopathic treatment in non-specific low back pain. The Lancet 1985; 325(8440): 1258-61. [Crossref]
- Laufer Y, Dar G. Effectiveness of thermal and athermal short-wave diathermy for the management of knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2012;20(9):957-66.
 [Crossref]
- 22. Akyol Y, Durmus D, Alayli G, Tander B, Bek Y, Canturk F, et al. Does short-wave diathermy increase the effectiveness of isokinetic exercise on pain, function, knee muscle strength, quality of life, and depression in the patients with knee osteoarthritis? A randomized controlled clinical study. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2010; 46(3): 325-36.

Original Article

Load Distribution in Tooth and Implant–Abutment Identical Cases

Muhammed Mutahhar Ulusoy¹, Hakan Arinc², Asiye Nehir Ozden³

¹Department of Prosthodontics, Near East University, Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia/TRNC Mersin, Turkey ²Department of Prosthodontics, Istanbul Okan University, Faculty of Dentistry, Tuzla Campus, Istanbul, Turkey ³Department of Prosthodontics, Near East University, Faculty of Dentistry, Mersin, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.M.U. 0000-0002-6090-5747; H.A. 0000-000I-8675-648X; A.N.O. 0000-000I-7084-7133.

Cite this article as: Ulusoy MM, Arinc H, Ozden AN. Load Distribution in Tooth and Implant–Abutment Identical Cases. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 211-6.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

We sought to compare the biomechanical behavior of dental implants with that of natural teeth under identical situations in accordance with Ante's law.

MATERIAL and METHODS

We used finite element analysis to compare identical cases. We designed different combinations [tooth-supported models (TSMx) and implant-supported models (ISMx)] [TSM0: full-arch dentition, TSMI: 5–7 tooth-supported fixed dental prosthesis (FDP); TSM2: 4–7 tooth-supported FDP; TSM3: 3–7 tooth-supported FDP; TSM3: 3–7 tooth-supported FDP; ISM0: full-arch dental implant-supported artificial crowns for each tooth; ISMI: 5–7 dental implant-supported FDP; ISM3: and 3–7 dental implant-supported FDP]. We used Cobalt-chromium supported ceramic as the prosthetic material. We used a foodstuff model to apply a 100 N of load for each tooth in the case of mastication.

RESULTS

In general, ISMs showed higher stress values than identical TSMs. The distribution of stress in the cortical bone was similar in identical models regardless of the abutment type. The maximum and minimum principal stress values in the cortical bone increased with the number of missing teeth. The trend in stress values was different between ISMs and TSMs.

CONCLUSION

Within the limitations of this study, stress distribution was similar in both abutment types. However, there was a difference in the magnitude and change in the magnitude of stress values of dental implants and tooth abutments. Our findings reveal that Ante's law may not be suitable as a guideline for dental implant treatment due to the difference in the trends of the maximum and minimum principal stress values.

Keywords: Cortical bone, dental abutments, dental implants, dental models, finite element analysis, mastication

INTRODUCTION

Implantation of partial fixed dental prosthesis (FDP) typically requires splinting of additional abutments to overcome the loss of bone support of the abutment. Ante's law is used as a guide to plan an FDP with an optimal number of abutments (I). In the glossary of prosthodontics, the Ante's law for FDPs states: "in fixed dental prosthodontics, the combined pericemental area of all abutment teeth supporting a fixed dental prosthesis should be equal to or greater than that of the tooth or teeth to be replaced" (2). Based on this, more abutments may be needed as the edentulous span of an FDP increases (I).

In current practice, most people prefer dental implants as replacement for missing teeth (3). The high survival and success rate of dental implants is widely acknowledged (4–9). Application of biomechanical principles is therefore key to sustain these rates (5, 6, 8–12).

Well-known theoretical approaches are often not supported by clinical observations (such as the number of dental implants to be used for FDPs) (I3). One common approach is to place a dental implant for each missing tooth (I4). From another theoretical perspective, the solution is to place dental implants to support FDP with a central pontic (I5). However, there is a lack of consensus on the optimal number of dental implants required to provide adequate support (5, 7, 16).

Direct clinical evaluation is the most accurate method to analyze the biomechanical effects of dental implant treatment. However, the complexity of the structures involved makes direct clinical evaluation of the biomechanical behavior of intraosseous structures nearly impossible. The potential difficulties for this type of study include possible ethical issues, applicability of methodology, and time required for the procedure. To overcome these limitations, several studies have employed computational, analytical, and experimental models to evaluate the biomechanics of dental implants. These include finite element analysis (FEA), photoelasticity, and the use of strain gauges (II, I7, I8).

FEA involves the use of virtual models to simulate and test the progressive resistance and stress distribution of complex structures. This method enables for the investigation of mechanical problems by dividing the problem into many smaller and simpler elements. This approach creates a mesh of elements and solves the problem using mathematical functions. This allows for the simulation and evaluation of the biomechanical behavior of bone, dental implants, and prosthetic component interfaces, which otherwise would be impossible to analyze *in vitro* or *in vivo* (II, I7).

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the differences in the distribution and magnitude of stress values in dental implants and tooth abutments of an FDP in identical situations. Furthermore, we sought to investigate the optimal number of dental implants in comparison with the identically placed tooth abutments according to Ante's law. The first null hypothesis stated, "the type of abutment (dental implant and tooth abutments) does not affect the magnitude of stress." The second null hypothesis stated, "the type of abutment does not affect the stress distribution in cortical bone in identical situations." Moreover, the third null hypothesis stated, an "an increase in the number of missing teeth does not affect the distribution and magnitude of stress in tooth abutment models." Finally, the fourth null hypothesis stated, "an increase in the number of missing abutments does not affect the distribution and magnitude of stress in dental implant models."

MATERIAL and METHODS

We created, homogenized, meshed, and analyzed three-dimensional (3D) models using a computer (Intel Xeon ® R CPU 3,30 GHz processor, 500 GB hard disk, I4 GB RAM, Windows 7 UItimate Version Service Pack I) with Activity 880 (Smart Optics Sensortechnik GmbH, Sinterstrasse 8, D-44795 Bochum, Germany), computed tomography (CT; ILUMA, Orthocad, CBCT, 3M

Main Points:

- The increase in the missing tooth resulted with higher stress values in peripheral bone.
- Dental implants and natural tooth abutments had similar stress distribution behaviour.
- The different stress trends were observed in identical treatment plans with dental implants/natural tooth abutments.
- Ante's law may not be suitable for planing dental implants because of the difference in stress trends. Further studies are recommended.

Imtec, OK, USA), Rhinoceros 4.0 (Seattle, WA, USA), 3D-Doctor (Able Software Corp., MA, USA), VRMesh (VirtualGrid, Bellevue, WA, USA), and Algor Fempro (ALGOR, Inc. Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

We constructed a CT data of mandible from a human cadaver using a 3D model of the edentulous mandible with 2-mm cortical bone layer. Then, we transferred the data into the 3D-Doctor and Rhinoceros software in order to generate a 3D finite element model with a l-mm thick slice.

We scanned dental implants, abutments, and dental gypsum models using Activity 880 in order to construct 3D models of teeth and the dental implant-abutment complex. We used a bone-level dental implant (diameter: 4 mm; length: 10 mm) for all dental implant-supported models (ISMs). Moreover, we scanned the teeth models for reconstruction according to Wheeler standards using the Rhinoceros software. Then, we reformed the abutment teeth in accordance with tooth preparation principles. We designed superstructure models of FDPs with modified ridge-lap pontics using Wheeler standards as a guide. We also designed frameworks of the restorations with a thickness of 0.3 mm and a 3-mm connector width of FDPs. Finally, we used cobalt-chromium-supported ceramic as the prosthetic material for the process.

Models

There were two main model types: teeth-supported models (TSMs) and dental ISMs. We created the first group of models without any missing teeth (TSM0) or dental implants (ISM0). The second group of models comprised of a missing mandibular right first molar and FDPs with supports at the mandibular right second molar and second premolar (teeth-supported, TSMI; dental implant-supported, ISMI). We removed the mandibular right first molar and second premolar and abutments (teeth-supported, TSM2; dental implant-supported, ISM2) at the mandibular right second molar. We then supported the fourunit FDP in the third group of models using the first premolar region. We considered the mandibular right first molar, second premolar, and first premolar missing and the supports of the restoration were at the mandibular right second molar and canine (teeth-supported, TSM3; dental implant-supported, ISM3). In total, we created eight models.

Mesh Creation

We transferred models created in the Rhinoceros software to Fempro while preserving the 3D coordinates. The models were rigidly solid meshed using bricks and tetrahedral elements. In the bricks and tetrahedral solid modeling system, Fempro uses as many as eight nodes in the model. We used seven-, six-, or fivenode elements when eight-node elements could not achieve the required detail. All the models were linear, homogeneous, and isotropic. Table I displays the properties of the materials used in the study.

Boundary Conditions

We fixed the models at the base and the mesial and distal edges of the mandible with zero degree of freedom.

Loading Conditions

Overall, we applied a force of 700 N to the model by means of

Ulusoy et al. Identical Cases with Teeth or Implants



In general, ISMs resulted in higher stress values than TSMs. ISM models had 32%–80% higher omax stress values and I81%–342% higher omin values than their corresponding TSMs. The distribution of stress in the cortical bone was similar in identical models regardless of the abutment type. In TSM0 and ISM0, stress was well-distributed. However, the loss of tooth/teeth resulted in more stress concentration at the edentate (pontic) area.

The omax and omin values in the cortical bone increased with increase in the number of missing teeth. TSMI, TSM2, and TSM3 showed higher omax stress values (12%, 26%, and 55%, respectively) (Figure Ib-d) and higher omin stress values (51%, 21%, and 26%, respectively) (Figure 2b-d) than TSM0 (Figure Ia, 2a). We observed similar omax and omin stress values in ISM0 (Figure IE and 2E), ISMI (Figure If, 2f), and ISM2 (Figure Ig, 2g). Meanwhile, ISM3 showed 14% higher omax stress value (Figure Ih) and 10% lower omin stress value (Figure 2h) than the others (Figure 2e-g).

DISCUSSION

We rejected the first null hypothesis based on the differences in stress values between the numbers of tooth abutments and dental implants in the different combinations of the posterior

Materials	Young modulus (MPa)	Poisson ratio
Feldspathic porcelain	82.800	0.35
Cobalt–Chromium alloy	218.000	0.33
Enamel	82.500	0.33
Dentin	18.600	0.31
Periodontal ligament	170	0.45
Ti-6Al-4∨	110.000	0.35
Cortical bone	13.700	0.3
Trabecular bone	1.370	0.3

seven foodstuffs. Each foodstuff applied 100 N of vertical force to each tooth's occlusal surface. We used TSM0 and ISM0 as control groups. We used the highest maximum principal stress values (σ max) and minimum principal stress values (σ min) in the cortical bone for comparison. We also used these values to calculate the ratio between identical situations or similar supporting-abutment types. We considered a more than 10% difference in the values as clinically important. There was no need for any statistical method due to the nature of our study.

RESULTS

Figure I–3 present the results of FEA. Figure I–2 demonstrate the maximum and minimum principal stress analysis, respectively. Figure 3 shows a graphical representation of the highest stress values. The positive values in the graphical illustrations reflect



edentulism. We accepted the second null hypothesis was accepted based on the similar stress distribution in the identical models. We rejected the third null hypothesis based on the differences between TSMs with respect to stress distribution and levels of omax and omin. We partially accepted the fourth null hypothesis based on the similarity of the stress distribution and magnitude of omax and omin among ISMs, with the exception of the stress values of ISM3.

According to the results, the magnitude of stress depends not only on the number but also on the type of abutment (tooth or dental implant). Dental implants increase the stress values in the cortical bone and were compared with tooth abutments. An increase in the number of missing teeth in an FDP may also lead to higher stress values in the cortical bone regardless of the abutment type (dental implant or tooth). Reduced number of dental implants can be compensated by increasing the number of dental implants. (19). The diameter and length of dental implants were constant in the present study for the standardization of ISMs.

In vivo and *in vitro* methods for stress analyses of living tissues, such as bones, teeth, and periodontium, are typically challenging (and sometimes even impossible) (II, I7, I8). Each method has advantages and limitations (I7). FEA is a suitable method for stress analysis of structures with complex geometry (II, I7). We evaluated the stress in all models with FEA in the present study as stipulated by literature.

Ismail et al. (20) compared two-dimensional (2D) and 3D FEA and reported that 2D analysis was sufficient to assess principal stress distribution. However, the 2D method did not reflect the normal stress distribution in detail. In another study, minor differences were observed between 2D and 3D analyses. The authors opined that the 3D model may provide a better geometrical representation (2I). Meijer et al. (22) reported that a 3D model of the region to be examined is sufficient and less time-consuming compared with creating a model of the entire mandible. In this study, we preferred the 3D FEA and we used a 3D image of the working region rather than modeling the entire mandible to obtain realistic models and results.

The maximum occlusal force during mastication varies with natural dentition and dental implants due to muscle size, shape of bones/temporomandibular joint tissues, and the extent of jaw separation (23, 24). Furthermore, factors such as the bite direction and sex of the patient are known to affect the maximum bite force (24, 25). Paphangkorakit and Osborn (24) reported that the maximum occlusal force in the anterior region is in the range of 90–307 N, whereas Waltimo and Könönen (25) reported that the maximum physiologic occlusal force in the mandibular right molar region is approximately 300 N. In a study by Haraldson et al. (26), the median value of the maximal force in dental implants was 143.5 N. In the present study, we applied a static 100 N load for each tooth with a food-shaped model, which is within the reported physiological limits. This kind of loading may present a more realistic load distribution, thanks to the replication of food-shaped model.

We used principal stress (compressive and tensile stress) values to evaluate brittle materials such as bones. Failure occurs if the compression stress in bone is equal to or exceeds the highest compression stress. Thus, principal stress allows evaluation by determining the difference between the tensile and compressive stress (27). Hence, we used principal stress in this study for the analysis of stress values in bone.

A comparison of the natural tooth with the dental implant revealed that an intrusion in natural dentition occurs during mastication, and stress accumulates around the dental implant. Overload may impose high stress on the supporting bone, which leads to bone resorption. The direct opposite of this phenomenon may result in disuse atrophy of bone (28). Most FEA studies evaluate stress levels, implying that lower stress represents a more favorable result. However, in the present study, we evaluated the magnitude and distribution of stress only.

The highest tensile strength of the cortical bone as I2I MPa and the maximum compression strength was reported as I67 MPa (29). In this study, the highest tensile stress value was 29 MPa in the cortical bone of ISM3. This value is lower than the highest tensile strength of bone. The highest compression stress value was 27 MPa in the cortical bone of ISM0. This value is lower than the maximum compression strength of bone.

In a systematic review, Heydecke et al. (7) evaluated the survival rates with regard to the required number of dental implants. They reported that a dental implant-to-replaced-units-ratio of 2/3 can be considered adequate. However, for full-arch dental implant-supported FDPs, the corresponding ratio is between I/3 and I/2, which is lower than the first calculated ratio. In present study, we compared the ISMs with identical tooth-supported planning by means of stress transmission to the peripheral bone, and dental implants transmitted higher stress values to bone. The maximum-stress-ratio (ISM/identical TSM) was between 1.32 and 1.80 for maximum principal stress value and between 2.8I and 4.42 for minimum principal stress values in the cortical bone. This ratio is not a dental implant-to-replaced-units ratio; however, it seems plausible that dental implants present higher stress on the bone than tooth abutments, and the importance of avoiding overload is a key consideration during planning of dental implant treatment. The trends in the change of stress values differed according to types of abutments in identical situations. These findings reveal that the behavior of dental implants is different from that of tooth abutments in supporting an FDP. Furthermore, these findings also revealed that it is not suitable to use Ante's law in the planning of dental implants. We therefore recommend further studies to determine the biomechanical conditions of dental implant treatment.

To the authors' knowledge, this was the first study comparing the stress distribution in natural teeth and dental implants in identical conditions by using Ante's law. Undoubtedly, the current study has some limitations. In dentistry, 3D FEA models have been widely used to study the biomechanics of loaded stress. However, in the current study, use of the FEA program was limited by unrealistic assumptions such as homogeneous, linear elastic, and isotropic conditions for the bone, tooth, and periodontal ligament. The design and material of the dental implant and prosthesis were constant to simplify the models. It should be kept in mind that the variations in type of material, diameter, length, angulation, and surface treatment of dental implants and the design and material of the prosthesis can affect the stress in peripheral bone (9, 23, 30). Furthermore, we assumed that the bonding of the bone and dental implant was perfect and that the masticatory forces were static and loaded axially using a suitable model (fitting for the foodstuff in the occlusal surface of the crowns) as compared to the dynamic masticatory forces, (oblique to the occlusal surface). Consequently, the reconstruction did not replicate all the natural details. Mathematical models can be used only to explain experimental results, and in science, their predictive power is used for comparisons (18). In the present study, we evaluated the distribution and magnitude of stress in identical edentulous treatment plans with different types of abutments. However, the numbers and distribution of abutments were not changed. Although we could not replicate the natural stress values because of these limitations, we observed differences with respect to the magnitude and distribution of stress between differently planned edentulism models. We recommend further studies to understand more about the biomechanical needs for bone stimulation and the effects of other variables on stress distribution of tooth and dental implant supports.

Within the limitations of this finite element study, dental ISMs showed higher stress values than TSMs. The increase in the number of missing tooth enhanced the stress in peripheral bone for both abutment types (tooth or dental implant). We observed a similar behavior with respect to the distribution of stress with dental implant and natural tooth abutments supporting partial FDP. However, we recorded different trends with respect to the change in the magnitude of stress with increase in the number of missing teeth in identical treatment plans. We considered the importance of avoiding overload in dental implant planning because of the higher stress values occurring in the peripheral bone of ISMs. Our results reveal that it may not be suitable to use Ante's law to plan dental implants because of different trends of change in the magnitude of stress in identical treatment plans, even if the distribution of stress was similar. We recommend further studies to understand more about the biomechanical effects of the number and distribution of dental implants and to determine the biomechanical differences between dental implants and tooth abutments.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - M.M.U., H.A., A.N.O.; Design - H.A.; Supervision - M.M.U., A.N.O.; Resource - M.M.U, H.A., A.N.O.; Materials - M.M.U., H.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - H.A.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - M.M.U., H.A., A.N.O.; Literature Search - H.A.; Writing - H.A.; Critical Reviews - M.M.U., A.N.O.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank Ayberk Yağız for Finite Element Anaylsis.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The study was supported by a grant from the Near East University Centre of Excellence (grant numbers 2016-0400I, CE705-2016).

- Chitumalla R, Munaga S, Khare A, Agarwal S, Bhoyar A, Parlani S. Stress distribution among periodontally compromised abutments: A comparative study using three-dimensional finite element analysis. Contemp Clin Dent 2012; 3(4): 452-8. [Crossref]
- Driscoll CF, Freilich MA, Guckes AD, Knoernschild KL, Mcgarry TJ. The Glossary of Prosthodontic Terms: Ninth Edition. J Prosthet Dent 2017; 117(5S): e1-105. [Crossref]
- Leung KCM, McGrath CPJ. Willingness to pay for implant therapy: a study of patient preference. Clin Oral Implants Res 2010; 21(8): 789-93. [Crossref]
- De Kok P, Kleverlaan CJ, De Jager N, Kuijs R, Feilzer AJ. Mechanical performance of implant-supported posterior crowns. J Prosthet Dent 2015; II4(I): 59-66. [Crossref]
- Thalji G, Bryington M, De Kok IJ, Cooper LF. Prosthodontic Management of Implant Therapy. Dent Clin North Am 2014; 58(1): 207-25. [Crossref]
- Sun HL, Huang C, Wu YR, Shi B. Failure rates of short (≤ 10 mm) dental implants and factors influencing their failure: a systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2011; 26(4): 816-25.
- Heydecke G, Zwahlen M, Nicol A, Nisand D, Payer M, Renouard F et al. What is the optimal number of implants for fixed reconstructions: a systematic review. Clin Oral Implants Res 2012; 23(Suppl 6): 217-28. [Crossref]
- Papaspyridakos P, Chen C-J, Chuang S-K, Weber H-P. Implant loading protocols for edentulous patients with fixed prostheses: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2014; 29(Suppl): 256-70. [Crossref]
- Ogawa T, Dhaliwal S, Naert I, Mine A, Kronstrom M, Sasaki K et al. Impact of implant number, distribution and prosthesis material on loading on implants supporting fixed prostheses. J Oral Rehabil 2010; 37(7): 525-31. [Crossref]
- Sahin S, Cehreli MC, Yalçin E. The influence of functional forces on the biomechanics of implant-supported prostheses--a review. J Dent 2002; 30 (7-8): 271-82. [Crossref]

- II. Geng JP, Tan KBC, Liu GR. Application of finite element analysis in implant dentistry: a review of the literature. J Prosthet Dent 2001; 85(6): 585-98. [Crossref]
- Stoumpis C, Kohal R-J. To splint or not to splint oral implants in the implant-supported overdenture therapy? A systematic literature review. J Oral Rehabil 2011; 38(11): 857-69. [Crossref]
- Taylor TD, Agar JR, Vogiatzi T. Implant prosthodontics: current perspective and future directions. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2000; 15(1): 66-75.
- Rangert B, Jemt T, Jörneus L. Forces and moments on Branemark implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1989; 4(3): 241-7.
- Buser D, Belser UC, Lang NP. The original one-stage dental implant system and its clinical application. Periodontol 2000 1998; 17: 106-18. [Crossref]
- Brunski JB. Biomechanical aspects of the optimal number of implants to carry a cross-arch full restoration. Eur J Oral Implantol 2014; 7(Suppl 2): SIII-3I.
- Pesqueira A, Goiato M, Gennari-Filho H, Monteiro D, Dos Santos D, Haddad M, et al. The use of stress analysis methods to evaluate the biomechanics of oral rehabilitation with implants. J Oral Implantol 2012; 40(2): 217-28. [Crossref]
- Guven S, Beydemir K, Dundar S, Eratilla V. Evaluation of stress distributions in peri-implant and periodontal bone tissues in 3- and 5-unit tooth and implant-supported fixed zirconia restorations by finite elements analysis. Eur J Dent 2015; 9(3): 329-39. [Crossref]
- Anitua E, Tapia R, Luzuriaga F, Orive G. Influence of implant length, diameter, and geometry on stress distribution: a finite element analysis. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2010; 30(1): 89-95.
- Ismail YH, Pahountis LN, Fleming JF. Comparison of two-dimensional and three-dimensional finite element analysis of a blade implant. Int J Oral Implantol 1987; 4(2): 25-31.

- Romeed SA, Fok SL, Wilson NHF. A comparison of 2D and 3D finite element analysis of a restored tooth. J Oral Rehabil 2006; 33(3): 209-I5. [Crossref]
- 22. Meijer HJ, Starmans FJ, Bosman F, Steen WH. A comparison of three finite element models of an edentulous mandible provided with implants. J Oral Rehabil 1993; 20(2): 147-57. [Crossref]
- Lee J-I, Lee Y, Kim Y-L, Cho H-W. Effect of implant number and distribution on load transfer in implant-supported partial fixed dental prostheses for the anterior maxilla: A photoelastic stress analysis study. J Prosthet Dent 2016; II5(2): 161-9. [Crossref]
- 24. Paphangkorakit J, Osborn JW. The effect of pressure on a maximum incisal bite force in man. Arch Oral Biol 1997; 42(1): II-7. [Crossref]
- Waltimo A, Könönen M. A novel bite force recorder and maximal isometric bite force values for healthy young adults. Scand J Dent Res 1993; 101(3): 171-5. [Crossref]
- 26. Haraldson T, Carlsson GE, Ingervall B. Functional state, bite force and postural muscle activity in patients with osseointegrated oral implant bridges. Acta Odontol Scand 1979; 37(4): 195-206. [Crossref]
- Akça K, Iplikçioğlu H. Finite element stress analysis of the influence of staggered versus straight placement of dental implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2001; 16(5): 722-30.
- Alper B, Gultekin P, Yalci S. Application of Finite Element Analysis in Implant Dentistry. In: Ebrahimi F, editor. Finite Element Analysis -New Trends and Developments. InTech 2012. [Crossref]
- Brunski JB, Puleo D a, Nanci A. Biomaterials and biomechanics of oral and maxillofacial implants: current status and future developments. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2000; I5(I): I5-46.
- Iplikcioğlu H, Akça K. Comparative evaluation of the effect of diameter, length and number of implants supporting three-unit fixed partial prostheses on stress distribution in the bone. J Dent 2002; 30(1): 41-6. [Crossref]

Original Article

Close to Half of the Granulomatous Mastitis may be Tuberculosis Mastitis

Çiğdem Özdilekcan^ı (b), Filiz Duyar Ağca² (b), Tarkan Özdemir^ı (b), Sultan Çiğdem Irkkan³ (b), Mustafa Hamidullah Türkkanı⁴ (b)

Department of Pulmonology, University of Health Sciences Ankara Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

²Department of Tuberculosis, Ankara 3rd Tuberculosis Dispensary, Ankara, Turkey

³Department of Pathology, University of Health Sciences Ankara Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

⁴Department of Pulmonology, Sincan State Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: Ç.Ö. 0000-000I-5335-057I; F.D.A. 0000-0002-7I32-8420; T.Ö. 0000-0002-9344-7586; S.Ç.I. 0000-000I-6442-74I5; M.H.T. 0000-0003-I503-7343.

Cite this article as: Özdilekcan Ç, Duyar Ağca F, Özdemir T, Irkkan SÇ, Türkkanı MH. Close to Half of the Granulomatous Mastitis may be Tuberculosis Mastitis. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 217-20.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Granulomatous mastitis (GM) is a chronic inflammatory benign disease that presents differential diagnostic difficulties as well as delays in diagnosis and treatment. The purpose of this study was to analyze the demographic and clinical findings of GM patients and describe the treatment outcomes after empirical antituberculosis treatment.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Forty-eight women with breast symptoms and a verified diagnosis of GM from the year 2014–2016 were evaluated. Of these patients, 20 of them who were nonresponders to the standard nonspecific treatment were included in the study. The study group consisted of these patients who were placed on antituberculosis treatment and followed-up to evaluate the treatment response.

RESULTS

The median age at time of diagnosis was 34 years (range, 2I–52). Of the total, I9 (95%) women had unilateral and I (5%) had bilateral breast involvement. Median time from the initiation of symptoms to the hospital admission was 7 days (range, I–364), and median time from admission to diagnosis was 4.5 months (range, I–120). Among the patients, 75% of them were admitted to the hospital in the first 60 days and 75% were admitted to three different health care centers until the definitive diagnosis. In addition, 4I.7% (20/48) of patients could not be treated with nonspecific antiobitics and steroids but were treated empirically with anti-TB drugs. These patients had a complete response to the empirical antituberculosis treatment regimen.

CONCLUSION

Our results showed that 41.7% of GM may actually be TB mastitis according to our empirical treatment success results. Suspicion of breast tuberculosis is essential among pathologically verified GM patients who are especially clinically nonresponders to other treatment, with prolonged symptoms and recurrence. Empirical antituberculosis treatment can be recommended in pathologically proven GM patients especially in high-incidence regions for tuberculosis.

Keywords: Granulomatous mastitis, extrapulmonary tuberculosis, antituberculosis drugs, empirical treatment

INTRODUCTION

Granulomatous mastitis (GM) is a rare benign inflammatory disease of breast with an unknown etiology. However, tuberculosis (TB), sarcoidosis, mycotic and parasitic infections, and foreign body reactions have been accused as the etiology. It usually affects women of childbearing age. The condition presents with a hard palpable mass with skin erythema and lymph node enlargement. Nipple retraction, sinus formation, and breast atrophy may accompany to the findings (I). The clinical and radiological presentation of granulomatous mastitis usually mimics malignancy or infections (2). GM is usually unilateral; however, it may localize in all breast quadrants (3). Added to the difficulty in differential diagnosis of the condition, there has also been no consensus on the optimal treatment strategy for GM, leading to a delay in the diagnosis



and treatment of the disease. The aim of this retrospective study was to present the clinical and histopathological data and also to show the clinical outcomes of GM patients who received empirical antituberculosis treatment.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Patient Selection

Forty-eight women admitted to our outpatient clinics with breast pain complaints, palpable mass, skin erythema, and sinus formation meeting the histopathological criteria for GM were evaluated from the year 2014–2016. The patients underwent physical examination and ultrasonographic evaluation. Of the 48 patients who were histopathologically diagnosed as "granulomatous disease of the breast," 28 patients were treated successfully with antibiotics and/or steroids without recurrence and the remaining 20 women who had highly suspicious clinical and laboratory data for TB were included in the study. The TB contact, active disease history, treatment compliance, and treatment results of the patients were obtained from the dispensary reports. Also, details about the patient's symptoms and type of breast involvement were provided from the hospital records.

Study Design

This study was designed as a retrospective, single center, and non-interventional study.

Ethical Situation

Study was conducted in accordacne with the Declaration of Helsinki Guidelines. All the participants were provided written informed consent. The study was approved by the local medical expertise and education board of Ankara Oncology and Training Hospital (number: 17 date: 09.12.2017).

Diagnostic Procedures and Data Collection

The histopathological diagnosis was performed by ultrasound (US) guided tru-cut breast biopsy and the specimens were obtained from the ultrasonographically suspicious lesions.

Main Points:

- Granulomatous mastitis (GM) is a chronic inflammatory benign disease that presents differential diagnostic difficulties as well as delays in diagnosis and treatment.
- An important portion of GM may actually be TB mastitis according to our empirical treatment success results.
- Suspicion of breast tuberculosis is essential among pathologically verified GM patients who are especially clinically nonresponders to other treatments, with prolonged symptoms and recurrence.
- Clinical features with histopathologically proven GM can be a factor for the antituberculosis treatment choice especially in developing countries with especially high-incidence regions for tuberculosis.
- Although antituberculosis treatment is a safe and an effective choice in these group of patients, future molecular test approaches for the accurate diagnosis of GM is needed.

Demographic features, history of TB and close contact with TB patients, climacteric status, systemic and local symptoms, chest X-ray findings, duration of symptoms, duration of diagnosis, mammographic/ultrasonographic findings, diagnostic procedures, treatment strategies and outcomes, and side effects were recorded.

Surgical or Biopsy Specimen Evaluation

Histopathological examination of surgical or biopsy materials revealed "granulomatous disease of the breast" with noncaseating granuloma formation, destruction of the ductal structure, infiltration of the inflammatory cells, and micro-abscess formation. Tissue samples were examined using hematoxylin-eosin and Ehrlich Ziehl-Neelsen (EZN) for acid -fast bacilli.

Treatment Strategy and Inclusion-Exclusion Criteria

After nonspecific antibiotic therapy and steroid treatment was applied, anti-TB treatment was started for the non- responders. All the patients were treated with isoniazid (300 mgr/day), rifampicin (600 mgr/day), pyrazinamide (2000 mgr/day), and ethambutol (I500 mgr/day) according to the "National TB programme" recommended doses (4). The standard anti-TB treatment with four drugs was continued for 2 months initially, and the maintenance therapy was continued with isoniazid and rifampicin for a minimum of 4 months. All the cases were followed-up at the TB dispensary and treated with directly observed treatment. The treatment response was evaluated according to clinical and US findings. Follow-up period was 2 years.

Main inclusion criterion was histopathologically proven "granulomatous disease of the breast" with noncaseating granuloma formation. The other inclusion criteria were i) women treated with nonspecific antibiotherapy (amoxicillin +clavulanic acid I gr 2xl combined with ciprofloxacin 500 2xl/per day for two weeks) and steroids (30 mgr/day prednisolone for two weeks) with no treatment response, ii) prolonged symptoms and clinical-radiological findings, iii) recurrent symptoms and findings, iv) patient rejection to the major surgical approach.

Women with a diagnosis of TB mastitis (n=3) (accurate diagnosis confirmed by histopathological and/or microbiological methods) were excluded.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistical analysis was performed. All the statistical analysis were performed by using SPSS software version 24.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA).

RESULTS

All the patients were fertile and gave birth to at least one child. Most of the patients had an uneventful period during and after pregnancy; however, breast induration and the nipple irritation history was declared during the lactational period in 4 (20%) of patients.

None of the patients had a history of TB. Only two patients had a TB contact with their first-degree relatives, indicating household contact. Clinical characteristics of the patients are shown in Tablel. The median age at time of diagnosis was 34 years (range, 21–52). The major complaints were breast mass, pain, and nipple discharge.

TABLE I.	Clinical chara	icteristics of	of patients	with granu	lomatous
mastitis	who received	empirical	anti-tubera	culosis trea	atment

Patients with GM who received empirical anti- tuberculosis treatment n = 20	Number of Patients n	Percentage %
History of TB	0	0
Contact with TB	2	10
Symptoms Isolated symptoms (mass/pain/ nipple discharge)	6	30
More than one symptom	14	70
Suspicion of breast cancer	9	45
Treatment response		
Complete response	20	100
Relapse	1	5
Involvement of breast		
Unilateral	19	95
Bilateral	I	5
Multifocal	14	70
TB: Tuberculosis ; GM: Granulomatous mastitis		

Breast US revealed skin thickening and edema, mastitis, abscess formation, and suspicious lesions mimicking malignancy. Of the total, 19 (95%) women had unilateral and I (5%) had bilateral breast involvement. Fourteen (70%) cases had unilateral multifocal involvement with no specific quadrant localization. In 9 (45%) patients, breast carcinoma was highly suspected both clinically and radiologically. Wide local excision was the mainstay of both accurate diagnosis and surgical treatment, and it was performed in all the cases. Baseline clinical characteristics of patients are given in Table I.

Median time from the initiation of symptoms to the hospital admission was 7 days (range, I–364), and median time from admission to diagnosis was 4.5 months (range, I–120), indicating both a delay in admission and in initiating an appropriate treatment. Median number of health care centers admitted during diagnosis and treatment was 2.5 (range, I–4). Of the total, 75% were admitted to hospital in the first 60 days and 75% of patients were admitted to three different health care centers until the definitive diagnosis.

The median tuberculosis skin test results of the patients were I2 mm (range, I–20). None of the patients had active pulmonary or sequela radiological TB findings on the chest X-ray. All the histopathological examination of the surgical materials revealed "granulomatous disease of the breast" with noncaseating granuloma formation, destruction of the ductal structure, infiltration of the inflammatory cells, and micro-abscess formation. None of the specimens had a positive stain for acid-fast bacilli during the examination of the tissue samples. All the patients had complete response to standard treatment regimen. One patient had recurrence and re-treatment was started.

DISCUSSION

Among the 48 patients with GM, 28 were responders to the standard antibotic and steroid treatment, while the remaining 20 patients were treated with anti-TB succesfully and safely.

According to Guideline of Tuberculosis Treatment and Diagnosis published by the Turkish Ministry of Health in 2019, extrapulmonary TB is detected in 35% of patients with the diagnosis of TB in Turkish population (5). Since 2003, active surveillance study of TB has been proceeded among hospitals in Ankara, and extrapulmonary involvement of TB cases is detected according to the data reports and close follow-up. According to our clinical experience and previous literature, difficulty in diagnosis is a common problem in these cases (6). Breast involvement of TB is a rare condition with an uncertain incidence. There were only 120 cases reported until 1999 (7). The incidence of the disease has been stated as less than 0.1% of all breast lesions in Western countries and 3–4% in TB endemic regions, such as India and Africa (8, 9). EZN stain, tuberculin skin test, and routine histopathological studies are sometimes not sufficient neither for ruling out nor for confirming the diagnosis of TB. A differential diagnosis including malignancy, nonspecific suppurative infections, fungal infections, or TB is required when mastitis with abscess formation, recurrence, and long duration of symptoms are present.

Clinically, patients present with a hard lump that mimics carcinoma, which may lead to nipple retraction and sinus formation (I0, II). Radiologically and clinically, GM may be mistaken for breast cancer. Even mammographic and fine needle aspiration cytology findings may be misinterpreted as malignancy (I2).

It has been shown that GM is usually unilateral and may be located in all breast quadrants, except for the subareolar area (13). In our study, most of the cases had unilateral involvement. Bilateral involvement was present in only one case. In previous studies, bilateral involvement has been reported in only a maximum of two patients (14). In their series, Velidedeoğlu et al. reported IO cases with bilateral involvement and stated that bilateral GMs have a higher rate of relapse and resistance to medical treatment compared to unilateral GMs (15).

According to the literature, most patients with GM are relatively young and fertile women ranging between II and 83 years; however, the disease usually is common in the third or fourth decade (I6, I7). In our study, most of the cases were also young fertile females with a median age of 34 years at time of diagnosis. This finding is concordant with literature.

Some authors have suggested that GM is sometimes a self-limiting condition with duration of 2 to 24 months; however, a chronic presentation could last for several years (18). Furthermore, GM may have a progressive clinical course with multiple recurrences. Since it is a rare condition, it may lead to a delay in appropriate diagnosis and subsequent initiation of treatment. In our study, diagnostic period as well as initiation of treatment was prolonged due to factors caused by both patients and physicians. Apart from the nature of the disease, we think that there are mainly three factors leading to this situation: I) During the follow-up period, a high number of patients changed their health care centers 2) In most of the cases, fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) was performed for histopathological diagnosis instead of wide local excision, which was the mainstay for both accurate diagnosis and surgical treatment. Since FNABs were not always diagnostic, multiple biopsies were performed, especially for the patients with a suspicion of malignancy. 3) Different therapeutic regimens including antibiotics, steroids, and abscess drainage were applied and physicians had

to wait for the treatment response. We think that the delay in diagnosis and treatment of the disease caused either by physicians or patients is an important issue concerning granulomatous lesions of the breast. Delayed approach may lead to the destruction of the breast tissue, resulting ultimately with unnecessary mastectomies.

Up to date, there has been no clear consensus regarding the optimal treatment strategy in GM cases. As GM is a benign and non life-threatening disease, it is crucial to apply accurate and optimum regimen that will not lead to permanant deforming and serious side effects. Antibiotics, steroids, methotrexate (MTX), azathioprine, wound drainage, wide surgical excision, mastectomy, or close follow-up have been proposed (I9-2I).

In patients without a definitive diagnosis of TB both microbiologically and histopathologically, GM may be considered as an extrapulmonary involvement of TB in the breast. We think that in patients treated with nonspecific antibiotherapy/steroids with no response, and who had prolonged and recurrent symptoms with clinical-radiological findings, and finally in patients who rejected major surgical approaches, empirical antituberculosis treatment may be a choice. In our study, all the patients had a complete response to standard antituberculosis treatment with no side effects. Only one patient had a recurrence one year after completing the treatment due to low compliance to therapy. To our knowledge, there has been no previous report regarding antituberculosis treatment for GM.

Extrapulmonary TB can sometimes be presented as breast tuberculosis. However, difficulties in the differential diagnosis are frequently seen in GM/ breast TB patient groups. Suspicion of breast tuberculosis is essential among pathologically verified GM patients who are especially clinically nonresponders to GM treatment, with prolonged symptoms and recurrent findings.

We conclude that, clinical features with histopathologically proven GM can be a factor for the antituberculosis treatment choice, which is a safe and an effective approach. In addition to the surgical approaches, empirical antituberculosis treatment can be started in these groups of patients, particularly in developing countries with especially high-incidence regions for tuberculosis. In these groups of patients with diagnostic difficulty, new molecular tests may be recommended.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Ankara Oncology Research and Training Hospital (17/09.12.2017).

Informed Consent: All participants were provided written informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - Ç.Ö., F.D.A.; Design - T.Ö.; Supervision - T.Ö., M.H.T.; Resource - S.Ç.I., F.D.A.; Materials - Ç.Ö., F.D.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - Ç.Ö., T.Ö., M.H.T.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - F.D.A., Ç.Ö.; Literature Search - Ç.Ö.; Writing - Ç.Ö.; Critical Reviews -M.H.T., T.Ö.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank health care workers of Turkish TB dispensaries and those who contribute to TB surveillance studies to provide public health overall the country.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- I. Baslaim MM, Khayat HA, Al-Amoudi SA. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: a heterogeneous disease with variable clinical presentation. World J Surg 2007; 31(8): 1677-81. [Crossref]
- Lai EC, Chan WC, Ma TK, Tang AP, Poon CS, Leong HT. The role of conservative treatment in idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Breast J 2005; II(6): 454-6. [Crossref]
- 3. Imoto S, Kitaya T, Kodama T, Hasebe T, Mukai K. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: case report and review of the literature. Jpn J Clin Oncol 1997; 27(4): 274-7. [Crossref]
- 4. Guideline of Tuberculosis Diagnosis and Treatment published by Turkish Ministry of Health 2011. Accessed date: Jan 05, 2020. Available from: https://www.toraks.org.tr/uploadFiles/30102014133530-tuberkuloz_tani_ve_tedavi_rehberi.pdf
- Guideline of Tuberculosis Diagnosis and Treatment published by Turkish Ministry of Health 2019. Accessed date: Jan 05, 2020. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/tuberkuloz_db/haberler/Tuberkuloz_Tani_Ve_Tedavi_Rehberi_/Tuberkuloz_Tani_ve_Tedavi_Rehberi.pdf
- Bani-Hani KE, Yaghan RJ, Matalka II, Shatnawi NJ. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: time to avoid unnecessary mastectomies. The Breast Journal 2004; I0(4): 318-22. [Crossref]
- Ayeva-Derman M, Perrotin F, Lefrancq T, Roy F, Lansac J, Body G. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Review of the literature illustrated by 4 cases. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris) 1999; 28(8): 800-7.
- Luh SP, Chang KJ, Cheng JH, Hsu JD, Huang CS. Surgical treatment for primary mammary tuberculosis - report of three octogenarian cases and review of literature. Breast Journal 2008; 14(3): 311-312. [Crossref]
- Maroulis I, Spyropoulos C, Zolota V, Tzorakoleftherakis E. Mammary tuberculosis mimicking breast cancer: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2008; 2: 34. [Crossref]
- Sakurai T, Oura S, Tanino H, Yoshimasu T, Kokawa Y, Kinoshita T, et al. A case of granulomatous mastitis mimicking breast carcinoma. Breast cancer 2002; 9(3): 265-8
- II. Cakir B, Tuncbilek N, Karakas HM, Unlu E, Ozyilmaz F. Granulomatous mastitis mimicking breast carcinoma. Breast J 2002; 8(4): 251-2. [Crossref]
- 12. Rosen PP. Rosen's Breast Pathology. 3rd ed. New York: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2009.
- Yılmaz E, Lebe B, Usual C, Balci P. Mammographic and sonographic findings in the diagnosis of idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Eur Radiol 2001; II(II): 2236-40. [Crossref]
- Pistolese CA, Di Trapano R, Girardi V, Costanzo E, Di Poce I, Simonetti G. An unusual case of bilateral granulomatous mastitis. Case Rep Radiol 2013; 2013: 694-7. [Crossref]
- Velidedeoglu M, Kilic F, Mete B, Yemisen M, Celik V, Gazioglu E, et al. Bilateral idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Asian J Surg 2016; 39(1): 12-20. [Crossref]
- Erhan Y, Veral A, Kara E, Ozdemir N, Kapkac M, Ozdedeli E, et al. A clinicopathologic study of a rare clinical entity mimicking breast carcinoma: Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Breast 2000; 9(1): 52-6. [Crossref]
- Ocal K, Dag A, Turkmenoglu O, Kara T, Seyit H, Konca K. Granulomatous mastitis: clinical, pathological features, and management. Breast J 2010; 16(2): 176-82. [Crossref]
- Garcia-Rodiguez JA, Pattullo A. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: a mimicking disease in a pregnant woman. BMC Res Notes 2013; 6: 95. [Crossref]
- Yau FM, Macadam SA, Kuusk U, Nimmo M, Laeken NV. The surgical management of granulomatous mastitis. Ann Plast Surg 2010; 64(1): 9-16. [Crossref]
- Sato N, Yamashita H, Kozaki N, Watanabe Y, Ohtsuka T, Kuroki S, et al. Granulomatous mastitis diagnosed and followed up by fine-needle aspiration cytology, and successfully treated by corticosteroid therapy: report of a case. Surg Today 1996; 26(9): 730-3. [Crossref]
- Schmajuk G, Genovese MC. First report of idiopathic granulomatous mastitis treated with methotrexate monotherapy. J Rheumatol 2009; 36(7): I559-60. [Crossref]

CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Original Article

Evaluation of the Electrocardiographic Parameters of Anemic Children Before and After Anemia Correction

Mehmet Uğurlu 🗅, Münevver Tuğba Temel 💿

Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gaziantep, Gaziantep, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.U. 0000-000I-6925-5026; M.T.T. 0000-000I-8636-664I.

Cite this article as: Uğurlu M, Temel MT. Evaluation of the Electrocardiographic Parameters of Anemic Children Before and After Anemia Correction. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 221-5.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Iron deficiency is the most common and widespread nutritional disorder, which leads to iron deficiency anemia (IDA) if left untreated. IDA can present in various forms with the involvement of multiple systems, varying from arrhythmia to left ventricular dysfunction and even heart failure in cardiological terms. Nowadays, electrocardiography (ECG) is the most accessible and valuable method of diagnosing rhythm and conduction disorders. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the ECG parameters, such as QT, QTc, QT dispersion, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratio used in the diagnosing malignant ventricular arrhythmias, of children before and after IDA treatment.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This study included 30 children with no cardiac or chronic disease and was conducted between December 2017 and June 2018. All the children were diagnosed with IDA and treated in the Pediatrics Outpatient Clinics of Gaziantep University Medical Faculty. Pre- and post-treatment QT, QTc, Tp-e interval, Tp-e/QTc ratio, and QT dispersion values of the patients were compared.

RESULTS

Post-treatment values of hemoglobin, mean corpuscular volume, Ferritin, and Fe were significantly lower than the pretreatment values, while total iron-binding capacity was found to be significantly higher. The QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratio were significantly lower after the treatment.

CONCLUSION

Our study revealed that QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratios on the ECG decreased after treatment of the IDA. Children diagnosed with IDA should be carefully monitored for ventricular arrhythmias throughout the treatment.

Keywords: Iron deficiency anemia, electrocardiography, childhood

INTRODUCTION

Iron deficiency is the most common and widespread nutritional disorder, which leads to iron deficiency anemia (IDA) if left untreated (I). IDA can either be asymptomatic or present with the involvement of multiple systems. In terms of cardiovascular manifestation, patients who are diagnosed with IDA can have a clinical picture varying from arrhythmia to left ventricular dysfunction, and even heart failure (2).

Electrocardiography (ECG) is still the most valuable method because it is an inexpensive, accessible, and non-invasive technique used in the diagnosis of rhythm and conduction disorders. Studies commonly investigate new ECG parameters like Tp-e interval, Tp-e/QTc ratio as well as QT and QT, showing ventricular repolarization abnormalities in the diagnosis of malignant ventricular arrhythmias, which is a leading cause of sudden cardiac death (3, 4). It is known that sudden cardiac death can occur without an underlying heart disease. On this basis, the relationship between anemia and ventricular arrhythmias is frequently studied in both pediatric and adult patients. The relationship between IDA and electrocardiographic measurements in children has also been a subject of various studies, and previous studies have shown that anemia prolongs the values of Tp-e interval, Tp-e/QTc ratio, as well as QT and QTc (5, 6, 7). However, to the best of our knowledge, no study has compared the pre- and post-treatment ECG values of patients with IDA. In our study, we aimed to compare pre- and post-treatment QT, QTc, Tp-e interval, Tp-e/QTc ratio, and QT dispersion in children



221

Received: 03.10.2019



FIGURE I. Comparison of the hematologic parameters of the groups

diagnosed with IDA for the early diagnosis of life-threatening arrhythmias during treatment.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This prospective study involving 30 children diagnosed with IDA was conducted at the Pediatrics outpatient clinic of Gaziantep University Faculty of Medicine between December 2017 and June 2018. The patients consisted of children who consulted to our hospital because of their incidental anemias. Patients with an underlying congenital or rheumatologic heart disease and chronic disease, as well as those with ventricular dysfunction, arrhythmia, hypo-hyperthyroidism, electrolyte imbalance, or acute inflammatory disease, or patients receiving drug therapy were excluded from the study because it may affect the ECG parameters. Detailed physical examinations and I2-derivation ECG as well as the full blood count, serum electrolytes, urea, creatinine, iron, ferritin, and total iron-binding capacity (TIBC) values of these patients, were examined. Hemoglobin electrophoresis from each patient was also examined for the differential diagnosis of IDA. A 6 mg/kg/day ferrous sulfate treatment was administered to the IDA patients for I2 weeks. ECG measurements were repeated after the treatment in the patients whose anemia was corrected, and the results were compared to pretreatment results. Voluntary informed consent was obtained from the patients/parents and presented to the Ethics Committee. This study was conducted in line with the approval obtained by the decision of Gaziantep University Clinical Trials Ethics Committee dated 06.06.2018 and numbered 2018/92.

Electrocardiography

Standard I2-derivation ECGs of the patients were recorded at rest in the supine position with an amplitude of I mV/cm and speed of

Main Points:

- Iron deficiency is the most common and widespread nutritional disorder, which leads to iron deficiency anemia in children
- Iron deficiency anemia can present in various forms with the involvement of multiple systems, varying from arrhythmia to left ventricular dysfunction and even heart failure in cardiological terms.
- Patients with iron deficiency anemia should be followed-up for life-threatening arrhythmias during treatment

25 mm/sec (Mortara ELI 280; Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). The electrocardiographic records were transferred to a computer via scanners and computerized to obtain more meticulous measurements. QT interval was defined as the time from the onset of the QRS complex to the point of the T wave's return to the isoelectric line. The deepest point between the T and U waves was measured in the presence of the U wave. Electrocardiographic records were considered analyzable when a T wave was available in eight or more electrodes. QT interval was not measured in the absence of the T wave. Since QT interval varies with the heart rate, QTc was calculated using Bazett's formula (8). QT interval was measured in all the available leads, including lead I, II, and V5 in particular. The mean value of three measurements of the QT interval was used for further analysis. The difference between the longest and the shortest QT interval was calculated as the QT dispersion (QTd). Tp-e interval was measured from T_{neck} (the highest point of T wave) to T_{end}. T_{end} was defined as the intersection point between the tangent point of the downward slope of the T wave and the isoelectric line. U wave was ignored. Tp-e/ QTc ratio was calculated from these measurements. All the Tp-e measurements were performed in the precordial leads.

Iron Deficiency Anemia

Iron (Fe), ferritin, TIBC, hemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (Hct), and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) values of all the patients were studied for the assessment of the diagnosis and treatment of IDA. Hb values -2SD below the age-appropriate levels and ferritin values below I5 ng/mL were taken into account for the diagnosis of IDA (9).

Statistical Analysis

The data obtained were analyzed using the SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 22 statistical package software (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). The Mann–Whitney U test, independent groups Student's t-test, dependent groups t-test, Wilcoxon test, and Pearson correlation analyses were used together with descriptive statistics. Mean, standard deviation, lowest, and highest values were used and expressed in tables and graphics for the descriptive statistics. The level of significance was accepted as 0.05.

RESULTS

This study included 30 patients who were diagnosed with and treated for IDA. The mean age of the patients was 4.8±4.4. Nineteen patients were males, and II were females. Comparison of the pre- and post-treatment hematological parameters of the



FIGURE 2. Comparison of the electrocardiographic parameters of the groups

TABLE I. Comparison of the hematologic parameters of the groups. RBC red blood cells, MCV mean cell volume, Fe iron, TIBC total iron-binding capacity							
	Pre-treatment		Po				
Hematologic Parameters	Mean±SD	Minimum - Maximum	Mean±SD	Minimum - Maximum	P value		
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	10.3±1.6	5.4-12.5	12.1±0.9	10.0-13.8	0.000		
RBC (x/)	4.8±0.5	3.5-5.4	4.9±0.5	4.0-5.7	0.213		
MC∨ (fL)	69.I±6.0	52.0-79.6	75.0±4.7	68.I-87.7	0.000		
Ferritin (ug/L)	7.5±4.1	1.3-14.3	33.8±20.0	12.4-90.3	0.000		
Fe (µg/dl)	26.5±13.3	12.0-75.0	85.0±73.7	22.0-287.0	0.000		
TIBC (µg/dl)	412.1±55.9	331.0-572.0	348.7±54.6	256.0-509.0	0.000		

TABLE 2. Comparison of the electrocardiographic parameters of the groups. bpm beat per minute, ms milliseconds, QTc corrected QT interval

	Pre-treatment		Pos		
Electrocardiographic Parameters	Mean±SD	Minimum - Maximum	Mean±SD	Minimum - Maximum	P value
Heart rate (bpm)	118.0±29.8	72.0-171.0	109.3±25.5	73.0-153.0	0.054
QT (ms)	294.3±44.5	200.0-400.0	286.7±37.3	220.0-380.0	0.240
QTc (ms)	396.6±29.4	333.0-444.0	381.6±24.4	337.0-433.0	0.010
Tp-e (∨5) (ms)	6I.3±22.2	20.0-120.0	50.0±14.6	20.0-80.0	0.001
QT Dispersion (ms)	35.3±13.6	20.0-80.0	33.3±10.9	20.0-60.0	0.573
Tp-e (∨5) / QTc	0.2±0.1	0.1-0.3	0.1±0.0	0.1-0.2	0.002

30 patients is shown in Table I and Figure I. Compared to the post-treatment values, Hb, MCV, Ferritin, and Fe values were significantly lower while TIBC was significantly higher. Comparison of the pre- and post-treatment electrocardiographic parameters of the patients is shown in Table 2 and Figure 2. When compared to the pretreatment values, it was found that QTc interval, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratio were significantly decreased after the treatment.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratio values were significantly decreased after treatment in patients whose IDA was corrected. Our study also found a negative correlation between QTc and both Hb and Ferritin (Hb: r=-0,24 p=0,193; Ferrritin: r=-0,133 p=0,484). Studies, particularly in the adult literature have shown that IDA is correlated with cardiomyopathy, left ventricular dysfunction, and premature ventricular contractions (7, 10). However, similar studies are limited among pediatric patients.

QT interval defines ventricular depolarization and repolarization, and a prolonged QT interval increases the risk of fatal ventricular arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death (II). Studies have shown prolonged QTc intervals in patients with renal failure and thalassemia, resulting in high Fe stores (12, 13). Similarly, several studies on pediatric and adult patients with sickle cell anemia in the USA showed QT interval prolongations (14-16). However, another study on anemia patients with different etiological causes found normal QT intervals in anemia patients (17). A study by Karadeniz et al. (18) on pediatric patients with anemia demonstrated a negative correlation between ferritin levels and QTc. In our study, we showed that the QTc values of patients whose IDA was corrected with treatment were significantly decreased compared to the pretreatment values. There was a negative correlation between ferritin and Hb values and QTc. Different results in the literature might be attributed to the different etiologies of anemia and the different measuring techniques. Similar results in diseases that present with both anemia and high Fe stores might be due to the fact that iron is a significant element in the enzymatic system of cardiomyocytes.

QT dispersion is defined as the difference between the longest and shortest QT distance in a I2-derivation ECG. This difference between QT distances indicates a non-uniform ventricular repolarization, and as it prolongs, it may lead to the development of severe ventricular arrhythmia, which can result in sudden cardiac death, like in long QT interval (19, 20). Since there is no consensus on the pathological upper limit of the reference intervals and values, the relationship of QTd with cardiac mortality is controversial, but various studies argue otherwise. In a study by Kulanet al. on patients with MVP, QTc dispersion was found to be higher than in the control group (21). In a study by Karadeniz et al. (18) on pediatric patients, QTc dispersion was found to be significantly higher in patients with low iron stores, while it had a significantly negative correlation with ferritin. In our study, we did not find a significant difference between preand post-treatment values. The differences in studies might be due to the different measuring techniques and the difficulty in determining the endpoint of the T wave.

The distance between the peak point and endpoint of the T wave is defined as the Tp-e interval, and it is a measure of the transmyocardial distribution of ventricular repolarization. Prolongation of Tp-e interval might be associated with dangerous rhythm disorders and ventricular arrhythmias (3). However, various studies showed that the Tp-e/QTc ratio could reveal ventricular repolarization abnormalities more precisely because it is not affected by the heart rate and body mass index (22). Tp-e/ QTc ratio was found to be higher in patients with the risks of an arrhythmogenic condition, such as long QT syndrome, Brugada syndrome, acute myocardial infarction, and short QT syndrome (3, 23, 24). In our study, we showed that both the Tp-e interval and Tp-e/QTc ratio were significantly higher in children before the treatment. We also found a negative correlation between post-treatment Hb and both Tp-e interval and Tp-e/QTc ratio (Hb and Tp-e interval: r=0,179 p=0,343 Hb and Tp-e/QTc ratio: r=0,266 p=0,155).

The impact of anemia and iron deficiency on cardiovascular hemodynamics has been demonstrated in several studies (25, 26). Iron is stored in cells as an important element of the enzymatic system of cardiomyocytes. Many studies reported that cardiovascular hemodynamics were affected in both iron deficiency and iron overload secondary to chronic blood transfusions (2, 27, 28).

These studies compared patient groups with and without anemia and revealed that anemia caused myocardial diseases by affecting the increased cardiac output, increased sympathetic activation, and ventricular functions (28, 29). To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first one that was conducted with dependent variables, differently from other studies. In our study, we compared the cardiac functions of patients with corrected anemia to the pretreatment values. The study showed that QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratio values were significantly decreased after treatment in patients whose IDA was corrected. Low Hb levels were considered to reduce the systemic vascular resistance by decreasing the blood viscosity (30). In this context, decreased myocardial tissue oxygenation in iron deficiency anemia and the accompanying autonomic imbalance might be a potential reason for the higher QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/ QTc ratio measures before the treatment.

Our study had some limitations. The primary limitation was the small sample size, restricts the strength of detecting small differences. Secondly, our patients were anemic children with low iron stores. It would be beneficial to conduct a comparison study with patients who have low iron stores but have not yet developed anemia.

In conclusion, our study showed that the QTc, Tp-e interval, and Tp-e/QTc ratios decreased on the ECG after the iron deficiency anemia was treated. Therefore, these parameters, which have been used as new markers for predicting atrial and ventricular arrhythmias in many studies, should also be carefully evaluated in children with iron deficiency, and patients should be followed-up for life-threatening arrhythmias during treatment. However, additional studies, including more extensive series and different multicenter units, are needed in this regard.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Gaziantep University (06.06.2018/92).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - M.T.T.; Design - M.T.T.; Supervision - M.T.T.; Resource - M.T.T. M.U.; Materials - M.U.; Data Collection and/ or Processing - M.U.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - M.U.; Literature Search - M.T.T.; Writing - M.T.T.; Critical Reviews - M.T.T.

Acknowledgements: Thanks to Assist. Prof. Dr. Fatma Yılmaz Coşkun, M. D. from Cardiology department for helping the measurements of electrocardiographies.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- I. Camaschella C. New insights into iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia. Blood Reviews 2017; 31(4): 225-33. [Crossref]
- Jankowska EA, Ponikowski P. Molecularchanges in myocardium in the course of anemia or iron deficiency. Heart Fail Clin 2010; 6(3): 295-04. [Crossref]
- P. Gupta, C. Patel, H. Patel, S. Narayanaswamy, B. Malhotra, J.T. Green, et al. T pe/QT ratio as an index of arrhythmogenesis. J Electrocardiol 2008; 41(6): 567-74. [Crossref]
- Okin PM, Devereux RB, Howard BV, Fabsitz RR, Lee ET, WeltyTK. Assessment of QT interval and QT dispersion for prediction of allcause and cardiovascular mortality in AmericanIndians: The Strong Heart Study. Circulation 2000; 101(1): 61-6. [Crossref]
- Kikuchi M, Inagaki T. Atrial natriuretic peptide in aged patients with iron deficiency anemia. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 1999; 28(2): 105-15. [Crossref]
- Mehta BC, Panjwani DD, Jhala DA. Electrophysiologic abnormalities of heart in iron deficiency anemia. Effect of iron therapy. Acta Haematol 1983; 70(3): 189-93. [Crossref]
- Hegde N, Rich MW, Gayomali C. The cardiomyopathy of iron deficiency. Tex Heart Inst J 2006; 33(3): 340-44.
- Bazett HC. An analysis of the time relations of electrocardiograms. Heart 1920; 7: 353-70.
- 9. Sills R. Nelson textbook of pediatrics. In: Kliegman R.M editor. Iron deficiency anemia. Philadelphia; 2016; 20: 2323-26.
- Venkateswaran RV, Freeman C, Chatterjee N, Kandala J, Orencole M, Vegh EM, et al. Anemia and its association with clinical outcome

in heart failure patients undergoing cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2015; 44(3): 297-04. [Crossref]

- II. Farahani B, Abbasi M, Khaheshi I, Paydary K. "Evaluation of QT interval in b thalassemia major patients in comparison with control group." Heart views 2012; 13(2): 42-5. [Crossref]
- Bavbek N, Yilmaz H, Erdemli HK, Selcuki Y, Duranay M, Akçay A. Correlation between iron stores and QTc dispersionin chronic ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. Ren Fail 2014; 36(2): 187-90. [Crossref]
- Faruqi A, Ahmad SI, Ahmed ST. Evaluation of QT parameters in patients of thalassaemia major with iron overload. J Pak Med Assoc 2016; 66: 799-02.
- Holloman KL, Johnson CS, Haywood LJ. Electrocardiogram analysis in adult patients with sickle cell disease. J Natl Med Assoc 1987; 79(8): 809-14.
- Oguanobi NI, Onwubere BJ, Ike SO, Anisiuba BC, Ejim EC, Ibegbulam OG. Electocardiographic findings in adult Nigerians with sickle cell anaemia. Afr Health Sci 2010; 10(3): 235-41 [Crossref].
- Mueller BU, Martin KJ, Dreyer W, Bezold LI, Mahoney DH. Prolonged QT interval in pediatric sickle cell disease. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2006; 47(6): 83I-3. [Crossref]
- Fei YD, Li YG, Surkis W, Zhang L. Does Anemia Cause QT Prolongation in Patients with Hematologic Disorders? Chinese medical journal. 2015; 128(24): 3385-86. [Crossref]
- Karadeniz C, Özdemir R, Demirol M, Katipoğlu N, Yozgat Y, Meşe T, et al. Low iron stores in otherwise healthy children affect electrocardiographic markers of important cardiac events. Pediatr Cardiol 2017; 38(5): 909-14. [Crossref]
- Antzelevitch C, Sicouri S, Di Diego JM, Burashnikov A, Viskin S, Shimizu W, et al. Does Tpeak-Tend provide an index of transmural dispersion of repolarization? Heart Rhythm 2007; 4(8): III4-6. [Crossref]
- Yuan S, Wohlfart B, Olsson SB, Blomström-Lundqvist C. The dispersion of repolarization in patients with ventricular tachycardia: a study using simultaneous monophasic action potential recordings from two sites in the right ventricle. Eur Heart J 1995; 16(1): 68-76.
 [Crossref]
- 21. Zouridakis EG, Parthenakis FI, Kochiadakis GE, Kanoupakis EM, Vardas PE. QT dispersion in patients with mitral valve prolapse is

related to the echocardiographic degree of the prolapse and mitral leaflet thickness. Europace 2001; 3(4): 292-8. [Crossref]

- 22. Akın A, Unal E, Yıldırım R, Ture M, Balık H, Haspolat YK. Evaluation of QT dispersion and Tp-e interval in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2018; 41(4): 372-5. [Crossref]
- 23. C.J. Boos, E. Vincent, A. Mellor, D.R. Woods, C. New, R. Cruttenden, et al. The effect of high altitude on central blood pressure and arterial stiffness. J Hum Hypertens 2017; 31(11): 715-9. [Crossref]
- Hevia JC, Antzelevitch C, Barzaga FT, Sanchez MD, Balea FD, Molina RZ, et al. Tpeak-tend and Tpeak-tend dispersion as risk factors for ventricular tachycardia/ventricular fbrillation in patients with the Brugada syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47(9): 1828-34. [Crossref]
- Jankowska EA, Ponikowski P. Molecularchanges in myocardium in the course of anemia or irondeficiency. Heart Fail Clin 2010; 6(3): 295-304. [Crossref]
- Sarnak MJ, Tighiouart H, Manjunath G, MacLeod B, Griffith J, Salem D, et al. Anemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in the atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40(1): 27-33. [Crossref]
- Tanimura, M. Dohi K, Fujimoto N, Moriwaki K, Omori T, Sato Y, et al. Effect of Anemia on Cardiovascular Hemodynamics, Therapeutic Strategy and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Heart Failure and Hemodynamic Congestion. Circulation journal: official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society 2017; 81(II): 1670-7. [Crossref]
- Faruqi A, Ahmad SI, Ahmed ST. Evaluation of QT parameters in patients of thalassaemia major with iron overload. J Pak Med Assoc 2016; 66(7): 799-802.
- 29. Turner LR, Premo DA, Gibbs BJ, Hearthway ML, Motsko M, Sappington A, et al. Adaptations to iron deficiency: cardiac functional responsive- ness to norepinephrine, arterial remodeling, and the effect of beta-blockade on cardiac hyper- trophy. BMC Physiol 2002; 2: I. [Crossref]
- Metivier F, Marchais SJ, Guerin AP, Pannier B, London GM. Pathophysiology of anaemia: Focus on the heart and blood vessels. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000; I5(3): I4-8. [Crossref]

Original Article

Examination of the Relationship Between Exercise Barriers and Physical Activity, Sleep, and Fatigue in Older Individuals

Meral Sertel[®], Ayşe Abit Kocaman[®], Sabiha Bezgin[®], Tezel Yıldırım Şahan²[®], Saniye Aydoğan Arslan[®], Cevher Savcun Demirci³[®], M. Ayhan Oral[®], Birol Önal⁴[®], Kübra Uğurlu[®], Özge Vergili[®]

¹Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Kırıkkale University Faculty of Health Sciences, Kırıkkale, Turkey ²Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, University of Health Science Turkey, Gülhane Health Science Faculty, Ankara, Turkey ³Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Balıkesir University Faculty of Health Sciences, Balıkesir, Turkey ⁴Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Hacettepe University Faculty of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.S. 0000-0002-7575-9762; A.A.K 0000-0002-6694-3015; S.B. 0000-0002-8459-8956; T.Y.Ş. 0000-0002-4004-3713; S.A.A. 0000-0001-5470-9849; C.S.D. 0000-0002-8786-7496; M.A.O. 0000-0001-8618-9817; B.Ö. 0000-0002-3540-7156; K.U. 0000-0001-5819-9380; Ö.V. 0000-0002-5312-7684.

Cite this article as: Sertel M, Abit Kocaman A, Bezgin S, Şahan TY, Aydoğan Arslan S, Demirci CS, et al. Examination of the Relationship Between Exercise Barriers and Physical Activity, Sleep, and Fatigue in Older Individuals. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 226-33.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

This study aimed to determine exercise barriers in older individuals and to examine their relationship with physical activity, sleep, and fatigue.

MATERIAL and METHODS

A total of 100 older individuals aged more than 65 years who were staying in a private nursing home and elderly care center were involved in this study. The sociodemographic information of the individuals and the used scales were recorded through face-to-face interviews held by a physiotherapist. Their exercise barriers, physical activity levels, sleep conditions, and fatigue were evaluated by the Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale, Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE), Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), and Fatigue Severity Scale.

RESULTS

The mean age of older individuals was 7I.32±6.33 years. There were significant positive and low relationships between exercise barriers in older individuals and the PSQI's sleep quality and day dysfunction owing to sleepiness (DAYDYS) subparameters, the PSQI total score and fatigue. Furthermore, significant negative and low relationships were found between the PASE_{(Leisure activity}) and sleep duration, sleep quality, PSQI_{(Total}) score, and between the PASE_{(Wark activity}) and sleep duration, sleep duration, sleep duration, sleep latency, and fatigue.

CONCLUSION

The study results suggest that conditions such as sleep quality and fatigue can be considered an exercise barrier. Regular exercise training planned for older individuals individually or as a group will improve sleep quality and provide improvement in their fatigue level. It is crucial to plan and implement in particular personal exercise and physical activity programs and lifestyle modifications, physiotherapy rehabilitation, and energy conservation techniques for sleep quality to maintain and improve the health of older individuals.

Keywords: Older, exercise barriers, physical activity, sleep, fatigue

INTRODUCTION

In the general population, persons older than 65 years experience fatigue significantly more than their younger counterparts (I). Fatigue, specifically in the elderly population, has been associated with many chronic diseases (2). Fatigue is a common symptom associated with these chronic diseases. Several factors, such as pain, sleep deprivation, and the stress of illness or surgery, could contribute to fatigue experienced by elderly persons. Pain may contribute to fatigue by increasing heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, muscle tone, and oxygen consumption. Sleep deprivation results in limited non-rapid eye movement phase during sleep, decline in protein synthesis, and a slower rate of healing (3). In all age groups, insufficient oxygen transport to the muscles mainly caused by anemia, insufficient pumping of blood to



the muscles caused especially by antineoplastic and cardiotoxic drugs (4), and severe muscle mass atrophy from the catabolic effects of sedentary habits and long-term bed rest (5) **c**an contribute to fatigue.

Nowadays, living by increasing the quality of life has become an issue that is as important as living long. Physical activity is one of the main factors to get older healthily and to minimize age-related health risks using various methods (6). The health benefits of physical activity are well known. Physical activity is effective individually in preventing chronic diseases and socially in improving public health, and it provides physical, social, mental, and spiritual benefits to women and men of all ages (7). Regular physical activity prevents the development of cardiovascular diseases, heart diseases, certain types of cancer, and all causes of mortality. Furthermore, regular physical activity has positive effects on blood pressure, lipid and lipid-protein profile, weight control, mental health, and psychological well-being (8). Regular physical activity supports the quality of life by strengthening the psychological well-being and physical functionality (9). Even moderate physical activity performed 3-4 times a week for 30-60 minutes is usually sufficient to reveal its positive effects on our health (10, 11).

Although the benefits of regular participation in physical activity are known, recent studies have revealed that participation in a physical activity is generally less than the recommended level (12). Moreover, poor physical fitness results from muscle weakness, decreased muscle mass, gait problems, fatigue, and impaired balance. It is necessary to develop the ability to perform daily life activities to improve the quality of life in geriatric cases. Likewise, performing daily physical activities requires a certain level of physical fitness (13). Physical fitness becomes increasingly important for older individuals because the decrease in physical activity is also a risk factor for falls (14). In particular, physical activity and physical fitness levels decrease with aging (15, 16). The physical activity levels of older adults are too low worldwide, with most studies reporting that between 40% and 80% of older people do not meet the physical activity guidelines (17, 18). In Turkey, physical inactivity rate in older adults is 33% (19). The results of scientific studies conducted to evaluate the physical activity habits in different segments of society indicate that physical activity has not yet become a lifestyle among older individuals in Turkey. This is thought to be caused by numerous perceived or actual exercise barriers (20). General barriers for all older individuals include physical exertion, expense, embarrassment, and lack of time, motivation, and facilities. In addition,

Main Points:

- Poor quality sleep is an exercise barrier in older individuals.
- Fatigue is an exercise barrier in older individuals.
- Personalized exercise and physical activity programs should be planned for the maintenance and improvement of health in older individuals.
- Lifestyle modifications and physiotherapy rehabilitation programs are very important to improve sleep quality.
- It is very important to plan and apply energy conservation techniques to prevent fatigue.

cohort effects may be seen in older individuals who were raised to avoid vigorous exercise and choose exercises considered 'proper for girls or boys' (21). Barriers are significantly more important in influencing exercise patterns than perceived benefits (22). Therefore, the society should be inspirer and encouraging for older individuals to be more dynamic and active and to acquire regular exercise habits (23). Because it is never too late to start exercising and benefit from the many advantages that it provides (24), further research into the management and improvement of perceived barriers to exercise is needed. Therefore, this study aimed to determine exercise barriers in older individuals and to examine their relationship with physical activity, sleep, and fatigue.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Individuals aged more than 65 years who were staying in a private nursing home and elderly care center and volunteered to participate in the study were included. Based on the formula that is used for calculating the sample size of the unknown population, the minimum sample number was determined to be 90 older individuals by accepting a 95% confidence level and taking the margin of error as 0.1. Older individuals in the institution who met the inclusion criteria were included in the study. Healthy older individuals aged 65 years or older and who agreed to participate in the study, did not use a walking aid, were independent in mobilization, and did not have cooperation and communication problems (individuals with the mini-mental test score of >24) were included in the study. Patients who had cardiac diseases (angina pectoris, acute myocarditis, a history of myocardial infarction in the last 3 months, aortic aneurysm), pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis in the last 3 months, a history of cerebral aneurysm or intracranial hemorrhage, acute retinal hemorrhage or past ophthalmic surgery, active infection, malignancy, multiple organ failure, terminal disease status, a history of fractures in the lower and upper extremities in the last 3 months, severe hearing and visual loss, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, dementia diagnosis, and benign paroxysmal positional vertigo diagnosis were excluded from the study.

Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Kırıkkale University, Non-interventional Research Ethics Committee, was found to be appropriate in terms of medical ethics (Meeting date: 16.01.2019; decision no: 2018.12.10).

A total of 100 older individuals were evaluated using the faceto-face interview method. First, parameters such as age, gender, marital status, nutritional characteristics, habits, smoking and alcohol use, used assistive devices, personal background information, family history information, educational status, social security, previous or current occupation, vision problems, sleep problem, frequency of falls, causes of falls, and the presence of chronic diseases were obtained. Their exercise barriers, physical activity levels, sleep conditions, and fatigue were evaluated by the Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale, Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE), Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), and Fatigue Severity Scale, respectively.

The Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale: Ortabağ et al. performed the validity and reliability study of the scale in Turkish (25). The Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale was developed by Sechrist, Walker, and Pender to determine the perceptions of individuals who would participate in the exercise of the exercise benefits and barriers (Cronbach's alpha coefficient, 0.87). The scale consists of 43 items. The scale has 4 answers ranging from 4 (strongly agree) to I (strongly disagree) in a conditional choice Likert scale format. The scale items 4, 6, 9, 12, 14, 16, 19, 21, 24, 28, 33, 37, 40, and 42 are scored inversely. The total score of the scale ranges from 43 to 172. The scale has 2 subgroups: the Exercise Barrier Scale and the Exercise Benefit Scale. Each subgroup can be used alone independently. The score range of the benefit scale is between 29 and 116, and the score range of the barrier scale is between 14 and 56. The sum of the scores of all items in the scale gives the total score of the Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale. The higher the total scale score is, the more the individual has understood the benefits of the exercise (26).

The Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly: Ayvat et al. performed the validity and reliability study of the scale in Turkish (27) The PASE is short and easy to use. Validity and reliability studies have been performed for this scale, and in the literature, it is frequently used in the older population. The questionnaire assesses the physical activity of older individuals over the past week and includes the components of leisure, housework, and work-related physical activity. Participation in leisure time activities, such as walking activity outside the house, mild, moderate, and severe sports and recreational activities, and muscle strengthening exercises, is recorded as never, rarely (I–2 days/ week), sometimes (3–4 days/week), and often (5–7 days/week), and the duration of activities is classified as <I hour, I–2 hours, 2–4 hours, and >4 hours. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.714 for the initial evaluation (27).

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: Buysse et al. (28) developed the PSQI, which is used to assess sleep disturbances in individuals, and Ağargün et al. (29) conducted the validity and reliability study of the scale in Turkish. The PSQI is a 19-item self-report scale that assesses sleep quality and disturbances over the past month. Each item of the test is scored equally between 0 and 3. The scale consists of 7 subscales that assess subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep activity, sleep disorders, sleep medication use, and loss of daytime functionality. The scores of the subscales are summed up to obtain the total PSQI score, which ranges between 0 and 21. A total PSQI score of >5 indicates an insufficient sleep quality of an individual, with a sensitivity of 89.6% and specificity of 86.5%, and a severe disorder in at least 2 of the areas mentioned earlier or a moderate disorder in at least 3 of them (Cronbach's alpha coefficient, 0.80).

The Fatigue Severity Scale: The FSS was used to measure the individuals' fatigue. The validity and reliability of this scale have been proven (30). It is indicated as the best example of one-dimensional scales. The person specifies how much he or she agrees with each item by choosing among the numbers from I to 7; I indicates that he or she strongly disagrees, and 7 indicates that he or she strongly agrees. The score of the scale, which consists of 9 questions, ranges between 9 and 63. A score of 36 or higher indicates severe fatigue (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.90; Cronbach's alpha coefficient, 0.91) (31).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS version I5 software was used for statistical analyses (SPSS Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics was used

to analyze the sociodemographic characteristics of the individuals. The data distribution normality was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The variables obtained from the measurements were expressed as percentage (%) and arithmetic mean±standard deviation (X±SD). Correlations were examined by Pearson's correlation analysis (<0.3 (poor), 0.3–0.5 (fair), 0.6–0.8 (moderately strong), and \geq 0.8 (very strong). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The mean age of the study participants was 71.32±6.33 years. Their demographic information, marital status, educational level, the information on chronic diseases, vision and sleep problems are presented in Table I. Notably, 79% of the individuals had a chronic disease. While 58% of the individuals had vision problems, 42% did not have any. While 37% of the participants stated that they had sleep problems, 63% stated that they did not have any (Table I). The individuals' chronic pain distribution and Standardized Mini-Mental Test, PASE, PSQI, and FSS test scores are presented in Table 2.

There was a weak positive correlation between the age of the individuals and the PSQI's Need Meds To Sleep (MEDS) sub-

TABLE I. Sociodemographic characteristics of individuals				
	X±SD, n (%)			
Age, year	7I.32±6.33			
Height, cm	160.65±26.59			
Body weight, kg	72.26±II.68			
BMI, kg/cm ²	26.53±4.46			
Gender (n [%])				
Female	51 (51.0)			
Male	49 (49.0)			
Marital status (n [%])				
Married	73 (73.0)			
Widowed	27 (27.0)			
Educational status (n [%])				
Primary school	54 (54.0)			
Secondary school	9 (9.0)			
High school	14 (14.0)			
University	6 (6.0)			
Uneducated	17 (17.0)			
The presence of chronic disease (n [%])				
There is	79 (79.0)			
There is not	21 (21.0)			
Visual problem (n [%])				
There is	58 (58.0)			
There is not	42 (42.0)			
Sleep problem (n [%])				
There is	37 (37.0)			
There is not	63 (63.0)			
BMI, body mass index				

TABLE 2. The individuals' pain percentages according to regions and the SMMT, Exercise Barriers/Benefits Scale, PASE, PSQI, and FSS test mean scores

	X±SD	Med (min-max)			
SMMT	26.26±2.03	26.26 (24–30)			
Exercise Barrier Scale	34.22±6.10	34.22 (19–47)			
Exercise Benefit Scale	65.95±12.49	65.95 (33–107)			
Exercise Barriers/Benefits Scale total score	100.57±13.96	100.57 (70–136)			
PASE leisure activity score	33.38±37.39	33.38 (0–228.55)			
PASE housework activity score	69.47±43.23	69.47 (0–146.00)			
PASE work activity score	3.15±7.53	3.15 (0–21)			
PASE total score	118.46±165.08	118.46 (0–163.64)			
Duration of Sleep (DURAT)	0.20±0.56	0.20 (0–3)			
Sleep Disturbance (DISTB)	l.63±0.63	I.63 (I–3)			
Sleep Latency (LATEN)	l.34±0.84	1.34 (0–3)			
Day Dysfunction Due To Sleepiness (DAYDYS)	0.93±0.92	0.93 (0–3)			
Sleep Efficiency (HSE)	0.53±0.96	0.53 (0–3)			
Overall Sleep Quality (SLPQUAL)	1.12±0.67	1.12 (0–3)			
Need Meds To Sleep (MEDS)	0.48±1.04	0.48 (0–7)			
PSQI Total (PSQITOT)	6.l2±2.84	6.12 (2–13)			
FSS	39.90±12.75	39.90(9–63)			
SMMT, Standardized Mini-Mental Test; PASE, Physical Activity Scale for the					

Elderly; FSS, Fatigue Severity Scale; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

scale and a very weak positive correlation between the PSQI total score and FSS. There was a weak positive correlation between the Exercise Barrier Scale and the PSQI's Day Dysfunction Due To Sleepiness (DAYDYS) and Overall Sleep Quality (SLPQUAL) subscale scores and a very weak positive correlation between the PSQI total score and FSS score. A very weak negative correlation was found between the Exercise Benefit Scale and the PASE total score. It was determined that the Exercise Barrier and Benefit Scale had a weak positive correlation with the DAYDYS subscale of the PSQI and a very weak positive correlation with the PSQI total score (Table 3).

A weak negative correlation was found between the PASE_(Leisure activity) score and the scores of the Duration of Sleep (DURAT) and SLPQUAL subscales of the PSQI, and a very weak negative correlation was found between the PASE_(Leisure activity) score and the scores of the MEDS subscale, total PSQI, and FSS. A very weak negative correlation was detected between the PASE_(Housework activity) and the PSQI total scores. A very weak positive correlation was determined between the PASE_(Work activity) and the DURAT scores, and a weak negative correlation was detected between sleep latency (LATEN) and FSS scores (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Our study examined the relationship between exercise barriers/benefits and physical activity, sleep, and fatigue in older individuals. As a result, significant correlations were found between exercise barriers in older individuals and the PSQI's sleep quality and DAYDYS subparameters, the PSQI total score, and fatigue. Furthermore, significant correlations were detected between the PASE_{(Leisure activity}) and sleep duration, sleep quality, PSQI_{(MEDSY} PSQI_{(Total}) and fatigue severity, between the PASE_{(Home activity}) and PSQI_{(Total}) score, and between PASE_{(Work activity}) and sleep duration, sleep latency, and fatigue.

Exercise and physical activity have very significant benefits in older individuals and in all individuals (32). The importance of exercise for older individuals has been stated in many studies. Exercise positively affects bone structure, coordination, and mobility and thus decreases the risk of falls and fractures (33). Moreover, an important goal of exercise and physical activity in older individuals is to reduce the risk of falling. Falls in older individuals often cause injury, loss of functional independence, diseases associated with falls, and premature death (34). Alternatively, falling and the fear of falling are associated with increased psychological discomfort, limitation of activity and independence, and social isolation (35). Although significant evidence on the benefits of exercise for older individuals has been indicated, studies have reported that older individuals lead an increasingly passive life (36). In terms of physical activity, there are studies on motivational factors and exercise barriers in older individuals (37). In a study in which exercise barriers were explained, an individual's assessment of his or her health status as poor, pain, the lack of motivation, finding exercise boring, low belief in the individual's ability to exercise, exercise-associated pain, dizziness, shortness of breath, social concerns, and weather were indicated as the lack of information about the benefits of exercise (38). Burton et al. (39) reported that the barriers to older adults participating strength exercise training were poor health, risk of injury, pain, fatigue, lack of willpower, lack of positive attitude, low self-efficacy, lack of enjoyment, being too old, risk of heart attack, stroke or death, problems that interfere with daily living (work, social, etc.), nervousness or depression, lack of time, lack of knowledge, inconvenience, cost, low priority, lack of social support, lack of exercise facilities, geographic location, and lack of age-appropriate programs. Another study reported that the lack of time was a selected barrier by 27.4% of individuals aged 60–64 years, I6.1% of those aged 65–69 years, and 7.1% of those aged \geq 70 years. The lack of company (e.g. friends) and cognitive problems emerged as the most important barrier to physical activity among older adults (40). Sleep problems in older adults can cause fatigue, daytime sleepiness, and napping. Sleep problems also affect general functioning and activities of daily living and are associated with an increase in functional impairments, poorer quality of life, and cognitive and mental issues (41). Therefore, we believe that sleep problems can also be an exercise barrier in older individuals. It is crucial to identify and overcome exercise barriers to enable the transition of older individuals from a sedentary lifestyle to a more active lifestyle (42).

By preventing chronic diseases often through reducing the associated effects of age-related biological changes on health and well-being, regular physical activity and exercise increase the average life expectancy (43). Maintaining an active life physically and mentally, an adequate and balanced diet, avoiding smoking and alcohol use, regular sleep, and stress control are key to healthy aging. Maintaining a physically active life leads to developing and maintaining physical fitness and supporting mental activities and reduces the risk of chronic diseases in

TABLE 3. Correlation between years, exercise barriers/benefits scale with sleep, physical activity, and fatigue						
		Years	Exercise Barrier Scale	Exercise Benefit Scale	Exercise Barriers/ Benefits Scale Total	
PSQI						
Duration of Sleep (DURAT)	r	0.007	-0.042	0.053	0.018	
	p	0.943	0.679	0.603	0.856	
Sleep Disturbance (DISTB)	r	0.172	-0.013	-0.025	-0.006	
	p	0.088	0.900	0.801	0.949	
Latency	r	0.134	-0.001	0.051	0.047	
	p	0.182	0.993	0.618	0.641	
Day Dysfunction Due To Sleepiness (DAYDYS)	r	0.130	0.279**	0.I54	0.297**	
	p	0.198	0.005	0.I27	0.003	
Sleep Efficiency (HSE)	r	0.018	-0.071	0.147	0.099	
	p	0.858	0.482	0.146	0.328	
Overall Sleep Quality (SLPQUAL)	r	0.012	0.299**	-0.037	0.094	
	p	0.904	0.002	0.717	0.353	
Need Meds To Sleep (MEDS)	r	0.293*	0.026	0.129	0.103	
	p	0.003	0.798	0.201	0.308	
PSQI total (PSQITOT)	r	0.198*	0.207*	0.127	0.211*	
	p	0.049	0.039	0.207	0.035	
PASE						
PASE leisure activity score	r	-0.038	0.089	-0.183	-0.102	
	p	0.704	0.38I	0.068	0.314	
PASE housework activity score	r	-0.190	-0.131	-0.017	-0.047	
	p	0.058	0.193	0.864	0.642	
PASE work activity score	r	-0.132	0.054	0.022	0.085	
	p	0.189	0.594	0.828	0.402	
PASE total	r	0.08l	0.066	-0.215*	-0.152	
	p	0.423	0.516	0.031	0.131	
Fatigue						
FSS	r	0.239*	0.260**	-0.138	0.042	
	p	0.020	0.009	0.172	0.679	

older individuals (44). Sleep is one of the essential components of health-related quality of life (45). Increasing physical, social, psychological, and environmental changes with aging can lead to frequent sleep problems (46). Sleep quality is critical to maintain the homeostasis of the human body, which has been reported to be effective in the regulation of body temperature, metabolism, and immunity and the development, maturation, and plasticity of the brain, memory formation, and integration (47). It is believed that the need for sleep does not change with age, but sleep ability, as required, decreases mainly because of other factors such as physical or psychiatric diseases, excessive medication use, progression in the endogenous circadian rhythm, and age (48). Inadequate sleep quality in older individuals may result in decreased physical functionality, memory problems, increased risk of falls, and increased early mortality rates (48). Although there are very few studies, the relationship between sleep and physical function has been examined. Results indicate that sleep complaints and sleep disturbances are associated with functional independence (49). Furthermore, sleep quality is emphasized to be low in sedentary older individuals who have functional limitations (50). In the literature, physical activity in older individuals for at least 20–30 minutes per week was stated to positively affect sleep quality and general health (51). In the study conducted on 2825 older individuals to evaluate sleep problems, Stenholm et al. (52) demonstrated that they were closely related to fatigue and physical functionality and that the evaluation of these factors in older individuals was important to identify individuals who had the risk of mobility dependence.

When the literature is examined, no studies that indicate that sleep quality may be one of the exercise barriers in older individuals are found. In the literature, studies have shown that sleep quality in older individuals is associated with functional independence. Therefore, because we believe that sleep quality may also be an exercise barrier, we evaluated sleep quality in older individuals in our study. The study results showed that a significant correlation was found between exercise barriers and sleep quality, DAYDYS, and the PSQI total score. Based on these results, we believe that sleep and sleep quality are exercise barriers in older individuals. We believe that regular and high-quality sleep ensures that older individuals keep fit and encourages them to exercise. Furthermore, in this study, in accordance with the literature, a significant correlation was detected between the $\mathsf{PASE}_{(\mathsf{leisure activity})}$ and sleep duration, sleep quality, PSQI (MEDS) and PSQI (Total) and a significant correlation was also

TABLE 4. Correlation of physical activity with sleep and fatigue

		PASE				
		Leisure activity	Housework activity	Work activity	PASE total	
PSQI						
Duration of Sleep (DURAT)	r	-0.290**	-0.051	0.198*	0.028	
	р	0.003	0.616	0.048	0.781	
Sleep disturbance (DISTB)	r	-0.137	-0.119	-0.020	0.005	
	р	0.173	0.240	0.843	0.958	
Latency	r	-0.085	-0.038	-0.270**	-0.099	
	р	0.402	0.708	0.007	0.327	
Day Dysfunction Due To Sleepiness (DAYDYS)	r	-0.172	-0.053	0.093	-0.136	
	р	0.086	0.602	0.358	0.178	
Sleep Efficiency (HSE)	r	-0.160	-0.087	0.001	-0.126	
	р	0.111	0.390	0.989	0.210	
Overall Sleep Quality (SLPQUAL)	r	-0.296**	0.002	-0.076	0.053	
	р	0.003	0.985	0.455	0.600	
Need Meds To Sleep (MEDS)	r	-0.208*	-0.137	0.075	-0.122	
	р	0.038	0.174	0.458	0.226	
PSQI Total (PSQITOT)	r	-0.227*	-0.205*	0.012	-0.148	
	р	0.023	0.041	0.907	0.141	
Fatigue						
FSS	r	-0.212*	-0.140	-0.394**	-0.141	
	р	0.034	0.164	0.000	0.163	
*p<0.05; **p<0.001. US, unaffected side; AS, affected side; PASE, Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; FSS, Fatigue Severity Scale						

detected between the PASE_(home activity) and PSQI_(Total) score and between the PASE_(work activity) and sleep duration and sleep latency. Physical activity in older individuals has been proven to be critical in terms of physical, mental, and psychological aspects (32). With this study, we believe that older individuals should be encouraged to do physical activity to improve their sleep duration and sleep quality and that their physical activity should be increased.

Fatigue is a condition that is felt at moderate and severe degrees during the aging process and is more common compared with adult individuals (53). In a study by Larsen et al. (54) who monitored fatigue in daily living activities, they evaluated older individuals in the 5th, 10th, and 15th years and noted that fatigue levels increased 9-fold in the 5th year and 2-fold in the 10th and 15th years compared with the 5th year. This situation was associated with increased functional disability in older individuals. Yu et al. (53) stated that fatigue occurring with daily living activities in older individuals who were followed up for 1.5 years caused mobility deficiency by 3-fold in older women and 2-fold in older individuals. They also found that the rate of chronic fatigue in older individuals was 47.9%. They also emphasized that the most common cause of fatigue in older individuals was sleep disturbance and the lack of exercise.

In the literature, it has been reported that the prevalence of fatigue increases with age and it is higher in older female individuals than in male individuals, and this is the most common cause of activity limitation in older individuals (55). In our study, a positive correlation was also found between age and fatigue severity. Similar to the literature, this study found that fatigue severity increases with increasing age. The reason for observing fatigue at a rate of 27% to 50% in older individuals may be chronic diseases, pain, malnutrition, and psychosocial factors (56). Fatigue in older individuals affects pain and mobility, leading to an inability to perform daily living activities (57). However, the interrelationship of other factors in the aging process, such as inflammation, depression, sleep complaints, self-efficacy, fatigue, and physical function, is complex and has not been fully explained (58). In our study, a significant relationship was found between the fatigue levels of older individuals and exercise barriers, the PASE_(Leisure activity) and PASE_(Work activity). In accordance with these results, we believe that fatigue is an exercise barrier in older individuals and that fatigue level is a factor affecting their physical activities.

According to the results of our study, a significant correlation was found between exercise barriers and sleep quality, DAYD-YS, PSQI total score, and fatigue. A significant correlation was detected between the PASE_(Leisure activity) and sleep duration, sleep quality, PSQI_{(MEDS}, and PSQI_{(Total}) and there was also a significant correlation between the PASE_(Home activity) and PSQI_{(Total}) score and between the PASE_(Work activity) and sleep duration and sleep latency. Moreover, a significant correlation was found between fatigue levels and exercise barriers, the PASE_{(leisure activity})</sub> and PASE_{(work activity})</sub>. Considering these results, the evaluation of exercise barriers of older individuals in detail and the suggestion of appropriate physiotherapy and rehabilitation approaches will increase the functional independence of older individuals and improve their quality of life. According to the results of our study,

conditions such as sleep quality and fatigue can be considered an exercise barrier. Regular exercise training planned for older individuals individually or as a group will improve sleep quality and provide improvement in the fatigue level. It is crucial to plan and implement in particular personal exercise and physical activity programs and lifestyle modifications, physiotherapy rehabilitation, and energy conservation techniques for sleep quality to maintain and improve the health of older individuals.

Limitations of the Study

Our work was done in a single nursing home. We believe the number of elderly individuals is insufficient. This study can be done by increasing the number of elderly individuals. In addition, the physical activities of older individuals can be evaluated with more objective tools.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Kırıkkale University, Non-interventional Research Ethics Committee, was found to be appropriate in terms of medical ethics (Meeting date: 16.01.2019; decision no: 2018.12.10).

Informed Consent: All individuals included in the study were informed in detail about the purpose and methodology of the study, and their consent for participation in the study was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - M.S.; Design - M.S.; Supervision - M.S, S.A.A, C.S.D., T.Y.Ş.; Resource - S.B., A.A.K.; Materials - M.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.A.O., K.U., B.Ö.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - S.A.A., T.Y.Ş.; Literature Search - S.B., A.A.K., Ö.V.; Writing - M.S.; Critical Reviews - M.S.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Cella D, Lai JS, Chang CH, Peterman A, Slavin M. Fatigue in cancer patients compared with fatigue in the general United States population. Cancer 2002; 94(2): 528-38. [Crossref]
- Calkins E, Boult C, Wagner EH, Md M, Pacala JT. New ways to care for older people: Building systems based on evidence: Springer Publishing Company; 2004.
- McDowell JA, Mion LC, Lydon TJ, Inouye SK. A nonpharmacologic sleep protocol for hospitalized older patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998; 46(6): 700-5. [Crossref]
- Dimeo FC. Effects of exercise on cancer-related fatigue. Cancer 2001; 92(6 Suppl): 1689-93. [Crossref]
- Germain P, Guell A, Marini JF. Muscle strength during bedrest with and without muscle exercise as a countermeasure. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1995; 71(4): 342-8. [Crossref]
- World Health Organization. WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health: Eastern Mediterranean Regional Consultation Meeting Report. World Health Organization, Cairo 2003. p.I-23.
- Ludin AFM, Nor NAM, Omar S, Isa SNI, Ghoshal R, Kamaruddin MZA. Physical activity and health related quality of life among non-academic staff of a university. Malaysian J Med 2015; 13(2). [Crossref]
- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39(8): I423-34. [Crossref]

- 9. Vuori I. Does physical activity enhance health? Patient Educ Couns 1998; 33(I Suppl): S95-103. [Crossref]
- Nakamura Y, Kikuchi H, Oka K, Ota A, Miyauchi T. Stage of change of exercise affects health-related quality of life. International J Sport Health 2006; 4: 67-73. [Crossref]
- II. Shibata A, Oka K, Nakamura Y, Muraoka I. Recommended level of physical activity and health-related quality of life among Japanese adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2007; 5: 64. [Crossref]
- Vuillemin A, Boini S, Bertrais S, Tessier S, Oppert JM, Hercberg S, et al. Leisure time physical activity and health-related quality of life. Prev Med 2005; 41(2): 562-9. [Crossref]
- Van Heuvelen MJ, Kempen GI, Ormel J, Rispens P. Physical fitness related to age and physical activity in older persons. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998; 30(3): 434-41. [Crossref]
- Hessert MJ, Gugliucci MR, Pierce HR. Functional fitness: maintaining or improving function for elders with chronic diseases. Fam Med 2005; 37(7): 472-6.
- Milanovic Z, Pantelic S, Trajkovic N, Sporis G, Kostic R, James N. Age-related decrease in physical activity and functional fitness among elderly men and women. Clin Interv Aging 2013; 8: 549-56. [Crossref]
- Palvanen M, Kannus P, Piirtola M, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Jarvinen M. Effectiveness of the Chaos Falls Clinic in preventing falls and injuries of home-dwelling older adults: a randomised controlled trial. Injury 2014; 45(1): 265-71. [Crossref]
- 17. Sun F, Norman IJ, While AE. Physical activity in older people: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2013; 13: 449. [Crossref]
- Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, Guthold R, Haskell W, Ekelund U. Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet 2012; 380(9838): 247-57. [Crossref]
- Karan A. Yaşlılıkta egzersiz ve spor. Turk J Phys Med Rehab 2006; 52(Özel Ek A):53-6.
- Belza B, Walwick J, Shiu-Thornton S, Schwartz S, Taylor M, LoGerfo J. Older adult perspectives on physical activity and exercise: voices from multiple cultures. Prev Chronic Dis 2004; I(4): A09.
- Im EO, Lee B, Chee W, Stuifbergen A. Attitudes toward physical activity of white midlife women. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2011; 40(3): 312-21. [Crossref]
- 22. Pender NJ, Lange. Health promotion in nursing Practice. 3rd. 1996; 251.
- Baltacı G. Irmak H, Kesici C, Eds. Fiziksel aktivite bilgi serisi. Klasmat Matbacılık. Ankara; 2008
- Bárrios MJ, editor ILC-BR.Active Ageing: A Policy Framework in Response to the Longevity Revolution, International Longevity Centre Brazil, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Forum Sociológico Série II; 2015: CES-NOVA.
- Ortabağ T, Ceylan S, Akyüz A, Bebiş H, Physical Education, Recreation. The validity and reliability of the exercise benefits/barriers scale for Turkish military nursing students. S Afr J Res Sprt Ph 2010; 32(2): 55-70. [Crossref]
- 26. Sechrist KR, Walker SN, Pender NJ. Development and psychometric evaluation of the exercise benefits/barriers scale. Res Nurs Health 1987; 10(6): 357-65. [Crossref]
- Ayvat E, Kilinc M, Kirdi N. The Turkish version of the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE): its cultural adaptation, validation, and reliability. Turk J Med Sci 2017; 47(3): 908-15. [Crossref]
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, 3rd, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res 1989; 28(2): 193-213. [Crossref]
- Agargun MY, Kara H, Anlar O. Pittsburgh uyku kalitesi indeksinin gecerligi ve guvenirligi. Türk Psikiyatri Derg 1996; 7: 107-15.
- Armutlu K, Korkmaz NC, Keser I, Sumbuloglu V, Akbiyik DI, Guney Z, et al. The validity and reliability of the Fatigue Severity Scale in Turkish multiple sclerosis patients. Int J Rehabil Res 2007; 30(1): 81-5.
 [Crossref]
- Krupp LB, LaRocca NG, Muir-Nash J, Steinberg AD. The fatigue severity scale. Application to patients with multiple sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Arch Neurol 1989; 46(10): II2I-3. [Crossref]

- McPhee JS, French DP, Jackson D, Nazroo J, Pendleton N, Degens H. Physical activity in older age: perspectives for healthy ageing and frailty. Biogerontology 2016; 17(3): 567-80. [Crossref]
- Galloza J, Castillo B, Micheo W. Benefits of Exercise in the Older Population. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2017; 28(4): 659-69. [Crossref]
- Bolding DJ, Corman E. Falls in the Geriatric Patient. Clin Geriatr Med 2019; 35(1): II5-26. [Crossref]
- 35. Bruce DG, Devine A, Prince RL. Recreational physical activity levels in healthy older women: the importance of fear of falling. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50(1): 84-9. [Crossref]
- Dacey ML, Newcomer AR. A client-centered counseling approach for motivating older adults toward physical activity. Top Geriat Rehabil 2005; 2I(3): 194-205. [Crossref]
- de Groot GC, Fagerstrom L. Older adults' motivating factors and barriers to exercise to prevent falls. Scand J Occup Ther 2011; 18(2): 153-60. [Crossref]
- Rasinaho M, Hirvensalo M, Leinonen R, Lintunen T, Rantanen T. Motives for and barriers to physical activity among older adults with mobility limitations. J Aging Phys Act 2007; 15(1): 90-102. [Crossref]
- Burton E, Farrier K, Lewin G, Pettigrew S, Hill AM, Airey P, et al. Motivators and Barriers for Older People Participating in Resistance Training: A Systematic Review. J Aging Phys Act 2017; 25(2): 31I-24. [Crossref]
- Booth ML, Bauman A, Owen N. Perceived barriers to physical activity among older Australians. J Aging Phys Act 2002; 10(3): 271-80. [Crossref]
- Christie AD, Seery E, Kent JA. Physical activity, sleep quality, and self-reported fatigue across the adult lifespan. Exp Gerontol 2016; 77: 7-11. [Crossref]
- Justine M, Azizan A, Hassan V, Salleh Z, Manaf H. Barriers to participation in physical activity and exercise among middle-aged and elderly individuals. Singapore Med J 2013; 54(10): 581-6. [Crossref]
- Pedersen BK, Saltin B. Exercise as medicine evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2015; 25(Suppl 3): 1-72. [Crossref]
- Harridge SD, Lazarus NR. Physical Activity, Aging, and Physiological Function. Physiology (Bethesda) 2017; 32(2): I52-6I. [Crossref]
- 45. Hood B, Bruck D, Kennedy G. Determinants of sleep quality in the healthy aged: the role of physical, psychological, circadian and naturalistic light variables. Age Ageing 2004; 33(2): I59-65. [Crossref]
- Malakouti SK, Foroughan M, Nojomi M, Ghalebandi MF, Zandi T. Sleep patterns, sleep disturbances and sleepiness in retired Iranian elders. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009; 24(II): 120I-8. [Crossref]

- Raven F, Van der Zee EA, Meerlo P, Havekes R. The role of sleep in regulating structural plasticity and synaptic strength: Implications for memory and cognitive function. Sleep Med Rev 2018; 39: 3-II. [Crossref]
- Zdanys KF, Steffens DC. Sleep Disturbances in the Elderly. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2015; 38(4): 723-41. [Crossref]
- Park M, Buchman AS, Lim AS, Leurgans SE, Bennett DA. Sleep complaints and incident disability in a community-based cohort study of older persons. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014; 22(7): 718-26. [Crossref]
- Vaz Fragoso CA, Miller ME, Fielding RA, King AC, Kritchevsky SB, McDermott MM, et al. Sleep-Wake Disturbances in Sedentary Community-Dwelling Elderly Adults with Functional Limitations. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014; 62(6): 1064-72. [Crossref]
- Whitehead BR, Blaxton JM. Daily Well-Being Benefits of Physical Activity in Older Adults: Does Time or Type Matter? Gerontologist 2017; 57(6): 1062-71. [Crossref]
- Stenholm S, Kronholm E, Sainio P, Borodulin K, Era P, Fogelholm M, et al. Sleep-related factors and mobility in older men and women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2010; 65(6): 649-57. [Crossref]
- 53. Yu DS, Lee DT, Man NW. Fatigue among older people: a review of the research literature. Int J Nurs Stud 2010; 47(2): 216-28. [Crossref]
- Schultz-Larsen K, Avlund K. Tiredness in daily activities: a subjective measure for the identification of frailty among non-disabled community-living older adults. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2007; 44(I): 83-93. [Crossref]
- Moreh E, Jacobs JM, Stessman J. Fatigue, function, and mortality in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2010; 65(8): 887-95.
 [Crossref]
- Goldman SE, Ancoli-Israel S, Boudreau R, Cauley JA, Hall M, Stone KL, et al. Sleep problems and associated daytime fatigue in community-dwelling older individuals. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2008; 63(10): 1069-75. [Crossref]
- Simonsick EM, Glynn NW, Jerome GJ, Shardell M, Schrack JA, Ferrucci L. Fatigued, but Not Frail: Perceived Fatigability as a Marker of Impending Decline in Mobility-Intact Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2016; 64(6): 1287-92. [Crossref]
- Ramos V, Carraca EV, Paiva T, Baptista F. Sedentary Time, Physical Activity, Fitness, and Physical Function in Older Adults: What Best Predicts Sleep Quality? J Aging Phys Act 2019; 27(4): 538-44.
 [Crossref]

CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Original Article

The Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among Students between the Ages of 6 and 15 years in Konya

Şükran Arıkan^ı 💿, Yetkin Utku Kamuk² 💿, Serkan Revan³ 💿

¹Department of Trainer Education, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Selçuk University, Konya, Turkey ²Department of Trainer Education, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Hitit University, Çorum, Turkey ³Department of Recreation, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Selçuk University, Konya, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: Ş.A. 0000-0002-2625-0898; Y.U.K. 0000-0001-5976-7503; S.R. 0000-0002-9056-3514.

Cite this article as: Arıkan Ş, Kamuk YU, Revan S. The Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among Students between the Ages of 6 and 15 years in Konya. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 234-8.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

This study was conducted to determine the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school students.

MATERIAL and METHODS

A total of 10781 students (5622 boys, 5159 girls) aged 6–15 years participated in the study. Descriptive statistics of the data were expressed as mean, standard deviation, maximum, minimum, and range values. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was applied and Q-Q plot analysis was performed visually to determine if the data was normally distributed. Since the data were not normally distributed, the LMS (Lambda for the skew, Mu for the median, and Sigma for the generalized coefficient of variation) method was used to calculate the percentiles.

RESULTS

The prevalence of overweight was 7.4% in both sexes, while the prevalence of obesity was 5.8% for boys and 5.3% for girls. The age group with the highest prevalence of overweight was 13 years (9.6%) in boys and 15 years (13.5%) in girls, while that with the highest prevalence of obesity was found to be 8 and 10 years (6.6%) in boys and 8 years (6.5%) in girls.

CONCLUSION

It is remarkable that obesity is high in both sexes, especially in young children. Preventive interventions to stop this trend are recommended to focus on the early stages of childhood.

Keywords: Childhood obesity, students, overweight, prevalence

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is characterized by an increase in adipose tissue that leads to many chronic diseases and premature deaths and is a worldwide global epidemic (I). Obesity, which is an important cause of morbidity due to hypertension, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and severe psychological stress, is increasingly being observed in childhood (2). Childhood obesity is one of the most serious public health problems of the 21st century. The problem is global and affects many low and middle-income countries regularly, especially in urban settings. Overweight and obese children are more likely to become obese in adulthood and may develop noncommunicable diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular diseases at a younger age (3). It also contributes to an increase in health expenditures. For all these reasons, it is important to prevent childhood and to identify overweight and obese children at an early stage, so that they can start treatment to gain and maintain a healthy weight (4).

One of the most reliable indicators for assessing a child's health is the weight and height measurements by age. Anthropometric measurements are the most commonly used methods for evaluating the nutritional status of not only individuals, but also the society. Although the standards proposed by the World Health Organization are suggested to be valid for almost every country in the first years of life, differences can be detected between societies at this early age (5).

This study was conducted to determine the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school students.

Corresponding Author: Şükran Arıkan **E-mail:** sarikan@selcuk.edu.tr

 (\mathbf{i})



IABLE I.	Descriptive sto	atistics of	subjects					
			Heig	ght (cm)	Body V	Veight (kg)	Body Mo	ass Index (kg/m²)
Gender	Age group	n	Mean±SD	Min-Max (Range)	Mean±SD	Min-Max (Range)	Mean±SD	Min-Max (Range)
Boys	6	77	119,59±5,44	110,0-134,0 (24,0)	23,73±4,22	16,5-42,7 (26,2)	16,51±2,05	11,9-23,8 (11,9)
	7	447	122,10±5,55	108,5-144,0 (35,5)	24,52±4,88	16,8-64,3 (47,5)	16,35±2,20	11,4-31,0 (19,6)
	8	441	127,30±5,60	111,0-148,5 (37,5)	26,95±4,96	17,2-54,4 (37,2)	16,53±2,08	12,3-27,4 (15,1)
	9	544	132,90±6,18	115,0-159,0 (44,0)	30,80±6,40	18,3-56,6 (38,3)	17,31±2,59	13,4-28,3 (14,9)
	10	1126	136,20±6,23	104,0-155,5 (51,5)	32,82±6,64	19,6-62,3 (42,7)	17,60±2,79	13,0-32,0 (19,0)
	II	1121	141,39±6,55	122,0-165,0 (43,0)	36,96±8,30	20,7-89,3 (68,6)	18,36±3,20	12,1-37,2 (25,1)
	12	873	147,39±7,54	123,0-173,0 (50,0)	41,90±10,26	24,1-91,1 (67,0)	19,11±3,50	12,9-34,8 (21,9)
	13	501	155,38±8,36	134,0-181,0 (47,0)	48,14±11,90	26,4-117,5 (91,1)	19,76±3,74	13,7-38,8 (25,1)
	4	440	162,77±8,49	142,0-192,5 (50,5)	55,57±12,43	32,7-105,8 (73,1)	20,85±3,88	14,9-36,7 (21,8)
	15	52	166,61±7,62	150,5-182,0 (31,5)	55,8I±I2,32	37,1-91,4 (54,3)	19,99±3,59	14,8-31,6 (16,8)
Girls	6	79	117,07±4,28	109,0-128,0 (19,0)	21,94±3,12	16,4-30,2 (13,8)	15,98±1,86	12,2-23,0 (10,8)
	7	465	120,98±5,36	101,0-141,0 (40,0)	23,83±4,46	14,5-45,9 (31,4)	16,20±2,26	12,2-29,6 (17,4)
	8	444	125,85±5,55	106,5-147,0 (40,5)	26,26±5,17	17,1-49,1 (32,0)	16,48±2,43	12,5-27,7 (15,2)
	9	461	131,69±5,87	117,0-155,0 (38,0)	30,05±6,75	18,5-63,0 (44,5)	17,21±2,99	12,5-30,2 (17,7)
	10	1089	135,48±6,71	113,0-162,0 (49,0)	32,38±7,19	17,0-72,0 (55,0)	17,51±2,89	11,0-34,7 (23,7)
	II	1007	141,56±7,24	119,0-169,5 (50,5)	36,55±8,29	21,2-85,9 (64,7)	18,10±3,03	12,1-32,5 (20,4)
	12	778	148,46±7,75	120,0-170,0 (50,0)	42,28±9,54	20,0-79,1 (59,1)	19,04±3,28	12,6-33,6 (21,0)
	13	387	156,04±6,41	129,0-177,0 (48,0)	49,16±10,50	27,9-100,0 (72,1)	20,09±3,55	12,0-33,7 (21,7)
	4	397	159,33±5,62	143,0-181,0 (38,0)	53,94±10,67	31,9-97,8 (65,9)	21,20±3,78	14,4-38,7 (24,3)
	15	52	159,01±5,40	149,0-179,0 (30,0)	53,89±11,2	34,5-94,8 (60,3)	21,25±3,82	15,1-30,3 (15,2)

MATERIAL and METHODS

The study was conducted on a total of 10781 (5622 boys, 5159 girls) students in the 6-15 years age group studying in 16 primary schools in Konya city center. The necessary permission for the study was obtained from the Provincial Directorate of National Education and the schools were informed before the study. Body weight measurements of children were obtained with light weight clothes and without shoes and jackets by electronic weighing with a sensitivity of ±100 gr. Height measurements were taken with the shoes removed, heels combined, hip, and shoulders based on the wall with I-mm spacing.

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Selçuk University Faculty of Sports Science Non-interventional Clinical Research. Prior to the study, the subjects were

Main Points:

- Obesity is characterized by an increase in adipose tissue and is a worldwide global epidemic.
- In this study, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school students were determined.
- The prevalence of overweight was 7.4% in both sexes, while the prevalence of obesity was 5.8% for boys and 5.3% for girls.
- As a result, it is striking that obesity is high in both genders, especially in young children.

informed about the study, and their written consent stating that they agreed to participate in the study were received.

Statistical Analysis

Considering the obtained data, mean and standard deviation values were used to calculate the percentile values (5, 10, 25, 50, 75, 90, and 95) for each sex and age group. For each category, based on statistical Z-scores, the expected BMI was calculated according to how many Z-points are away from the average. However, because the 85th percentile for BMI was the recommended threshold value for "overweight" classification for children and adolescents (6, 7), 85% was also included in the calculations and for the "overweight" category as the cut-off point. Descriptive statistics of the data are given as mean, standard deviation, maximum, minimum, and interval. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Q-Q plot analysis were used to test the normal distribution of the data. The following formula (8) is used to calculate the values:

$$Z_{LMS} = \frac{1}{\sigma_L \lambda} \left[\left(\frac{y}{\mu} \right)^{\lambda} - 1 \right]$$

Reference values were calculated for each age group using the calculated Z values for the obtained critical percentile values.

RESULTS

In Table I, average, minimum, maximum, and standard deviation values of height, body weight, and body mass index variables are given according to the age groups for girls and boys.

It was found that BMI values did not meet the normal distribution assumption according to the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test results (p<0.01) (Table 2).

Table 3 shows the percentile values of the body mass index according to the age groups of the boys.

The distribution by the BMI categories for boys is shown in Table 4. Accordingly, the "overweight" prevalence of boys aged 6-I5 years ranged from 2.6% to 9.6% (overall prevalence 7.4%), and the highest prevalence was found to be in the I3-year category (9.6%). When the obesity prevalence was examined, it was found that the children in the 8 and 10 years age groups had the

TABLE 2. Testing the appropriateness of BMI values to normal distribution

	K	olmogorov-Smirno	v
	Statistical Value	df	р
Воу	0.124	5622	0.00*
Girl	0.101	5159	0.00*
*p<0.01			

TABLE 3. BMI percentile values for boys

highest obesity prevalence (6.6%) and the overall obesity prevalence was 5.8% (Table 4).

Table 5 shows the percentile values of body mass index according to the age groups of girls.

The distribution by BMI categories for girls is shown in Table 6. Accordingly, the "overweight" prevalence of girls between the ages of 6-15 years ranged from 4.9% to 13.5% (overall prevalence 7.4%), and the highest prevalence was found to be in the I5-year category (13.5%). When the prevalence of obesity was examined, it was found that children in the 8-year age group had the highest obesity prevalence (6.5%) and the overall obesity prevalence was 5.3% (Table 6).

DISCUSSION

To determine the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school students, the prevalence of overweight was 7.4% in both sexes; the prevalence of obesity was 5.8% for boys and 5.3% for girls. The age group with the highest prevalence of overweight was 13 years (9.6%) in males and 15 years (13.5%) in females; The highest prevalence of obesity was found in the age range of 8 and 10 years (6.6%) in boys and 8 years (6.5%) in girls (Table 4, 6).

	Percentiles									
Age	5%	10%	25%	50%	75%	85%	90 %	9 5%		
6	13.44	14.06	15.19	16.51	17.94	18.78	19.37	20.25		
7	13.09	13.74	14.94	16.35	17.89	18.80	19.44	20.40		
8	13.42	14.05	15.19	16.53	17.98	18.84	19.44	20.33		
9	13.51	14.26	15.66	17.31	19.13	20.22	20.98	22.14		
10	13.54	14.34	15.82	17.60	19.57	20.75	21.58	22.84		
П	13.75	14.65	16.33	18.36	20.63	22.00	22.97	24.45		
12	4.	15.08	16.90	19.11	21.60	23.11	24.18	25.82		
13	14.44	15.47	17.40	19.76	22.43	24.04	25.20	26.96		
14	15.32	16.39	18.40	20.85	23.61	25.29	26.48	28.30		
15	14.84	15.84	17.72	19.99	22.54	24.08	25.18	26.85		

TABLE 4. Distribution by BMI categories for boys									
	Weak		Normal		Overweight		Obese		
Age	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
6	I	1.3	69	89.6	2	2.6	5	6.5	
7	2	0.4	400	89.5	22	4.9	23	5.1	
8	8	1.8	377	85.5	27	6.1	29	6.6	
9	5	0.9	464	85.3	40	7.4	35	6.4	
10	12	1.1	971	86.2	69	6.1	74	6.6	
П	13	1.2	953	85.0	96	8.6	59	5.3	
12	10	1.1	743	85.I	72	8.2	48	5.5	
13	7	l.4	424	84.6	48	9.6	22	4.4	
14	9	2.0	369	83.9	35	8.0	27	6.I	
15	I	1.9	44	84.6	4	7.7	3	5.8	
General	68	1.2	4814	85.6	415	7.4	325	5.8	

TABLE 5. BMI percentile values for girls									
	Percentiles								
Age	5%	10%	25%	50%	75%	85%	90%	9 5%	
6	13.18	13.75	14.78	15.98	17.27	18.03	18.56	19.35	
7	12.86	13.53	14.75	16.20	17.78	18.72	19.38	20.38	
8	12.91	13.62	14.93	16.48	18.19	19.20	19.92	21.00	
9	12.90	13.74	15.32	17.21	19.33	20.61	21.52	22.90	
10	13.32	14.14	15.67	17.51	19.55	20.78	21.65	22.97	
П	13.72	14.57	16.18	18.10	20.24	21.53	22.45	23.83	
12	14.31	15.23	16.96	19.04	21.37	22.76	23.76	25.27	
13	14.99	15.98	17.84	20.09	22.61	24.13	25.21	26.86	
14	15.78	16.83	18.81	21.20	23.88	25.51	26.66	28.41	
15	15.77	16.84	18.83	21.25	23.96	25.61	26.77	28.55	

TABLE 6. Distribution by BMI categories for girls

	Weak		Normal		Overweight		Obese	
Age	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
6	I	1.3	66	83.5	7	8.9	5	6.3
7	5	1.1	410	88.2	23	4.9	27	5.8
8	I.	0.2	390	87.8	24	5.4	29	6.5
9	3	0.7	403	87.4	34	7.4	21	4.6
10	24	2.2	922	84.7	85	7.8	58	5.3
П	23	2.3	846	84.0	86	8.5	52	5.2
12	17	2.2	662	85.I	56	7.2	43	5.5
13	10	2.6	327	84.5	33	8.5	17	4.4
14	16	4.0	332	83.6	29	7.3	20	5.0
15	2	3.8	41	78.8	7	13.5	2	3.8
General	102	2.0	4399	85.3	384	7.4	274	5.3

According to the 2015-2016 data, the prevalence of obesity in the United States was higher among youths aged 6-II years (18.4%) and adolescents aged 12-19 years (20.6%) compared with children aged 2-5 years (13.9%) (9). In Nigeria, with an average age of 14.6 years, 2.1% of children were overweight and 1.7% were obese (10). In a study that investigated a systematic review of childhood obesity in the Middle East and North Africa, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in Kuwait was 25.6% and 34.8% among young boys, and 20.8% and 20.5% among girls (II). In studies conducted in different regions of our country, 5%-13.8% of the children were found to be overweight and 4.9%-20.7% were obese (12-16). In a study conducted in semi-rural children aged 6-14, it was determined that approximately one out of every three children were overweight or obese, while boys were overweight and obese (17.7% and I5.2%) and girls (I3.3% and 9.2%) (I7). Our data support the fact that overweight and obesity are an increasing public health problem.

In these studies, the frequency of obesity among the students; sex, child's birth weight, parent's body mass index, high socio-economic level, high maternal education, number of obese relatives, feeding habits, parents' dissatisfaction with the child's weight, sport activity, time spent in front of a computer and television, and nutrition preferences were reported (13, 18-22). In a study, it was found that the prevalence of obesity increased significantly in rural areas and that the awareness of the families about their children's weight was low and it was concluded that the family-based approach to combating childhood obesity should be strengthened and the number of parental education should be increased (I5). To detect the excess weight and obesity problems early and take the necessary precautions, it is necessary to monitor the body weight, height, and body mass index of the students from an early age. In addition, national health policies and social responsibility projects should focus more on combating child and adolescent obesity and developing solution-oriented policies (23). Öztürk and Aktürk (24) found that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was significantly higher in the 5-8 years age group and in students in schools classified as socioeconomically good. Therefore, they stressed the need to raise awareness of families and students about this problem, which is likely to increase in the coming years, by using other channels, such as health personnel and the media. In this study, physical activity levels and nutrition habits of 7-14 year-old students were examined to increase the level of physical activity and activities to be combined with healthy eating habits that

could prevent future health problems and healthy aging awareness in early ages, with the right interaction with other family members who are more active (25).

In conclusion, as a result, further research is needed to fully investigate the role of a sedentary life style, nutrition, and other specific risk factors, to manage this common and growing health problem, and to evaluate various interventions. There is an increasing tendency to obesity in our country, especially at young ages. We recommend that health policy makers prioritize early childhood to stabilize this rising trend and implement intervention strategies.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Selçuk University Faculty of Sports Science Non-interventional Clinical Research.

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the students who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - Ş.A., S.R.; Design - Ş.A., S.R.; Supervision - Ş.A.; Fundings - Y.U.K.; Materials - Y.U.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.R.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - Y.U.K.; Literature Search - Ş.A., S.R.; Writing - Ş.A., S.R.; Critical Reviews - Ş.A., S.R.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- I. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Deusinger RH. Obesity: overview of prevalence, etiology, and treatment. Phys Ther 2003; 83: 276-88. [Crossref]
- 2. Babaoğlu K, Hatun Ş. Çocukluk çağında obezite. STED 2002; II(I): 8-10.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2019. https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/childhood/en/.
- Koyuncuoğlu Güngör N. Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2014; 6(3): 129-43. [Crossref]
- Neyzi O, Günöz H, Furman A, Bundak R, Gökçay G, Darendeliler F, et al. Türk çocuklarında vücut ağırlığı, boy uzunluğu, baş çevresi ve vücut kitle indeksi referans değerleri. Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Dergisi 2008; 51: I-14.
- Himes JH, Dietz WH. Guidelines for overweight in adolescent preventive services: recommendations from an expert committee. The expert committee on clinical guidelines for overweight in adolescent preventive services. Am J Clin utr 1994; 59(2): 307-16. [Crossref]
- Barlow SE, Dietz WH. Obesity evaluation and treatment: Expert committee recommendations. Pediatrics 1998; 102(3): e29. [Crossref]
- Indrayan A. Demystifying LMS and BCPE methods of centile estimation for growth and other health parameters. Indian Pediatr 2014; 51(1): 37-43. [Crossref]

- Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015-2016. NCHS Data Brief 2017; 288: I-8.
- Adebimpe WO. Prevalence and knowledge of risk factors of childhood obesity among school-going children in Osogbo, south-western Nigeria. Malawi Med J 2019; 31(1): 19-24. [Crossref]
- Farrag NS, Cheskin LJ, Farag MK. A systematic review of childhood obesity in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region: Prevalence and risk factors meta-analysis. Adv Pediatr Res 2017; 4: 8. [Crossref]
- Tütüncü İ. Kastamonu il merkezinde 13 ilköğretim okulunda 5-15 yaş grubu öğrencilerde fazla kiloluluk ve obezite prevalansı. ACU Sağlık Bil Derg 2014; 5(2): 141-51.
- Özilbey P, Ergör G. İzmir İli Güzelbahçe İlçesi'nde ilköğretim öğrencilerinde obezite prevalansı ve beslenme alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. Turkish Journal of Public Health 2015; 13(1): 30-9. [Crossref]
- Yıldırım Aksakal B, Oğuzöncül AF. Elazığ kent merkezinde bulunan ortaöğretimde okuyan öğrencilerde obezite sıklığı ve etkileyen faktörlerin incelenmesi. Dicle Tıp Dergisi 2017; 44 (1): 13-24. [Crossref]
- Agadayı E, Çelik N, Çetinkaya S, Nemmezi Karaca S. Sivas ili kırsal bir ilçede okul çağı çocuklar ve adolesanlarda obezite sıklığının ve etkileyen faktörlerin belirlenmesi. Ankara Med Journal 2019; 19(2): 325-36. [Crossref]
- Yazar A, Kılıçaslan M, Akın F, Arslan Ş. Konya İlinde 6-18 Yaş Arası Çocuklarda Obezite Sıklığı. Bozok Tıp Dergisi 2019; 9(1): 123-9. [Crossref]
- Ergin A, Meydan Acımış N, Özdemir C, Akbay B, Kınacı Çimen Y, Uzuner N, et al. Yarı kırsal alanda 6-14 yaş grubu çocuklarda obezite sıklığı ve ilişkili faktörler. Pamukkale Tıp Dergisi 2019; 12(3): 475-84. [Crossref]
- Savaşhan Ç, Sarı O, Aydoğa Ü, Erdal M. İlkokul çağındaki çocuklarda obezite görülme sıklığı ve risk faktörleri. Türk Aile Hek Derg 2015; 19 (1): 14-21. [Crossref]
- Seremet Kürklü N, Gökmen Özel H. Farklı sosyoekonomik düzeydeki ortaokul öğrencilerinin beslenme durumu ve obezite sıklığının belirlenmesi. Bes Diy Derg 2015; 43(2): 100-10.
- Çınar S, Çavuşoğlu H. Farklı Sosyo-ekonomik düzeylerdeki 7-14 yaş grubu çocuklarda obezitenin incelenmesi. Turkiye Klinikleri J Nurs Sci 2016; 8(2): II2-21. [Crossref]
- Yılmaz M, Mayda A. Determination of the obesity prevalence and risk factors in school children in Duzce. Düzce Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2018; 19(2): 42-7.
- Yılmaz M, Ağartıoğlu Kundakçı G, Dereli F, Özgüven Öztornacı B, Egelioğlu Çetişli N. İlköğretim öğrencilerinde yaş ve cinsiyete göre obezite ve ilişkili özellikler obezite ve ilişkili faktörler. Güncel Pediatri 2019; 17(1): 127-40.
- Daştan İ, Çetinkaya V, Delice ME. İzmir ilinde 7-18 yaş arası öğrencilerde obezite ve fazla kilo prevalansı. Bakırköy Tıp Dergisi 2014; 10: 139-46. [Crossref]
- 24. Öztürk A, Aktürk S. İlköğretim öğrencilerinde obezite prevalansı ve ilişkili risk faktörleri. TAV Prev Med Bull 2011; 10: 53-60.
- Konca E, Ermiş E, Ermiş A, Erilli NA. 7-14 yaş öğrencilerin fiziksel aktivite durumları ve beslenme alışkanlıklarının araştırılması. Turkish Studies-Social Sciences 2019; 14(1): 105-17. [Crossref]

Original Article

Evaluation of the Effect of Gabapentin on Tendon Healing in an Experimental Rat Model

Seyran Kılınç^ı 💿, Hatice Reyhan Eğilmez² 💿, Özhan Pazarcı^ı 💿, Muhammed Yasir Altunışık^ı 💿

¹Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey ²Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.K. 0000-0003-0144-0916; H.R.E. 0000-0001-9666-0246; Ö.P. 0000-0002-2345-0827; M.Y.A. 0000-0002-3080-8946.

Cite this article as: Kılınç S, Eğilmez HR, Pazarcı Ö, Altunışık MY. Evaluation of the Effect of Gabapentin on Tendon Healing in an Experimental Rat Model. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 239-44.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

To investigate the effect of gabapentin used in postoperative pain prophylaxis on tendon healing.

MATERIAL and METHODS

A total of 32 Wistar albino rats were randomly divided into 4 groups. Groups A and C were administered gabapentin by oral gavage, while Groups B and D were defined as the control groups. In all the rats, a transverse cut was made on the left Achilles tendon, approximately 0.5 cm proximal to the attachment point of the bone, then it was sutured using the Kessler method. Rats in Groups A and B were sacrificed on day 15 and those in Groups C and D on day 45. Differences between the groups were evaluated biomechanically using the tensile test, and immunohistochemically by examinations of collagen type I (COLIA), Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA), and Transforming Growth Factor β I (TGF- β I).

RESULTS

In the biomechanical evaluations, no significant difference was found between the study and control groups on days I5 and 45 in terms of the tensile test results (day I5, p=0.908; day 45, p=0.798). In the semi-quantitative comparisons of positive cell involvement in the immunohistochemical data evaluations, no statistically significant difference was also found. [TGF- β I, p(I5)=0.328, p(45)=0.195; PCNA p(I5)=0.645]. PCNA-positive cells were seen at a high rate in the first I5 days in both groups and the involvement of these cells was found to be similar on day 45.

CONCLUSION

In the immunohistochemical and biomechanical evaluations, gabapentin was not found to have any negative effect on tendon healing. It can be concluded that gabapentin can be used in cases with appropriate indications after tendon surgery. Nevertheless, there is a need for further studies in this area to investigate the mechanism of gabapentin's effect on the tendon.

Keywords: Gabapentin, tendon healing, experimental study

INTRODUCTION

Tendon health and function is very important for orthopedic surgeons. Tendon injuries can occur in some trauma patients, and for trauma surgeons, not only the tendon repair surgery is important, but also the functional treatment outcomes. Good functional treatment outcomes are obtained with early physical therapy (I). Early movement after the repair depends on the method used and the tendon healing (2). Postoperatively or during the physical therapy, several medications are administered to the patient as pain prophylaxis. The effects of conventional analgesics on tendon healing have been frequently discussed in the literature (3, 4). The use of gabapentin for pain prophylaxis after orthopedic surgeries is increasing. In the literature, it has been shown that gabapentin leads to a reduction in postoperative pain severity and total opioid consumption (5). It is often recommended for pain prophylaxis after surgeries such as rotator cuff repair, total knee arthroplasty, and total hip arthroplasty (5-9).

It has also been found to be effective in treating patients with chronic pain syndrome and diseases such as fibromyalgia, neuropathic pain, complex regional pain syndrome, trigeminal neuralgia, post-herpetic neuralgia, and neuropathic arthropathies (10).

Corresponding Author: Seyran Kılınç E-mail: seyrankilinc@hotmail.com



– Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Received: 08.04.2020

Accepted: 02.06.2020

The reported positive effects of gabapentin in postoperative pain prophylaxis have led to the increased use of this drug. There are studies in literature regarding the effects of gabapentin on fracture and wound healing (II, I2). Gabapentin [I-(aminomethyl)cyclohexane acetic acid] is an anti-epileptic agent (I3). Despite the analog structure of gabapentin γ -aminobutyric acid, its function is mediated through pre-synaptic P/Q type voltage-gated calcium channels (I4).

Although gabapentin use against musculoskeletal pain is gradually increasing, its effect on tendon healing is unknown. To the best of our knowledge, there is no study in the literature that has evalauted the effect of gabapentin on tendons. Thus, this study is the first in the literature to evaluate the effects of gabapentin on tendon healing. The main purpose of this study was to assess the histological and mechanical effects of gabapentin on tendon healing in a rat model of Achilles tendon transection.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This study was approved by the Animal Research Local Ethics Committee (decision no:56, dated:15.08.2017). It was conducted according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. A total of 32 female Wistar albino rats, aged 10±1.2 weeks, each weighing 200–220 gr, were used in the study. The animals were obtained from the Animal Research laboratory and all through the experiment, all the care of the animals was undertaken in the same center. To ensure the adaptation to the new environment, all the animals were kept and fed in new cages in the laboratory, one week before starting the experiment. A total of 8 rats were housed in each cage in a manner that did not prevent movement. Fresh food and water were given daily.

Preparation of the Groups

The rats were randomly divided into 4 groups of 8. Groups A and C were administered gabapentin while Groups B and D as the control groups were not administered no drugs. The drugs were administered by the oral gavage route starting from 4 hours postoperatively. The daily gabapentin dose for Groups A and C was calculated based on the body surface area and was determined to be equal to the human dose of I200 mg/day. To standardize the stress factors for the control group rats, I% methylcellulose was administered by oral gavage at the same time as the treatment to the study group rats. The Groups A and B rats were administered ketamine anesthesia and sacrificed by cervical dislocation on postoperative day I5, and the same procedure was applied to the Groups C and D rats on postoperative day 45.

Main Points:

- To the best of our knowledge, no study in the literature has examined the effect of gabapentin on tendons.
- The fact that no difference was observed between the groups biomechanically demonstrates that gabapentin could be used in pain prophylaxis after tendon surgery, when there are suitable indications
- The immunohistochemical and biomechanical evaluations of this study showed that gabapentin does not have a negative effect on tendon healing.

Surgical Technique

Anesthesia consisting of a xylazine and ketamine HCI mixture was injected intramuscularly to all the rats by the same surgeon. A single dose of antibiotic (cefazolin sodium 5mg) prophylaxis was given. The left lower extremity was prepared with povidone-iodine solution and a sterile drape. A longitudinal 3-cm skin and subcutaneous incision was made from the midline along the course of the Achilles tendon. The Achilles and plantaris tendons were stripped from the surrounding fascia. A full-layer transverse cut was made, approximately 0.5 cm proximal from the attachment site of the Achilles tendon to the calcaneus. The plantaris tendon was also included in the cut. Primary repair of the sectioned tendons was performed with the modified Kessler method using 6-0 Ethilon monofilament nylon sutures (Ethicon, USA) (Figure I). The skin and subcutaneous layers were sutured with 3-0 Ethilon monofilament nylon sutures. No fixation was used postoperatively. All through the experiment, standard care was applied to all the animals, and they were permitted to move freely within their cages.

Biomechanical Evaluation

The biomechanical differences between the study groups in terms of the breaking strengths of the tendons were investigated in the Biomechanics Laboratory of the Dentistry Faculty of our university. From each group, 8 calcaneus-Achilles complex samples were placed on a Lloyd LF Plus model device (Ametek Inc, Lloyd Instruments, Leicester, UK) using a specially designed holder (Figure 2). The normal tendons were evaluated using the non-operated right-side Achilles tendon complex. Tensile force was applied at 5N/sec. Before starting the test, calibration was performed for the loading and extension amounts of all the Achilles tendon com-



FIGURE I. a-c. Photograph of the Achilles tendon a) before transection, b) after transection, and c) after surgical repair



FIGURE 2. Specimen during the mechanical test



FIGURE 3. a-d. a) Group A collagenized areas, b) Group B, c) Group C, d) Group D chondrocytes-like cell (H & E, ×20)

plexes. The extension amount of the tendons was measured via a computer attached to the device. All the loading and deformation tests were applied and recorded using the Lloyd Instruments Data Analysis Package system. For pre-tensile equalization, a 2N pre-loading was applied to all the tendons.

Histological Evaluation

The samples obtained from the experimental animals were examined in the Pathology Department laboratory. Tissue samples were fixed in 10% formaldehyde for 24 hours and then subjected to routine tissue processing. As per routine histological procedures, the tissues were embedded in paraffin blocks. Slices of 2.5 micron thickness were obtained with a Leica microtome. The slices to undergo immunohistochemical staining were placed on positive loaded slides and those to undergo hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining on normal slides.

As per the routine processes, the HE and immunohistochemical staining processes were completed [COLIA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Concentrate,I/100 dilution, monoclonal, CLone COL-I,LOT NO :E0918), TGF β I (Biogenex, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Concentrate I/100 dilution, monoclonal, CLone 3CII,LOT NO: E0918), and PCNA (Scytek, Concentrate I/100 dilution, monoclonal, Clone PCI0,LOT NO: 47438)]. The stained preparates were examined microscopically. These processes were performed in the same manner on day 15 and 45 of the study and control groups.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the data obtained in the study were performed using SPSS vs 22.0 software (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). Since the number of data in the groups was <30, non-parametric tests were applied. Differences between the study and control groups were evaluated using the Mann Whitney U-test. The Wilcoxon Rank test was applied to determine differences within the same group at different time points. Results were examined at a 95% confidence interval. A value of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Histological Results

Subjective microscopic evaluations of the groups were performed with HE staining. A similarity was found in terms of neovascularization, fibroblasts, and the amount of connective tissue in the endotendineum (Figure 3). Type IA collagen (COLIA), proliferative cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), and transforming growth factor β I (TGF β I) were evaluated semi-quantitatively with immune histochemical staining. The samples were numbered and percentage slices were scored for PCNA, TGF β I, and COL-IA, according to the immunohistochemical involvement of the cells under a microscope at ×10 magnification by a pathologist blinded to the groups (Table I). Positive cell involvement was recorded. In the statistical evaluations of the positive cells, similar results were obtained in the study and control groups at I5 and 45 days (TGF β I, p(I5)=0.328, p(45)=0.195. PCNA, p(I5)=0.645).

In terms of PCNA, the absence of cell involvement in the samples obtained on day 45 was similar to the samples obtained from the healthy tissues, and this was interpreted as the completion of the healing process. COL-IA in all the groups showed similar properties, and no significant differences were determined (Figure 4).

Biomechanical Results

During the biomechanical examination, the greatest loading forces (Newton) were found on the calcaneus-Achilles complex. While breakage in Groups A and B was close to the area of the tendon injury, it occurred with stripping away in the form of avulsion from the calcaneus attachment point in Groups C and D.

		Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation	P value*	P value**
TGF-βl	Group A	25,00	75,00	40,63	22,90	0,261	0,328
	Group B	25,00	100,00	56,25	32,04		
	Group C	25,00	100,00	65,63	26,52		0,195
	Group D	25,00	75,00	46,88	20,86		
PNCA	Group A	75,00	100,00	84,38	12,94	<0,001	0,645
	Group B	50,00	100,00	78,13	20,86		
	Group C	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00		
	Group D	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00		
COL-IA	Group A	80,00	100,00	92,50	8,90	0,731	
	Group B	90,00	100,00	95,00	5,30		
	Group C	80,00	100,00	95,00	7,66		
	Group D	80,00	100,00	91,30	8,30		

**Comparison between the groups on days I5 and 45

TABLE 2. Biomechanical test data and statistical results (N)								
		Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation	P value		
Day I5	Group A	34,68	51,07	41,69	6,05	0,908		
	Group B	23,37	53,18	41,19	10,64			
Day 45	Group C	23,54	53,28	35,83	9,60	0,798		
	Group D	20,42	57,32	36,98	11,49			
Significance level p≤0.05								



The mean tensile resistance values were determined as 41.69 ± 6.05 N for Group A, 41.19 ± 10.64 N for Group B, 35.83 ± 9.60 N for Group C, and 36.98 ± 11.49 N for Group D. The statistical analyses of the biomechanical tests applied on days I5 and 45 showed no statistically significant difference between the study and control groups in terms of tensile resistance (Table 2). [p(15)=0,908 and p(45)=0,798].

DISCUSSION

This results of this study showed that gabapentin does not have a negative effect on tendon healing. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first study in the literature to examine the effect of gabapentin on tendon healing. Tendon health and function is very important for orthopedic surgeons. Several local and systemic factors affect the tendon healing process (I). Therefore, the orthopedic surgeons must know whether the drugs used for treatment affect the tendon healing process.

This study aimed to determine the effect of gabapentin, which is used in postoperative pain prophylaxis after orthopedic surgeries, on tendon biomechanics and the tendon healing process. Tendon healing during acute injuries is a lengthy process because of the properties specific to its connective tissue. Weakness of the vascular structure and the presence of cells at a low metabolic rate provide limited contributions to tendon healing and the regeneration potential. The healing process occurs with the simultaneous appropriate development of regenerative and scar tissues (I5). The fibrous scar tissue formed causes mechanical and functional weakening of the tendon structure. Acceleration of the healing process with the actual tendon regeneration tissue is one of the desired aims (2). A soft tissue healing process is observed following all orthopedic surgical approaches, not only in acute tendon injuries. For example, total knee and hip arthroplasty surgeries aim to provide very good tendon, ligament, and soft tissue balance. The use of gabapentin is recommended after these surgeries (8). In this context, the current study ex-



amining the effect of gabapentin on tendon healing provides a contribution to the scarce literature in this field.

The mechanism of the effect of gabapentin has not yet been fully understood. However, reducing glutamate release by preventing calcium flow in the nociceptive pathways reduces pain transmission and sensitivity (14). Part of the effect is seen in voltage-gated calcium channels (16), which are located in tendons (17). There is a need for further studies in this area to examine the mechanism of the effect of gabapentin on tendons. In this respect, the current study can be considered as being of value in providing a viewpoint on this.

Although gabapentin is used in several clinical indications, it is used especially for postoperative and chronic pain control and to effectively reduce opioid consumption (I8). There are studies in the literature related to gabapentin and pain prophylaxis, wound healing, and fracture healing, but its contribution to tendon healing has not yet been evaluated previously. The results of the current study showed that there was no significant difference biomechanically between the groups administered with gabapentin and the control groups (Table 2). The fact that no difference was observed between the groups biomechanically demonstrates that gabapentin could be used in pain prophylaxis with suitable indications after tendon surgery. Similar to the current study, there are studies in the literature that have recommended gabapentin in pain prophylaxis following tendon repair such as the rotator cuff repair surgery (7).

In the samples obtained on day 15 in the current study, PC-NA-positive cells were observed to be dense around the epitenon; in other words, to have been intensified in the tendon periphery (Figure 5). The absence of PCNA-positive cells in all the groups on day 45 was interpreted as that the cellular regeneration had been completed (Figure 6). This was proven by the similar effect seen in the control samples obtained from the intact extremity. PCNA plays an important role in nucleic acid metabolism during the replication and repair process. PCNA interacts with the proteins necessary for the controlled cell cycle (I9). In the early stages of the tendon repair process, it has been shown that the number of PCNA-positive cells increases. It is thought that these cells are undifferentiated mesenchymal stem cells that migrate from the paratenon toward the tendon healing area approximately I week after injury (20).

TGF- β I plays a part in the tendon healing process associated with many different cytokines. It is known that TGF- β I plays a role in collagen production and angiogenesis (2I, 22). TGF- β I expression has been shown to vary greatly at different times in tendon healing (20). This status in contrast to PCNA was seen in the immunohistochemical evaluations on day 45 of the current study. Similar results were obtained in terms of the rates of PCNA and TGF- β I-positive cells in the comparisons of the study and control groups on days I5 and 45. This was interpreted as gabapentin not having any negative effect on the tendon healing process.

This study has some limitations. Primarily, the histological evaluations were conducted semi-quantitatively. However, the microscopic examination was made by a pathologist blinded to the groups. Secondly, since the study was conducted on healthy animals, it was difficult to conclude that the same effects would be observed in humans.

In conclusion, the immunohistochemical and biomechanical evaluations of this study showed that gabapentin does not have a negative effect on tendon healing. Therefore, gabapentin can be used in cases with the appropriate indications after tendon surgery. Nevertheless, there is a need for further studies in this area to examine the mechanism of the effect of gabapentin on the tendon.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Cumhuriyet University Animal Experiments (56/15.08.2017).

Informed Consent: The study was conducted according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - S.K.; Design - S.K., H.R.E.; Supervision -Ö.P., M.Y.A.; Resource - S.K., H.R.E.; Materials - S.K., Ö.P.; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.K., H.R.E., M.Y.A.; Analysis and/or Interpretation -Ö.P., M.Y.A.; Literature Search - S.K., H.R.E., Ö.P.; Writing - S.K., Ö.P.; Critical Reviews - H.R.E., M.Y.A. Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: This work was supported by the Scientific Research Project Fund of Cumhuriyet university under project number T-763.

- I. Sharma P, Maffulli N. Tendon Injury and Tendinopathy. J Bone Jt Surg 2005; 87(1): 187-202. [Crossref]
- Elliot D, Giesen T. Avoidance of unfavourable results following primary flexor tendon repair. Indian J Plast Surg 2013; 46(2): 312-24. [Crossref]
- 3. Su B, O'Connor JP. NSAID therapy effects on healing of bone, tendon, and the enthesis. J Appl Physiol 2013; II5(6): 892-9. [Crossref]
- 4. Radi ZA, Khan NK. Effects of cyclooxygenase inhibition on bone, tendon, and ligament healing. Inflamm Res 2005; 54(9): 358-66. [Crossref]
- Peng C, Li C, Qu J, Wu D. Gabapentin can decrease acute pain and morphine consumption in spinal surgery patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96(15): e6463. [Crossref]
- Panah Khahi M, Yaghooti AA, Marashi SH, Nadjafi A. Effect of pre-emptive gabapentin on postoperative pain following lower extremity orthopaedic surgery under spinal anaesthesia. Singapore Med J 2011; 52(12): 879-82.
- Bang SR, Yu SK, Kim TH. Can gabapentin help reduce postoperative pain in arthroscopic rotator guff repair? A prospective, randomized, double-blind study. Arthroscopy 2010; 26(9 Suppl): 106-11. [Crossref]
- Han C, Li X, Jiang H, Ma J, Ma X. The use of gabapentin in the management of postoperative pain after total hip arthroplasty: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Orthop Surg Res 2016; II(I): 79. [Crossref]
- Thomas JJ, Levek C, Quick HD, Brinton JT, Garg S, Cohen MN. Utility of gabapentin in meeting physical therapy goals following posterior spinal fusion in adolescent patients with idiopathic scoliosis. Paediatr Anaesth 2018; 28(6): 558-63. [Crossref]
- 10. Rose MA, Kam PCA. Gabapentin: Pharmacology and its use in pain management. Anaesthesia 2002; 57(5): 451-62. [Crossref]

- II. Sarıtaş TB, Korkmaz M, Sevimli A, Sarıtaş ZK. Comparison of the effects of gabapentin and pregabalin on wound healing in rats. Int Wound J 2016; I3(5): 748-53. [Crossref]
- Sofu H, Kockara N, Aydin BK, Suleyman B, Tayfur M, Malkoc I. Should orthopedic surgeons consider the effects of gabapentin administration on bone healing while treating a long bone fracture: experimental study in a rat model. SICOT J 2016; 2: 36. [Crossref]
- Wiffen PJ, McQuay HJ, Edwards J, Moore RA. Gabapentin for acute and chronic pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005; (3): CD005452-CD005452. [Crossref]
- 14. Schmidt PC, Ruchelli G, Mackey SC, Carroll IR. Perioperative Gabapentinoids. Anesthesiology 2013; 119(5): 1215-21. [Crossref]
- Galatz LM, Gerstenfeld L, Heber-Katz E, Rodeo SA. Tendon regeneration and scar formation: the concept of scarless healing. J Orthop Res 2015; 33: 823-31. [Crossref]
- 16. Sills GJ. The mechanisms of action of gabapentin and pregabalin. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2006; 6(1): 108-13. [Crossref]
- Wall ME, Banes AJ. Early responses to mechanical load in tendon: Role for calcium signaling, gap junctions and intercellular communication. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2005; 5(1): 70-84.
- Clarke H, Bonin RP, Orser BA, Englesakis M, Wijeysundera DN, Katz J. The prevention of chronic postsurgical pain using gabapentin and pregabalin: A combined systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesth Analg 2012; II5(2): 428-42. [Crossref]
- Kelman Z. PCNA: Structure, functions and interactions. Oncogene 1997; 14(6): 629-40. [Crossref]
- Tokunaga T, Shukunami C, Okamoto N, Taniwaki T, Oka K, Sakamoto H, et al. FGF-2 Stimulates the Growth of Tenogenic Progenitor Cells to Facilitate the Generation of Tenomodulin -Positive Tenocytes in a Rat Rotator Cuff Healing Model. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43(10): 2411-22. [Crossref]
- Tsubone T, Moran SL, Subramaniam M, Amadio PC, Spelsberg TC, An KN. Effect of TGF-beta inducible early gene deficiency on flexor tendon healing. J Orthop Res 2006 Mar; 24(3): 569-75. [Crossref]
- O'Kane S, Ferguson MW. Transforming growth factor beta s and wound healing. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1997; 29(1): 63-78.[Crossref]
Association of Mean Platelet Volume with Bone Mineral Density in Fibromyalgia

Betül Sargın 💿, Gülcan Gürer 💿

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Division of Rheumatology, Medical Faculty of Adnan Menderes University, Aydın, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: B.S. 0000-0002-9463-8413; G.G. 0000-0001-8287-2264.

Cite this article as: Sargın B, Gürer G. Association of Mean Platelet Volume with Bone Mineral Density in Fibromyalgia. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 245-8.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

We aimed to evaluate the mean platelet volume levels in patients with fibromyalgia and to determine whether there is a relationship between mean platelet volume and bone mineral density.

MATERIAL and METHODS

One hundred female patients with the diagnosis of fibromyalgia included in the study. The age, gender, weight, height, body mass index, mean platelet volume, fibromyalgia impact questionnaire score, bone mineral density (g/cm²), and T- score of LI-4, femoral neck, and femur total were recorded.

RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 48.29±10.53 years. The mean platelet volume level and fibromyalgia impact questionnaire score were 10, 45±1.87 fL and 61.71±17.16, respectively. The mean LI-L4 T-score was -1.52±1.26, mean femoral neck T-score was -0.89±0.99, BMD was 0.86±0.13 for LI-4, 0.89±0.13 for the total femur, and 0.75±0.09 for femoral neck. We found increases in the BMD, total, and femoral neck score when MPV decreased. MPV was found higher in osteoporotic fibromyalgia patients compared to normal BMD. No significant correlation was found between MPV and these parameters.

CONCLUSION

The mean platelet volume is meaningful for osteoporosis in fibromyalgia patients. Higher MPV may be related to the reason that osteoporosis is affected by inflammatory processes in fibromyalgia patients.

Keywords: Fibromyalgia, bone mineral density, mean platelet volume

INTRODUCTION

Fibromyalgia is a multi-symptom disorder, characterized mainly by chronic widespread musculoskeletal pain, chronic widespread pain, fatigue, sleep disturbances, and many other symptoms that impair the quality of life (QoL) (I). It is found in 2–4% of the population. Pain is the predominant symptom with allodynia and hyperalgesia being common signs (2). On physical examination of soft tissue tenderness, the presence of at least II of I8 defined tender points is observed (3). There are no specific laboratory abnormalities and they have a limited role in the evaluation of fibromyalgia (4). The multidisciplinary approach and patient self-management are important keys for the treatment of fibromyalgia. Successful management of fibromyalgia includes patient education, cognitive behavioral therapy, exercise, and drug therapy. Tricyclic antidepressants, serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, gabapentin, pregabalin, pramipexole, tramadol, or other opioids are some of the pharmacological therapies effective in fibromyalgia (2). Somatic and psychological symptoms lead to poor health-QoL (5). Therefore, the approach to treating fibromyalgia should focus on maintaining or improving function, improving QoL, and managing symptoms (3).

With the aging population and longer life span, osteoporosis (OP) has become an epidemic, making this a major public health problem (6). Primary OP is most often related to either postmenopausal estrogen loss or age. Glucocorticoids, diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis, liver diseases, and hematological malignancies such as multiple myeloma are some of the etiological factors of secondary OP (7). OP is often called a "silent disease" or "silent thief" without warning signs or symptoms. Falls, fractures, and functional decline are important complications of OP, affecting QoL in patients (6, 8). OP in fibromyalgia has



Received: 08.12.2019

been investigated in various studies (9, 10). The related factors for OP in fibromyalgia patients are as follows: reduced daily activities, reduced sun exposure, and vitamin D deficiency (10). Erdal et al. (9) evaluated bone mineral density (BMD) in 38 fibromyalgia patients and 20 healthy controls. They found that BMD was lower in the fibromyalgia group compared to the control group (9). Moreover, Jensen et al. (10) analyzed BMD in 31 women with fibromyalgia and 41 healthy women. However, they found no differences in BMD in both the lumbar spine and the femoral neck.

Mean platelet volume (MPV) is one of the most widely used markers of platelet function and activation. It reflects the inflammatory burden in inflammatory disorders (II). It was found to increase with aging, a well-known risk factor for OP (I2). Also, megakaryocytes can increase osteoblast proliferation in vivo and in vitro (I3). The association between MPV and BMD is still the subject of research (I4-I6). Li et al. (I4) found a significant negative correlation between MPV and femoral neck-lumbar BMD. According to Resorlu et al. (I5), MPV was higher in osteopenic patients and a significant negative correlation was found between MPV and femoral neck T-score. In another study, a significant positive correlation was found between MPV and femoral neck BMD in a normal weight osteoporotic group (I6).

To the best of our knowledge, the association between MPV and BMD has not been investigated in fibromyalgia. Our study aimed to assess the association between MPV and BMD in fibromyalgia patients. Also, we evaluated the fibromyalgia impact questionnaire (FIQ) score and body mass index (BMI) in fibromyalgia patients and their association with MPV.

MATERIAL and METHODS

In this retrospective study, a total of 100 patients with fibromyalgia who were admitted to Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Division of Rheumatology were enrolled in the study. Our study was conducted according to the criteria set by the declaration of Helsinki. All participants signed the informed consent form. All fibromyalgia patients were diagnosed according to the 2010 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism (ACR/EULAR) criteria (17). We recorded patients' age, body weight, height, BMI, MPV, FIQ scores, BMD (g/cm2) of the lumbar vertebrae LI-L4 and femoral neck, and total femur T-score.

OP is defined as a BMD with 2.5 standard deviations (SD) or more below the average value for young healthy women (a T-score of <-2.5 SD) (I8). The health status of fibromyalgia patients was determined by the FIQ score I99I version. It consists of I0 items. The physical impairment items are rated on a 4-point Likert type scale. Responses range from 0 (always) to 3 (never). The "Feel Good" item response includes the number of days of the past week. The "Work Missed" item response includes the number of workdays in the past week. The other symptom-based items use a I00-mm anchored visual analog scale. The final score ranges from 0 to 80 (I9).

Main Points:

- Osteoporosis is affected by inflammatory processes in fibromyalgia patients.
- Mean platelet volume is a simple and available blood parameter to evaluate activated platelets.
- Mean platelet volume elevation may be related to osteoporosis in fibromyalgia patients.

The inclusion criteria were age over I8 years and a diagnosis of fibromyalgia according to the ACR/EULAR 2010 criteria. Exclusion criteria were the presence of a spinal implant, pregnancy, lactation, use of drugs which may cause OP and affect inflammation/MPV, and additional comorbidities (especially diseases affecting thrombocytes).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 19.0. Descriptive statistics were given as number (n), frequency (%), mean±standard deviation, and median [25-75p] according to the distribution analysis. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the quantitative variables were normally distributed or not. One-Way ANOVA test was used to determine differences between independent groups. Pearson's and Spearman's correlation tests were used to determine the relationship between variables according to the normality distribution. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

One hundred fibromyalgia patients were enrolled in our study. Allpatients were female. The mean age of the patients was 48.29±10.53 years. The patients included in our study were divided into 3 groups based on DEXA as follows: normal, osteopenic, and OP. Among these patients, 49% were osteopenic and 16% were osteoporotic. There were no significant differences in age and gender between groups. The mean LI-4 T-score was -1.52±1.26 in all patients. The median T-score of total femur and femoral neck was -0.5 [-I.I–0.3] and -0.9 [-I.5–0.I], respectively. The mean BMD was 0.86±0.I3 for LI-4, 0.89±0.I3 for total femur, and 0.75±0.09 for femoral neck.

The mean MPV level was 10.45±1.87 fL in patients with fibromyalgia. It was 10.57±1.93 in osteopenic, 10.43±0.83 in osteoporotic, and 10.29±2.14 in normal patients with fibromyalgia. MPV was higher in osteopenic and osteoporotic patients compared with normal patients. However, no significant differences in MPV were found between groups. We found an increase in the BMD, total, and femoral neck score when MPV decreased. However, there was no significant correlation between MPV and these

TABLE I. The demographic features an patients with fibromyalgia	d laboratory findings of the			
Age (years)	48.29±10.53			
Gender (Female/Male)	100/0			
Body Mass Index (kg/m²)	31.47±7.12			
Mean Platelet Volume (fL)	10.45±1.87			
T-score/Lomber				
• LI-L4	-1.52±1.26			
• T-Score/Femur*				
• Neck	-0.9 [-1.5-0.1]			
• Total	-0.5 [-I.I-0.3]			
Bone Mineral Density (g/cm²)				
• LI-4	0.86±0.13			
• Total Femur	0.89±0.13			
• Femur Neck	0.75±0.09			
Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire 61.71±17.16				
*median [25-75p]				

TABLE 2. The correlation analyses between mean platelet volume, fibromyalgia impact questionnaire and T-scores, bone mineral density in patients with fibromyalgia

Parameter (value)	Mean Platelet Volume (10.45±1.87)	FIQ (61.71±17.16)			
T-score/Lomber					
• LI-L4 (-I.52±I.26)	p=0.997, r=0.000	p=0. 469, r=-0.073			
T-Score/Femur*					
Neck (-0.9 [-1.50.1])	p=0.615, r=-0.051	p=0. 346, r=0.095			
• Total (-0.5 [-1.1-0.3])	p=0.141, r=-0.162	p=0. 666, r=0.048			
Bone Mineral Density (g/cm²)					
LI-4 (0.86±0.13)	p=0.151, r=-0.161	p=0. 43l, r=-0.089			
Total Femur (0.89±0.13)	p=0.196, r=-0.143	p=0. 959, r=0.006			
Femoral Neck (0.75±0.09)	p=0.291, r=-0.117	p=0. 912, r=0.012			
*median [25-75p], FIQ: Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire					

parameters. The mean FIQ score was 61.71±17.16. The demographic features and laboratory findings of the patients with fibromyalgia are shown in Table I.

The correlation between T-scores of LI-4, femoral neck, total femur, and BMD of the same regions and MPV were calculated. There was no correlation between MPV and T-scores of femoral neck (p=0.615, r=-0.051), total femur (p=0.141, r=-0.162), and LI-4 (p=0.997, r=0.00). The distribution of correlation analyses between T-scores, BMD, MPV, and FIQ score is shown in Table 2.

When the BMI of patients was evaluated, I4%had a normal weight and 86% were above normal weight. There was no correlation between MPV and LI-4, total femur, and femoral neckT-score in patients with normal BMI. Moreover, no significant difference was found between BMI and these parameters. The results were similar in the group with BMI above normal limits. Patient age showed a negative correlation with LI-4 T-score and femoral neck T-score (r=0.23I, p=0.02, r=0.253, p=0.0I, respectively).

DISCUSSION

The pathogenesis of fibromyalgia includes central and autonomic nervous system dysfunctions, neurotransmitters, hormones, external stressors, and psychiatric aspects (20). Also, reports show that the immune system and inflammatory mechanisms play roles in this pathogenesis (21). Mast cells, dendritic cells, and T-lymphocytes have a role in the inflammatory processes of fibromyalgia (22). The upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-I, and IL-6, are related to several disease-related comorbidities in fibromyalgia. All these processes are defined as "neuro-inflammation" (21).

In a study, higher neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), MPV, and lower platelet distribution width (PDW) were reported in fibromyalgia patients compared to the control group (23). Akaltun et al. (24) evaluated MPV, NLR, and PDW values in 91 fibromyalgia patients and 33 healthy volunteers. They found higher MPV, CRP, and lower PDW in the fibromyalgia group. Also, they found a significant difference between the groups in terms of NLR (24). Haliloğlu et al. (25) reported higher MPV levels in fibromyalgia patients than in the control group (8.09±0.84 fl vs 7.73±0.65 fl). Also, higher NLR and MPV, and a lower PDW were reported in fibromyalgia patients in another study with 197 fibromyalgia patients and 53 healthy controls (23). The mean MPV of patients in our study was 10.45±1.87 fL. It was 10.57±1.93 in osteopenic, 10.43±0.83 in osteoporotic, and 10.29±2.14 in normal patients with fibromyalgia. The mean MPV was 10.29±2.14 in normal patients with fibromyalgia. The mean MPV was higher in osteopenic and osteoporotic patients compared to patients with normal BMD. However, there were no significant differences in MPV between groups. There are many factors such as adenosine diphosphate, thromboxane A2, platelet-activating factor, and pro-inflammatory cytokines that affect platelet activation (26). Serotonin has an important role in the pathogenesis of fibromyalgia and activates platelets (27). Significantly lower serum serotonin levels were reported in fibromyalgia patients compared to healthy individuals and a non-significant correlation was found between serum serotonin levels and platelet indices (27). However, we could not evaluate serotonin levels in patients with fibromyalgia.

The association between MPV and OP was reported in 175 Turkish postmenopausal women (16). In this study, 20 patients were normal, 37 patients were osteopenic, and 126 patients were osteoporotic. They found a positive correlation between MPV and femoral neck BMD in the normal weight osteoporotic group, and a significant negative correlation in the overweight-obese osteoporotic group. In our study, we evaluated 100 fibromyalgia patients. All the patients were female, with 49% of osteopenic and 16% of osteoporotic patients. With regards to BMI, there was no correlation between MPV and both femoral and LI-4 T-score in patients with normal BMI. The results were similar in the group with BMI above normal. Also, the association between MPV and BMD (30 normal vs 20 osteopenic) has been investigated in ankylosing spondylitis patients (15).

In a study, MPV was high in osteopenic patients than the normal group (16). The T-score of LI-4, femoral neck, total femur, and BMD(g/cm2) of the femur and lumbar vertebrae were evaluated in all patients included in our study. The mean BMD was 0.86±0, 13 for LI-4, 0.89±0.13 for total femur, and 0.75±0.09 for femoral neck. The mean total lumbar T-scorewas-I.52±1.26. The median T-score of total femur and femoral neck was -0.5 [-I.I–0.3] and -0.9 [-I.5–0.1], respectively in all patients.

The mean MPV was 10.57±1.93 in osteopenic and 10.43±0.83 in osteoporotic patients. We found an increase in the BMD ofLI-4 and femoral neck score when MPV decreased. However, there was no significant correlation between MPV and T-scores and BMD of these regions (Table 2).

OP in fibromyalgia has (9, 10). Aging is a well-known risk factor for OP. Also, MPV was found to been investigated in various studies increase with aging (I). Moreover, megakaryocytes in the bone marrow increase with age, leading to an imbalance between osteoblastic and osteoclastic functions (I3). There was a statistically significant correlation between age and both LI-4 and femoral neck T-score. There were 5 geriatric patients in our study. Psychological factors, physical, and emotional distress have been frequently identified in fibromyalgia (28). Fibromyalgia has a greater impact on daily life; patients have more difficulties adjusting to the disease and generally use poor strategies to cope with pain (29). Erdal et al. (9) evaluated depression with the Beck scale and its correlation with BMD in fibromyalgia. They found a negative correlation between Beck's scale and BMD (9). In another study, pain and degree of physical activity in daily life were evaluated in premenopausal fibromyalgia (10). It showed that self-reported pain and FIQ-activities of daily living among fibromyalgia patients were correlated with BMD. In our study, the mean FIQ score was 61.71±17.16. MPV increased with the FIQ score. No significant correlation was found between MPV and FIQ score (p>0.05). To the best of our knowledge, the association between FIQ score and BMD in fibromyalgia has not been previously investigated. In our study, the FIQ score was higher in osteopenic patients compared to patients with normal BMD (65.32±16.69 vs 59.18±17.98). However, there were no significant differences between groups and correlation for FIQ scores. This result shows that bone mass affects the health status of fibromyalgia patients. Also, no correlation was found between FIQ score and T-scores and BMD of the areas (Table 2). The limitations of our study were that we evaluated the association between MPV and BMD in a small number of fibromyalgia patients. Also, the study was designed as a cross-sectional-retrospective study. However, to the best of our knowledge, our study was the first to assess the association between MPV, FIQ score, and BMD in fibromyalgia.

Consequently, MPV is a simple and available blood parameter to evaluate activated platelets. According to our study, MPV was higher in osteoporotic fibromyalgia patients compared to normal BMD. This may be related to the fact that OP is affected by inflammatory processes in fibromyalgia patients. However, the difference was not significant. If there is no other condition to explain MPV elevation, it may be thought that this condition may be related to OP in the differential diagnosis for patients with fibromyalgia. More studies with more patients are warranted to elucidate the association between MPV and BMD in fibromyalgia.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - B.S.; Design - B.S.; Supervision - G.G.; Resource - B.S., G.G.; Materials - B.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing - B.S.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - B.S.; Literature Search - B.S.; Writing - B.S.; Critical Reviews - G.G.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare. **Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Bazzichi L, Giacomelli C, Consensi A, Giorgi V, Batticciotto A, Di Franco M, et al. One year in review 2020: fibromyalgia. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2020; I23(I): 3-8.
- Borchers AT, Gershwin ME. Fibromyalgia: A Critical and Comprehensive Review. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2015; 49(2): 100-51. [Crossref]
- 3. Bair MJ, Krebs EE. Fibromyalgia. Ann Intern Med 2020; 172(5): 33-48. [Crossref]
- Arnold LM, Bennett RM, Crofford LJ, Dean LE, Clauw DJ, Goldenberg DL, et al. AAPT diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia. J Pain 2019; 20(6): 611-28. [Crossref]
- Lee JW, Lee KE, Park DJ, Kim SH, Nah SS, Lee JH, et al. Determinants of quality of life in patients with fibromyalgia: A structural e uation modeling approach. PLoS One 2017; 12: 0171186. [Crossref]
- Sietsema DL. Fighting the Epidemic: Bone Health and Osteoporosis. Nurs Clin North Am 2020; 55(2): 193-202. [Crossref]
- 7. Mirza F, Canalis E. Secondary Osteoporosis: Pathophysiology and Management. Eur J Endocrinol 2015; 173(3): RI31-51. [Crossref]

- 9. Erdal Á, Yildirim K, Hacibeyoglu H. The bone mineral density values in fibromyalgia syndrome. Osteoporoz Dünyasından 2003; 9: 59-62.
- Jensen B, Wittrup IH, Bliddal H, Danneskiold-Samsøe B, Faber J. Bone mineral density in fibromialgia patients-correlation to disease activity. Scand J Rheumatol 2003; 32(3): 146-50. [Crossref]
- II. Moghimi J, Ghahremanfard F, Salari M, Ghorbani R. Association between mean platelet volume and severity of rheumatoid arthritis. Pan Afr Med J 2017; 27: 276. [Crossref]
- Lippi G, Meschi T, Borghi L. Mean platelet volume increases with aging in a large population study. Thromb Res 2012; 129(4): e159-60. [Crossref]
- Mohamad SF, Xu L, Ghosh J, Childress PJ, Abeysekera I, Himes ER, et al. Osteomacs interact with megakaryocytes and osteoblasts to regulate murine hematopoietic stem cell function. Blood Adv 2017; I(26): 2520-8. [Crossref]
- Li XS, Zhang JR, Meng SY, Li Y, Wang RT. Mean platelet volume is negatively associated with bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Metab 2012; 30(6): 660-5. [Crossref]
- Resorlu H, Resorlu M, Gokmen F, Akbal A, Adam G, Komurcu E, et al. Association between mean platelet volume and bone mineral density in patients with ankylosing spondylitis and diagnostic value of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging. J Phys Ther Sci 2015; 27(4): II37-40. [Crossref]
- Aypak C, Türedi Ö, Bircan MA, Civelek GM, Araz M. Association between mean platelet volume and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. J Phys Ther Sci 2016; 28(6): 1753-8. [Crossref]
- Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles MA, Goldenberg DL, Katz RS, Mease P, et al. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2010; 62(5): 600-10. [Crossref]
- Kanis JA, Melton LJ, Christiansen C, Johnston CC, Khaltaev N. The diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 1994; 9(8): II37-4I. [Crossref]
- Burckhardt CS, Clark SR, Bennett RM. The fibromyalgia impact questionnaire: development and validation. J Rheumatol 1991; 18(5): 728-33.
- 20. Chinn S, Caldwell W, Gritsenko K. Fibromyalgia Pathogenesis and Treatment Options Update. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2016; 20(4): 25. [Crossref]
- 21. Coskun BI. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis and treatment of fibromyalgia. Rheumatol Int 2019; 39(5): 781-91. [Crossref]
- 22. Galli SJ, Nakae S, Tsai M. Mast cells in the development of adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 2005; 6(2): I35-42. [Crossref]
- Aktürk S, Büyükavcı R. Evaluation of blood neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and platelet distribution width as inflammatory markers in patients with fibromyalgia. Clin Rheumatol 2017; 36(8): 1885-9. [Crossref]
- Akaltun MS, Altindag O, Turan N, Aydeniz A, Gursoy S, Gur A. Can blood parameters be guiding in fibromyalgia syndrome? Annals of Medical Research 2019; 26(9): 1943-6. [Crossref]
- Haliloğlu S, Carlioglu A, Sahiner E, Karaaslan Y, Kosar A. Mean platelet volume in patients with fibromyalgia. Z Rheumatol 2014; 73(8): 742-5. [Crossref]
- Korniluk A, Koper-Lenkiewicz OM, Kamińska J, Kemona H, Dymicka-Piekarska V. Mean Platelet Volume (MPV): New Perspectives for an Old Marker in the Course and Prognosis of Inflammatory Conditions. Mediators Inflamm 2019; (1): I-14. [Crossref]
- 27. Al-Nimer MSM, Mohammad TAM, Alsakeni RA. Serum levels of serotonin as a biomarker of newly diagnosed fibromyalgia in women: Its relation to the platelet indices. J Res Med Sci 2018; 23: 71. [Crossref]
- Maurel S, Calvo N, Sáez-Francàs N, Alegre J, Castro-Marrero J. Association between psychological constructs and physical and emotional distress in individuals with fibromyalgia. [published online ahead of print, 2020 Mar 13]. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2020.
- Bucourt E, Martaillé V, Goupille P, Joncker-Vannier I, Huttenberger B, Réveillère C, et al. A Comparative Study of Fibromyalgia, Rheumatoid Arthritis, Spondyloarthritis, and Sjögren's Syndrome; Impact of the Disease on Quality of Life, Psychological Adjustment, and Use of Coping Strategies. Pain Med 2019; 9: pnz255. [Crossref]

Original Article

Bone Mineral Density and Lipid Metabolism After Alendronate and Strontium Ranelate Treatment

Özlen Emekçi Özay^ı 💿, Ali Cenk Özay^ı 💿, Berrin Acar² 💿

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University Hospital Lefkoşa, Lefkoşa, Cyprus ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Dokuz Eylül University, School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: Ö.E.Ö. 0000-0001-8102-5733; A.C.Ö. 0000-0002-6082-7101; B.A. 0000-0003-3703-053X.

Cite this article as: Emekçi Özay Ö, Özay AC, Acar B. Bone Mineral Density and Lipid Metabolism After Alendronate and Strontium Ranelate Treatment. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 249-53.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

This study aimed to examine the alterations on metabolic changes in lipid levels and osteoporosis caused by alendronate (ALN) and strontium ranelate (SR) since shared biological linkages have great importance for new insights. Therefore, the treatments given for osteoporosis may also have a protective role against cardiovascular events.

MATERIAL and METHODS

In this retrospective study, 7l3 postmenopausal Turkish women were recruited. Biochemichal laboratory results and lipid parameters were recorded from the medical records of the patients. The lumbar spine (LI-L4), total femur (TF), and femoral neck (FN) were assessed for bone mineral density (BMD). Two hundred and sixty-three women were non-osteoporotic while 450 women were osteoporotic. Among the 450 osteoporotic women, 322 used ALN and I28 used SR. For each group, TF Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA), FN DEXA and LI-L4 DEXA results and lipid changes were compared after I2-months treatment.

RESULTS

Patients who were given ALN showed significant improvement in the BMD measurement of LI-L4 and FN, but not in the results of TF DEXA. Significant changes similar to ALN were found in patients who were given SR. Patients using ALN had significantly higher levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL). The SR group did not show marked lipid profile changes.

CONCLUSION

We demonstrated that osteoporosis in postmenopausal women may be related to atherosclerosis. ALN treatment has an enhancing effect on HDL levels; however, no effect was observed on serum lipid levels after SR treatment.

Keywords: Osteoporosis, lipid metabolism, alendronate, strontium ranelate

INTRODUCTION

Postmenopausal osteoporosis and atherosclerosis are two prominent conditions that are a major threat to women of increasing age. The postmenopausal decrease in estrogen levels causes a metabolic bone disorder referred to as osteoporosis (I). Due to the resulting lower bone mineral density (BMD) and microarchitectural worsening, the risks of fragility and fracture are higher (I, 2). Several studies have shown that patients with postmenopausal osteoporosis have a higher risk of developing cardiovascular diseases, and this is linked to the bone mass and lipid parameters (3-5). The inverse correlation between bone loss and cardiovascular events indicates that there is a parallel progression of common pathophysiological mechanisms of the two tissue damage processes. Cholesterol metabolism and lipid parameters are some of the risk factors considered in the progression of atherosclerosis and stimulation of osteoclastogenesis (6, 7). 3-hydroxy-3 methyl glutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) is responsible for the synthesis of mevalonate (MVA) through the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase. This metabolic pathway is an important route which plays a key role in different processes. MVA is further metabolized to farnesyl pyrophosphate, a precursor of cholesterol and sterols. These lipids are used in the modification of proteins that are involved in various aspects of cellular functions (8-10).

Various antiosteoporotic agents have been used to treat osteoporosis, including bisphosphonates (ex risedronate, ibandronate, zoledronate and alendronate (ALN)) strontium ranelate (SR), denosumab, raloxifene (selective estro-

Corresponding Author: Özlen Emekçi Özay E-mail: ozlenemekci@yahoo.com



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Received: 30.03.2020

gen receptor modulator (SERM)), calcitonin and parathyroid hormone (4, 5).

Bisphosphonates are molecules that reduce the number and activity of osteoclasts resulting in a slowing down in bone metabolism and resorption (I0, II). ALN inhibits the enzyme farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase of the MVA pathway, thereby affecting the biosynthesis of sterol precursors, that are essential for prenylation of osteoclasts (II). Given that ALN influences the MVA pathway, it may play a role in the mechanism of lowering the circulatory lipid levels which may be protective against cardiovascular events.

The divalent strontium salt of ranelic acid called SR, is a molecule which stimulates bone formation and at the same time, it suppresses bone absorption (I2). Recently, SR has been widely used to increase BMD and improve postmenopausal osteoporosis. The danger of fracture is less with increased BMD (13). Although SR is used effectively, its processing mechanisms have not been fully understood (13, 14). In in vitro studies, SR has been shown to stimulate bone differentiation and mineralization by increasing critical osteoblast transcription factors and osteocalcin (14). Moreover, SR reduces the adipogenic potential of bone marrow stromal cells, and at the same time, increases the osteogenic potential (I5). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) is the key factor that controls adiposides and osteoblastogenesis. PPARG regulates fatty acid storage and stimulates lipid uptake (16, 17). Therefore, SR may act on PPARG, which will result in the stimulation of bone formation and lower the lipid levels in the bone marrow and in the circulation.

High levels of serum lipids are related to higher risk of cardiac events. In particular, reduced concentrations of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL) are linked to the increased hazard of cardiovascular diseases (18-20). It has been considered that BMD and HDL levels might be correlated (20, 21). In the literature, there are studies examining the correlation between serum lipids such as HDL, triglycerides (TG) and low density lipoproteins (LDL); however, the results were contradictory. Some studies showed a negative correlation, whereas some others found a positive correlation (22-24).

Main Points:

- In the present study, osteoporotic patients had higher levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and lower triglyceride (TG) compared to healthy postmenopausal women. It was hypothesized that in cardiovascular diseases and osteoporosis, steroid metabolites could be a link between as a common cause of the association between lipid levels and bone mineral density (BMD).
- In our study, patients using alendronate (ALN) had significantly higher levels of HDL at the end of one-year treatment. The effect of ALN on increasing HDL can be explained by its effect on the mevalonate pathway; ALN inhibits the enzyme farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase.
- In postmenopausal women, low BMD and cardiovascular diseases are increased which results in elevated morbimortality. In our study, in accordance with the literature, we found a positive association between HDL and ALN.

This investigation study aimed to search for a change in total cholesterol (TC), LDL, HDL, and TG levels after ALN and SR treatment.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This retrospective study was conducted in the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the Faculty of Medicine of Dokuz Eylul University, İzmir, Turkey. Dokuz Eylul University ethics committee provided ethical approval in 26.12.2013 and the ethics approval form number is 1274-GOA. All patients in the study provided signed approval consent. The study population included 2 186 postmenopausal women who consulted the menopause outpatient clinic between November 2012 and July 2015 for dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) for BMD scanning. After being amenorrhic for one-year, the patients were determined as menopausal. In the analysis, patients who were in menopause and aged between 45 and 80 years were recruited. Exclusion criterias were as follows: disorders in bone metabolism which were diagnosed by radiography or blood chemistry evaluations; the presence of systemic diseases including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, medications or illnesses effecting bone metabolism; patients who had been under hormone replacement therapy; those with drug or alcohol abuse; and a history of consumption of ≥ 2 cups of caffeinated coffee days per week. Four hundred and fifty Turkish postmenopausal women with osteoporosis were assessed in the final analysis (Figure I).

Patient medical records were examined and blood test results were recorded for the evaluation of serum levels of LDL, TC, HDL, TG and calcium (Ca) levels. Commercially available assay kits (Abott) with an auto-analyzer (Aeroset, Abott) were used to check for the levels of TG, TC, HDL, and LDL. Auto-analyzer (Abbott Architect Cl6000, IL, USA) kits were used to assess Ca levels.

DEXA was used to measure the BMD of femoral neck (FN), lumbar spine (LI-L4) and total femur (TF). A structured questionnaire was documented for patients to evaluate the risk for low BMD. The results of DEXA for each patient were accessed from the department of radiology and from the medical records of the patients. The definition of osteoporosis was a T score \leq -2.5 in LI-L4, FN, and TF. The tool for the calculation for DEXA results was Lunar



FIGURE I. Flow chart of the study

TABLE I. Comparison of demographic characteristics and lipid pa- rameters of osteoporotic and non-osteoporotic women					
Descriptives	OP (n=450)	NOP (n=263)	*р		
Age (years)	60.72±6.93	60.02±5.90	0.311		
Gravida	3.70±2.10	3.59±2.08	0.562		
Parity	2.32±1.34	2.22±1.30	0.064		

TC (mg/dL)	212.75±38.16	216.55±37.22	0.615
TG (mg/dL)	121.90±56.54	123.29±45.89	0.004
HDL (mg/dL)	51.85±10.55	50.19±8.61	<0.001
LDL (mg/dL)	131.03±34.37	136.75±35.55	0.438
Ca (mg/dL)	9.45±0.61	9.12±0.58	0.141
BMI (kg/m²)	26.97±3.65	26.95±3.69	0.458

Abbreviations: TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low Density lipoprotein, Ca: Calcium, BMI: Body mass index, OP: Osteoporotic women, NOP: Non-osteoporotic women

Independent t test is used

*p<0.05 is significant

TABLE 2. Comparis	son of demograp	ohic findings of	osteoporotic wom-
en who were give	n alendronate ai	nd strontium ra	nelate

Descriptives	ALN (n=322)	STR (n=128)	Р
Age	60.59±7.18	61.05±6.25	0.503
Duration of menopause	12.23±7.15	l2.05±6.35	0.796
Menopausal age	48.24±3.68	48.91±3.03	0.050
BMI (kg/m²)	27.07±3.69	26.70±3.56	0.324
Gravida	3.62±2.09	3.90±2.14	0.206
Parity	2.29±1.32	2.4l±l.39	0.409
TC (mg/dL)	212.92±38.15	212.32±38.34	0.881
HDL (mg/dL)	51.37±10.09	52.37±10.26	0.726
LDL (mg/dL)	131.35±34.54	130.23±34.07	0.385
TG (mg/dL)	121.31±56.29	123.40±57.36	0.753
Calcium (mg/dL)	9.43±0.63	9.49±0.58	0.383
Lumbar I-Lumbar 4 DEXA	-2.82±0.54	-2.83±0.72	0.898
Total femur DEXA	-1.30±1.02	-1.26±1.02	0.670
Femur neck DEXA	-0.18±1.12	-0.15±1.23	0.823

Abbreviations: TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low Density lipoprotein, Ca: Calcium, BMI: Body mass index, DEXA: dual energy x-ray absorptiometry, ALN: Alendronic acid, SR: Strontium ranelate

Independent t test is used

DPX, GE Healthcare, USA; Software version:10.10.038. Calibration of the device was done daily. Patients in the osteoporosis group were further subdivided. Three hundred and twenty-two patients used ALN sodium and 128 patients used SR. For each group, after 12-months treatment, lipid parameters, serum Ca concentrations, and DEXA results were compared. The baseline characteristics of the groups are presented as the mean±standard deviation. A value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences software (SPSS v15, SPSS Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA). P-values less than 0.05 were regarded as statistically significant. **TABLE 3.** Comparison of lipid profile, serum calcium levels and DEXA results of the patients who were given ALN or SR at the end of one-year treatment

, our nounnorm					
		ALN	*р	STR	*р
TC (mg/dL)	Before	212.92±38.15	0.508	212.32±38.34	0.248
	After	214.18±38.71		208.72±32.61	
LDL (mg/dL)	Before	131.35±34.54	0.469	130.23±34.07	0.793
	After	132.60±33.12		129.46±27.52	
HDL(mg/dL)	Before	51.37±10.09	0.001	52.37±10.26	0.084
	After	53.32±10.66		51.17±9.91	
TG (mg/dL)	Before	121.31±56.29	0.311	123.40±57.36	0.271
	After	129.77±63.62		ll8.78±50.86	
Ca (mg/dL)	Before	9.43±0.62	0.001	9.49±0.58	0.001
	After	9.23±0.55		9.16±0.53	
Lumbar I- Lumbar 4	Before After	-2.82±0.54 -2.47±0.88	0.001	-2.83±0.72 -2.57±0.81	0.001
Total femur	Before	-1.30±1.02	0.356	-1.26±1.02	0.298
	After	-1.37±0.84		-1.37±0.70	
Femur neck	Before	-0.56±1.06	0.001	-0.56±1.02	0.001
	After	-0.17±1.12		-0.15±1.05	

Abbreviations: TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low Density lipoprotein, Ca: Calcium, DEXA: dual energy x-ray absorptiometry, ALN: alendronic acid, SR: Strontium ranelate Paired samples are used *p<0.05 is significant

RESULTS

The demographic characteristics and baseline findings of all 7l3 women are shown in Table I. Osteoporotic women were further subdivided and 322 were given ALN, and I28 were given SR. The initial characteristics of the osteoporotic women are compared in Table 2. In the intention-to-treat group, patients who were given ALN 70 mg/week showed significant improvement in BMD measurement of LI-L4 and the FN, but no change in TF DEXA results. In patients who were given SR 2 g/day, significant changes were found similar to those who received ALN after one-year follow-up (Table 3). Patients using ALN had significantly higher levels of HDL. There were no significant lipid parameter changes in the SR group. Serum Ca levels were significantly lower after one-year ALN and SR treatment (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

In clinical studies in the literature, SR and ALN have been shown to preserve bone loss and to decrease the risk of fracture. Several studies have shown that these drugs significantly improved bone mass and diminished the risk of fractures in the vertebra and hips (25-28). The current literature has shown that osteoporosis has a correlation with lipid metabolism and that ALN has effects on lipid parameters (2I-24). In the current study, we examined the effects of ALN versus SR on BMD, lipid metabolism and serum Ca levels. Our results show that ALN and SR both increase the BMD of LI-L4 and the FN and reduce the risk of fracture. These results confirmed those of previous studies. Rizzoli et al. examined 88 osteoporotic postmenopausal women (26). For two years, the patients were randomized to ALN or SR treatment. Rizzoli et al found that an increase in cortical thickness and the cortical area were higher in the SR group compared to the ALN group (26). However, no differences were observed in trabecular thickness between SR and ALN groups (2I). The mechanism of action of SR remains unclear. SR may enhance osteoblast differentiation, bone matrix mineralization, preosteoblast replication, and collagen type I synthesis by means of a Ca receptor and lower bone resorption (25). On the other hand, ALN has a high affinity to bone minerals and reduces the number and activity of osteoclasts which results in inhibition of bone resorption (27). In the study of Reginster et al., SR was compared with bisphosphonates (29). They found that for women older than 75 years and for women with higher risk of vertebral fractures aged 80 years, SR proved to be more efficient and not as expensive as bisphosphonates (29). Unlike Reginster et al, in our study, there was no statistically significant difference in the efficacy of SR and ALN.

Previous clinical data found that reduced bone mass was associated with elevated levels of cholesterol. A diet with excessive cholesterol increases the risk of low BMD, probably by inhibiting the differentiation and generation of osteoclasts (30). In the present study, osteoporotic patients had higher levels of HDL and lower TG compared to healthy postmenopausal women. In 2018, Yang et al. showed an inverse correlation between HDL and LDL with BMD (31). It was hypothesized that steroid metabolites could have a link between cardiovascular diseases and osteoporosis as a common cause of the relation between lipid levels and BMD. The pathophysiological link between lipid levels and BMD has not yet been fully understood. Genetic factors may also play a role in the shared mechanism. Dennison et al. established that there is a significant association between fasting TG concentrations and LI-L4 BMD (32). Equally, patients with increased risk of vertebral fractures had reduced concentrations of TG (32). TG can alter the protein matrix and bone mineral, leading to better bone quality. TG metabolism in bone tissue may be correlated with higher osteoblastogenesis and lower osteoclastogenesis.

In the present study, patients using ALN had significantly higher levels of HDL at the end of one-year treatment. The effect of ALN on increasing HDL can be explained by its effect on the MVA pathway; ALN inhibits the enzyme farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase. Adami et al. found that ALN treatment caused a significant decrease in LDL and Apo B levels and raised Apo A and HDL levels (33). In addition, Celiloglu et al. observed that the use of bisphosphonates decreases Apo B/Apo AI ratios significantly and this was cardioprotective (34). High cholesterol levels are correlated with increased risk of cardiac pathologies. In particular, reduced concentrations of HDL are associated with elevated risks of negative cardiovascular cases (18). There were no significant lipid parameter changes in the SR treatment group. In our hypothesis, we expected to find a significant change in lipid levels with SR usage; however, the study results did not show this effect. In general, ALN is more widely used compared to SR, and in our study, patients using SR were fewer. This may be the major limitation of our study. Another limitation to the study is that it is done retrospectively.

Serum Ca levels were significantly lower after one-year ALN and SR treatment. This may be due to the transport of serum Ca to the bones. In addition, the Ca levels were between normal ranges before and after treatment. Although the difference was statistically significant, this is not clinically important. In conclusion, in postmenopausal women, low BMD and cardiovascular diseases are increased, leading to elevated morbimortality. We have shown that there may be a link between atherosclerosis and osteoporosis.

There are conflicting results in the literature on the association between atherogenic lipid profiles and BMD. In literature, it is shown that alendronate (ALN) increases high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and it has cardioprotective effects. In our study, in accordance with the literature, we found a positive association between HDL and ALN. There is no study that has examined the effects of SR on lipid profile, but our study supports the fact that SR has no significant effect on lipid parameters.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine (26.12.2013/1274-GOA).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - B.A.; Design - Ö.E.Ö.; Supervision - B.A.; Resource - A.C.Ö.; Materials - Ö.E.Ö., A.C.Ö.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.C.Ö., Ö.E.Ö.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - A.C.Ö.; Literature Search - B.A.; Writing - Ö.E.Ö.; Critical Reviews - A.C.Ö., B.A.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Rachner TD, Khosla S, Hofbauer LC. Osteoporosis: now and the future. Lancet 2011; 377(9773): 1276-87. [Crossref]
- Iacono MV. Osteoporosis: a national public health priority. J Perianesth Nurs 2007; 22(3): I75-82. [Crossref]
- Tankó LB, Christiansen C, Cox DA, Geiger MJ, McNabb MA, Cummings SR. Relationship between osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 2005; 20(II): 1912-20. [Crossref]
- Cui LH, Shin MH, Chung EK, Lee YH, Kweon SS, Park KS, et al. Association between bone mineral densities and serum lipid profiles of pre- and post-menopausal rural women in South Korea. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16(12): 1975-81. [Crossref]
- Jeong TD, Lee W, Choi SE, Kim JS, Kim HK, Bae SJ, et al. Relationship between serum total cholesterol level and serum biochemical bone turnover markers in healthy pre- and postmenopausal women. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014: 398397. [Crossref]
- Hipmair G, Böhler N, Maschek W, Soriguer F, Rojo-Martínez G, Schimetta W, et al. Serum leptin is correlated to high turnover in osteoporosis. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2010; 31(1): 155-60.
- Hamerman D. Osetoporosis and atherosclerosis: biological linkages and the emergence of dual-purpose therapies. QJM 2005; 98(7): 467-84. [Crossref]
- Buhaescu I, Izzedine H. Mevalonate pathway: a review of clinical and therapeutical implications. Clin Biochem 2007; 40(9-10): 575-84. [Crossref]
- Cummins NM, Poku EK, Towler MR, O'Driscoll OM, Ralston SH. Clinical risk factors for osteoporosis in Ireland and the UK: a comparison of FRAX and QFracture Scores. Calcif Tissue Int 2011; 89(2): 172-7. [Crossref]

- Mansueto P, Vitale G, Seidita A, Guarneri FP, Pepe I, Rinollo C, et al. Mevalonate pathway: role of bisphosphonate and statina. Acta Medica Mediterr 2011; 27(2): 85-95.
- II. Reszka AA, Rodan GA. Nitrogen-containing bisphosphonate mechanism of action. Mini Rev Med Chem 2004; 4(7): 711-9. [Crossref]
- Takaoka S, Yamaguchi T, Yano S, Yamauchi M, Sugimoto T. The calcium-sensing receptor is involved in strontium ranelate-induced osteoblast differentiation and mineralization. Horm Metab Res 2010; 42(9): 627-31. [Crossref]
- Caudriltier A, Hurtel-Lemaire AS, Wattel A, Coumarie F, Godin C, Petit L, et al. Strontium ranelate decreases RANKL-induced osteoclastic differantion in vitro: involvement of the calcium sensing receptor. Mol Pharmacol 2010; 78(4): 569-76. [Crossref]
- Hurtel-Lemaire AS, Mentaverri R, Caudrillier A, Cournaire F. The calcium sensing receptor is involved in strontium ranelate induced osteoclast apoptosis. New insights into the associated signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 2009; 284(1): 575-84. [Crossref]
- Ammann P, Shen V, Robin B, Mauras Y, Bonjour JP, Rizzoli R. Strontium ranelate improves bone resistance by increasing bone mass and improving architecture in intact female rats. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19(12): 2012-20. [Crossref]
- Peng S, Liu XS, Wang T, Li Z, Zhou G, Luk KD, et al. In vivo anabolic effect of strontium on trabecular bone was associated with increased osteoblastogenesis of bone marrow stromal cells. J Orthop Res 2010; 28(9): 1208-14. [Crossref]
- Fournier C, Perrier A, Thomas M, Laroche N, Dumas V, Rattner A, et al. Reduction by strontium of the bone marrow adiposity in mice and repression of the adipogenic commitment of multipotent C3HI0TI/2 cells. Bone 2012; 50(2): 499-509. [Crossref]
- Gordon T, Castelli WP, Hjortland MC, Kannel WB, Dawber TR. High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease. The Praming-ham Study. Am J Med 1977; 62(5): 707-14. [Crossref]
- Rye KA, Bursill CA, lambert G, Tabet F, Barter PJ. The metabolism and antiatherogenic properties of HDL. J Lipid Res 2009; 50(Suppl): SI95-200. [Crossref]
- Jeon YK, Lee JG, Kim SS, Kim BH. Association between bone mineral density and metabolic syndrome in pre and postmenopausal women. Endocr J 2011; 58(2): 87-93. [Crossref]
- Jeong IK, Cho SW, Kim SW, Choi HJ, Kim SY. Lipid profiles and bone mineral density in pre and postmenopausal women in Korea. Calcif Tissue Int 2010; 87(6): 507-12. [Crossref]
- 22. Makovey J, Chen JS, Hayward C, Williams FM, Sambrook PN. Association between serum cholesterol and bone mineral density. Bone 2009; 44(2): 208-213. [Crossref]

- Go J-H, Song Y-M, Park J-H, Park J-Y, Choi Y-H. Association between Serum Cholesterol Level and Bone Mineral Density at Lumbar Spine and Femur Neck in Postmenopausal Korean Women. Korean J Fam Med 2012; 33(3): 166-73. [Crossref]
- Jeong T-D, Lee W, Choi S-E, Kim JS, Kim H-K, Bae SJ, et al. Relationship between serum total cholesterol level and serum biochemical bone turnover markers in healthy pre- and postmenopausal women. BioMed Res Int 2014; 2014: 398397 [Crossref]
- Das S, Crockett JC. Osteoporosis-a current view of pharmacological prevention and treatment. Drug Des Devel Ther 2013; 31(7): 435-48. [Crossref]
- Rizzoli R, Laroche M, Krieg MA, Frieling I, Thomas T, Delmas P, et al. Strontium ranelate and alendronate have differing effects on distal tibia bone microstructure in women with osteoporosis. Rheumatol Int 2010;30(10): 1341-8. [Crossref]
- Marie PJ. Strontium ranelate: a dual mode of action rebalancing bone turnover in favour of bone formation. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2006; 18(1): II-5. [Crossref]
- Rogers MJ, Gordon S, Benford HL. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates. Cancer 2000; 88(I2Suppl): 296I-78. [Crossref]
- Reginster JY, Hiligsmann M, Bruyere O. Strontium ranelate: longterm efficacy against vertebral, nonvertebral and hip fractures in patients with postmenopausal osteoporosis. Ther Adv Musculoskel Dis 2010; 2(3): 133-43. [Crossref]
- You L, Sheng Z, Tang C, Chen L, Pan L, Chen J. High cholesterol diet increases osteoporosis risk via inhibiting bone formation in rats. Acta Pharmacologica Senica 2011; 32(12): 1408-504. [Crossref]
- Yang Y, Liu G, Zhang Y, Xu G, Yi X, Liang Jet al. Association Between Bone Mineral Density, Bone Turnover Markers, and Serum Cholesterol Levels in Type 2 Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2018; 9: 646. [Crossref]
- Dennison EM, Syddall HE, Aihie Sayer A, Martin HJ, Cooper C, Hertfordshire Cohort Study Group. Lipid profile, obesity and bone mineral density: The Hertfordshire Cohort Study. QJM 2007; 100(5): 297-303. [Crossref]
- Adami S, Braga V, Guidi G, Gatti D, Gerardi D, Fracassi E. Chronic Intravenous aminobisphosphonate therapy increases high density lipoprotein cholesterol and decreases low density lipoprotein cholesterol. J Bone Miner Res 2000; I5(3): 599-604. [Crossref]
- Celiloglu M, Aydin Y, Balci P, Kolamaz T. The effect of alendronate sodium on carotid artery intima-media thickness and lipid profile in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis. Menopause 2009; 16(4): 689-93. [Crossref]

CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Review

Lasers for Removing Obturation Materials and Medicaments from the Root Canal: A Review

Mohamad Abduljalil¹ (D), Burcu Gunal Abduljalil² (D)

¹Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Near East University, Mersinl0, Turkey ²Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Near East University, Mersinl0, Turkey

ORCID iD of the author: M.A. 0000-0002-2244-9285; B.G.A. 0000-0001-5098-1765.

Cite this article as: Abduljalil M, Gunal Abduljalil B. Lasers for Removing Obturation Materials and Medicaments from the Root Canal: A Review. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 254-9.

The complete removal of obturation materials from root canals is an important factor for successful endodontic retreatment. Many devices and techniques have been introduced for improving the removal of root fillings. A laser is one of the most effective devices. The application of different types of laser devices such as erbium: yttrium aluminium garnet (Er:YAG), erbium chromium: yttrium scandium gallium garnet (Er,Cr:YSGG), neodymium-doped: yttrium aluminum garnet (Nd:YAG), and neodymium-doped: yttrium aluminum perovskite (Nd:YAP) can effectively remove obturation materials and canal medicaments from the root canal system. However, regardless of the type of laser, these devices have some disadvantages when using them in the root canals. Thermal effects such as carbonization areas and partial dissolution in the gutta-percha and dentine have been observed after laser applications. Unfortunately, none of the retreatment protocols or laser types was able to remove the remnants of filling materials completely from the root canal system. This review was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of different laser devices in removing obturation materials and medicaments from the root canal system.

Keywords: Filling materials, laser, removal, retreatment, root canal

INTRODUCTION

The main purpose of root canal retreatment is to remove the obturation materials completely from the root canal and to reach the apical foramen. Because the residual obturation materials and smear layer are considered to harbor microorganisms, the success of root canal retreatment depends on the complete removal of the root canal obturation materials and smear layer (I). Many techniques and devices can be used to remove the obturation materials, including hand files, rotary systems, reciprocal systems, and solvents. However, a significant amount of residual obturation materials has been observed on the canal walls after using these techniques (2-4). Therefore, supplementary procedures should be applied after using hand or rotary files to improve the cleaning and complete removal of the obturation materials from root canals. Several devices have been introduced for this aim, including sonic, ultrasonic, and laser devices.

The first use of laser in endodontic treatment was in 1971 by Weichman and Johnson (5). In the following years, many studies have been conducted to evaluate the application of laser in the root canal (6, 7). In addition to the use of laser devices in disinfection and preparation of the root canals, several studies have been conducted to evaluate the efficacy of different types of lasers to remove the gutta-percha and sealers from the root canal during the endodontic retreatment (8, 9). In the literature, the laser devices used in removing the obturation materials included erbium: yttrium aluminium garnet (Er:YAG), erbium chromium: yttrium scandium gallium garnet (Er;Cr:YSGG), neodymium-doped: yttrium aluminum garnet (Nd:YAG), and neodymium-doped: yttrium aluminum perovskite (Nd:YAP) lasers. These laser devices, which have different wavelengths, were evaluated in different output powers to remove not only the obturation materials but also the root canal medicaments.

During the root canal retreatment, several studies have been conducted to evaluate the efficacy of different types of laser devices in endodontic retreatment. Hence, this review aimed to identify studies that investigated the effectiveness of different laser devices on removing the obturation materials and medicaments from the root canal system. Table I summarizes these studies that evaluated the laser devices.

Corresponding Author: Mohamad Abduljalil E-mail: mohamad_abduljalil@hotmail.com

Received: 20.12.2019 Accepted: 27.02.2020

Er:YAG Laser

The Er:YAG laser was introduced in 1975, and it was the first laser approved by the Food and Drug Administration for use in hard tissues in 1977. This laser beam has a wavelength of 2940 nm and can be used to remove both hard and soft tissues. The Er:YAG laser's high affinity to water and hydroxyapatite results in a cleaner root canal surface (10). Photon-induced photoacoustic streaming (PIPS) is one of the activation methods powered by the Er:YAG laser. This method uses a radial and stripped-shape design tip to transfer laser energy into the irrigant to enhance the removal of filling materials during a retreatment procedure (II).

Several studies in the literature have evaluated the use of the Er:YAG laser in removing the materials from the root canal system. Previous studies estimated the Er:YAG laser on removing the obturation materials from the root canal at a wavelength of 2940 nm with different output powers. The results were that the differences between several output powers were not significant in removing the filling materials (12, 13). At 3 energy levels (30, 40, and 50 mJ) of the Er:YAG laser (Dentlite; Hoya Photonics, Tokyo, Japan), the time required to remove the filling materials was significantly shorter when using the highest output power (12). On the other hand, Gorduysus et al. (13) concluded that the difference between the removal time at 40 and 50 mJ powers was not significant, but that carbonization areas were observed when using these output powers. In another previous study, the Er:YAG laser (Versawave; HOYA ConBio, Fremont, CA) at 2940 nm and I.5 W output power was compared with irrigation solutions in removing calcium hydroxide from the root canal system. The Er:YAG laser was superior to the irrigation solutions in removing calcium hydroxide, but the difference was not statistically significant (I4).

The PIPS method was used in previous studies to remove the remnants of filling materials after using rotary retreatment files. PIPS (Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia) using the parameters of 2940 nm, I W, 20 Hz, and 50 mJ was evaluated in oval-shaped root canals and showed significantly better performance in removing the filling remnants than sonic and ultrasonic devices (I5). According to the results of Suk et al. (I6), there was a significant reduction in the residual fillings when using PIPS (LightWalker; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia) at 20 mJ, regardless of the canal sealer type. However, Dönmez Özkan et al. (I7) concluded that using the PIPS (Fotona) technique after different rotary retreatment systems did not show a significant additional effect regarding the removal of filling material compared with conventional needle irrigation. In addition, many studies

Main Points:

- The success of root canal retreatment depends on the complete removal of the root canal obturation materials and smear layer.
- The application of laser devices can effectively remove the obturation materials and canal medicaments from the root canal system.
- The time of laser irradiation and energy power used should be considered when applying the laser in the root canal to avoid the thermal effects.

have evaluated the effect of using the PIPS method on removing different types of canal medicaments compared with other devices. All results showed that PIPS was significantly superior in removing the canal medicaments, regardless of the parameters used (18-21).

Er,Cr:YSGG Laser

One of the erbium laser group, the Er,Cr:YSGG laser has a 2780 nm wavelength. The Er,Cr:YSGG laser requires higher energy than the Er:YAG laser for dental hard tissue ablation when used at the same parameters (22).

Some studies were found in the literature reporting on the use of the Er,Cr:YSGG laser in removing the canal medicaments and obturation materials. Using the Er,Cr:YSGG laser (Waterlase; Biolase Technology, Irvine, CA) at 25 mJ and 20 Hz left significantly less medicaments in the canal when compared with the irrigation needle (23, 24). Abduljalil and Kalender (25) evaluated the Er,Cr:YSGG laser (Waterlase MD; Biolase) for removing the filling materials at 2 different output powers after using rotary files. Regardless of the obturation technique, they reported that using the Er,Cr:YSGG laser at the parameters of 2780 nm, 20 Hz and 3.0 W was significantly more effective in removing the filling remnants than at the I.5 W output power of this laser. However, using the Er,Cr:YSGG laser at 3.0 W power caused carbonization on the canal walls in some specimens.

Nd:YAG Laser

A fine flexible glass fiber made of quartz has been developed for the Nd:YAG laser to transmit the laser beam more effectively and to permit its concentration in a specific area. This has increased the potential usefulness of the Nd:YAG laser in root canal treatment and it is expected that the Nd:YAG laser will be increasingly used in the dental clinic, especially in the field of endodontics. This laser device is used at a 1064 nm wavelength (26).

The Nd:YAG laser has been investigated for removing the filling materials in many studies. According to the evaluation of Anjo et al. (26), using the Nd:YAG laser (STATLase EPY; ARA400, S.L.T. JAPAN, Tokyo, Japan) at 1064 nm and 900 mJ per pulse was superior to Gates-Glidden drills in removing 2 types of filling materials. Also, the time required for the removal of obturation materials was significantly shorter in the Nd:YAG laser groups. Yu et al. (27) reported that using the Nd:YAG laser (d-Lase 300; American Dental Laser, Birmingham, MI) at I, 2 and, 3 W powers, respectively, and at 1064 nm removed the filling materials completely in 70% of the tested samples, but the temperature was increased up to 27°C. Viducic et al. (28) evaluated this laser (Twinlight Dental Laser; Fotona, Slovenia) with or without solvents and found that the area of remaining gutta-percha was smaller when using the laser at 20 Hz and 1.5 W without solvents, but that the difference was not statistically significant. In addition, the shortest time to achieve the working length of the canal was found in the group without solvents. In a study by Majori et al. (29), the effect of using the Nd:YAG laser (Pulse Master 600 IQ; American Dental Technologies, Corpus Christi, TX) was investigated in root canal retreatment. They reported that the higher output power (5.6 W) was better in the removal of obturation materials than the other output powers (I.5 and 2 W). When comparing the Nd:YAG laser with the K3 rotary sys-

TABLE I. Summary of studies evaluating lasers on removing the obturation materials and medicaments from the root canal.				
Authors	Year	Type of Laser	Parameters	Results/Conclusion
Farge et al. (31)	1998	Nd:YAP	1340 nm wavelength - 5 Hz, 200 mJ - 10 Hz, 200 mJ	Nd:YAP at I0 Hz/200 mJ was an effective device for root canal preparation in root canal retreatment in combination with hand instruments.
Yu et al. (27)	2000	Nd:YAG (d-Lase 300; American Dental Laser, Birmingham, MI)	1064 nm wavelength 1.0 W, 2.0 W and 3.0 W, respectively	Nd:YAG removed the filling materials when using all these parameters respectively. The temperature was increased up to 27°C.
Viducic et al. (28)	2003	Nd:YAG (Twinlight Dental Laser; Fotona, Slovenia)	1064 nm wavelength 1.5 W, 20 Hz	The area of remaining gutta-percha was smaller when using the Nd:YAG laser without solvents, but there was no statistically significant difference between the groups.
Majori et al. (29)	2004	Nd:YAG (Pulse Master 600 IQ-American Dental Technologies; Corpus Christi, TX)	1064 nm wavelength - 100 mJ, 15 Hz, 1.5 W - 100 mJ, 20 Hz, 2.0 W - 160 mJ, 35 Hz, 5.6 W	Better removal of debris and gutta-percha from dentin surfaces in groups in which higher Nd:YAG laser power levels were used.
Anjo et al. (26)	2004	Nd:YAG (STATLase EPY; ARA400, S.LT.JAPAN, Tokyo, Japan)	1064 nm wavelength 900 mJ/Pulse	Using the Nd:YAG laser was superior to Gates- Glidden drills in removing 2 types of filling materials.
Tachinami and Katsuumi (I2)	2010	Er:YAG (Dentlite; Hoya Photonics, Tokyo, Japan)	2940 nm wavelength - 30 mJ/Pulse, l0 Hz - 40 mJ/Pulse, l0 Hz - 50 mJ/Pulse, l0 Hz	The differences between these output powers were not significant in removing the filling materials.
Kaptan et al. (14)	2012	Er:YAG (Versawave; HOYA ConBio, Fremont, CA)	2940 nm wavelength I.5 W, I00 mJ, I5 Hz	The Er:YAG laser was superior to the irrigation solutions in removing calcium hydroxide, but the difference was statistically not significant.
Arslan et al. (18)	2014	Er:YAG-PIPS (Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength 0.3 W, 20 mJ, 15 Hz	The results showed that PIPS removed significantly more antibiotic pastes than the EndoActivator and needle irrigation.
Arslan et al. (20)	2015	Er:YAG-PIPS (Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength 0.9 W, 30 mJ, 30 Hz	PIPS was significantly superior to needle irrigation, sonic irrigation, and ultrasonic irrigation in removing calcium hydroxide from the root canal.
Keleș et al. (8)	2015	Er:YAG Er:YAG-PIPS Nd:YAG	2940 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz 2940 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz 1064 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz	A comparison between the groups showed that Er:YAG laser application after the use of rotary instruments resulted in a significantly higher removal of filling remnants than PIPS and Nd:YAG.
Li et al. (19)	2015	Er:YAG-PIPS (Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength 0.3 W, 20 mJ, I5 Hz	The PIPS and ultrasonic groups showed greater calcium hydroxide reduction in the apical third and greater cleanliness of the isthmus than the EndoActivator and needle irrigation groups. Calcium hydroxide residue scores in the PIPS and ultrasonic groups were significantly lower than those in the EndoActivator and needle groups in all regions of the root canals.
Samiei et al. (30)	2016	Nd:YAG	1064 nm wavelength	The Nd:YAG laser group was significantly cleaner than the K3 rotary system group in the coronal third.
Kuştarcı et al. (23)	2016	Er,Cr:YSGG (Biolase; San Clemente, CA)	2780 nm wavelength 0.50 W, 25 mJ, 20 Hz	Significantly less residual calcium hydroxide was obtained in the Er,Cr:YSGG laser-activated groups than in the needle-irrigated groups.
Keleș et al. (32)	2016	Er:YAG Er:YAG-PIPS Nd:YAG	2940 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz 2940 nm, 0.9W, 45 mJ, 20Hz 1064 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz	The least amount of residual smear layer and debris was detected in the Er:YAG laser group when compared with the PIPS method, Nd:YAG, self-adjusting file, and ultrasonic device.
Jiang et al. (15)	2016	Er:YAG-PIPS (Fidelis AT, Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz	There was a significantly greater reduction in the amount of filling remnants in the PIPS group than in the sonic and ultrasonic groups.
Kamalak et al. (9)	2016	Er:YAG Er:YAG-PIPS Nd:YAG	2940 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz 2940 nm, 0.9W, 45 mJ, 20Hz 1064 nm, I W, 50 mJ, 20 Hz	The lowest fracture resistance was detected in the PIPS technique group, but the differences were not significant when compared with the Er:YAG and Nd:YAG lasers groups. The groups that did not r ceive any retreatment procedure exhibited a signif cantly higher fracture resistance than the other experimental groups, which received the retreatment procedure.

TABLE I. Summary of studies evaluating lasers on removing the obturation materials and medicaments from the root canal. (Continued)				
Authors	Year	Type of Laser	Parameters	Results/Conclusion
Eymirli et al. (24)	2017	Er,Cr:YSGG (Waterlase; Biolase Technology, Irvine, CA)	2780 nm wavelength 25 mJ, 20 Hz	For both EDTA and phytic acid, Er,Cr:YSGG laser-activated irrigation was more efficient than needle irrigation in removing both CH and TAP, but none of the tested techniques completely removed calcium hydroxide. Irrespective of the tested irrigation solutions and techniques, significantly less TAP remained in canals, with TAP being completely removed by laser-activated irrigation.
Gorduysus et al. (13)	2017	Er:YAG	2940 nm wavelength - 40 mJ/Pulse, I0 Hz - 50 mJ/Pulse, I0 Hz	There was no significant difference between 40 and 50 mJ laser output powers, but ultrasonic versus 40 or 50 mJ laser outputs were significantly different.
Suk et al. (16)	2017	Er:YAG-PIPS (LightWalker, Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength 20 mJ, 2.06 J/cm2, I5 Hz	Regardless of the canal sealer type, there was significant reduction of the filling remnants after canal irradiation by PIPS in all groups.
Laky et al. (21)	2018	Er:YAG-PIPS (Lightwalker, Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia)	2940 nm wavelength - 0.15 W, 10 mJ, 15 Hz - 1.0 W, 25 mJ, 40 Hz	No significant differences were found for calcium hydroxide removal between the 2 PIPS technique groups. Sonic-assisted removal and needle irrigation resulted in significantly less calcium hydroxide removal than both laser groups.
Dönmez Özkan et al. (17)	2019	Er:YAG-PIPS (Fotona)	2940 nm Wavelength 0.3 W, 20 mJ, I5 Hz	Using the PIPS method after different rotary retreatment systems did not show a significant additional effect regarding the removal of filling material compared with conventional needle irrigation.
Abduljalil and Kalender (25)	2019	Er,Cr:YSGG (Waterlase MD; Biolase, Irvine, CA)	2780 nm Wavelength - 1.5 W, 75 mJ, 20 Hz - 3.0 W, 150 mJ, 20 Hz	Regardless of the obturation technique, using the Er,Cr:YSGG laser was significantly more effective in removing the filling remnants than 1.5 W output power of this laser.

tem for root canal retreatment, the laser group was significantly cleaner than the K3 rotary system group in the coronal third. Additionally, the mean time necessary for the debridement of root canals in the laser group was significantly shorter than that in the K3 group (30).

Nd:YAP Laser

Limited information was found in the literature regarding the use of the Nd:YAP laser in root canals. Farge et al. (31) evaluated the Nd:YAP laser in endodontic retreatment. This laser, which was used in that study at with the parameters of 1340 nm wavelength, 10 Hz, and 200 mJ, was an effective device for root canal preparation in root canal retreatment when used with hand instruments.

Combinations of Lasers

Several article in the literature have compared different types of laser devices. One of these studies that used microcomputed tomography has concluded that a comparison between laser groups showed that Er:YAG laser (Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia) irradiation after retreatment with rotary instruments demonstrated a significantly greater removal of filling remnants than Er:YAG laser-based PIPS and Nd:YAG laser (Fotona). An output power of I W was used for these laser devices and the wavelengths were set according to the manufacturer instructions (8). Furthermore, a study by Keleş et al. (32) reported that the least amount of residual smear layer and debris was detected with the Er:YAG laser (Fidelis AT, Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia) group when compared with the PIPS technique, the Nd:YAG laser (Fidelis AT; Fotona), a self-adjusting file, and an ultrasonic device. Kamalak et al. (9) reported that the fracture resistance of the tooth was evaluated after performing retreatment procedures with different lasers and other devices. The groups that did not receive any retreatment procedure exhibited a significantly higher fracture resistance than the other experimental groups that received the retreatment procedure. The lowest fracture resistance was detected when the PIPS method was used (2940 nm; Fotona), but the differences were not significant when compared with the Er:YAG (2940nm, Fidelis AT; Fotona, Ljubljana, Slovenia) and Nd:YAG (1064 nm; Fotona) laser groups.

According to this review, different types of laser devices have been evaluated for the removal of filling materials and medicaments from the root canal system in many studies. These lasers were used in several ways at different output powers and in combination with other tools and materials such as irrigation solutions or solvents.

In general, the laser device is an effective tool to clean filling materials from the root canal system. However, regardless of the retreatment procedure or laser type, the removal of the filling materials was reportedly more effective in the coronal and middle third than the apical third in several previous studies (25, 32). This could be because of the increased number of lateral and accessory canals in the apical third. In addition, moving the fiber tip of the laser in circular movements in the coronal and middle thirds and in parallel movements without touching the canal wall in the apical third could be another reason for this finding.

Regardless of the laser type used, thermal effects such as carbonization areas and partial dissolution in the gutta-percha and dentine were observed after laser applications (12, 16, 25). Thus, the time of laser irradiation and energy power used should be considered when applying the laser in the root canal to avoid these thermal effects. However, none of the retreatment protocols or types of lasers were able to remove the remnants of filling materials completely from the root canal system (8, 25, 33, 34).

CONCLUSION

Different types of laser devices were evaluated for the removal of filling materials from root canal systems. Regardless of the disadvantages of lasers, including thermal effects, cracks, and carbonization, the laser devices were superior in removing and cleaning the root canal system in retreatment cases when compared with other devices. The time of laser irradiation and the output power should be considered to avoid the thermal effects of lasers. Because none of the retreatment techniques and devices were able to remove the filling materials completely from the root canal, further studies are required to evaluate the removal of root fillings by laser devices in combination with other materials and tools.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept – A.M., G.A.B.; Design – A.M.; Supervision – A.M.; Resource – G.A.B.; Materials – A.M., G.A.B.; Data Collection and/ or Processing – A.M., G.A.B.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – G.A.B.; Literature Search – A.M., G.A.B.; Writing – A.M.; Critical Reviews – G.A.B.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Marques da Silva B, Baratto-Filho F, Leonardi DP, Henrique Borges A, Volpato L, Branco Barletta F. Effectiveness of ProTaper, D-RaCe, and Mtwo retreatment files with and without supplementary instruments in the removal of root canal filling material. Int Endod J 2012; 45(10): 927-32. [Crossref]
- Rödig T, Hausdörfer T, Konietschke F, Dullin C, Hahn W, Hulsmann M. Efficacy of D-RaCe and ProTaper Universal Retreatment NiTi instruments and hand files in removing gutta-percha from curved root canals-a micro-computed tomography study. Int Endod J 2012; 45(6): 580-9. [Crossref]
- Rödig T, Kupis J, Konietschke F, Dullin C, Drebenstedt S, Hulsmann M. Comparison of hand and rotary instrumentation for removing gutta-percha from previously treated curved root canals: a microcomputed tomography study. Int Endod J 2014; 47(2): 173-82. [Crossref]
- Martinho FC, Freitas LF, Nascimento GG, Fernandes AM, Leite FR, Gomes AP, et al. Endodontic retreatment: clinical comparison of reciprocating systems versus rotary system in disinfecting root canals. Clin Oral Investig 2015; 19(6): 1411-7. [Crossref]
- Weichman JA, Johnson FM. Laser use in endodontics. A preliminary investigation. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1971; 31(3): 416-20. [Crossref]
- Christo JE, Zilm PS, Sullivan T, Cathro PR. Efficacy of low concentrations of sodium hypochlorite and low-powered Er,Cr:YSGG laser activated irrigation against an Enterococcus faecalis biofilm. Int Endod J 2016; 49(3): 279-86. [Crossref]
- Shahriari S, Kasraei S, Roshanaei G, Karkeabadi H, Davanloo H. Efficacy of Sodium Hypochlorite Activated with Laser in Intracanal Smear Layer Removal: An SEM Study. J Lasers Med Sci 2017; 8(1): 36-41. [Crossref]
- Keleş A, Arslan H, Kamalak A, Akcay M, Sousa-Neto MD, Versiani MA. Removal of filling materials from oval-shaped canals using la-

ser irradiation: a micro-computed tomographic study. J Endod 2015; 41(2): 219-24. [Crossref]

- Kamalak A, Uzun I, Arslan H, Keleş A, Doğanay E, Keskin C, et al. Fracture Resistance of Endodontically Retreated Roots After Retreatment Using Self-Adjusting File, Passive Ultrasonic Irrigation, Photon-Induced Photoacoustic Streaming, or Laser. Photomed Laser Surg 2016; 34(10): 467-72. [Crossref]
- Bader C, Krejci I. Indications and limitations of Er:YAG laser applications in dentistry. Am J Dent 2006; 19(3): 178-86.
- II. Olivi G, DiVito EE. Advanced Laser-Activated Irrigation: PIPSTM Technique and Clinical Protocols. In: Olivi G, De Moor R, DiVito E, eds. Lasers in Endodontics. Cham: Springer; 2016: 216-91. [Crossref]
- Tachinami H, Katsuumi I. Removal of root canal filling materials using Er:YAG laser irradiation. Dent Mater J 2010; 29(3): 246-52. [Crossref]
- Gorduysus MO, Al-Rubai H, Salman B, Al Saady D, Al-Dagistani H, Muftuoglu S. Using erbium-doped yttrium aluminum garnet laser irradiation in different energy output levels versus ultrasonic in removal of root canal filling materials in endodontic retreatment. Eur J Dent 2017; II(3): 281-6. [Crossref]
- Kaptan F, Karapinar-Kazandag M, Kayahan MB, Bora T, Bayirli G. Potential of an Er:YAG Laser in the Removal of Calcium Hydroxide from Root Canals. Photomed Laser Surg 2012; 30(5): 250-4. [Crossref]
- Jiang S, Zou T, Li D, Chang JW, Huang X, Zhang C. Effectiveness of sonic, ultrasonic, and photon-induced photoacoustic streaming activation of NaOCI on filling material removal following retreatment in oval canal anatomy. Photomed Laser Surg 2016; 34(1): 3-10. [Crossref]
- Suk M, Bago I, Katić M, Šnjarić D, Munitić MŠ, Anić I. The efficacy of photon-initiated photoacoustic streaming in the removal of calcium silicate-based filling remnants from the root canal after rotary retreatment. Lasers Med Sci 2017; 32(9): 2055-62. [Crossref]
- Dönmez Özkan H, Kaval ME, Özkan G, Yiğit Özer S. Efficacy of Two Different Nickel-Titanium Rotary Systems in Retreatment Procedure with or Without Laser-Activated Irrigation: An In Vitro Study. Photobiomodul Photomed Laser Surg 2019; 37(8): 495-9. [Crossref]
- Arslan H, Akcay M, Capar ID, Ertas H, Ok E, Uysal B. Efficacy of Needle Irrigation, EndoActivator, and Photon-initiated Photoacoustic Streaming Technique on Removal of Double and Triple Antibiotic Pastes. J Endod 2014; 40(9): 1439-42. [Crossref]
- Li D, Jiang S, Yin X, Chang JW, Ke J, Zhang C. Efficacy of needle, ultrasonic, and EndoActivator irrigation and photon-induced photoacoustic streaming in removing calcium hydroxide from the main canal and isthmus: an in vitro micro-computed tomography and scanning electron microscopy study. Photomed Laser Surg 2015; 33(6): 330-7. [Crossref]
- 20. Arslan H, Akcay M, Capar ID, Saygili G, Gok T, Ertas H. An in vitro comparison of irrigation using photon-initiated photoacoustic streaming, ultrasonic, sonic and needle techniques in removing calcium hydroxide. Int Endod J 2015; 48(3): 246-51. [Crossref]
- Laky M, Volmer M, Arslan M, Agis H, Moritz A, Cvikl B. Efficacy and Safety of Photon Induced Photoacoustic Streaming for Removal of Calcium Hydroxide in Endodontic Treatment. Biomed Res Int 2018; 2018: 2845705. [Crossref]
- 22. Lin S, Liu Q, Peng Q, Lin M, Zhan Z, Zhang X. The ablation threshold of Er: YAG laser and Er, Cr: YSGG laser in dental dentin. Sci Res Essays 2010; 5(16): 2128-35.
- Kuştarcı A, Er K, Siso SH, Aydın H, Harorlı H, Arslan D, et al. Efficacy of Laser-Activated Irrigants in Calcium Hydroxide Removal from the Artificial Grooves in Root Canals: An Ex Vivo Study. Photomed Laser Surg 2016; 34(5): 205-10. [Crossref]
- 24. Eymirli A, Nagas E, Uyanik MO, Cehreli ZC. Effect of Laser-Activated Irrigation with Ethylene Diaminetetraacetic Acid and Phytic Acid on the Removal of Calcium Hydroxide and Triple Antibiotic Paste from Root Dentin. Photomed Laser Surg 2017; 35(1): 43-8. [Crossref]

- Abduljalil M, Kalender A. Efficacy of Er,Cr:YSGG Laser with Different Output Powers on Removing Smear Layer After Retreatment of Two Different Obturation Techniques. Photobiomodul Photomed Laser Surg 2020; 38(2): 84-90. [Crossref]
- Anjo T, Ebihara A, Takeda A, Takashina M, Sunakawa M, Suda H. Removal of two types of root canal filling material using pulsed Nd:YAG laser irradiation. Photomed Laser Surg 2004; 22(6): 470-6. [Crossref]
- Yu DG, Kimura Y, Tomita Y, Nakamura Y, Watanabe H, Matsumoto K. Study on removal effects of filling materials and broken files from root canals using pulsed Nd:YAG laser. J Clin Laser Med Surg 2000; I8(1): 23-8. [Crossref]
- Viducic D, Jukic S, Karlovic Z, Bozic Z, Miletic I, Anic I. Removal of gutta-percha from root canals using an Nd: YAG laser. Int Endod J 2003; 36(10): 670-3. [Crossref]
- Majori M, Bedini R, Filippini P, Altamura C, Caiazza S. SEM evaluation of canal walls after Nd:YAG laser removal of gutta percha. J Oral Laser Appl 2004; 4(4): 249-55.

Abduljalil and Gunal Abduljalil. Using Lasers in Endodontic Retreatment

- Samiei M, Ghasemi N, Torab A, Rahimi S, Niknami M, Rikhtegaran S, et al. Comparative CBCT evaluation of the efficacy of Nd:YAG laser and K3 rotary system in non-surgical root canal retreatment. Minerva Stomatol 2016; 65(1): II-6.
- 31. Farge P, Nahas P, Bonin P. In vitro study of a Nd:YAP laser in endodontic retreatment. J Endod 1998; 24(5): 359-63. [Crossref]
- Keles A, Kamalak A, Keskin C, Akçay M, Uzun I. The efficacy of laser, ultrasound and self-adjustable file in removing smear layer debris from oval root canals following retreatment: a scanning electron microscopy study. Aust Endod J 2016; 42(3): 104-11. [Crossref]
- Hulsmann M, Bluhm V. Efficacy, cleaning ability and safety of different rotary NiTi instruments in root canal retreatment. Int Endod J 2004; 37(7): 468-76. [Crossref]
- Bernardes RA, Duarte MA, Vivian RR, Alcalde MP, Vas- concelos BC, Bramante CM. Comparison of three retreatment techniques with ultrasonic activation in flattened canals using micro-computed tomography and scanning electron microscopy. Int Endod J 2016; 49(9): 890-7. [Crossref]

Review

White Spot Lesions: Recent Detection and Treatment Methods

İsmail Serhat Sadıkoğlu 回

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Near East University, School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

ORCID iD of the author: İ.S.S. 0000-0002-8608-6348.

Cite this article as: Sadıkoğlu İS. White Spot Lesions: Recent Detection and Treatment Methods. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 260-6.

Nowadays, the importance of detecting and treating carious lesions before they turn into irreversible cavitations in dental tissue has been understood. The white spot lesion is the first visual finding of enamel caries. At this stage, it is possible to stop the caries formation and even heal the formed sub-surface lesion by various methods. Most dentists have difficulties while choosing preventive or interventional treatment methods for these situations. In line with the basics of minimally invasive dentistry, this review aims to provide an understanding of the histological character of white spot lesions and to inform clinicians about current methods of detection and treatment, and to approach these cases in their clinical routine with a minimally invasive perspective.

Keywords: White spot lesion, resin infiltration, remineralization, DiagnoCam, soprolife, fluorecam

INTRODUCTION

The stage before cavitation in the development of dental caries is called white spot lesion. It is characterized by subsurface demineralization areas formed under an intact enamel surface (I). The mineral content in the affected area is reduced, which in turn affects the translucent feature of the enamel, and the color of these areas appears more opaque white. Hence, initial enamel lesions or flat surface caries are also called white spot lesions (2). They are the first visible findings in caries formation and are considered as initial lesions by many clinicians. However, it should be remembered that demineralization must have a minimum depth of $300-500 \ \mu m$ to be visible (3). In actual practice, it is important to differentiate the etiology of these lesions because they can be due to caries or even hereditary. Lesions originating from caries progression become apparent opaque and chalky when the tooth surface is dried with air. This appearance is because the enamel tissue in this area loses its translucent feature due to subsurface demineralization. In contrast, developmental lesions are less or not affected by air-drying (4). The aim of the current review is to remain readers about the histological structure of white spot lesions and to provide information about current diagnosis and treatment methods.

Histological Characteristics of White Spot Lesions

In the carious lesions examined, it was determined that the mineral loss first occurred at the center of the enamel prisms. Although its cause cannot be fully explained, it is thought that the low crystal density at the center of the prism allows acid diffusion from the outside (5). The white spot lesion consists of four histological layers. These layers from the deepest part of the lesion to the surface are translucent layer, dark layer, lesion body, and superficial layer.

Translucent Layer

The translucent layer showing the direction of the enamel caries has the feature of being the deepest layer of the initial caries lesion. This layer got this name because of its appearance under polarized light after being painted with a quinoline solution that does not contain the structural elements seen in healthy enamel samples. Pores or cavities are formed between prisms with the penetration of hydrogen ions that occur during caries formation. Quinoline solution has the same light refraction coefficient value with the enamel. So, this layer with 1% pore volume becomes invisible in the polarized microscopy examination when stained with quinoline (6).

Dark Layer

(•)

The second layer that we encounter when coming up more on subsurface is called the dark layer. The reason for this black appearance formed under polarized light is the presence of too many pores in this area that are too small to ab-

Corresponding Author: İsmail Serhat Sadıkoğlu E-mail: dtismailsadikoglu@gmail.com sorb a quinoline solution. Since these pores are filled with air, the affected area appears opaque white in the clinic. Total pore volume in the dark layer varies between 2% and 4% (4, 6). Some of the researchers working in this field say that this layer was not formed during demineralization, but through shrinking of the larger pores that existed as a result of ion accumulation. An increase in the volume of the lesion body was observed in this region during experimental remineralization. Caries is considered to occur very quickly in lesions where the dark layer is not observed (6). While it does not contain this layer in the first examination, monitoring of its formation in the examinations after the remineralization processes supports the view that the formation of the dark layer is related to the remineralization process (7).

Lesion Body

During the demineralization phase, the largest part of the initial caries lesion is the lesion body. It is the layer with the most pore volume among the enamel caries layers with its pore volume starting from 5% at the boundary of the lesion body, expanding to 25% in the center. Retzius lines are clearly observed within the lesion body, which shows that there is relatively more demineralization in this region compared to other areas and the porous structure is increased. The first penetration of caries into the enamel is in line with the Retzius lines (6).

If the pore volume is wide enough to allow penetration, it is possible to see bacteria in the lesion body. In some studies in which the lesion body was examined using a transmission electron microscope(TEM) and scanning electron microscope (SEM), bacterial invasion was found between the enamel prisms (8).

Superficial Layer

The migration of calcium and phosphate ions from the enamel prisms that has dissolved at the bottom and the fluoride movement from the mouth to the enamel surface have made the superficial layer more resistant to acid attacks (7). The more durable and intact structure of this layer is not due to the genetic or structural features of the enamel. These beneficial properties are the result of ion exchanges during demineralization/remineralization cycles. In this way, intact enamel surface acts as a barrier against bacterial invasion (6).

Classification of White Spot Lesions

There are various classifications for white spot lesions, but the

Main Points:

- Detecting and treating carious lesions before they turn into irreversible cavitations in dental tissue is possible and can be done with a proper patient examination. Today's technology has made it easier for us to detect initial lesions at an early stage.
- Accurate diagnosis and individualized treatment methods according to lesion characteristics, should be used in the treatment of early stage lesions.
- Resin infiltration technique acts as a bridge between non-invasive and invasive methods. Depending on the lesion depth, dental practitioners can use this method alone or combining with other techniques such as bleaching and micro-abrasion.

most frequently used method is the International Caries Detection & Assessment System (ICDAS) classification, which is created by combining the most successful features of all detection and evaluation systems used in the detection of caries by Ekstrand et al. (9). Although we started to understand the formation of caries and the influencing factors, over the years, it was clear that ICDAS I was inadequate in evaluating the lesion activity. Therefore, ICDAS I was modified in 2004, and ICDAS II was launched (I0).

In ICDAS II, radiographic images of enamel and dentin lesions are also included in the classification. It is divided into five classes as follows:

- El: Lesion that reaches the outer half of the enamel
- E2: Lesion that has advanced to the inner half of the enamel
- · DI: Lesion that is limited to the outer one-third of the dentin
- \cdot $\,$ D2: Lesion that has advanced to the middle third of the dentin
- D3: Lesion that has advanced to the inner one-third of the dentin

Diagnosis Methods for White Spot Lesions

Nowadays, the importance of diagnosing carious lesions before they turn into irreversible cavitations has been understood. Most dentists have difficulty in deciding when to apply preventive methods and when to intervene. Evaluation of the patient's caries activity is also important in the diagnosis and treatment plan. White spot lesions in a caries-active mouth can quickly turn into cavitations. However, in people with low caries activity, the repair mechanisms will be more effective; therefore, the lesions may have the potential of healing. Hence, it is important to plan the treatment according to the caries activity in individuals after a correct diagnosis (II). The most commonly used diagnostic methods are listed next.

Visual Examination

The most used diagnostic method in the daily routine of dentists is visual examination (3). It can be determined if a lesion is active or inactive by a visual examination of white spot lesions. Chalky and rough surfaces indicate that the lesion is active, while smooth and shiny surfaces are indicative of an inactive lesion (12).

To perform a visual examination correctly, the tooth surface must be dried with air for at least 5 seconds after cleaning with pumice and then examined with the help of light and mirror (4). Light is very important in the visual examination of white spots. As the existing pores are at the micro-level on the solid enamel with a refractive index of 1.62, the enamel tissue appears translucent. However, the increase in micro-porosity due to continued demineralization causes a decrease in this refractive index. When the enamel surface gets wet, these pores are filled with water with a refractive index of I.33. Since the refractive index of water is very close to that of healthy enamel, the opacity of the lesion on the enamel surface will not be visible and the lesion cannot be distinguished. In contrast, after the air-drying process, the opaque enamel lesions become evident and distinct from the healthy enamel surface as the pores within the lesion will be filled with air which has a refractive index of I.0 (4). The advantages of this method are that it is simple to use, inexpensive, and clinically valid; whereas, its biggest disadvantage is that the method is difficult to be standardized.

Evaluation with Digital Photography

The conventional visual inspection does not provide a physical/ numerical record of the teeth examined. Using a method for remote discussions, such as photography, could bring about a substantial improvement in dental education and case discussion. One would be able to discus clinical situations at a distance by sharing the examination results with professionals based at different locations. Health services are gradually adopting this concept in telemedicine and teledentistry initiatives, with encouraging results, especially in educational and diagnostic applications (13). Digital dental photography is a field that requires technical sensitivity and education, considering the dark, small, and moist mouth environment as well as the interaction of soft and hard tissues with light. Along with the training, it is recommended to use a light system, such as lateral twin flash or ring flash, and a camera that allows macro lens and lens replacement. The disadvantages of these equipments are that they are big and heavy and their cost is high. However, these disadvantages can be eliminated, thanks to the camera and photo shooting features of smart phones, which have become very popular today (I4).

Fluorescence Techniques

The autofluorescence feature of the enamel decreases because of demineralization. These optical changes are directly related to the mineral content of the enamel (I5). Therefore, autofluorescence principle is used in early caries diagnosis to show mineral loss. Clinically, the brands that use the fluorescence feature are DIAGNOdent (KaVo Dental Corporation, Biberach, Germany) and QLF (Inspektor Research Systems BV, Amsterdam, The Netherlands).

Quantitative light-induced fluorescence (QLF)

Generally, light spreads much faster in carious lesions than healthy dental tissues. Therefore, light absorption and fluorescence in the region of carious lesions is decreased. In this way, light emission measures can be used to evaluate the mineral loss. QLF technique works on this principle of fluorescence (16).

In recent years, FluoreCam (Therametric Technologies, Inc., Noblesville, IN, USA), a portable device that operates on the QLF principle, is available which is easier to use and carry. It stimulates the tooth surface with intense light and analyzes the resulting fluorescence image with its special software. As a result of the evaluation, three numerical data appear, indicating the size, density, and effect of the demineralized enamel lesion. There is no need for a darkroom as in case of QLF device while measuring, which makes it easier to use (I7).

Laser Fluorescence

The DIAGNOdent pen has been developed for early diagnosis of carious lesions on occlusal and flat surfaces of teeth. This device emits a visible light of 638–655 nm wavelength using a diode laser, which is absorbed by organic and inorganic substances in the tooth structure, thereby the structures creating infrared fluorescence photons (I8). The filtered fluorescence signals are collected with a different fiber bundle at the same tip that emits the light and are shown by a photodiode with scores from 0 to 99. The density of the recovered photons is directly related to the depth of the lesion. Scores greater than or equal to 20 and 25 indicate the presence of carious lesions. Higher values indicate greater caries penetration depth (18). Rodriguez et al. (19), reported that while the laser fluorescence method was effective in detecting the first demineralization in enamel, it was not effective in monitoring the progress of the lesion and was found insufficient to measure small changes in the mineral content. To improve this situation, the idea of examining the initial enamel lesion with laser fluorescence method after dying the lesion with a fluorescent dye was born and found successful (18).

The SoproLife camera is a modern caries detection method, based on laser induced fluorescence. This new method combines the advantages of visual examination, through a high magnification oral camera, and those of a laser fluorescence device (20, 21). Kockanat and Unal (22) reported that Sopro-Life camera and ICDAS II showed the highest sensitivity values against other tested detection methods.

Electronic Caries Monitor (ECM)

ECM is based on the measurement of the electrical resistance of the tooth structure during controlled drying. The electrical resistance value of a tooth depends on the porosity of the measured tooth region, amount of fluid in the porous area, temperature, mobility of the fluid in the porous area, and ion concentration. The ECM allows measurement in the range of I kW to >10 GW (23). It has been reported that ECM performs more successfully on flat surfaces and proximal surfaces compared to occlusal surfaces (24).

CarieScan PRO

The alternating current impedance spectroscopy technique, called the CarieScan PRO, uses multiple frequencies instead of a fixed frequency as used in ECM. The working mechanism is based on the fact that carious and healthy tooth tissues respond diversely to resistance tests at different frequencies (25). However, in a recent study, the CarieScan showed the lowest sensitivity values compared to SoproLife camera, DIAGNOdent pen, and visual examination (22).

Fiber optic transillumination–digital fiber optic transillumination (FOTI–DIFOTI)

The light transmission coefficient of caries differ from that of healthy teeth structures. During demineralization, which disrupts the dense hydroxyapatite content of the enamel, light photons scatter while trying to pass through the tooth and an optical distortion occurs. Since the light transmission coefficient of the intact enamel is higher than that of carious lesions, dark shadows are observed along the dentinal tubules when the carious tissues are examined with a fiber optic device (16). Initial caries lesions can be distinguished according to the intensity of the shadows formed by the light power of the device.

DIFOTI is a caries diagnosis method that uses the combination of FOTI and a digital camera to compensate for the deficiencies of FOTI. In this system, infrared radiation close to 780 nm wavelength is used instead of a white light source. This new diagnostic method gives hope in terms of diagnosis of initial caries and measurement of lesion severity because it is not invasive, does not use ionized radiation, and is more sensitive than radiographs in detecting early demineralization (16).

Near-infrared light transillumination (NILT)

An X-ray-free, photo-optical method, which is called near-infrared light transillumination (NILT), was released for caries detection in posterior teeth. High contrast between carious lesions and sound tissue can be obtained using this method. The NILT camera system (DIAGNOcam) that emits light at a wavelength of 780 nm was introduced to the market in 2012. The optical fiber arms of this device transmit light from the gingival and alveolar bones to the root of the tooth and from there to the crown. Then, an image is created from the occlusal surface with a charge-coupled device sensor (26, 27). A recent study stated that the DIAGNOcam method accurately detected hidden incipient enamel and dentin caries in primary and permanent teeth compared with other methods (27).

Prevention and Treatment Methods

Various options are available for the treatment of white spot lesions. Recent approaches are listed next.

Remineralization of White Spot Lesions

The physiological cycle can be turned into the direction of remineralization by preventing caries and increasing the duration of protective factors in the mouth. Generally, remineralization is a natural repair process, and many methods have been proposed to improve it.

Providing Oral Hygiene

Tooth caries is a major problem affecting not only the individual, but also the social institutions and health economy. Untreated caries affects more than 600 million children around the world. Such a big problem also creates a huge cost, and countries are looking for cost-effective solutions at the community level. Gaining awareness on individual oral hygiene and habits of daily brushing with fluoride toothpaste is one of the solutions for problems of tooth caries. Providing personal oral hygiene with tooth brushing and flossing is the most effective method that patients can individually perform to change the bacterial plaque composition and thereby change the process of white spot lesion formation (28).

Regulation of the Diet

Apart from the presence of bacterial plaque, another factor affecting caries formation is diet. Dietary foods not only act as inhibitors of the formation of cavities, but also are among the causes of the formation of caries. For example, some foods with hard and fibrous structure can help with mechanical cleaning, while others show an anti-caries effect by increasing the amount and flow rate of saliva with their taste and smell. Minerals, cocoa, tea, and proteins, such as cheese and milk, have a bacteriostatic effect by changing the metabolism of cariogenic bacteria. However, when fermented carbohydrates are frequently consumed, it may cause caries (29).

Use of Antimicrobial Agents

Chlorhexidine was released to public for the first time in the USA in the form of 0.12% mouthwash for periodontal treatments of patients who belonged to a high-risk group. It reduces Streptococcus mutans count and accelerates remineralization. It is recommended to use chlorhexidine mouthwash for 30 seconds just before bedtime because the reduced saliva flow rate at night helps in attaching chlorhexidine more easily to the struc-

tures inside the mouth. When chlorhexidine mouthwash is used in this way for 2 weeks, it reduces the number of Streptococcus mutans below the level potential for caries formation, and the effect of this decrease lasts between I2 and 26 weeks (6).

In recent years, the desire to return to the natural products has also affected the view of antimicrobial agents in dentistry. Antimicrobial properties of essential oils obtained from plants instead of artificial molecules are being investigated furthermore. Besra et al. (30) investigated the antimicrobial properties of various plant extracts on caries pathogens and concluded that the plants can be used individually or in combination in the treatment of dental caries.

Fluoride Applications

Fluoride shows its effect against caries in three different mechanisms. First, the presence of fluoride greatly increases the formation and accumulation of fluorapatite, which is formed by the combination of calcium and phosphate ions in saliva. Fluorapatite is resistant to dissolution; therefore, it replaces salts that contain manganese and carbonate, which are easily dissolved and lost due to demineralization, and makes the enamel more resistant to acids. The second mechanism is the remineralization of the initial cavity lesion with the fluorapatite crystals. The third and last mechanism is the antimicrobial activity of fluoride ions. Low concentrations of fluoride inhibit the production of the glycosyltransferase enzyme. The glycosyltransferase enzyme increases bacterial adhesion and provides glucose for extracellular polysaccharide formation. In high concentrations (12,000 ppm), topical fluoride applications have a direct toxic effect on oral microorganisms, including mutans streptococci (6). Fluoride applications can be classified as systemic and topical.

Systemic Applications

Systemic applications are effective methods, especially in individuals with high risk of caries formation and in communities where fluoride usage is low. Fluoridation of waters, which is one way of the systemic applications, shows not only systemic but also topical effect (6). World Health Organization (WHO) reported that consuming I mg of fluoride per day is beneficial for health. Systemic applications of fluoride are fluoridation of drinking water, salts, and milk and addition of fluorinated tablets or drops to the diet.

Topical Applications

Systemic fluoride intake was thought to be effective for a long time prior to the direct tooth application period. However, today, it is accepted that the use of topical fluoride is more beneficial during dental development and maturation. In high concentrations (12,000 ppm), which are generally applied professionally in dental clinics, topical fluoride has a direct toxic effect on oral microorganisms, including Streptococcus mutans (6). Fluoride varnishes were developed to make the contact time longer, to bond to the enamel for increased periods, and thereby prevent the quick loss of fluoride after application. Varnishes take the role of a reservoir for slow release and facilitate greater fluoride uptake (31). American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry guideline recommended that 5% (22,600 ppm) concentration of fluoride varnishes should be applied at least twice in a year for primary teeth and two or four times in a year for permanent teeth (32).

Casein phosphopeptide–amorphous calcium phosphate (CPP–ACP) applications

ACP is a tricalcium phosphate containing calcium and phosphate ions in an amorphous structure. When ACP enters a solution, it quickly turns into a stable structure, such as octacalcium phosphate or apatite. Casein is a phosphoprotein that makes up 80% of the proteins found in cow milk. Keeping calcium and phosphate ions in protein complexes is the most important feature of casein. These ions transform into smaller peptides, such as CPP, making them highly durable. Casein molecules act as a carrier that provides calcium and phosphate ions that can be used by the tissues, such as teeth or bones for remineralization (6). Mendes et al. (33) reported that the use of CPP-ACP was a good alternative for the remineralization of white spot lesions. The effect of remineralization can be improved when this product is applied in combination with fluoride. Although the applications, such as fluorides and CPP-ACP, have a positive effect on stopping caries progression, studies showed that these methods are not sufficient in terms of esthetic improvement according to the ICDAS (34).

Laser Applications

Laser alters the tooth surface and makes the tooth structure more resistant to dissolution during demineralization by providing recrystallization of hydroxyapatite crystals, changing the organic matrix composition, and differentiating the enamel surface structure and physical properties (35). Alqahtani et al. (36) showed that diode laser irradiation combined with topical fluoride application significantly increased the hardness and improved the esthetic appearance of WSLs compared to no treatment and fluoride treatment alone. In contrast, Molaasadollah et al. (37) reported that use of Er,Cr:YSGG laser irradiation plus 1.23% Acidulated Phosphate Fluoride gel was not significantly different from the application of fluoride gel alone in enhancing the remineralization of WSLs. The difference between these two studies may be due to the different types of laser used.

Ozone

It was reported that ozone application can reduce Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sobrinus counts on saliva-coated glass beads (38). However, this treatment method can only remove the microorganisms and stop the demineralization activity in the outer half of enamel lesions (39). A recently updated systematic review reported that there is a fundamental need for more evidence and appropriate researches before the use of ozone can be considered a viable alternative to current methods for the management and treatment of dental caries (40).

Microabrasion Applications

In the microabrasion technique, in addition to the porous enamel layer, stains adhering to these areas are eliminated by applying a mixture containing acid and abrasive particles to the tooth surface with a rubber cap under low pressure, similar to the mixture of pumice and water used during polishing. In this method, the erosive and abrasive particles of the acid are combined and the defective or discolored enamel tissue is eliminated (41). In this context, microabrasion is not a non-invasive, but minimally invasive treatment technique. Gu et al. (42) reported that microabrasion improved the esthetic appearance of WSLs and showed sufficient durability for 12 months. However, resin infiltration showed a better esthetic improvement effect when compared to microabrasion at 12 months.

Bleaching Applications

Kim et al. (43) claimed that bleaching of the tooth structure containing white spot lesions may provide a camouflage effect that makes the whiteness of the lesion less visible. It should be remembered that the bleaching process only improves the esthetic appearance with a camouflage effect on WSLs and does not treat the lesion. A recent systematic review showed that bleaching of WSL can diminish color disparities between carious and non-affected areas but researchers also reported that the certainty of the evidence was very low and further prospective *in vivo* studies are necessary (44).

Resin Infiltration

According to histological studies, it is a known fact that the microporosity increases in different layers of initial enamel lesions (6). These porous openings and enlarged intercrystalline areas function as points of propagation and passageways for acids and dissolved minerals. Based on this information, instead of completely removing the initial carious lesions as in conventional methods, the idea of filling the porous structure with low-viscosity resins would not only reduce the micropore structure, but also mechanically support the enamel tissue (45).

The resin infiltration method was first developed to stop proximal initial carious lesions (46). It is based on the principle that low-viscosity resins (infiltrants) penetrate the lesion by the effect of capillary forces after erosion of the non-cavitated surface layer, which is a characteristic feature of the white spot lesions. Infiltrant fills the porous lesions and thus, prevents acid and mineral diffusion (47). Resin infiltration shows high esthetic results due to the lesion's camouflage as a side effect during the treatment of white spot lesions (48). Torres et al. (49) showed that the resin infiltration technique gives better esthetic results than fluoride applications and remineralization methods. This success in masking lesions has been attributed to the refraction coefficient (I.52) of the resin used for infiltration that is close to the apatite crystals. In this way, the chalky, opaque appearance of WSL disappears and the color difference ceases to be visible. Perdigao (50) showed that in addition to masking the enamel WSLs, resin infiltration can envelop residual enamel crystallites forming an enamel hybrid layer. This hybridization makes resin-embedded enamel more resistant to acid attack than sound enamel

CONCLUSION

It is important to detect and treat carious lesions before they turn into irreversible cavitations. White spot lesions are a stage where caries progression can be detected and arrested. As the histological structure of these lesions are explored and understood, it is emphasized that the application of minimally invasive techniques is the most appropriate approach for treatment. It is possible to stop and reverse caries progression in these lesions with the right application. Many methods have been proposed for the detection and treatment of these lesions. As mentioned above, less-invasive methods should be chosen for the treatment of white spot lesions. All these reasons led to the search for new techniques and materials. As a result of these searches, remineralization approaches with CPP-ACP and fluoride, microabrasion, and recently, resin infiltration methods were introduced. The treatment to be selected when treating these lesions should be based on the individual conditions. The depth,

formation time, and etiology of the lesion should be taken into consideration, and the right treatment or combination of treatments should be chosen.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept – I.S.S Design – I.S.S.; Supervision – I.S.S.; Resource – I.S.S., U.G.; Materials – I.S.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing – I.S.S.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – I.S.S.; Literature Search – I.S.S.; Writing – I.S.S.; Critical Reviews – I.S.S.

Conflict of Interest: Author have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- I. Kidd EAM, Fejerskov O. What constitutes dental caries? Histopathology of carious enamel and dentin related to the action of cariogenic biofilms. J Dent Res. 2004;83 Spec No C: C35-8. [Crossref]
- Øgaard B, Rølla G, Arends J. Orthodontic appliances and enamel demineralization. Part I. Lesion development. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 1988; 94(1): 68-73. [Crossref]
- 3. Axelsson P. Diagnosis and risk prediction of dental caries. Quintessence Pub. Co; 2000.p.307.
- Fejerskov O, Kidd EAM. Dental caries : the disease and its clinical management. Blackwell Munksgaard; 2008.p.616.
- DARLING AI. The selective attack of caries on the dental enamel. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1961; 29(6): 354-69.
- Roberson, T. M., Heymann, H., Swift, E. J., Sturdevant CM. Sturdevant's art and science of operative dentistry. St. Louis, Mo: Mosby Inc.; 2006.
- 7. Silverstone LM. The surface zone in caries and in caries-like lesions produced in vitro. Br Dent J 1968; 125(4): 145-57.
- Frank RM, Voegel JC. Ultrastructure of the human odontoblast process and its mineralisation during dental caries. Caries Res 1980; 14(6): 367-80. [Crossref]
- Ekstrand KR, Kuzmina I, Bjørndal L, Thylstrup A. Relationship between external and histologic features of progressive stages of caries in the occlusal fossa. Caries Res 1995; 29(4): 243-50. [Crossref]
- Pitts N. "ICDAS" An international system for caries detection and assessment being developed to facilitate caries epidemiology, research and appropriate clinical management. Community Dental Health 2004; 21(3): 193-8.
- II. Zero DT. Dental caries process. Vol. 43, Dental clinics of North America. 1999.p.635-64.
- 12. Zandona AF, Zero DT. Diagnostic tools for early caries detection. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006 Dec;137(12):1675-84; quiz 1730. [Crossref]
- Kohara EK, Abdala CG, Novaes TF, Braga MM, Haddad AE, Mendes FM. Is it feasible to use smartphone images to perform telediagnosis of different stages of occlusal caries lesions? PLoS One 2018; 13(9): e0202116. [Crossref]
- Estai M, Kanagasingam Y, Huang B, Shiikha J, Kruger E, Bunt S, et al. Comparison of a Smartphone-Based Photographic Method with Face-to-Face Caries Assessment: A Mobile Teledentistry Model. Telemed J E Health 2017; 23(5): 435-40. [Crossref]
- Abufarwa M, Noureldin A, Campbell PM, Buschang PH. Reliability and validity of FluoreCam for white-spot lesion detection: An in vitro study. J Investig Clin Dent 2018; 9(1). [Crossref]
- Yılmaz H, Keleş S. Recent Methods for Diagnosis of Dental Caries in Dentistry. Meandros Med Dent J 2018; 19(1): I-8. [Crossref]
- Korkut B, Korkut D, Yanikoglu F, Tagtekin D. Clinical assessment of demineralization and remineralization surrounding orthodontic brackets with FluoreCam. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 2017; 7(4): 373-7. [Crossref]
- NouhzadehMalekshah S, Fekrazad R, Bargrizan M, Kalhori KA. Evaluation of laser fluorescence in combination with photosensi-

tizers for detection of demineralized lesions. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther 2019; 26: 300-5. **[Crossref]**

- Rodrigues JA, Sarti CS, Assunção CM, Arthur RA, Lussi A, Diniz MB. Evaluation of laser fluorescence in monitoring non-cavitated caries lesion progression on smooth surfaces in vitro. Lasers Med Sci 2017; 32(8): 1793-800. [Crossref]
- Terrer E, Koubi S, Dionne A, Weisrock G, Sarraquigne C, Mazuir A, et al. A new concept in restorative dentistry: Light-induced fluorescence evaluator for diagnosis and treatment: Part I - diagnosis and treatment of initial occlusal caries. J Contemp Dent Pract 2009; 10(6): 86-94. [Crossref]
- Terrer E, Raskin A, Koubi S, Dionne A, Weisrock G, Sarraquigne C, et al. A new concept in restorative dentistry: LIFEDT-light-induced fluorescence evaluator for diagnosis and treatment: Part 2-treatment of dentinal caries. J Contemp Dent Pract 2010; II(1): 95-102. [Crossref]
- Kockanat A, Unal M. In vivo and in vitro comparison of ICDAS II, DIAGNOdent pen, CarieScan PRO and SoproLife camera for occlusal caries detection in primary molar teeth. Eur J Paediatr Dent 2017; 18(2): 99-104.
- Talwar M, Borzabadi-Farahani A, Lynch E, Borsboom P, Ruben J. Remineralization of Demineralized Enamel and Dentine Using 3 Dentifrices-An InVitro Study. Dent J 2019; 7(3): 91. [Crossref]
- Korkut B, Tağtekin DA, Yanıkoğlu FÇ. Diş Çürüklerinin Erken Teşhisi ve Teşhiste Yeni Yöntemler: QLF, Diagnodent, Elektriksel İletkenlik ve Ultrasonik Sistem. EÜ Dişhek Fak Derg 2011; 32: 55-67
- Longbottom C, Huysmans MCDNJM. Electrical measurements for use in caries clinical trials. J Dent Res 2004; 83 Spec No C: C76-9. [Crossref]
- Kühnisch J, Söchtig F, Pitchika V, Laubender R, Neuhaus KW, Lussi A, et al. In vivo validation of near-infrared light transillumination for interproximal dentin caries detection. Clin Oral Investig 2016; 20(4): 821-9. [Crossref]
- Sürme K, Kara NB, Yilmaz Y. In Vitro Evaluation of Occlusal Caries Detection Methods in Primary and Permanent Teeth: A Comparison of CarieScan PRO, DIAGNOdent Pen, and DIAGNOcam Methods. Photobiomodul Photomed Laser Surg 2020; 38(2): 105-11. [Crossref]
- Hicks J, Garcia-Godoy F, Flaitz C. Biological factors in dental caries enamel structure and the caries process in the dynamic process of demineralization and remineralization (part 2). J Clin Pediatr Dent 2004; 28(2): II9-24. [Crossref]
- Kalender B. Başlangıç Çürük Lezyonlarının Tedavisi. Turkiye Klin Diş Hekim Restoratif Diş Tedavisi Özel Derg 2017;2: 58-65.
- Besra M, Kumar V. In vitro investigation of antimicrobial activities of ethnomedicinal plants against dental caries pathogens. 3 Biotech 2018; 8(5): 257. [Crossref]
- Ogard B, Seppä L, Rølla G. Professional topical fluoride applications--clinical efficacy and mechanism of action. Adv Dent Res 1994; 8(2): 190-201. [Crossref]
- 32. Fluoride therapy. Pediatr Dent 2017; 39(6): 242-5.
- Mendes ACB, Restrepo MR, Bussaneli DG, Zuanon ACC. Use of casein amorphous calcium phosphate (CPP-ACP) on white-spot lesions: Randomised clinical trial. Oral Health Prev Dent 2018; 16: 27-31.
- Bailey DL, Adams GG, Tsao CE, Hyslop A, Escobar K, Manton DJ, et al. Regression of post-orthodontic lesions by a remineralizing cream. J Dent Res 2009; 88(I2): II48-53. [Crossref]
- Tagomori S, Morioka T. Combined effects of laser and fluoride on acid resistance of human dental enamel: (with I color plate). Caries Res 1989; 23(4): 225-31. [Crossref]
- Alqahtani MA, Andreana S, Rumfola JL, Davis E. Effect of diode laser and topical fluoride applications on white-spot lesions in bovine enamel. Gen Dent 2019; 67(6): 45-51.
- 37. Molaasadollah F, Asnaashari M, Abbas FM, Jafary M. In vitro comparison of fluoride gel alone and in combination with Er, Cr:YSGG laser on reducing white spot lesions in primary teeth. J Lasers Med Sci 2017; 8(4): I60-I65. [Crossref]

- Baysan A, Whiley RA, Lynch E. Antimicrobial effect of a novel ozone-generating device on micro-organisms associated with primary root carious lesions in vitro. Caries Res 2000; 34(6): 498-501.
 [Crossref]
- Yazıcıoğlu O, Ulukapı H. The investigation of non-invasive techniques for treating early approximal carious lesions: an in vivo study. Int Dent J 2014; 64(1): I-II. [Crossref]
- Rickard GD, Richardson RJ, Johnson TM, McColl DC, Hooper L. Ozone therapy for the treatment of dental caries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004; (3): CD004I53.
- Pini NIP, Sundfeld-Neto D, Aguiar FHB, Sundfeld RH, Martins LBM, Lovanido JS, et al. Enamel microabrasion: An overview of clinical and scientific considerations. World J Clin Cases 2015; 3(1): 34.
 [Crossref]
- 42. Gu X, Yang L, Yang D, Gao Y, Duan X, Zhu X, et al. Esthetic improvements of postorthodontic white-spot lesions treated with resin infiltration and microabrasion: A split-mouth, randomized clinical trial. Angle Orthod 2019; 89(3): 372-7. [Crossref]
- Kim Y, Son HH, Yi K, Ahn JS, Chang J. Bleaching effects on color, chemical, and mechanical properties of white spot lesions. Oper Dent 2016; 41(3): 318-26. [Crossref]

- Gizani S, Kloukos D, Papadimitriou A, Roumani T, Twetman S. Is Bleaching Effective in Managing Post-orthodontic White-spot Lesions? A Systematic Review. Oral Heal Prev Dent 2020; 18(1): 1-10.
- 45. Kielbassa AM, Muller J, Gernhardt CR. Closing the gap between oral hygiene and minimally invasive dentistry: a review on the resin infiltration technique of incipient (proximal) enamel lesions. Quintessence Int 2009; 40(8): 663-81.
- Paris S, Meyer-Iueckel H, Lfen HC, Kielbassa AM. Resin Infiltration of Artificial Enamel Caries Lesions with Experimental Light Curing Resins. Dent Mater J 2007; 26(4): 582-8. [Crossref]
- Meyer-Lueckel H, Chatzidakis A, Naumann M, Dörfer CE, Paris S. Influence of application time on penetration of an infiltrant into natural enamel caries. J Dent 2011; 39(7): 465-9. [Crossref]
- Kim S, Kim EY, Jeong TS, Kim JW. The evaluation of resin infiltration for masking labial enamel white spot lesions. Int J Paediatr Dent 2011; 21(4): 241-8. [Crossref]
- Torres CRG, Borges AB, Torres LMS, Gomes IS, De Oliveira RS. Effect of caries infiltration technique and fluoride therapy on the colour masking of white spot lesions. J Dent 2011; 39(3): 202-7. [Crossref]
- Perdigão J. Resin infiltration of enamel white spot lesions: An ultramorphological analysis. J Esthet Restor Dent 2020; 32(3): 317-24.

Review

Anesthesia Management in Patients with Covid-19

Ayşe Hande Arpacı^ı (D), Berrin Işık² (D)

¹Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation Specialist, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iD of the author: A.H.A. 0000-0001-8159-4637; B.I. 0000-0002-0420-6589.

Cite this article as: Arpacı AH, Işık B. Anesthesia Management in Patients with COVID-19. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 267-72.

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic that started in China in 2019 has led to millions of infection cases worldwide. As the number of people with COVID-19 has increased, the number of patients with health problems that require surgery during the pandemic also increased, and at the same time, anesthesia is needed for these patients. In patients infected with acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, some features related to the clinical course of the disease should be known and considerations for the protection of healthcare workers and other patients due to increased contagiousness must be adopted. This review of the literature presents approaches in cases of patients diagnosed with COVID-19 and issues to be considered during anesthesia management.

Keywords: COVID-19, anesthesia management, 2019-nCoV virus infection

The 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infection (COVID-19) was first described as a new pneumonia syndrome in patients clustered around the Huanan Seafood Bazaar in Wuhan, China, in December 2019. The World Health Organization (WHO) declared this situation as a pandemic on March II, 2020, and on the same day, the first case was reported in Turkey. According to the WHO data of June 09, 2020, 7,039,918 cases were detected worldwide, 404,396 of which resulted in death (1-7).

The agent of the disease, which is defined as COVID-I9 in the current literature, also called 2019-nCoV or acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is an enveloped RNA virus belonging to the Nidovirales subgroup of the Coronaviridae family, which includes Bat-SARS-like-(SL)-ZC45, Bat-SL ZXC2I, SARS-CoV, and MERS-CoV.10 (I, 8, 9). 2019nCoV with 9-12-nm long pointed protrusions varies in diameter from 60 to 140 nm. 2019-nCoV is inactivated by ultraviolet light, heat (56 min at 30°C), ethyl ether, 75% ethanol, chlorine used as a disinfectant, peracetic acid, and chloroform. It is not sensitive to chlorhexidine (I).

The virus is transmitted from infected individuals by respiratory droplets or by close/direct contact which is transmission vectors. Aerosol dispersion is also possible when exposed to high concentrations in a closed environment (I, I0). Although persons of all ages are sensitive to 2019-nCoV, the clinical course is usually symptom-free or mild in healthy individuals, and severe among elderly persons and in patients with comorbidities; It may even result in death (I-5, II). In the literature, the incubation time of COVID-19 is reported to be between I-14 days, most frequently 4 (2–7) days (I-5, 9, I2). In patients infected with COVID-19, fever, weakness, and dry cough are the most common symptoms. Tremors, muscle pain, headache, sore throat, loss of taste and smell senses (anosmia), and respiratory distress are also other common symptoms. Pneumonia is detected in approximately I5–20% of infected cases. In addition, respiratory failure, myalgia, diarrhea, widespread urticaria, erythematous rash, chickenpox-like vesicles, or embolism-related problems are reported. Rare symptoms such as sudden respiratory failure and circulatory disorders have also been reported. The severity of COVID-19 disease is classified as mild, moderate, severe, and serious based on clinical findings, laboratory tests, and imaging studies. In serious cases, dyspnea and/or hypoxemia may develop one week after the onset of the first symptom, and the patient may progress rapidly to acute respiratory distress syndrome, septic shock, refractory metabolic acidosis, coagulopathy, and multiorgan failure (I-5, I2-I7).

The standard method of COVID-19 testing is reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR, polymerase chain reaction). The test is performed by taking throat or nasal secretions with swabs. Nucleic Acid Amplification Test

Corresponding Author: Hande Arpacı **E-mail:** handarpaci@yahoo.com



Received: 09.06.2020 Accepted: 08.07.2020 (NAAT) is based on the determination of specific viral RNA sequences such as rRT-PCR and verification by nucleic acid sequence analysis method, which are used in the confirmation of COVID-19 cases. In cases in which the NAAT tests are negative and/or associated with COVID-19 infection, the study of serological tests such as ELISA or IgM/IgG rapid antibody tests in serum samples may be beneficial for the diagnosis (2, 6, 12, 16, 18).

Laboratory findings of COVID-19 are leucopenia, lymphopenia, thrombocytopenia, low albumin levels, and high C-reactive protein, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, neutrophil, and d-Dimer values. Levels of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), creatinine, creatinine kinase, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) or aspartate aminotransferase (AST), IL-6, Ferritin, and IgG and M may also increase. Procalcitonin was normal in most cases. (3, 5, 13, 16). Thorax computed tomography (CT) and posteroanterior chest X-ray show mostly bilateral multifocal ground-glass appearance and focal consolidations with peripheral and posterior distribution, especially in the lower lobes, and a large number of small band shadows and apparent multiple interstitial changes in the extranodal lungs in the early period of the disease, while multiple ground-glass opacities are observed in both lung bases and infiltration in both lung areas in the following period. Severe cases may also cause pathology in the lung parenchyma, but pleural effusion is rare in COVID-19 (1, 16).

Although there are no methods, vaccines, and medication whose effectiveness have been demonstrated in an evidence-based prospective randomized controlled trial in the prevention and treatment of infected patients, antivirals, hydroxychloroquine, serum from immune individuals, antibiotics, nucleoside analogists, protease inhibitors, recombinant soluble ACE2, Type I interferon, corticosteroids, intravenous immunoglobulins, drugs that block cytokines, and NSAIDs are used empirically (19-22).

Perioperative Management of Patients Infected with the Novel Coronavirus

With the declaration of a pandemic, the work patterns of both patients without COVID-19 and healthcare personnel have been changed by taking the protective measures, but due to the increase in the number of patients and the prolongation of the process, surgery and anesthesia applications have become inevitable for infected cases (23, 24).

The definitive diagnosis of COVID-19 is established at the right time by PCR from nasopharyngeal swabs and by IgM and IgG tests from the blood. However, reliable results will not be achieved if the test is not carried out according to the stage of the infection and the disease. Taking precautions against the possibility of COVID-19 in each patient will increase safety when contagiousness is common in the community.

When a surgical indication is needed for patients with COVID-I9, the first thing to do is to arrive at an agreement with the surgical team regarding the importance, necessity, and urgency of the surgery. In COVID-I9 cases, surgeries should be limited to life-threatening, rapidly progressing malignancies, and cases requiring urgent surgical intervention (25). It is an appropriate approach to postpone all non-urgent and non-emergent surgical and endoscopic procedures.

The patients diagnosed with COVID-19 should not walk around freely in the hospital, but should be moved along the specified route (1, 25). Stretchers and elevators should be disinfected with bleach, chlorine disinfectant tablets, or 70% alcohol after each patient.

For the anesthesiologists, balloon mask ventilation, non-invasive ventilation procedures (CPAP), endotracheal intubation, surgical airway access, bronchoscopy, extubation, disconnection of the anesthesia circuit, and cardiopulmonary resuscitation are the highest risk approaches because of the intense aerosol exposure (14). Therefore, anesthetists are likely to become infected (I). All the anesthetic approaches applied in the preoperative preparation, operating room, device preparation, and intraoperative-postoperative periods should be standardized in order to reduce this risk and increase the safety of patients.

Anesthesiologists and other healthcare professionals in the surgery room should wear personal protective equipment (PPE) such as protective gowns/clothes, N95/FFP2 masks, disposable surgical caps, goggles, face shields, gloves, and overshoes. In addition, some accessories such as ring, watch, key, wallet, and the phone should not be allowed to enter the surgery room (I, 26).

Preoperative Evaluation

In the preoperative evaluation, anesthesiologist should use PPE, and patients should wear a medical mask. The patients should be taken to the room alone to minimize close contact with infected cases, preoperatively. Before the evaluation of the case, body temperature should be measured with an electronic ear thermometer, and cases whose body temperature is higher than 37.3°C should be reported to the infection control team (I).

It should be questioned whether the cases have a close contact history with COVID-19 positive individuals, and detailed physical examination including fever measurement, lung examination, laboratory tests (Complete blood count, liver function tests, BUN, creatinine, CRP, Pro-calcitonin, Ferritin, CPK, LDH, D-Dimer, IL-6), Electrocardiography (ECG, especially QT distance), chest radiographs, and thorax CTs, if available (I, I0). Radiological findings are not expected to be seen in the first 48 hours of the infection; 98% of CT shows diagnostic features. Lung ultrasonography can be used in pregnant women whose CT evaluation cannot be done (27). Patients with comorbid diseases should be consulted with the relevant branches if necessary.

After the physical examination, hand hygiene should be provided by washing with a 2–3% hydrogen peroxide solution or with plenty of water and soap. Examination room equipment, floors, and surfaces should be disinfected with 2–3% hydrogen peroxide (I).

At the end of the preoperative evaluation, the patient or patient's relatives and the surgical team were informed about the possible risks and adverse side effects, and written consent was obtained from the patient/guardian and archived.

After evaluation, COVID-19 positive or strongly probable cases should was taken directly to the operating room. Surgery, if any, it should be performed in the COVID-19 operating room; otherwise, routine room cleaning and contact follow-up should be done when the surgery is finished (1).

The Preparation of the Operating Room and Devices

The operating room reserved for patients with COVID-19 should be away from other operating rooms and should be marked with routers so that employees can find it without searching. The operating room reserved for COVID-19 cases should be ventilated with <5Pa, 12 air. hour-1 negative pressure systems and negative pressure levels should be checked frequently. If there are no negative pressure systems, positive pressure systems and air conditioners should be closed. If it is determined that the negative pressure in the environment is not sufficient, additional portable high-impact particle air filters (\geq 25 cycles/ hour) should be used (I, 14, 26, 28-30).

The surgery room should be organized into two areas; dirty and clean. Two anesthetists using PPE (above-mentioned), surgeons and their team, and nurses should be in the dirty area, while another anesthesia and surgical team should be in a clean area and everyone should protect their regions (14).

The door of the operating room should be kept closed during the surgery, the entrance and exit of the employees should be limited to essential situations, and only anesthesia personnel should remain in the room during the intubation and extubation stage (I, 30).

Medicines that are likely to be used in anesthesia should be brought into the room in a tray, syringes should be thrown away into medical waste after the procedure, the tray was sterilized (I, 28).

Anesthesia device of the operating room reserved for patients with COVID-19 should be fixed in the room. Devices used in the operating room such as anesthesia machines and defibrillators should be covered with full transparent nylon covers and discarded after each surgery. Breathing circuits should be disposable, and HME filters should be placed on the inspiratory and expiratory connections of the breathing circuits (I). The end-tidal carbon dioxide line should be placed close to the machine after the filters, and the end-tidal carbon dioxide and water trap should also be disposable (26). Waste management should be planned in advance (28, 31).

Cleaning staff should use masks, gowns, and gloves. The reusable equipment should be sterilized with glutaraldehyde and the operating room should be sterilized with UV. The suspended droplets in the air should be expected to precipitate in 30–60 minutes. Therefore, it is necessary to wait for 30–60 minutes between the two surgeries (32).

Management of Anesthesia

Patients with COVID-I9 may be candidates for any surgery. Zhao et al. (33) retrospectively evaluated 37 cases who underwent an emergency surgery on 23–31 January 2020; Abdominal surgery (10), cardiovascular surgery (2), orthopedic surgery (6), obstetric and gynecological surgery (11), neurosurgery (2), and the others (6); 70% of the surgeries were performed with general anesthesia and 30% with spinal anesthesia. Zhong et al. (34) performed spinal anesthesia in 49 patients who were confirmed to be COVID-I9 radiologically and underwent cesarean or lower extremity surgery. Rong et al. (35) also performed cesarean section by applying regional anesthesia with an epidural catheter to 14 of 17 cases with COVID-I9 and general anesthesia with 3 endotracheal intubation. General anesthesia and endotracheal intubation are recommended to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission in patients with COVID-19 diagnosed or suspected. Other methods can be selected depending on the patient's condition. For example, spinal anesthesia is preferred in cesarean procedures. If spontaneous breathing continues, patients should also wear an N95 or surgical mask during the surgery (I).

General Anesthesia

If it is not essential for general anesthesia, rapid serial induction should be applied without mask ventilation (I). During induction, neuromuscular blockers, intravenous general anesthetics, and opioids are recommended, respectively (I0). There are also published articles suggesting that endotracheal intubation should be performed in a negative pressure room or ICU, from where the surgery is monitored preoperatively instead of the operating room (26).

The application of 5 min pre-oxygenation with 100% oxygen (26), covering the patient's nose and mouth with two layers of wet gauze or a nylon cover that covers the face and surrounding to avoid secretions of the patient during pre-oxygenation (I), reduction of ventilation by a mask during intubation, and no cricoid compression (I), [If the anesthetist is experienced, cricoid compression may be applied (26)] are recommended. For endotracheal intubation, oral intubation with a video laryngoscope or bronchoscope is recommended (I). Lyons (36) stated that using fiber optic laryngoscopy did not give extra speed and even high flow oxygen applied by nasal route during the procedure increased the risk of contamination. It is necessary to show the ultimate attention to prevent coughing in laryngoscopy (I). Aminnejad et al. (37) reported that administration of lidocaine at the beginning and the end of intubation and extubation in patients with COVID-19 reduced possible cough, and also reduced secondary aerosol spread. The adequate neuromuscular blockade should be provided to prevent cough (10), for this purpose, a high-dose rocuronium (1–1.2 mg.kg⁻¹) is recommended. Suxamethonium can be given at a dose of I.5 mg.kg⁻¹, given the duration of the apnea and cough (38). Ketamine or etomidate may be used not to suppress the cardiac functions in hypotensive patients. However, etomidate can cause adrenal suppression (39).

If there is a suspicion of a difficult airway, difficult intubation guidelines should be taken into consideration. Spraying local anesthetics into the respiratory tract during awake fiberoptic intubation should not be applied unless indicated, as this may cause the virus to spread as aerosol (28). ETT placement following the supraglottic airway is another recommended method in cases that cannot be intubated (26, 38). Intubation should be done with a tube distally clamped without bending the patient's face. If difficult intubation is predicted, a guidewire should be inserted into the tube, the endotracheal tube should be reached to the ideal depth at one time (often the rim is 22 cm), the cuff should be inflated (to the extent that the leak is not allowed), then the clamp of the tube should be removed, and its location verified. The continuity of the breathing circuit should be checked during the surgery. If the line needs to be separated; the tube must be clamped first and the separation must be made from the farthest distance to the HME filter. If possible, it is recommended to use the closed airway aspirator systems to

reduce viral aerosol production. If not possible, suction applications should be minimized (I).

In the maintenance of anesthesia, to reduce lung damage due to the ventilator, a lung-protective ventilation strategy at low tidal volume should be applied. Tidal volume 4-8mL/kg, inspiratory plateau pressure <30 cmH₂O, PEEP <8 cmH₂O and recruitment maneuver every 30 minutes, blood gas analysis during surgery, and close monitoring of ventilation with EtCO₂ are recommended (10).

Inhalation anesthesia or total intravenous anesthesia depending on the clinical condition of the patient can be preferred for the maintenance of anesthesia. The primary aim of both methods is to provide fast recovery without a cough. It is emphasized that this can be achieved by avoiding the use of preoperative midazolam, with the lowest possible dose, and the shortest effective drugs (avoiding deep anesthesia and deep muscle relaxation and minimizing the opioid dose, etc.) (40).

The use of other drugs that will contribute to QT prolongation, metabolic, and electrolyte disorders should be avoided because hydroxychloroquine used in COVID-19 treatment causes QT prolongation on ECG (41).

Regional Anesthesia

Proper planning should be done so that the surgery can be performed entirely with regional anesthesia, without the need to return to intraoperative general anesthesia, which can be achieved with the harmony of the anesthesia and surgical team.

Although spinal anesthesia is recommended in patients with COVID-19 for lower extremity surgery or cesarean section, it should be proven that there is no thrombocytopenia (14, 34). In cases with COVID-19 encephalitis, the free drop of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) should be prevented after lumbar puncture, since the virus is isolated from CSF (42). Although some articles are indicating that epidural and general anesthesia can also be applied in a cesarean procedure (35), febrile patients with COVID-19 may have a lumbar puncture during epidural catheter insertion, and neuraxial anesthesia can cause meningitis and encephalitis, even at a very low rate (43).

If it is decided to perform the peripheral nerve block, the block that will least affect the respiratory functions should be selected and carried out under the guidance of ultrasound to reduce the local anesthetic systemic toxicity (44).

N95 or surgical masks should be used for patients undergoing regional anesthesia during the surgery, if oxygen support is needed, the nasal cannula should be inserted, or oxygen should be given through the mask (I, 34).

Monitorization

All vital functions should be monitored as reported in the ASA standard (45). Since the medicines used in the treatment of COVID-I9 can cause toxic myopathy and myocarditis, close ECG monitoring should be performed, and whether there is a QT prolongation on the ECG should be checked (4I, 46). In patients with COVID-I9, EtCO₂ should be measured as a standard, if sedation is also performed during regional anesthesia (40). EtCO₂

is also critical in confirming the endotracheal intubation. Aerosol spread may be reduced by monitoring the cuff pressure. Non-invasive monitoring of vital parameters is needed in patients with COVID-19. However, considering the clinical condition of the patient, intraoperative blood gas analysis, and close EtCO, monitoring can be performed depending on the severity of lung involvement. Acute kidney injury (47) may be seen in patients with COVID-19. The urinary catheter will also provide monitoring for fluid management. Echocardiography (ECO), USG (Vena Cava Inferior diameter measurement) can be used to evaluate tissue perfusion. Pulmonary pressure and blood lactate levels may be measured. Central venous pressure monitoring (CVP), and the effect of respiration on vena cava sizes can be evaluated by USG (Mmod) (48-50). Since the aim is a rapid recovery among patients with COVID-19, the use of high-dose neuromuscular blockers can be prevented by neuromuscular monitoring during the surgery.

Cerebral events, microvascular encephalopathy, septic encephalopathy, and cerebral autoregulation disorder may be seen in critical patients with COVID-19 (42). Therefore, the balance between cerebral oxygen delivery and consumption should be monitored by non-invasive methods, as well as blood pressure measurement in the evaluation of cerebral perfusion (51).

Fluid Replacement

It is recommended to apply fluid to meet the needs of patients provided that hypovolemia is avoided, since patients with COVID-19 may experience restrictive lung diseases, kidney failure, and thrombosis (52). The purpose of fluid treatment is to balance the amount of fluid that the patient takes and extracts and avoid excessive fluid overload. Therefore, close monitoring is recommended.

In fluid management, crystalloids should be preferred over colloids. Anaphylactoid reaction with crystalloids is not seen in volume replacement, but if there is endothelial damage, it may lead to extravasation and related problems. Colloids, although it is a good option for maintaining oncotic pressure, synthetic colloids also have negative effects on the coagulation and less frequent risks of allergic reactions (53).

In fluid management, passive leg raise test, mini-fluid loading test, and the ratio of pulsatile flow to non-pulsatile flow (PVI) in the capillary bed should be evaluated conservatively (54).

Extubation Period

If the patient meets the extubation criteria, the patient should be extubated in the operating room using the closed aspiration system. Soft extubation should be applied to prevent aerosol scattering by cough, and IV lidocaine should be applied if there are no contraindications (37). McGrath et al. (55) reported that coronaviruses caused laryngitis without causing sore throat, resulting in airway edema and that dysphagia and dysphonia might be observed after extubation. During extubation, two layers of wet gauze can be used to cover the patient's nose and mouth or the mask is placed under a transparent nylon cover to reduce aerosol exposure. Extubation can be performed under the transparent cover via a hole allowing only the connector portion under the transparent cover. While one of the HME filters is removed with ETT, the second is immediately attached to the face mask. When sufficient spontaneous ventilation is provided, the patient can be transferred from the operating room with a face mask and O_{γ} if necessary (1, 14).

Patients should not stay in the recovery room or postoperative care unit. However, they should be transferred to a room where they are monitored under negative pressure or to the intensive care unit (26). If the patient is to be transferred without extubation, a filter should be added to the endotracheal tube and ventilation should be continued with a disposable manual ventilator. If the patient is to be transferred with the transport ventilator, the filter should be attached to the endotracheal tube and connected to the breathing circuit; the breathing circuit should be discarded after the transfer (I).

Postoperative Period

When the patient with COVID-19 is transferred to the room monitored under negative pressure or to the ICU depending on its clinical condition, a consultation with the infectious diseases team should be made (I, 3I).

In the postanesthetic care unit, patients should be periodically evaluated for respiratory, cardiovascular, neuromuscular functions, mental state, temperature, pain, nausea, vomiting, fluid therapy, urine output, drainage, and bleeding. An appropriate monitoring standard should be maintained until full recovery. If the patient will remain intubated or the airway will be provided with a supraglottic or similar tool, pulse-oximetry, non-invasive blood pressure monitoring, ECG, and airway continuity should be closely monitored. Difficult airway equipment, a nerve stimulator, a thermometer, and patient warming tools should be available to assess the neuromuscular blockade (56). Due to the fact that patients with COVID-19 may have renal failure, limited fluid treatment should be applied, and the amount of urine and possible bleeding should be closely monitored. In cases where thrombosis is expected, thromboprophylaxis can be applied with low molecular weight heparin.

Since pulmonary, myocardial, and renal damage may occur in critically ill patients with COVID-I9 in postanesthetic care, lung compliance, airway pressure, oxygen index, arterial blood pressure, CVP, myocardial enzymes, and intracranial pressure can be monitored.

Postoperative nausea and vomiting should be treated aggressively using 2 to 3 antiemetics to prevent transmission. Although all known analgesics and methods can be used in the treatment of pain, liver, kidney, and bleeding coagulation system functions and side effects of selected analgesics should be considered. In pain management, the option should be individualized for the patient. High-dose opioids may cause undesirable effects such as respiratory depression and airway obstruction requiring airway manipulation. Local anesthetics should be preferred if appropriate (40).

As a result, the anesthetic management of patients with COVID-19 has distinctive features in terms of both protecting the healthcare workers and other patients and coping with the reasons resulting from the patient's clinic. Appropriate precautions and proper anesthesia management can prevent employees and anesthesiologists from injuries related to COVID-19. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept – A.H.A.; Design – B.I.; Supervision – B.I.; Resource – A.H.A.; Materials – A.H.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing – A.H.A., B.I.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – B.I.; Literature Search – A.H.A.; Writing – A.H.A.; Critical Reviews – B.I.

Acknowledgements: Special thanks to the doctors for risking their lives to save people from Covid-19 pandemic.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- I. Chen X, Liu Y, Gong Y, Guo X, Zuo M, Li J, et al. Chinese Society of Anesthesiology, Chinese Association of Anesthesiologists. Perioperative Management of Patients Infected with the Novel Coronavirus: Recommendation from the Joint Task Force of the Chinese Society of Anesthesiology and the Chinese Association of Anesthesiologists. Anesthesiology 2020; I32(6): I307-I6. [Crossref]
- Greenland JR, Michelow MD, Wang L, London MJ. COVID-19 Infection: Implications for Perioperative and Critical Care Physicians. Anesthesiology 2020; 132(6): 1346-61. [Crossref]
- Fu L, Wang B, Yuan T, Chen X, Ao Y, Fitzpatrick T, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Infect 2020; 80(6): 656-65. [Crossref]
- Kowalski LP, Sanabria A, Ridge JA, Ng WT, de Bree R, Rinaldo A, et al. COVID-19 pandemic: Effects and evidence-based recommendations for otolaryngology and head and neck surgery practice. Head Neck 2020; 42(6): I259-67. [Crossref]
- Sohrabi C, Alsafi Z, O'Neill N, Khan M, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, et al. World Health Organization declares global emergency: A review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). Int J Surg 2020; 76: 71-6. [Crossref]
- Seker M, Ozer A, Tosun Z, Korkut C, Doğrul M. Covid-19 Pandemi Değerlendirme Raporu. Türkiye Bilimler Akademisi Yayınları, TÜBA Raporları No: 34 ISBN: 978-605-2249-43-7.17 Nisan 2020; 30-40.
- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Situation Report- https://covid19. who.int/
- Chen Y, Liu Q, Guo D. Emerging coronaviruses: Genome structure, replication, and pathogenesis. J Med Virol 2020; 92(4): 418-23. [Crossref]
- 9. Yin C. Genotyping coronavirus SARS-CoV-2: Methods and implications. Genomics 2020; II2(5): 3588-96. [Crossref]
- Wen X, Li Y. Anesthesia Procedure of Emergency Operation for Patients with Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2020; 21(3): 299. [Crossref]
- II. Zhang L, Li J, Zhou M, Chen Z. Summary of 20 tracheal intubation by anesthesiologists for patients with severe COVID-19 pneumonia: retrospective case series. J Anesth 2020; 34(4): 599-606. [Crossref]
- Odor PM, Neun M, Bampoe S, Clark S, Heaton D, Hoogenboom EM, et al. Anaesthesia and COVID-19: infection control. Br J Anaesth 2020; 125(1): 16-24. [Crossref]
- Richardson S, Hirsch JS Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW, et al. Presenting Characteristics, Comorbidities, and Outcomes Among 5700 Patients Hospitalized With COVID-19 in the New York City Area. JAMA 2020; 323(20): 2052-9. [Crossref]
- 14. Sungur Z. Anesthetic management of patients with COVID-19. Curr Thorac Surg 2020; 5(1): EI-E4.
- Rivera-Oyola R, Koschitzky M, Printy R, Liu S, Stanger R, Golant A, et al. Dermatologic findings in two patients with COVID-19. JAAD Case Rep 2020; 6(6): 537-9. [Crossref]
- Ozma MA, Maroufi P, Khodadadi E, Köse S, Esposito I, Ganbarov K, et al. Clinical manifestation, diagnosis, prevention and control of SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) during the outbreak period. Infez Med 2020; 28(2): 153-65.

- Li R, Tian J, Yang F, Lv L, Yu J, Sun G, et al. Clinical characteristics of 225 patients with COVID-19 in a tertiary Hospital near Wuhan, China. J Clin Virol 2020; 127: 104363. [Crossref]
- World Health Organization. Laboratory testing for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in suspected human cases. 2 March 2020.
- Felsenstein S, Herbert JA, McNamara PS, Hedrich CM. COVID-19: Immunology and treatment options. Clin Immunol 2020; 215: 108448.
 [Crossref]
- Zhong H, Wang Y, Zhang ZL, Liu YX, Le KJ, Cui M et al. Efficacy and safety of current therapeutic options for COVID-19 - lessons to be learnt from SARS and MERS epidemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Pharmacol Res 2020; 157: 104872. [Crossref]
- Sullivan HC, Roback JD. Convalescent Plasma: Therapeutic Hope or Hopeless Strategy in the SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic. Transfus Med Rev 2020; 34(3): 145-50. [Crossref]
- 22. Monti S, Montecucco C. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory treatment during covid-19: friend or foe? Response to: 'Coronavirus disease 19 (Covid-19) and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID)' by Giollo et al. Ann Rheum Dis 2020 Apr 30; annrheumdis-2020-217638. [Crossref]
- 23. American College of Surgeons COVID-19 and Surgery Clinical Issues and Guidance. COVID-19: Recommendations for Management of Elective Surgical Procedures Online March 13, 2020.
- 24. TC Sağlık Bakanlığı Hasta Hakları ve Tıbbi Sosyal Hizmetler Daire Başkanlığı. Elektif İşlemlerin Ertelenmesi ve Diğer Alınacak Tedbirler. 17.03.2020 [Crossref]
- Coimbra R, Edwards S, Kurihara H, Bass GA, Balogh ZJ, Tilsed J, et al. European Society of Trauma and Emergency Surgery (ESTES) recommendations for trauma and emergency surgery preparation during times of COVID-19 infection. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg 2020; 46(3): 505-10. [Crossref]
- Kim HJ, Ko JS, Kim TY. Recommendations for anesthesia in patients suspected of COVID-19 Coronavirus infection. Korean J Anesthesiol 2020; 73(2): 89-91. [Crossref]
- Buonsenso D, Pata D, Chiaretti A. COVID-19 outbreak: less stethoscope, more ultrasound. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8(5): e27. [Crossref]
- Coccolini F, Perrone G, Chiarugi M, Di Marzo F, Ansaloni L, Scandroglio I, et al. Surgery in COVID-19 patients: operational directives. World J Emerg Surg 2020 Apr 7; 15(1): 25. [Crossref]
- Kamer E, Çolak T. What to Do When A Patient Infected With COVID-19 Needs an Operation: A Pre-surgery, Peri-surgery and Post-surgery Guide. Turk J Colorectal Dis 2020; 30: I-8. [Crossref]
- Forrester JD, Nassar AK, Maggio PM, Hawn MT. Precautions for Operating Room Team Members During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Am Coll Surg 2020; 230(6): 1098-101. [Crossref]
- Wax RS, Christian MD. Practical recommendations for critical care and anesthesiology teams caring for novel coronavirus (2019nCoV) patients. Can J Anaesth 2020; 67(5): 568-76. [Crossref]
- Wong J, Goh QY, Tan Z, Lie SA, Tay YC, Ng SY, et al. Preparing for a COVID-19 pandemic: a review of operating room outbreak response measures in a large tertiary hospital in Singapore. Can J Anaesth 2020; 67(6): 732-45. [Crossref]
- Zhao S, Ling K, Yan H, Zhong L, Peng X, Yao S, et al. Anesthetic Management of Patients with COVID I9 Infections during Emergency Procedures. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2020; 34(5): II25-3I. [Crossref]
- Zhong Q, Liu YY, Luo Q, Zou YF, Jiang HX, Li H, et al. Spinal anaesthesia for patients with coronavirus disease 2019 and possible transmission rates in anaesthetists: retrospective, single-centre, observational cohort study. Br J Anaesth 2020; 124(6): 670-5.
 [Crossref]
- Chen R, Zhang Y, Huang L, Cheng BH, Xia ZY, Meng QT. Safety and efficacy of different anesthetic regimens for parturients with COVID-19 undergoing Cesarean delivery: a case series of 17 patients. Can J Anaesth 2020; 67(6): 655-63. [Crossref]
- Lyons C. Fibreoptic tracheal intubation in COVID-19: not so fast. Br J Anaesth 2020; 125(1): e170-e171. [Crossref]
- Aminnejad R, Salimi A, Saeidi M. Lidocaine during intubation and extubation in patients with coronavirus disease (COVID-I9). Can J Anaesth 2020; 67(6): 759. [Crossref]

- Cook TM, El- Boghdadly K, Mc Guire B, McNarry AF, Patel A, Higgs A. Consensus guidelines for managing the airway in patients with COVID-I9: Guidelines from the Difficult Airway Society, the Association of Anaesthetists the Intensive Care Society, the Faculty of Intensive Care Medicine and the Royal College of Anaesthetists. Anaesthesia 2020; 75(6): 785-99. [Crossref]
- Morgan GE, Mikhail MS, Murray MJ. Klinik Anesteziyoloji. Tulunay M, Cuhruk H, translation editors. Nonvaolatil Anestezik Ajanlar. Güneş Kitabevi 3. baskı 2004.p.151-62.
- Rajan N, Joshi GP. The COVID-19: Role of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities in This Global Pandemic. Anesth Analg 2020; 131(1): 31-6.
 [Crossref]
- Mercuro NJ, Yen CF, Shim DJ, Maher TR, McCoy CM, Zimetbaum PJ, et al. Risk of QT Interval Prolongation Associated with Use of Hydroxychloroquine with or Without Concomitant Azithromycin Among Hospitalized Patients Testing Positive for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol 2020 May I; e201834. [Crossref]
- Filatov A, Sharma P, Hindi F, Espinosa PS. Neurological complications of coronavirus disease (covid- 19): encephalopathy. Cureus 2020; 12(3): e7352. [Crossref]
- Bauer ME, Chiware R, Pancaro C. Neuraxial procedures in COVID-19 positive parturients: a review of current reports. Anesth Analg 2020; 10.1213/ANE.000000000004831. [Crossref]
- El-Boghdadly K, Pawa A, Chin KJ. Local anesthetic systemic toxicity: Current perspectives. Local Reg Anesth 2018; II: 35-44. [Crossref]
- 45. ASA Standards for Basic Anesthetic Monitoring. Committee of Origin: Standards and Practice Parameters (Approved by the ASA House of Delegates on October 21, 1986, last amended on October 20, 2010, and last affirmed on October 28, 2016). [Crossref]
- 46. Mitra RL, Greenstein SA, Epstein LM. An algorithm for managing QT prolongation in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) patients treated with either chloroquine or hydroxychloroquine in conjunction with azithromycin: Possible benefits of intravenous lidocaine. HeartRhythm Case Rep 2020; 6(5): 244-8. [Crossref]
- 47. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, Zhang M, Wang Z, Dong L, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. Kidney Int 2020; 97(5): 829-38. [Crossref]
- Kurtipek Ö, Alkış N, Işık B, Alanoğlu Z, editors. Venöz-vasküler girişimlerde Ultrasonografi. Klinik Anestezide Ultrasonografi. Akademisyen Kitabevi 2018.p.87-111.
- Furtado S, Reis L. Inferior vena cava evaluation in fluid therapy decision making in intensive care: practical implications. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2019; 31(2): 240-7. [Crossref]
- Romero-Bermejo FJ, Ruiz-Bailén M, Guerrero-De-Mier M, Lopez-Alvaro J. Echocardiographic Hemodynamic Monitoring in the Critically III Patient. Curr Cardiol Rev 2011; 7(3): 146-56. [Crossref]
- Sakudo A. Near-infrared spectroscopy for medical applications: Current status and future perspectives. Clin Chim Acta 2016; 455: 181-8. [Crossref]
- Kazory A, Ronco C, McCullough PA. SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and intravascular volume management strategies in the critically ill. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 2020; 0(0): I-6. [Crossref]
- Aykaç ZZ, Arslantaş MK. Sıvı Tedavisi ve Yönetimi. GKDA Derg 2017; 23(2): 35-42. [Crossref]
- 54. Aykaç ZZ, Arslantaş MK. Sıvı Tedavisi ve Yönetimi (II) Monitorizasyon ve Sıvı Yanıtlılığının Öngörülmesi. GKDA Derg 2018; 24(1): I-10. [Crossref]
- McGrath BA, Wallace S, Goswamy J. Laryngeal oedema associated with COVID-19 complicating airway management. Anaesthesia 2020; 75(7): 972. [Crossref]
- 56. American Society of Anesthesiologists: Practice guidelines for postanesthetic care. Anesthesiology 2002; 96(3): 742-752. Copyright © 2013, the American Society of Anesthesiologists, Inc. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Anesthesiology 2013; II8: I-I7. [Crossref]

Case Report

Lymphoepihelioma-like Carcinoma of the Skin in the Mediterranean

Hanife Özkayalar^ı 💿, İbrahim Orgun Deren² 💿, Gamze Mocan^ı 💿

¹Department of Medical Pathology, Near East University, Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ²Department of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, Near East University, Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

ORCID IDs of the authors: H.Ö. 0000-0002-1105-4085; İ.O.D. 0000-0001-7119-8868; G.M. 0000-0002-7625-4934.

Cite this article as: Özkayalar H, Deren İO, Mocan G. Lymphoepihelioma-like Carcinoma of the Skin in the Mediterranean. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 273-5.

Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin (LELSC) is a rare cutaneous neoplasm with a low malignant potential. The neoplasm microscopically similar to undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. LELSC is mostly found in the sun-exposed regions of the body. This case report presents an 88-year-old woman with a 7 × 6 mm nodule on the forehead. The Mediterranean region is one of the regions where the sunlight is dense and our patient is the first case which seen and reported in this region.

Keywords: Lymphoepithelioma, skin, sun, light

INTRODUCTION

Lymphoepithelioma-like skin carcinoma (LELSC) is a rare malignant tumor with limited metastatic potential. It is mostly found in sun-exposed regions of the body. Its histological features resemble undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma (I). To date, less than 70 cases have been reported in the English literature (2, 3). In this article, we present a case of LELSC from the Mediterranean, which has not been previously reported in this region.

CASE PRESENTATION

An 88-year-old woman presented with a 7×6-mm subcutaneous tumor on the left forehead for I2 months. The lesion was mobile and painless. The patient underwent surgery at the Department of Plastic Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Medicine Hospital. Consent form was obtained from the patient's daughter. The tumor was excised with 2-mm margins. Histopathologically, the tumor was non-encapsulated and subcutaneous. The tumor cells had large eosinophilic cytoplasm, vesicular nuclei, prominent nucleoli, and surrounded by dense lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate (Figures I, 2). These cells were positive for cytokeratin (CK) AEI/AE3 (anti-Pan keratin primary antibody, Roche, Mannhein, Germany), CK 5/6 (anti-CK 5/6 mouse monoclonal primary antibody, Roche, Mannhein, Germany) (Figure 3), and p63 (Ventana anti-p63 mouse monoclonal primary antibody, Ventana, Arizona, USA) (Figure 4) but were negative for Epstein–Barr Virus (EBV) (anti-EBV mouse monoclonal antibody, Cell Marque, California, USA). She did not have any complaints related to nasopharynx or cervical lymph nodes. She was diagnosed with LELSC. No recurrence or metastasis was observed a year after surgical excision.

DISCUSSION

LELSC was first reported in 1988 by Swanson et al. (4). Most cases present as a solitary erythematous firm nodule with telengiectasia or ulceration, similar to our case (1). The most common locations of LELSC are the face and scalp, but other locations, such as the arm and trunk, have also been reported (1, 3). The incidence of LELSC is equal for males and females, and they are more commonly seen in elderly patients (2, 4).

The etiopathogenesis of LELSC is unknown, unlike nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Few reports in Japan have shown the association between EBV and LELSC, although this relationship has not been proven (5, 6). LELSC is most commonly found in sun-exposed regions of the skin (2,7). To date, no case has been reported in the Mediterranean, although it is a region exposed to intense sunlight.

Corresponding Author: Hanife Özkayalar E-mail: hanife.ozkayalar@neu.edu.tr



Received: 24.08.2019 Accepted: 11.09.2019



FIGURE I. Epithelioid tumoral cells and inflammatory infiltrate (H&E, ×100 objective)



FIGURE 2. Epithelioid tumoral cells and inflammatory infiltrate (H&E, $\times 200$ objective)

Histopathologically, LELSC is an epithelial neoplasm in the deep dermis (4). It is a non-encapsulated lesion (3). The tumor consists of nests, cords, or sheets of polygonal epithelioid cells with amphophilic to eosinophilic cytoplasm, hyperchromatic nuclei, prominent nucleoli, and increased mitotic activity (I, 8). The tumor cells had dense lymphocytic infiltrate (I, 6, 9). LELSC was strongly positive for CK AEI/AE3, high-molecular-weight CK, p53, CK 5/6, and Cam5.2, and negative for CEA, SI00, CK 20, CK 7, and EBV (I, 6, 9, I0).

The treatment methods for LELSC are wide local excision and detailed physical examination and imaging to rule out

Main Points:

- LELSC is a rare, slow-growing malignant tumor with a low risk of metastasis and recurrence.
- It occurs more commonly in sunlight-exposed skin areas.
- We report the first case of LELSC in the Mediterranean region.



FIGURE 3. Tumoral cells show positive cytoplasmic immunexpression with CK5/6 (×100 objective)



FIGURE 4. Tumoral cells show positive nuclear immunexpression with p63 (x100 objective)

nasopharyngeal carcinoma (I, 8). Radiotherapy is better than surgical excision if the patient has lymph node metastasis or recurrence (I, 3, 8). LELSC has a low metastatic potential and better prognosis than other skin cancers, such as squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and melanoma (I, 4, 8). However, some reports have discussed LELSC metastatic to lymph nodes at initial diagnosis (2, 9). At I-year follow-up, no metastasis or recurrence was noted.

The differential diagnoses of LELSC include SCC, basal cell carcinoma (BCC), skin metastasis of lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx or other organs, melanoma, and lymphoma (I, 2, 7). Lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx is positive for EBV, but LELSC is not. In addition, lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx is more agressive than LELSC (3). SCC is located in the superficial dermis and has connections with the epidermis, unlike LELSC (3, 4). In the recent literature, LELSC is classified as a variant of SCC (3). LELSC, BCC, and lymphoma are histopathologically different from each other. Malignant melanoma has a different immunohistochemical profile, which is CK (-), whereas SI00 and Melan-A are (+). **Informed Consent:** Consent form was taken from the daughter of the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - H.Ö.; Design - H.Ö., İ.O.D.; Supervision -G.M.; Resource - H.Ö., G.M.; Materials - H.Ö., İ.O.D.; Data Collection and/ or Processing - H.Ö., İ.O.D, G.M.; Analysis and/or Interpretation H.Ö., İ.O.D, G.M.; Literature Search - H.Ö.; Writing - H.Ö., G.M.; Critical Reviews - H.Ö., İ.O.D, G.M.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Sobjanek M, Dobosz M, Sokolowska-Wojdylo M, Kowalczyk A, Michajlowski I, Nowicki R. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin in a Polish patient. Postep Derm Alergol 2015; 32(1): 56-8. [Crossref]
- Hall G, Duncan A, Azurdia R, Leonard N. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin: a case with lymph node metastases at presentation. Am J Dermatopathol 2006; 28(3): 211-5 [Crossref]
- Lassen CB, Lock-Andersen J. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin: a case with perineural invasion. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 2014; 2(11): 252. [Crossref]

- Swanson SA, Copper Ph, Mills SE, Wick MR. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin. Mod Pathol 1988; 1(5): 359-65.
- Kazakov DV, Nemcova J, Mikyskova I, Michal M. Absence of Epstein-Barr virüs, human papillomavirus, and simian virüs 40 in patients of central European origin with lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin. Am J Dermatopathol 2007; 29(4): 365-9 [Crossref]
- Aoki R, Mitsui H, Harada K, Kawamura T, Shibagaki N, Tsukamoto K, et al. A case of lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of skin associated with Epstein-Barr virüs infection. J Am Acad Dermatol 2010; 62(4): 681-4 [Crossref]
- Welch PQ, Williams SB, Foss RD, Tomaszewski MM, Gupta A, Ojha S. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of head and neck skin: a systematic analysis of II cases and review of literatüre. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2011; III(1): 78-86. [Crossref]
- Kushwaha RK, Jain SK, Abhinandan HB, Baheti D. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the skin: an exceedingly rare primary skin tumor. Indian J Dermatol 2015; 60(2): 217.
- Lee Jongho, Park Jihoon, Chang H. Lymphoepithelioma-like Carcinoma of the Skin in the Cheek with a Malignant Metastatic Cervical Lymph Node. Arch Plast Surg 2015; 42(5): 668-71. [Crossref]
- Kolk A, Wolff KD, Smeets R, Kesting M, Hein R, Eckert AW. Melanotic and non-melanotic malignancies of the face and external ear: a reviewof current treatment concepts and future options. Cancer Treat Rev 2014; 40(7): 819-37 [Crossref]

Letter to the Editor

Rare Cause of Small Bowel Obstruction: Multiple Phytobezoars

Işıl Başara Akın^ı 💿, Canan Altay^ı 💿, Tufan Egeli² 💿, İnan Yılmaz² 💿, Funda Barlık Obuz^ı 💿

¹Department of Radiology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey ²Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: I.B.A. 0000-0002-0786-1490; C.A. 0000-0003-0417-7770; T.E. 0000-0003-1834-8630; İ.Y. 0000-0002-7498-9531; F.B.O. 0000-0001-5615-8251.

Cite this article as: Bașara Akın I, Altay C, Egeli T, Yılmaz İ, Barlık Obuz F. Rare Cause of Small Bowel Obstruction: Multiple Phytobezoars. Cyprus J Med Sci 2020; 5(3): 276-7.

Dear Editor,

A 65-year-old male patient with abdominal pain, vomiting, and constipation for two days was admitted to the emergency unit. He had hypertension for ten years and an anamnesis of recurrent ileus. Additionally, he had two abdominal surgeries because of duodenal ulcer 30 years ago and fecaloid plug impaction because of ileus 3 years ago. There was abdominal distension without defense and rebound tenderness. His laboratory examination revealed slight leukocytosis with I3.4 μl/ml along with an increase in the levels of GGT (217 U/I), ALP (263 U/I), lipase (58 U/I), and CRP (34.5 g/l). He was clinically diagnosed with ileus and redirected to the radiology department for abdominal computed tomography (CT) examination. CT scans showed a well-defined, lobulated nodular intestinal lesion including millimetric air densities and intestinal content impaction at the pelvic entrance accompanied by diffuse intestinal wall thickening and mesenteric heterogeneity (Figure I). Additionally, there was diffuse intestinal dilatation at the proximal part of small intestines. The site of this impaction was defined as the transition zone. There were also two similar nodular lesions in the fundus and antrum of the stomach (Figure 2). As the patient had duodenal ulcer surgery and anamnesis of recurrent ileus, these contents were diagnosed as phytobezoars. In follow-up visits, the patient's clinical symptoms and laboratory findings deteriorated and he was redirected to surgery. Enterotomy-gastrotomy along with phytobezoar resection surgery was administered on the patient (Figure 3). Macroscopic pathology evaluation detected three operation materials, which were green, colored, and spongiform consistent with the fissionable pattern. Microscopic evaluation revealed a homogeneous spongiform image. The histopathology results detected the operation materials as food-originated materials.

Phytobezoars are the accumulation of undigested or poorly digested fibers of fruits and vegetables in the gastrointestinal system (I). Their occurrence is common in patients with a history of gastric ulcer or gastric resection surgeries (2). Additionally, high-fiber diet digestion; other diseases and factors such as renal failure, diabetes mellitus, postoperative adhesions, Gulliain–Barré syndrome, myotonic dystrophy, and hypothyroidism; dental diseases, which causes insufficient chewing problems; and drugs, which slow the gastrointestinal motility, may result in the formation of phytobezoars (3, 4). A study has also reported the formation of idiopathic phytobezoars (4).

Mechanical small bowel obstruction commonly occurs in patients with phytobezoars. Because the diameters of the intestinal lumens are narrowed, proximal ileal segments and jejunum are the frequent transition zones of mechanical obstructions (2).

Endoscopic methods along with open or laparoscopic surgeries are the treatment options for this disease (5). Surgery is preferred after the failure of endoscopic treatment (5). Laparoscopic surgery requires optimal preoperative radiological evaluation and technical experience (5). Although laparoscopic surgery is more frequently performed, open surgery is still the most common treatment method (5). Enterotomy is administered in patients who had bezoar in the proximal parts of gastrointestinal tract (5).

•



FIGURE I. a, b. a. Axial b. Sagittal CT examinations with oral positive contrast material show a well-defined, lobulated nodular intestinal lesion including millimetric air densities compatible with phytobezoars and intestinal content impaction at the proximal part of small intestines accompanied by diffuse intestinal wall thickening and mesenteric heterogeneity (Arrow). The site of this impaction was defined as the transition zone of mechanical intestinal obstruction. Additionally, similar nodular density is observed in the stomach lumen (Circle)



FIGURE 2. Axial CT image with oral positive contrast material shows two phytobezoars filling the defects at the fundus and antrum of the stomach

In conclusion, phytobezoars must be considered in the diagnosis of patients especially with gastric surgery for peptic ulcer and anamnesis of recurrent mechanical intestinal obstruction. CT provides an optimal evaluation of the location of phytobezoars and assists in planning and choosing the surgical method.



FIGURE 3. Surgical procedures compatible with enterotomy and gastrotomy. Three resected and different phytobezoars are seen

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - I.B.A., T.E., C.A.; Design - I.B.A.; Supervision - F.B.O.; Resource - T.E., İ.Y.; Materials - I.B.A., T.E., İ.Y.; Data Collection and/or Processing - C.A.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - I.B.A.; Literature Search - T.E., C.A.; Writing - I.B.A.; Critical Reviews - F.O.B.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Oktar SO, Erbaş G, Yücel C, Aslan E, Ozdemir H. Closed perforation of the small bowel secondary to a phytobezoar: imaging findings. Diagn Interv Radiol 2007; 13(1): 19-22.
- 2. Hayes PG, Rotstein OD. Gastrointestinal phytobezoars: presentation and management. Can J Surg 1986; 29(6): 419-20.
- Yetim I, Ozkan OV, Semerci E, Abanoz R. Unusual cause of gastric outlet obstruction: giant gastric trichobezoar: a case report. Cases J 2008; I(1): 399. doi: 10.1186/1757-1626-1-399. [Crossref]
- Koulas SG, Zikos N, Charalampous C, Christodoulou K, Sakkas L, Katsamakis N. Management of gastrointestinal bezoars: an analysis of 23 cases. Int Surg 2008; 93(2): 95-8.
- Pergel A, Yucel AF, Aydin I, Sahin DA. Laparoscopic treatment of a phytobezoar in the duodenal diverticulum - Report of a case. Int J Surg Case Rep 2012; 3(8): 392-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2012.03.020. [Crossref]



KUZEY KIBRIS TÜRK CUMHURIYETI CUMHURBAŞKANLIĞI



"The best of people are those that bring most benefit to the rest of mankind."

Koşulsuz destekleri için KKTC Cumhurbaşkanlığı ve Kıbrıs Vakıflar İdaresi Müdürlüğü'ne teşekkür ederiz.